SOMATOSENSORY INTERACTION

INVESTIGATING MECHANORECEPTION, THERMOCEPTION, AND PROPRIOCEPTION FOR ON-BODY HAPTIC FEEDBACK

Vom Fachbereich Informatik der Technischen Universität Darmstadt genehmigte

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines Doctor rerum naturalium (Dr. rer. nat.).

Eingereicht von Sebastian Günther, M.Sc.

Erstreferent:	Prof. Dr. Max Mühlhäuser (Technische Universität Darmstadt)
Korreferent:	Prof. Dr. Abdulmotaleb El Saddik (University of Ottawa)
Tag der Einreichung:	18. März 2022
Tag der Disputation:	29. April 2022
Tag der Einreichung: Tag der Disputation:	18. März 2022 29. April 2022

Fachbereich Informatik Telecooperation Lab Technische Universität Darmstadt Hochschulkennziffer D17



Sebastian Günther: *Somatosensory Interaction:* Investigating Mechanoreception, Thermoception, and Proprioception for On-Body Haptic Feedback

Darmstadt, Technische Universität Darmstadt

Tag der Einreichung: 18. März 2022 Tag der Disputation: 29. April 2022

URN: urn:nbn:de:tuda-tuprints-216175 URI: https://tuprints.ulb.tu-darmstadt.de/id/eprint/21617 Jahr der Veröffentlichung der Dissertation auf TUprints: 2022

Published under CC BY-NC-ND 4.0 International. https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0



Haptics are an important factor to make virtual worlds and remote interpersonal interaction tangible. While current technological advances, such as Virtual Reality (VR), are reaching the mass market, they are primarily visual while available haptic devices are mostly limited to vibrotactile stimuli, such as smartphone notifications or embedded in game controllers. However, haptic feedback consists of more components that make an experience physically perceivable and lifelike. In addition to the vibrotactile stimulation of fine mechanoreception, these also incorporate stronger forces addressing pressure-based mechanoreception, temperature perceived by thermoception, and body position and movement perceived by proprioception, which are all parts of the somatosensory system. Consequently, to get closer to a full haptic experience, haptics need to be considered in the broader context of the complete somatosensory system.

In this thesis, novel haptic concepts will be introduced and implemented in prototypical systems to investigate them in a series of user studies, leading to a better understanding of somatosensory interaction. In this context, this dissertation provides six major contributions: (1) The first contribution presents a systematic investigation of fine and subtle mechanoreception involving vibrotactile stimuli on the hand for guidance and target acquisition. (2) The second contribution investigates more intense and pressure-based mechanoreception that employs pneumatically actuated air cushions to create immediate pressure sensations. (3) The third contribution on mechanoreception combines the findings of the previous two contributions and explores moving touches and stroke stimuli on the body, as well as their roughness perception in VR. (4) The fourth contribution addresses thermoception where the effects of cold and warm temperatures on the body are investigated within a VR environment. (5) The fifth contribution focuses on proprioception and kinesthesia and examines concepts for kinesthetic actuations that can evoke flexion and extension of body joints. (6) In a further contribution, a novel rapid prototyping platform is presented that considers the specific requirements for haptic actuations of the somatosensory system.

Haptik ist ein wichtiger Bestandteil, um virtuelle Welten und zwischenmenschliche Interaktion auf Distanz greifbar zu machen. Während aktuelle technologische Fortschritte wie Virtual Reality (VR) den Massenmarkt erreichen, sind sie in erster Linie visuell und verfügbare haptische Geräte meist auf vibrotaktile Stimuli beschränkt, z.B. durch Smartphone-Benachrichtigungen oder eingebettet in Game-Controller. Haptik besteht jedoch aus wesentlich mehr Aspekten, die ein Erlebnis erst physisch wahrnehmbar und lebensecht machen. Zusätzlich zur vibrotaktilen Stimulation der Feinmechanorezeption beinhaltet dies auch stärkere Kräfte, die die druckbasierte Mechanorezeption ansprechen, die Temperaturempfindung durch Thermorezeption und die Erfassung der Körperposition und -bewegung durch Propriozeption, welche alle zum somatosensorischen System gehören. Um daher einer umfassenden haptischen Erfahrung näher zu kommen, muss Haptik im breiteren Kontext des gesamten somatosensorischen Systems betrachtet werden.

In dieser Arbeit werden dazu neuartige haptische Konzepte vorgestellt und in Prototypen implementiert, um sie in systematischen Nutzerstudien für ein besseres Verständnis der somatosensorischen Interaktion zu untersuchen. In diesem Kontext leistet diese Dissertation sechs wesentliche Beiträge: (1) Der erste Beitrag stellt eine systematische Untersuchung der Feinmechanorezeption mit vibratotaktilen Reizen an der Hand für Guidance vor. (2) Der zweite Beitrag adressiert druckbasierte Mechanorezeption, bei der pneumatisch betätigte Luftkissen eingesetzt werden. (3) Der dritte Beitrag zur Mechanorezeption kombiniert die Erkenntnisse der beiden vorherigen Kapitel und untersucht Streichelreize am Körper sowie deren Wahrnehmung in Bezug auf ihre Rauheit. (4) Der vierte Beitrag behandelt die Thermozeption, indem Einflüsse von kalten und warmen Reizen in VR untersucht werden. (5) Der fünfte Beitrag widmet sich der Propriozeption und untersucht Konzepte für kinästhetische Aktuierungen, die eine Beugung und Streckung von Körperteilen auslösen. (6) In einem weiteren Beitrag wird zudem eine Rapid-Prototyping-Plattform eingeführt, welche die spezifischen Anforderungen haptischer Aktuierung für die somatosensorische Interaktion berücksichtigt.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

If the technology you do isn't fun for you, you may wish to seek other employment. Without the fun, none of us would go on.

— I. Sutherland, 1996 [Sut96]

Besides technology, which has to be fun, something is only as good as the people who have accompanied you throughout such a long time. And I am grateful to have the best friends and colleagues who made it all so much enjoyable for me.

First of all, I would like to thank my doctoral supervisor, mentor, and supporter Prof. Max Mühlhäuser, who has encouraged and challenged me through all the ups and downs over the years. I could always rely on his great talent to engage with even the most insane ideas and, even in the most difficult situations, he always had my back. My humble thanks for everything! Further, I am very grateful for Prof. El Saddik who acted as my second reviewer and contributed so much inspiring work in the field of haptics. Also, many thanks to the other members of the committee, Prof. Hollick, Prof. Mezini, and Prof. Kuijper.

That being said, I would like to thank all the phenomenal people of TK and TEAMDARMSTADT, namely my long-time fellow Flo, Andrii, Martin, Domi, Jan, Karo, Hesham, Julius, Thomas, Markus, Mo, Niloo, Max-Elke, and Budget-Elke. Of course, this also includes the many wonderful students I had the pleasure to meet over the years. Particularly, thanks to Daniel, Julian, Mohit, Jan, Tamara, Simone, Marco, Megan, Felix H., Flo, and Omar. Further, thanks to all participants who volunteered to take part in the many studies that were conducted during the years.

And finally, I want to show my deepest gratitude to all my family and friends. Thank you Mama and Papa, thank you Tanja, Vova, Lida, and Igor, thank you grandparents, thank you Wladas, Maria, Nik, Michelle, Lopez, Stefan, Kathi, Simon, Vanessa, JJ, Camp Mui, and, of course, thank you for everything my dearest love, Nastia.

THANKS TO ALL OF YOU!

CONTENTS

Ι	Intr	Introduction and Background						
1	Intr	oduction 1						
	1.1	Towards the Ultimate Display 2						
	1.2	Somatosensory Interaction						
	1.3	Research Challenges						
	1.4	Contributions						
	1.5	Publications						
	1.6	Research Methodology	Research Methodology					
		1.6.1 Study Design	11					
		1.6.2 Analyses	13					
		1.6.3 Reporting	14					
	1.7	Thesis Structure	15					
		1.7.1 Chapter Overviews	16					
2	Bacl	kground	17					
	2.1	Classifications of Touch	17					
	2.2	The Somatosensory System	18					
		2.2.1 Mechanoreception	20					
		2.2.2 Thermoception	23					
		2.2.3 Proprioception and Kinesthesia	24					
		2.2.4 Nociception	25					
	2.3	Characteristics of Materials for Haptic Perception	25					
	2.4	Immersion and Presence	28					
	Мас	henerocontion						
11	Inter		~ -					
3	mur		35					
	3.1	Requirements	30					
	3.2 E		30					
4	Fine		47					
	4.1	Contribution Statement and Related Publications	49					
	4.2		50					
	4.3	Guidance in HCI	50					
	4.4	Spatial Navigation Concepts	52					
		4.4.1 Actuator Placement and Arrangement	53					
		4.4.2 Push and Pull	54					

5

	4.4.3	Continuous Vibrations through Phantom Sensa-	
		tions	56
4.5	Tactile	Glove Prototype	56
	4.5.1	Direction and Distance Encoding	58
4.6	User S	tudy and Methodology	59
	4.6.1	Design and Task	60
	4.6.2	Study Setup and Apparatus	62
	4.6.3	Procedure	62
4.7	Result	s	64
	4.7.1	Analysis	64
	4.7.2	Qualitative Feedback	66
4.8	Discus	sion and Guidelines	67
	4.8.1	Prefer Pull over Push	68
	4.8.2	Higher Actuators Resolutions are more effective	68
	4.8.3	Equal Distances between Actuators are important	69
4.9	Explo	ratory Study: Vibrotactile Guidance for Remote	
	Assista	ance	69
	4.9.1	Study Design	70
	4.9.2	Study Setup and Apparatus	71
	4.9.3	Verbal Communication	72
	4.9.4	Task and Procedure	73
	4.9.5	Observations and Discussion	74
	4.9.6	Visual Cues	75
	4.9.7	Tactile Cues	75
	4.9.8	Verbal Communication	76
4.10	Limita	tions and Future Work	76
	4.10.1	Guidance Improvements	77
	4.10.2	Accessibility Studies	77
	4.10.3	Virtual Reality Capabilities	78
	4.10.4	Tracking of Environment	78
4.11	Conclu	asion	79
Pres	sure-ba	sed Mechanoreception	81
5.1	Contri	bution Statement and Related Publications	82
5.2	Chapte	er Structure	83
5.3	Pressu	re-based Feedback	83
5.4	Proof-	of-Concept: A pneumatic Pressure-based Actuation	85
	5.4.1	Safety Measures	86
	5.4.2	Example Application for On-Body Pressure-	
		based Feedback	86
5.5	Pressu	re-based Feedback on the Head: A User Study .	88

		5.5.1	Pneumatic Actuation of the Head in Virtual Reality	88
		5.5.2	Study Design	91
		5.5.3	Task	92
		5.5.4	Apparatus and Study Setup	93
		5.5.5	Procedure	93
		5.5.6	Participants	93
	5.6	Result	·s	94
		5.6.1	Analysis	94
		5.6.2	Qualitative Feedback	96
	5.7	Discus	ssion	97
		5.7.1	Pressured-based Actuation increases Involvement	97
		5.7.2	Pressure-based Actuation increases Realism	97
		5.7.3	Pressure-based Actuation could be stronger than	
			experienced	98
	5.8	Limita	ations and Future Work	98
		5.8.1	Additional User Studies	98
		5.8.2	Number of Actuators and Patterns	99
		5.8.3	Wearability	99
	5.9	Conclu	usion	99
6	Com	nbining	Fine and Pressure-based Mechanoreception	101
	6.1	Contri	ibution Statement and Related Publication	103
	6.2	Chapt	er Structure	103
	6.3	Backg	round: Haptic and Visual Stimuli on Perception .	104
	6.4	Pre-St	udy: Visualizations of different Roughness Expec-	
		tations	S	105
		6.4.1	Procedure	106
		6.4.2	Participants	106
		6.4.3	Results of Pre-Study	107
	6.5	User S	Study and Methodology	107
		6.5.1	Study Design	108
		6.5.2	Apparatus and Study Setup	110
		6.5.3	Procedure	116
		6.5.4	Participants	118
	6.6	Result	······································	118
		6.6.1	Analysis	118
		6.6.2	Perceived Haptic Roughness (Q1)	119
		6.6.3	Perceived Visual Roughness (Q2)	1 2 0
		6.6.4	Matching of Haptic and Visual Stimuli (Q ₃)	121
		6.6.5	Real-World Consistency (Realism, Q4)	123
		6.6.6	Pleasantness (Q_5)	124

III 7

	6.6.7	Post-Questionnaire: Overall Enjoyment and Re-		
		alism	126	
	6.6.8	Subjective Feedback	126	
6.7	Discus	ssion	128	
	6.7.1	Two distinct Textures can be sufficient for a		
		Matching and Realistic Experience	128	
	6.7.2	The Expectation of a VISUALIZATION'S Roughness		
		adapts to the Haptic Stimulus	129	
	6.7.3	Pleasantness depends on Roughness and Matching	g130	
	6.7.4	Prefer Physical Textures over Vibrotactile over no		
		Haptics	131	
6.8	Limita	ations and Future Work	131	
	6.8.1	Selected Set of Visualizations and Textures	131	
	6.8.2	Other Object Characteristics	132	
	6.8.3	Affective Responses to Combined Stimuli	133	
	6.8.4	Applicability for Active Touch	133	
	6.8.5	Pleasantness over Time	133	
	6.8.6	Technical Limitations	134	
6.9	Concl	usion	134	
The	rmocen	tion		
The	rmocep	tion	120	
7.1	Contr	ibution Statement and Related Publication	140	
7.2	Chapt	er Structure	141	
, 7.3	Relate	d Work	' 141	
1 5	7.3.1	Thermal Feedback in HCI	, 141	
	7.3.2	Thermal Feedback in Augmented- and Virtual		
	, ,	Reality	143	
	7.3.3	Mutual Interaction between Thermal and Visual		
		Stimuli	146	
7.4	Requi	rements	149	
7.5	Therm	nal Concepts and System Implementation	150	
	7.5.1	Concepts	151	
	7.5.2	Actuators: Tube system	153	
	7.5.3	Water Cycle and Temperature Mixing	155	
	7.5.4	Controlling the Actuation	157	
7.6	User S	Study and Methodology	158	
	7.6.1	Design and Task	159	
	7.6.2	Study Setup and Apparatus	163	
	7.6.3	Procedure	164	
	7.6.4	Participants	166	

 7.7.1 Analysis		
7.7.2 Post-Questionnaire: Overall Experience		166
7.7.3 Qualitative Feedback	ce	170
		170
7.8 Discussion	•••••	172
7.8.1 Thermal Stimuli Overwrite Visual Stir	nuli	172
7.8.2 Congruent Stimuli Increase Involveme	ent	173
7.8.3 Comfort depends on Thermal Stimuli		174
7.9 Example Applications	•••••	175
7.9.1 Firefighting Simulation	•••••	175
7.9.2 Pirates in the Sun	•••••	176
7.9.3 Angry Snowman	•••••	176
7.10 Limitations and Future Work	•••••	177
7.10.1 Other Body Parts	•••••	177
7.10.2 Other Visual Stimuli and Combination	ns	177
7.10.3 Wearability and Sustainability	•••••	178
7.10.4 User Acceptance and Use-Cases outsid	de the Lab	179
7.11 Conclusion	••••	179
w Proprioception and Kinesthesia		
8 Proprioception and Kinesthesia		182
8 1 Chapter Structure		185
		105
8.2 Requirements and Related Work		186
8.2 Requirements and Related Work		186 186
8.2 Requirements and Related Work	· · · · · · · · ·	186 186 187
8.2 Requirements and Related Work	ns	186 186 187 188
 8.2 Requirements and Related Work 8.2.1 Requirements	ns	186 186 187 188 190
 8.2 Requirements and Related Work 8.2.1 Requirements 8.2.2 Related Work 8.2.3 Mechanical Actuation and Exoskeletor 8.2.4 Pneumatic Actuation 8.2.5 Electrical Muscle Stimulation (EMS) . 	ns	186 186 187 188 190 191
 8.2 Requirements and Related Work 8.2.1 Requirements 8.2.2 Related Work 8.2.3 Mechanical Actuation and Exoskeletor 8.2.4 Pneumatic Actuation 8.2.5 Electrical Muscle Stimulation (EMS) 8.3 Kinesthetic Actuators: Concepts 	ns	186 186 187 188 190 191
 8.2 Requirements and Related Work 8.2.1 Requirements 8.2.2 Related Work 8.2.3 Mechanical Actuation and Exoskeletor 8.2.4 Pneumatic Actuation 8.2.5 Electrical Muscle Stimulation (EMS) 8.3 Kinesthetic Actuators: Concepts 8.3.1 Concentric Contraction Actuator (CA) 	ns	186 186 187 188 190 191 191 192
 8.2 Requirements and Related Work 8.2.1 Requirements 8.2.2 Related Work 8.2.3 Mechanical Actuation and Exoskeletor 8.2.4 Pneumatic Actuation 8.2.5 Electrical Muscle Stimulation (EMS) . 8.3 Kinesthetic Actuators: Concepts 8.3.1 Concentric Contraction Actuator (CA) 8.3.2 Eccentric Contraction Actuator (EA) . 	ns	186 186 187 188 190 191 191 192 193
 8.2 Requirements and Related Work 8.2.1 Requirements 8.2.2 Related Work 8.2.3 Mechanical Actuation and Exoskeletor 8.2.4 Pneumatic Actuation 8.2.5 Electrical Muscle Stimulation (EMS) 8.3 Kinesthetic Actuators: Concepts 8.3.1 Concentric Contraction Actuator (CA) 8.3.2 Eccentric Contraction Actuator (EA) 8.4 PneumAct System 	ns	186 187 188 190 191 191 192 193 194
 8.2 Requirements and Related Work 8.2.1 Requirements 8.2.2 Related Work 8.2.3 Mechanical Actuation and Exoskeletor 8.2.4 Pneumatic Actuation 8.2.5 Electrical Muscle Stimulation (EMS) 8.3 Kinesthetic Actuators: Concepts 8.3.1 Concentric Contraction Actuator (CA) 8.3.2 Eccentric Contraction Actuator (EA) 8.4 PneumAct System 	ns	186 187 188 190 191 191 192 193 194
 8.2 Requirements and Related Work 8.2.1 Requirements 8.2.2 Related Work 8.2.3 Mechanical Actuation and Exoskeletor 8.2.4 Pneumatic Actuation 8.2.5 Electrical Muscle Stimulation (EMS) 8.3 Kinesthetic Actuators: Concepts 8.3.1 Concentric Contraction Actuator (CA) 8.3.2 Eccentric Contraction Actuator (EA) 8.4 PneumAct System 8.4.1 Actuators 8.4.2 Wearable Jacket 	ns	186 187 188 190 191 191 192 193 194 194 195
 8.2 Requirements and Related Work 8.2.1 Requirements 8.2.2 Related Work 8.2.3 Mechanical Actuation and Exoskeletor 8.2.4 Pneumatic Actuation 8.2.5 Electrical Muscle Stimulation (EMS) . 8.3 Kinesthetic Actuators: Concepts 8.3.1 Concentric Contraction Actuator (CA) 8.3.2 Eccentric Contraction Actuator (EA) . 8.4 PneumAct System 8.4.1 Actuators 8.4.2 Wearable Jacket 8.4.3 System Controller 	ns	186 187 188 190 191 191 192 193 194 194 195 196
 8.2 Requirements and Related Work	ns	186 187 188 190 191 191 192 193 194 194 195 196
 8.2 Requirements and Related Work 8.2.1 Requirements	ns	186 187 188 190 191 191 192 193 194 194 195 196 197 198
 8.2 Requirements and Related Work	ns	186 187 188 190 191 191 192 193 194 194 195 196 197 198 198
 8.2 Requirements and Related Work	ns	186 187 188 190 191 191 192 193 194 194 195 196 197 198 198 200
 8.2 Requirements and Related Work	ns	186 187 188 190 191 191 192 193 194 195 196 197 198 198 198 200 201

		8.5.5	Participants	202
	8.6	User S	tudy I - Results	203
		8.6.1	Analysis	203
		8.6.2	Qualitative Feedback	205
		8.6.3	User Study I - Discussion	206
	8.7	Examp	ple Applications	208
		8.7.1	Robots in Space	208
		8.7.2	Wire Cutting Game	209
		8.7.3	Weight Lifting Exergame	209
	8.8	User S	tudy II - Methodology	2 11
		8.8.1	Study Design and Task	2 11
		8.8.2	Setup and Apparatus	212
		8.8.3	Procedure	213
		8.8.4	Participants	213
	8.9	User S	tudy II - Results	2 14
		8.9.1	Analysis	2 14
		8.9.2	Level of Immersion	2 14
		8.9.3	Level of Realism	215
		8.9.4	Level of Enjoyment	215
		8.9.5	Support of the Actuation during the Task	215
		8.9.6	Ranking of Actuation Types	216
		8.9.7	Qualitative Feedback	216
	8.10	Discus	ssion on Kinesthetic Feedback in synergy with Vi-	
		brotac	tile Actuation	218
	8.11	Limita	tions and Future Work	218
		8.11.1	Other Body Parts	219
		8.11.2	Wearability	219
		8.11.3	Motion Guidance	220
		8.11.4	From Kinesthetic Actuation to Proprioception .	220
	8.12	Conclu	usion	220
v	Prot	otvnine	у	
, O	Actu	Board	An Open Prototyping Platform for Actuators	225
2	0.1	Contri	bution Statement and Publication	227
	9.2	Chapt	er Structure	227
	9.3	Reauii	rements and Related Work	228
	<i>.</i> ,	9.3.1	Prototyping Platforms	230
		9.3.2	Prototyping in Research	231
	9.4	ActuB	oard Concepts	222
	⊥	9.4.1	Supported Types of Actuators	234
		9.4.2	Pipeline and Workflow	225
		2 I	1	55

	9.5	ActuB	oard Platform: Implementation Details	237
		9.5.1	ActuBoard Controller	238
		9.5.2	ActuBoard Hubs	239
		9.5.3	Communication Interface	239
	9.6	Illustra	ative Sample of Applications using ActuBoard	2 41
	9.7	Limita	tions and Future Work	2 43
		9.7.1	Support for Input Components and Sensors	2 43
		9.7.2	Support for Actuators with internal Logic	244
		9.7.3	Direct Communication between multiple Ac-	
			tuBoards	244
	9.8	Conclu	usion	244
		9.8.1	Public Repository	245
VI	Out	look an	d Conclusion	
10) Con	clusion	S	249
	10.1	Summ	ary of Contributions	250
		10.1.1	Mechanoreception	250
		10.1. 2	THERMOCEPTION	251
		10.1.3	Proprioception and Kinesthesia	251
		10.1.4	ActuBoard	252
	10 .2	Integr	ation and Future Work	252
		10.2.1	Entertainment and Gaming	253
		10.2.2	Training and Professional Instruction	255
		10.2.3	Fitness and Rehabilitation	256
		10.2.4	Telepresence and Telecooperation	257
	10.3	Conclu	uding Remarks	258
т	· · · · ·	1 1.		
L	ist of l	rublicat	nons	259
Li	ist of F	igures		266
Li	ist of 7	Tables		272
Li	ist of A	Acronyr	ns	2 73
Li	ist of 7	Third-Pa	arty Materials	2 73
R	ihliom	ranhy		200
	.~	- rry		-//

Part I

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

1	Intro	oduction				
	1.1	Towards the Ultimate Display	2			
	1.2	Somatosensory Interaction	4			
	1.3	Research Challenges	4			
	1.4	Contributions	6			
	1.5	Publications	8			
	1.6	Research Methodology	10			
	1.7	Thesis Structure	15			
2	Bacl	sground	17			
	2. 1	Classifications of Touch	17			
	2.2	The Somatosensory System	18			
	2.3	Characteristics of Materials for Haptic Per-				
		ception	25			
	2.4	Immersion and Presence	28			

INTRODUCTION AND MOTIVATION

We live in a time of rapid changes where we all experience an accelerating digitalization, not only shaping our everyday lives, but also becoming more accessible to all age groups, backgrounds, and levels of expertise. From microcomputers carried in our pockets like smartphones, over digitized government processes, all the way to locationindependent businesses thanks to remote attendance. Taking a particular look at the last two years, the COVID-19 pandemic certainly boosted this development, and while many innovations were previously only of interest to technology enthusiasts, now even "our" non-tech-savvy parents, the artisan around the corner, or the neighbor's school children are becoming steadily more experienced with modern technology. Probably everyone had at least some opportunity or even obligation to meet online, e.g., through videoconferencing or basic online chats. But even beyond that, new interactive technologies continue to gain popularity, such as Augmented- and Virtual Reality (AR/VR), that are not limited to a "flat" representation of a video and try to immerse people in virtual worlds.

Whether for pure entertainment, vivid simulations, 3D-based meeting environments, or engaging in safe online learning spaces, AR/VR can be used in the living room at home, in professional training centers, or spontaneously with a mobile device in order to facilitate digitization of the surroundings or to dive into virtual worlds. Often, this success is attributed to modern AR/VR devices, such as the HTC Vive or the Microsoft Hololens, that made such a commercial breakthrough for AR/VR possible. However, these advancements are still mostly of visual nature and providing haptic stimuli to convey physical and tangible properties in a lifelike way for these virtual environments remain less accessible and available.

1.1 TOWARDS THE ULTIMATE DISPLAY

But what does *haptic* mean? The term *haptics*¹ hereby was first introduced by the German physiologist Max Dessoir in 1892 [Des92], to be used as an umbrella term for research on touch, similarly as optics stands for visual and acoustics for auditory research. Thus, it stands for how humans perceive the world by touch and "refers to the science of manual sensing and manipulation of surrounding objects and environments through the sense of touch" (El Saddik, 2007, [El 07], p. 10).

Also, haptics for Virtual Reality (VR) is not a recent idea and goes back much further, even present in pop culture for decades. For example, in 1982's sci-fi spectacle *Tron*², in which an entire conscious society exists in a virtual world, in 1992's science-fiction horror *Lawnmower Man*³, in which a man develops supernatural abilities as a result of psychoactive substances taken while being in VR, or in 1994's *Aerosmith* music video to their song *Amazing*⁴, in which the protagonist falls in love within a lifelike virtual experience. Dating back even further, in 1962, Morton Heilig presented the first VR device that could depict simple 3D visualizations, the so-called Sensorama [Hei62] that was also one of the first devices able to provide basic haptic stimuli to appeal to multiple senses, such as vibrations, odors, and wind [Hei62].

Though, why are pure visuals often not enough for an immersive experience, and haptic stimuli important? To answer these questions, we can take a look at the year 1965 to an early vision of Ivan Sutherland, a pioneer of Human-Computer Interaction (HCI) and VR. Here, Sutherland presented the idea of modern pervasive computer systems that would fully involve users and can present them with a lifelike *Virtuality*: he called it the ULTIMATE DISPLAY [Sut65]. This display, however, is not only a technical device to depict virtual contents visually, it has to be also seen as a completely immersive environment that renders visual, auditive, and haptic features as realistic and convincing as possible. Sutherland described it as follows:

¹ Original German quote: "Ich erlaube mir, hierfür das Wort *Haptik* in Vorschlag zu bringen, das im Anschluss an Optik und Akustik gebildet [..] ist." (Max Dessoir, 1892, p. 242, [Des92]). Freely translated: "I would like to allow myself to suggest the word *haptic* that is formed in accordance with optics and acoustics."

² https://www.imdb.com/title/tt0084827/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

³ https://www.imdb.com/title/tt0104692/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

⁴ https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=zSm0vYzSeaQ (accessed March 01, 2022)

3

"The ultimate display would, of course, be a room within which the computer can control the existence of matter. A chair displayed in such a room would be good enough to sit in. [..] such a display could literally be the Wonderland into which Alice walked."

💭 Ivan Sutherland, 1965 [Sut65]

Yet, to achieve this vision of a persuasive virtual experience, it is necessary to find possibilities that can replicate his conception of the *existence* of matter [Sut65]. Visuals, therefore, are undoubtedly important and research has shown that *seeing* is one of the most dominant human senses. But, while it can even contribute to haptic expectations before and upon contact [YT15; Sun+16; EB02; LK04], there is still a lack of the actual tactile sensation of how something or even someone feels that cannot be conveyed just by visuals [Robo6]. For example, in 1986, another HCI pioneer, William Buxton, described it so dramatically that if a future civilization were to find the remnants of human developments, it would probably describe us as beings in which "the dominating characteristic would be the prevalence of our visual system" (Buxton [Bux86], p. 1) based on the strong focus on visual output of computer systems. Of course, much has happened in the field of haptics since the 1980s, and Buxton's example was meant to emphasize the importance of sophisticated input methods, but it already gave a notion of how much the interaction was and still is centered around visuals.

But what did happen in the past years and how close did we come towards the *ultimate display*? In a 2019 article, the AR/VR enthusiast Bob Stone stated that "we are decades away from achieving a wearable-free realistic multisensory interactive environment of the sort depicted on Star Trek" (Bob Stone, 2019 [Sto19]). This statement is indeed provoking as there are undoubted many great contributions in the field of haptics from the last years as highlighted in the related work sections of this thesis document, and also the very big tech companies working intensively on novel haptic devices for their VR experiences, such as the Metaverse⁵. However, the statement is also fairly accurate, as experiences like the Star Trek Holodeck⁶, which is more or less an exact implementation of the *ultimate display*, continues to be science-fiction, not the current state-of-the-art.

⁵ https://tech.fb.com/inside-reality-labs-meet-the-team-thats-bringing-tou ch-to-the-digital-world/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

⁶ https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Holodeck (accessed March 01, 2022)

1.2 SOMATOSENSORY INTERACTION

This thesis systematically addresses on-body haptic feedback with regards to the different modalities of haptic perception, namely Fine MECHANORECEPTION, MECHANORECEPTION, THERMOCEPTION, PROPRIOCEP-TION, and KINESTHESIA. Therefore, possibilities of providing haptic stimuli, interaction concepts, and new haptic techniques were systematically investigated in order to come closer to Sutherland's vision [Sut65] and to add to the body of haptic research. Therefore, it is also important to understand that haptics are not just the sensation of touch and neither is touch just another single sense. Rather, touch and haptics have to be seen as the composition of individual sensory input and perceptions that detect physical contact, temperature, deformation, pressure, pain, stroking, and other tactile stimuli. Additionally, in combination with the awareness of body position and movement, all these individual sensations are part of the so-called SOMATOSENSORY SYSTEM [Dou97; DBD20] (see also Section 2.2).

In this context, this thesis contributes a holistic view of haptic feedback and touch for Fine Mechanoreception, Mechanoreception, Thermo-CEPTION, PROPRIOCEPTION, and KINESTHESIA, leading to a Somatosensory INTERACTION:

Definition: Somatosensory Interaction

Somatosensory Interaction encompasses the interaction with the haptic perception of subtle and pressure-based tactile touch, temperature, movement, and body position, sensed through MECHANORECEPTION, THERMOCEPTION, and PROPRIOCEPTION.

1.3 RESEARCH CHALLENGES

In order to address SOMATOSENSORY INTERACTION and to get closer to the vision of an *ultimate display*, the following challenges arise:

RECREATION OF HAPTIC STIMULI Before a haptic stimulus and the effects on the respective perception can be investigated, appropriate stimuli have to be generated technically and logically. In this process, it is particularly essential that such stimuli are not just a simple artificial imitation, but are designed to be as realistic and accurate as possible. For example, a subtle touch must not be too forceful, while a pressure-based touch cannot be too soft. A thermal stimulus of 40 °C may not suddenly become a temperature of 50 °C. And an actively caused movement of body parts cannot suddenly be pointed in the opposite direction. In other words, for each modality, it is vital to replicate precisely those factors that will ensure a true and fitting sensation.

- SUITABLE INTERACTION CONCEPTS Each modality is part of the overall haptic perception, however, each comes with its advantages and disadvantages that apply to different interaction concepts. One challenge addressed by this work is to discover appropriate interaction concepts that convey (digital) information in a meaningful way based on the addressed perception. For example, the benefits of vibrotactile feedback for navigation purposes or notifications have been demonstrated in the past. However, for a realistic pressure sensation, vibrotactile stimuli are less suitable. Temperature changes, in contrast, should be centered on interaction concepts, where a very fast and spatially precise response is not essential, since the perception of temperature is rather slow and harder to pinpoint.
- INDIVIDUAL CHALLENGES FOR EACH MODALITY In addition to the interaction concepts, each modality also carries unique challenges that pertain only to their specific perceptions. These challenges have to be addressed individually for each modality and arise primarily from the physiological and psychological characteristics as well as from the technical properties. In this thesis, the chapters address further challenges that go beyond the mere replication of a haptic stimulus. For example, the thesis investigated the relationship between thermal and visual stimuli, or how vibrotactile guidance can be transferred to remote assistance tasks. Moreover, each chapter explored novel methods for haptic interaction and how the perception of haptic stimuli can be adjusted to circumvent technical limitations.

1.4 CONTRIBUTIONS

This thesis contributes with concepts and systematic investigations on haptics related to the somatosensory system from an HCI perspective. After a detailed overview of the physiological mechanisms of somatosensory perception, the individual parts address the specific aspects of (1) FINE MECHANORECEPTION, PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION, and the combination of both for a stroking sensation, (2) THERMOCEPTION, and (3) PROPRIOCEPTION and KINESTHESIA (see Table 1.1). For each of them, the respective chapters introduce interaction concepts, prototypical implementations, and the results of user studies. In an additional chapter, this work also contributes (4) a rapid prototyping platform for creating haptic actuation devices, called ActuBOARD. In detail, the contributions are as follows:

1. The first contribution focuses on the MECHANORECEPTION in three parts. First, FINE MECHANORECEPTION in the form of vibrotactile stimuli is examined. The interaction concepts presented in this chapter focus on the ability to perceive subtle vibrations on the hand for guidance. Using a prototypical glove with vibration actuators, called TACTILEGLOVE, different guidance cues and metaphors have been investigated for target acquisition and remote assistance tasks.

The following sub-chapter contributes by examining PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION. The interaction concepts presented there introduce novel ways to achieve a more intense contact of externally applied forces through a pneumatic actuation on the body. Based on these concepts, a prototypical system was designed, called PNEUMOVOLLEY, in order to investigate the potential of pressure-based feedback on the head for creating a more enjoyable and realistic experience in VR.

The last sub-chapter in the area of MECHANORECEPTION addresses a combination of subtle and pressure-based actuations. In this context, concepts are introduced to render moving touches or strokes on the body authentically. In particular, this chapter focuses on the perception of roughness and how well users perceive such haptic stimuli in a VR environment when displayed visualizations do not necessarily match the haptic expectations.

- 2. The second part contributes novel concepts and investigations on THERMOCEPTION. Thereby, interaction concepts to achieve an effective thermal stimulation on the body are introduced, referred to as THERMINATOR. Using liquids with different temperatures in a closed cycle allows for providing a thermal actuation. Similar to the previous chapter, a particular focus of this contribution was the adjustment of the THERMOCEPTION by presenting different visualizations in a VR environment that did not necessarily match the thermal stimuli.
- 3. The third part contributes with methods of kinesthetic actuation for an immersive stimulation of Proprioception and Kinesthesia. Therefore, two concepts are introduced, referred to as PNEUMACT, which can contract or extend body parts at their joints through two types of pneumatic actuators based on the concepts and findings of the PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION chapter.
- 4. While the aforementioned contributions focus on the interaction with parts of the SOMATOSENSORY SYSTEM, another contribution of this thesis is a rapid prototyping platform for the development of haptic devices, called ActuBoard. The platform is based on the requirements of the different prototypes created in the context of this thesis and on devices from related work providing haptic feedback in HCI. It allows experienced and non-tech-savvy users to quickly design prototypes and operate actuators for haptic feedback on both, the hardware and software side. Further, it was published as an open-source to support the community.

Summarizing, this thesis investigates the effects of haptic actuation addressing the SOMATOSENSORY SYSTEM and their perception during different scenarios. Based on the findings, the proposed interaction concepts and techniques introduce novel methods to create haptic actuation to provide realistic illusions of physical contact. In addition, a prototyping platform based on the work of this thesis was designed and developed for controlling the required hardware actuators of haptic devices. Table 1.1 gives an additional overview of all chapters and contributions.

8 INTRODUCTION

	Chapter 4	Chapter 5	Chapter 6	Chapter 7	Chapter 8
	Fine and Subtle	Pressure-based	Combined	Thermoception	Proprioception
	Mechanoreception	Mechanoreception	Mechanoreceptic	n	and Kinesthesia
Modality					
Fine and Subtle	\checkmark		\checkmark		
Mechanoreception					
Pressure-based		\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark
Mechanoreception					
Thermoception				\checkmark	
Proprioception and					\checkmark
Kinesthesia					
Sub-Modalities	Vibration	Pressure	Vibration,	Warm, Cold	Dynamic
			Pressure		Forces, Static
P P					Forces
DODY PARTS		,			
Head		v			
Arms			\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Hands	\checkmark				
Abdomen				\checkmark	
Upper Body		\checkmark		\checkmark	
Haptic	Vibrotactile	Pneumatic	Pneumatic and	Liquid-based	Pneumatic
Technologies	Actuators	Actuators	Vibrotactile	Actuators	Actuators and
T F			Actuators		Muscles
I EST ENVIRONMENT				,	
Virtual Reality		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Augmented Reality	\checkmark				
Analogue World	\checkmark				\checkmark
Publications	[Gün+18b]	[Gün+20b]	[Gün+22]	[Gün+20a]	[Gün+19]
	[Gün+18a]	[Gün+19]			

Table 1.1: Overview of the chapters that are investigating different aspects of the somatosensory system and introducing different sets of haptic concepts and technologies (excluding ActuBoard).

1.5 PUBLICATIONS

The aforementioned contributions of this thesis have been peerreviewed and published at internationally renowned conferences. Therefore, some contents of this thesis might contain verbatim parts of the respective publications which are outlined at the beginning of each related chapter. As an overview, the chapters are based on the following seven publications:

Chapter 4 - Mechanoreception I is based on the publications

Sebastian Günther, Florian Müller, Markus Funk, Jan Kirchner, Niloofar Dezfuli, and Max Mühlhäuser. "TactileGlove: Assistive Spatial Guidance in 3D Space through Vibrotactile Navigation." In: *Proceedings of the 11th PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments Conference*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, June 2018, pp. 273–280. ISBN: 9781450363907. DOI:

10.1145/3197768.3197785

Sebastian Günther, Sven Kratz, Daniel Avrahami, and Max Mühlhäuser. "Exploring Audio, Visual, and Tactile Cues for Synchronous Remote Assistance." In: *Proceedings of the 11th PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments Conference*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, June 2018, pp. 339–344. ISBN: 9781450363907. DOI: 10.1145/3197768.3201568

Chapter 5 - Mechanoreception II is based on the publications

Sebastian Günther, Dominik Schön, Florian Müller, Max Mühlhäuser, and Martin Schmitz. "PneumoVolley: Pressure-based Haptic Feedback on the Head through Pneumatic Actuation." In: *Extended Abstracts of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (*CHI EA '20*). New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2020, pp. 1–10. ISBN: 9781450368193. DOI: 10.1145/33 34480.3382916

Sebastian Günther, Mohit Makhija, Florian Müller, Dominik Schön, Max Mühlhäuser, and Markus Funk. "PneumAct: Pneumatic Kinesthetic Actuation of Body Joints in Virtual Reality Environments." In: *Proceedings of the 2019 on Designing Interactive Systems Conference*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, June 2019, pp. 227–240. ISBN: 9781450358507. DOI: 10.1145/3322276.3322 302

Chapter 6 - Mechanoreception III is based on the publication

Sebastian Günther, Julian Rasch, Dominik Schön, Florian Müller, Martin Schmitz, Jan Riemann, Andrii Matviienko, and Max Mühlhäuser. "Smooth as Steel Wool: Effects of Visual Stimuli on the Haptic Perception of Roughness in Virtual Reality." In: *Proceedings of the 2022 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '22)*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2022. ISBN: 978-1-4503-9157-3/22/04. DOI: 10.1145/3491102.3517454

Chapter 7 - Thermoception is based on the publication

Sebastian Günther, Florian Müller, Dominik Schön, Omar Elmoghazy, Max Mühlhäuser, and Martin Schmitz. "Therminator: Understanding the Interdependency of Visual and On-Body Thermal Feedback in Virtual Reality." In: *Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (*CHI* '20). New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2020, pp. 1–14. ISBN: 9781450367080. DOI: 10.1145/3313831.3376195

Chapter 8 - Proprioception and Kinesthesia is based on the publication

Sebastian Günther, Mohit Makhija, Florian Müller, Dominik Schön, Max Mühlhäuser, and Markus Funk. "PneumAct: Pneumatic Kinesthetic Actuation of Body Joints in Virtual Reality Environments." In: *Proceedings of the* 2019 on Designing Interactive Systems Conference. New York, NY, USA: ACM, June 2019, pp. 227–240. ISBN: 9781450358507. DOI: 10.1145/3322276.3322 302

Chapter 9 - ActuBoard is based on the publication

Sebastian Günther, Florian Müller, Felix Hübner, Max Mühlhäuser, and Andrii Matviienko. "ActuBoard: An Open Rapid Prototyping Platform to integrate Hardware Actuators in Remote Applications." In: *Companion Proceedings of the 13th ACM SIGCHI Symposium on Engineering Interactive Computing Systems*. EICS '21 Companion. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2021. DOI: 10.1145/3459926.3464757

In total, I have contributed to more than 35 publications⁷ as first- and coauthor. A complete overview can be found in the LIST OF PUBLICATIONS at the end of this thesis document.

1.6 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

In the course of this thesis, a total of eight user studies were conducted, investigating the concepts introduced with regard to different factors, such as the efficiency of users in performing a task, the immersion or presence in VR, or the dependencies of different stimuli. All experimental and study designs and their analyses followed accepted standards in HCI [LFH17]. During the studies, substantial amounts of quantitative data and qualitative feedback were collected and analyzed accordingly. Therefore, common analyses and statistical methods in Human-Computer Interaction (HCI) were used [RK16; LFH17]. In addition, qualitative feedback from users was gathered in the form of interviews and questionnaires in order to better interpret and understand the outcomes of the statistical analyses [CS08]⁸.

In the next subsections, an overview of the study designs, data analysis procedures, and reporting methods that were used is given. In addition, the respective methodology sections of each user study include more specific and in-depth explanations of the applied methods.

⁷ As of March 15, 2022.

⁸ For the interested reader, the following literature on common research methods in HCI is suggested by the author of this thesis: [LFH17; RK16; CS08; Elk+21]

1.6.1 Study Design

In HCI different study designs are possible, depending on the field of application. In this work, mainly CONTROLLED EXPERIMENTS were performed. These experiments are conducted in a carefully designed and controlled environment in which external factors that could influence the experiments are kept to a strict minimum. Therefore, one or more independent variable (IV) are clearly defined prior to the experiment, and care is taken that only one parameter is influenced at a time for each factor and variable.

The number of combinations of all factors from each IV then results in the study conditions. However, since order- or carry-over effects quickly occur when conditions are ordered identically for each participant, the order must be balanced to avoid, for example, influences on the results by just having participants that are getting better over time. In studies with few conditions, a BALANCED-LATIN SQUARE design is recommended [Wil49; Bra58], in which each condition is followed exactly *n* times by another condition. In addition, each position in the experimental order is taken exactly *n* times for each condition.

For the dependent variable (DV), the studies have relied on various performance metrics, such as the Task Completion Time (TCT) or the deviation distance to a target, and user assessments through established questionnaires, such as the NASA Task Load Index (NASA TLX) [HS88; Haro6] or Witmer-Singer presence questionnaire [WS98]. An overview of those types of measurement is given in the following:

- PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENTS If applicable, the performance of participants or a system was measured directly. For example, this was the Task Completion Time (TCT) a participant needed, the number of errors that participants did, the angle between body parts after an actuation, or the temperature of a system.
- QUESTIONNAIRES AND LIKERT SCALES In some cases, the performance of participants or a system could not be measured directly through, for example, external tracking. Therefore, quantitative data and feedback had to be collected through questionnaires containing various scales and ratings that assessed different metrics, such as subjective enjoyment, realism, or perceived temperature. Typically, such scales have 5 or 7 ordinal, but not necessarily con-

tinuous, options that range, for example, from statements like *enjoyed the experience very much* to *did not enjoy the experience at all*. A special case of such scales are Likert scales⁹ where the values are based on the agreement with a given statement, such as *strongly agree* to *strongly disagree* [Lik32; JM71; WUN12]. All questionnaires and scales that were used in the user studies of this work followed common guidelines in HCI or are based on established questionnaires, such as the Witmer-Singer presence questionnaire [WS98].

- NASA TLX A special questionnaire to investigate the perceived mental load of participants is the so-called *NASA Task Load Index* (NASA TLX) [HS88; Haro6]. Therefore, from six different factors that assess the mental, physical, and temporal demand, as well as the performance, effort, and frustration, an overall score is calculated. In this thesis, the RAW NASA TLX is used that does not include the pairwise comparisons of the aforementioned factors [Haro6].
- QUALITATIVE FEEDBACK AND OBSERVATIONS In addition to the analyses of quantitative data, the user studies also included qualitative feedback coming directly from participants in form of semistructured interviews, free-text questionnaires, and spoken and written feedback [CS08]. Also, the experimenters of the studies carefully observed the participants during their performance and interaction with the proposed concepts and system [CS08].

Furthermore, all participants were informed about the study procedures, possible associated risks (e.g., allergies to materials or motion sickness in the VR environments), collected and stored data, and the respective data privacy and policies beforehand. For each study, the participation was completely voluntary and could be interrupted or stopped at any time without giving reasons. Therefore, participants were asked to sign a consent form before a study started. Besides the usual hygienic measures for every user study, such as cleaning materials and tidy experimental setups, extended hygienic measures in alignment with the TU Darmstadt and governmental health regulations were performed during one study that was conducted during the COVID-19 pandemic (user study of Chapter 6 SMOOTH AS STEELWOOL; see Section 6.5.3.1 for more details).

⁹ named after Rensis Likert [Lik32]

1.6.2 Analyses

NON-PARAMETRIC ANALYSIS For one-factorial designs (with noncontinuous data, e.g., as often the case in the post-questionnaires), Friedman's tests were performed as it is the de-facto standard in HCI for the non-parametrical analysis [WK16]. If significant effects were found, error-corrected Wilcoxon Rank-Sum tests were used for pairwise posthoc comparisons, which are non-parametric equivalent to t-tests [WK16].

For questionnaires and study designs with more than one IV, the non-parametric Aligned Rank Transform (ART) procedure [Wob+11] was used to align the data by using the *ARTool*¹⁰. The ARTool offers the possibility to use the ART procedure with traditional repeated measures models (*aov*) or to fit mixed-effects models (LME) using *lmer*. In this work, mixed-effects models were preferred as suggested by the ARTool authors' examples. To assess the significance of the fitted model, ARTool uses the Kenward-Roger method to approximate the degrees of freedom. This is because the degrees of freedom of an LME model cannot be derived directly from the parameters of the model [Luk17], as would be the case for a comparable repeated measures (*aov*) model. For the posthoc tests, error-corrected t-tests were used or the alternative newer ART-C procedure as proposed by Elkin et al. in 2021 [Elk+21] (i.e., in the analysis of Chapter 6).

PARAMETRIC ANALYSIS For continuous data, such as performance measures, parametric analyses were used that "tests the equality of the means of a continuous outcome/dependent variable" ([RK16], p. 112). First, standardized assumption tests were performed [RK16], such as Shapiro-Wilk's test for normality and Mauchly's test to check for violations of the sphericity assumption. If normality was not given, the data were analyzed with non-parametric methods. If the sphericity was violated, the degrees of freedom were corrected using the Greenhouse-Geisser method. Second, if all assumptions were met, repeated measures analysis of variance (RM ANOVA) were performed to reveal significant effects [LFH17; RK16] and pairwise t-tests were used for

¹⁰ https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/ARTool/readme/README.html (accessed March 01, 2022)



Figure 1.1: Uncolored summary example for user studies that will be shown at the beginning of each methodology section. The *lightbulb* icon indicates the type of experiment, the *magnifying glass* indicates the performed analyses, the *user* icon gives an overview of the participants' demographics, f(IV) shows the independent variable (IV), and f(DV) shows the measured dependent variable (DV).

posthoc comparisons [RK16]. Finally, the results of the posthoc analyses were corrected using approved error correction methods, such as Bonferroni or Tukey [WK16; RK16].

- ERROR CORRECTION METHODS For both, non-parametric and parametric tests, the posthoc tests have been error corrected accordingly. Therefore, either Bonferroni or Tukey corrections were performed as suggested in literature [WK16; RK16].
- QUALITATIVE ANALYSIS In order to understand and interpret the quantitative findings better, qualitative feedback should be gathered, for example in form of semi-structured interviews, as well as by written and verbal feedback from participants during the experiments. In this thesis, this feedback was then transcribed, structured, and analyzed by following open coding in order to find common features [CS08].

1.6.3 Reporting

Each respective methodology section in this work that covers a user study contains detailed information on the study design, performed analyses, and the reporting of the results. Hereby, the reports also contain additional information, such as significance values, medians, means, standard deviations, standard errors, confidence intervals, and other accepted metrics depending on the performed statistical analyses. For a better overview, all methodology sections also begin with a summary figure highlighting the type of experiment, the performed analyses, a short demographics of the participants, as well as the independent variable (IV) and dependent variable (DV). An example of this methodology summary is depicted in Figure 1.1.

1.7 THESIS STRUCTURE

This thesis document is structured as follows:

- CHAPTER 1 motivates the importance of haptic feedback and somatosensory interaction. Further, it gives an overview of the topics within the scope of this thesis.
- CHAPTER 2 discusses the background of the somatosensory system and its psychological and physiological properties. Further, it provides background to the different classifications of touch, material characteristics, and immersion and presence.
- CHAPTER 4 highlights and discusses the importance of more FINE MECHANORECEPTION through expressive vibrotactile stimuli. Thereby, two user studies investigated how vibrotactile feedback on the hand can support target acquisition and remote assistance tasks.
- CHAPTER 5 presents concepts for PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION and how it can be implemented using a pneumatic actuation. In a user study, the effects of such pressure-based feedback on the head were investigated.
- CHAPTER 6 combines both, the FINE MECHANORECEPTION and PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION, for investigating stroke movements with regards to different roughness of materials and their interdependencies with visualizations.
- CHAPTER 7 highlights and discusses the importance of THERMOCEPTION. Therefore, a prototypical system using liquids as a medium is introduced and the effects of temperature in VR were investigated in an in-depth user study.
- CHAPTER 8 contributes on to Proprioception and Kinesthesia by providing kinesthetic feedback around body joints. Through two user

studies, the required forces for different actuation patterns and the effects of kinesthetic actuation in VR are investigated.

- CHAPTER 9 presents the design of an open-source rapid prototyping platform for actuators that was created due to the demanding prototypes presented in the previous chapters, called ActuBoard.
- CHAPTER 10 summarizes the previous chapters of this thesis and highlights potential directions for future research. Further, it provides examples of how the different aspects of this work can be integrated into specific use-cases.

The Chapters 1 and 2 are found in Part i: INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND. The Chapters 4, 5, and 6 are found in Part ii: Mechanoreception. Chapter 7 is found in Part iii: Thermoception. Chapter 8 is found in Part iv: PROPRIOCEPTION. Chapter 9 is found in Part v: Prototyping. Concluding, Chapter 10 is found in the last Part: Outlook and Conclusion.

1.7.1 Chapter Overviews

As an overview of the contents of the Chapters 4-9, each one introduces with an overview figure that highlights the respective somatosensory parts investigated in the chapter, the related publication(s) published by the author of this thesis, a thumbnail, and keywords on the discussed topic of the chapter. In addition, the color scheme of each chapter is related to the specific part of the somatosensory system. An uncolored example is depicted in Figure 1.2.



Figure 1.2: Uncolored example of the overview figure for each chapter.

BACKGROUND: THE SOMATOSENSORY SYSTEM, TOUCH, IMMERSION, AND PRESENCE

This chapter covers the different concepts and classifications of touch, backgrounds of the somatosensory system, and the different properties of materials and surfaces. Moreover, it provides background information on the concepts of immersion and presence, which are both essential for the assessment of VR applications.

2.1 CLASSIFICATIONS OF TOUCH

Before giving an overview of the somatosensory system and material properties, the term *touch* itself has to be defined¹. In particular, touch can be categorized according to two main classifications: (1) ACTIVE and PASSIVE, and (2) DISCRIMINATIVE and AFFECTIVE.

ACTIVE AND PASSIVE TOUCH The first classification distinguishes how touch is perceived from the perspective of who was the initiator of the touch. In case of ACTIVE touch, a person *actively touches something* and is the initiator of the action [Cha94; Gib62]. This also means that a person typically touched something with their own hands.

In case of **PASSIVE** touch, a person is *passively being touched* by someone or something else [Cha94; Gib62]. Hereby, a different person or some object caused the contact by external forces. This particularly includes being touched on other body parts apart from the own hands, such as happening during a caress or strokes on the arm.

DISCRIMINATIVE AND AFFECTIVE TOUCH The second classification distinguishes how touch can discriminate physical (object) prop-

¹ Contribution Statement: This section is based on the following publication which was done under my lead: [Gün+22]

erties and how touch AFFECTS emotional responses of the subject. This means that **DISCRIMINATIVE** touch is emerging around how physical contact is perceived physiologically in order "to detect, discriminate, and identify external stimuli to ultimately make rapid decisions to guide subsequent behavior" (McGlone et al., 2014, [MWO14], p. 1). Thereby, body parts consisting of the so-called *glabrous skin*, such as the hands and fingertips, have better discriminative traits than other body parts which consist of *hairy skin* due to the distribution of responsible mechanoreceptors within the skin [MWO14; MR10] (a more detailed explanation can be found in the MECHANORECEPTION Section 2.2.1).

AFFECTIVE touch, in contrast, focuses on what touch elicits emotionally, conveying "anger, fear, disgust, love, gratitude, and sympathy" (Hertenstein et al., 2006, [Her+06], p. 1). Further, AFFECTIVE touch typically results in emotional immersion that causes individuals to feel more involved in certain situations [EA16; Hui17].

This background also resulted in the situation that typically most DIS-CRIMINATIVE touch research in HCI focuses on discriminative aspects for ACTIVE touch since the hand has better discriminative traits than other body parts (cf. Section 2.2.1). On the other side, research that investigated AFFECTIVE touch mostly focused on PASSIVE touch aspects that typically involve emotional feelings. That being said, both aforementioned combinations are not mutually exclusive and it is therefore also important to understand how PASSIVE touch is DISCRIMINATIVELY perceived to initiate certain affective responses. Therefore, this work contributes to this by investigating how different haptic stimuli are discriminated during passive touch in form of stroke movements on the arm (see Chapter 6).

2.2 THE SOMATOSENSORY SYSTEM

The SOMATOSENSORY SYSTEM is responsible for the perception of touch, temperature, pain, and body position and movement through a large network of cutaneous, tactile, and proprioceptive receptors as part of the nervous system [Dou97; DBD20]. Therefore, the whole somatosensory system embodies what people typically understand as the sense of touch. Taking a look at the everyday understanding of the human

senses, people often consider sensory perception as the perception of the classic five senses: hearing, smelling, tasting, seeing, and touching. Although these five senses have been already characterized since ancient times by Aristotle (ElSaddik et al. [El +11], p. 15; [Greo7]), they are not sufficient to describe the entire sensory perception of humans. This becomes especially evident when it comes to the sense of touch. While touch was classically defined as a completely distinct sense, we nowadays know that touch is composed of a multitude of different senses that perceive different material characteristics, such as roughness, hardness, temperature, or friction [ONY13; ONH16; Hol+93] (see also Section 2.3).

This means touch persists in different sub-modalities. Probably most prominently, the perception of touch consists of the Mechanoreception, which recognizes texture on the skin, as well as light and subtle touch through FINE MECHANORECEPTION and more intense contact like skin deformation through PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION. Further, the somatosensory system comprises the THERMOCEPTION, which is responsible for the perception of temperature, as well as the Nociception, which recognizes pain.

Definition: Somatosensory

"Derived from the Greek word for 'body,' somatosensory input refers to sensory signals from all tissues of the body including skin, viscera, muscles, and joints. Somatic usually refers to input from body tissue other than viscera."

Gebhart and Schmidt [*GS*13]

An additional perception, the so-called PROPRIOCEPTION, is the perception of one's own position in space, as well as of the limbs in relation to another and their movement changes. In many cases, this is equated with the sense of balance (*equilibrioception*), which also does not occur in the classical model, but is another separate sense of balance and orientation. While the vestibular system is responsible for the sense of balance, the other senses, namely FINE MECHANORECEPTION, PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION, THERMOCEPTION, PROPRIOCEPTION, and NOCICEPTION are part of the somatosensory system [Kaa12; Dou97; DBD20].

The somatosensory system is therefore usually responsible for all that we understand by touch or haptics in HCI. As part of the sensory nervous system, it is therefore responsible for the perception of subtle vibrations, pressure, temperature, pain, and body position and movement [Dou97]. Thereby, the latter comprises receptors and afferents² found within muscles and body joints (*proprioceptive receptors*) [Tay09; PG12], while the other are comprised by receptors within the skin (*cutaneous receptors*) [MR10; Joh01]. Mc Glone and Reilly, hereby, described the skin as "a highly complex organ, innervated by a wide array of specialized sensory neurons sensitive to heat, cold, pressure, irritation, itch and pain" (McGlone and Reilly, 2010, [MR10], p. 149).

In the following, the four parts of the somatosensory system, MECHANORECEPTION, THERMOCEPTION, PROPRIOCEPTION, and NOCICEPTION, are explained in more detail and how they apply to haptic feedback in HCI and in this work³.

2.2.1 Mechanoreception

The MECHANORECEPTION is responsible for detecting light touch, flutter, and vibration through FINE MECHANORECEPTION, and pressure, deformation, and stretching on the skin through PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEP-TION [Kaa12; Car19]. Yet, each type of sensation is perceived through four different cutaneous receptors found in the different skin layers (see Figure 2.1), also known as the *four-channel model* of Mechanore-CEPTION [Bol+88; BGV94]: (1) Merkel Cells, (2) Ruffini Endings, (3) Meissner Corpuscles, and (4) Pacinian Corpuscles [Kaa12; Bol+88; BGV94]. Those receptors are further classified into two types with regards to how they respond to skin contact. Merkel Cells (or Disks) and Ruffini Endings are slowly adapting (SA) receptors that "fire during a constant mechanical stimulus" (McGlone and Reilly, 2010 [MR10], p. 149). Meissner and Pacinian Corpuscles, in contrast, are fast or rapid adapting (RA) receptors that "respond to the initial and final contact of a mechanical stimulus on the skin" (McGlone and Reilly, 2010, [MR10], p. 149).

² Gebhart and Schmidt defined afferents as "sensory neurons (axons or nerve fibers) in the peripheral nervous system that transduce information about mechanical, thermal, and chemical states of the body and transmit it to sites in the central nervous system." (Gebhart and Schmidt, 2013, [GS13], p. 3173-3174)

³ This work focuses on the somatosensory system from an HCI perspective. For a more detailed explanation of the neurological and physiological processes of the somatosensory system, which would go beyond the scope of this work, the author of this work recommends the following literature: [Kaa12; Dou97; DBD20; MR10; Bol+88; Dar84; PG12]




Image taken from the medical gallery of Blausen Medical 2014 [Bla14], licensed under CC BY 3.0, https://creativecommons.org/licens es/by/3.0/.

HAIRY AND GLABROUS SKIN: While those receptors are found all over the skin, they appear in different quantities and densities depending on the two skin types: (1) GLABROUS, and (2) HAIRY SKIN [Car19; Bol+88]. GLABROUS SKIN is found on parts of the body, such as the palm, fingers, lips, or bottom of the foot, and are mostly not covered by any hair [McG+12]. Thereby, traits of DISCRIMINATIVE touch are mainly attributed to the GLABROUS SKIN [McG+12]. HAIRY SKIN [HWG85], in contrast, is found on all other body parts, such as the arms, upper body, or legs, and typically respond better to "slow and light" strokes [Pac+17] with weaker DISCRIMINATIVE traits [Ola+10; Ack+14]⁴.

In the following, the four mechanoreceptors in the skin are described in more detail with regard to their characteristics and responsibilities:

SA1: MERKEL CELLS Merkel cells were first discovered and described by Friedrich Merkel in 1875 [Mer75] and are located in the "basal layer of the epidermis" (Carlson, 2019, [Car19], p. 70). Those slowly adapting afferents of type I are attributed to the sensation of high-resolution light touch of the skin, such as the detection of light pressure and edges [Mar+09; Car19; Kaa12]. A high density of Merkel cells are found in the glabrous skin of the hands and are,

⁴ Contribution Statement: This paragraph was based on the following publication done under my lead: [Gün+22]

therefore, able to detect even very fine edges and shapes [Joho1; Kaa12], for example for reading braille [JL81].

- SA2: RUFFINI ENDINGS Ruffini endings are named after their discoverer Angelo Ruffini who first described them in 1894 [DBD20]. They are located deeper in the skin in the outer dermis [Car19]. Similar to the Merkel cells, Ruffini endings are slowly adapting afferents but of type II [Car19; Dar84]. Their main attributions are the detection of skin stretch and joint movement [Joho1; Car19; Kaa12] but are also able to detect pressure, however, less pronounced than SA1 receptors [Joho1]. Therefore, they are essential for the perception of deformation of the skin through horizontal stretching [Joho1].
- RA1: MEISSNER CORPUSCLES Meissner corpuscles are named after Georg Meissner who discovered them in 1855 [DBD20] and are also known as *tactile corpuscles*. They are found in large quantity and density in body parts with glabrous skin (papillary layer of the dermis [DBD20]), such as the hands and fingertips [JYV00; Dar84; Car19], but are almost non-existent in hairy skin and are replaced by hair follicle receptors [DBD20; Dar84]. Similar to Merkel Disks, Meissner corpuscles detect touch but as a sense of flutter created by rapid movements on the skin [MR10; Joh01] and can detect low frequency vibration through changes of their intensity [Joh01]. Therefore, they are the most responsible receptor to detect sudden forces [Joh01; MHJ96], as well as for objects hold in the hand [MHJ96].
- RA2: PACINIAN CORPUSCLES Pacinian Corpuscles (sometimes Vater-Pacinian Corpuscles) are the fourth class of mechanoreceptors and named after Abraham Vater, who first recognized them in 1741, and Filippo Pacini who described them in more detail in 1835 [DBD20; Dar84]. These rapid adapting afferents of type II are up to 1.5 mm in length and are found in deeper skin tissues [Dar84; BBH94]. Again, these types of skin receptors are mostly found in glabrous skin but were also identified close to blood vessels and muscles [BGV94; BBH94]. They are able to detect deep pressure and vibrations [Car19] resulting from fast accelerations over short distances (10 nm) with a very high responsiveness [Joh01]. This makes them the essential receptors for applications that involve

vibrotactile sensations and texture-discrimination tasks on the hand.

In summary, MECHANORECEPTION is the essential part of the perception to detect touch in the form of vibration, skin stretch, deformation, and pressure. Different cutaneous receptors are responsible for the individual submodalities and, thus, generate separate signals for the more gentle, subtle stimuli, such as vibrations, within the FINE MECHANORECEPTION, while more intense pressure-based stimuli, such as skin deformation or stretching, are addressed by the PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION. Consequently, it is not sufficient for haptic systems, to offer only vibro-tactile stimuli in an attempt to cover the entire MECHANORECEPTION.

In this work, Part ii addresses the perception of different stimuli linked to MECHANORECEPTION in three chapters. Chapter 4 examines FINE MECHANORECEPTION using vibrotactile stimuli, Chapter 5 examines PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION for more intensive pressure-based feedback, and Chapter 6 examines the combination of both types for moving stroke stimuli.

2.2.2 THERMOCEPTION

The THERMOCEPTION is responsible for the perception of temperature changes on the skin through warm and cold receptors in the skin and around other organs [DJ77; Kaa12]. The perception of temperature is, therefore, the combination of sensing coldness and warmth separately as both types of afferents react only to certain temperature ranges [DJ77]. Thereby, the sensation of coldness is always perceived as more intense [SC98] and the overall perception of temperature always depends on the body part [GOH16] that lessens for older individuals [SC98]. Yet, very high temperatures above 45 °C [HWG52] or very low temperatures below 15 °C [HD99] result in pain and are detected by specialized nociceptors (see also Section 2.2.4).

Another special characteristic of the perception of temperature is how it is perceived over time. While faster changes in temperature of a few degrees Celsius are easily detected by humans, slow changes over several minutes are often not recognized [DJ₇₇]. Moreover, due to the effect of a *spatial summation*, the localization of thermal stimuli

24 BACKGROUND

is hard to detect, even two different areas on the skin are actuated independently [DJ₇₇].

All those factors have to be considered when investigating the THERMO-CEPTION in HCI [JH08]. Researchers and developers have to consider, how fast the actuation should happen and to what extent. Therefore, it is also essential to keep the spatial summation in mind, which may lead to unexpected side effects, as the spatial discrimination of thermal stimuli is low. In this work, thermal feedback will be investigated in Chapter 7, exploring how THERMOCEPTION is affected by visual stimuli and how to convey different temperatures through a liquid-based actuation.

2.2.3 Proprioception and Kinesthesia

PROPRIOCEPTION is the sense of the body position and movement. Taylor describes the **PROPRIOCEPTION** thereby as sensation "to judge limb movements and positions, force, heaviness, stiffness, and viscosity" (Taylor, 2009, [Tay09]). Thereby, two types of receptors, the so-called Golgi tendon organs, and muscle spindles, are responsible for this specific perception and are located under the skin, in the joints, and muscles [TA18; Dou97; Tay09]. Both are responsible for detecting movement changes and the position of body parts in relation to each other. The Golgi tendon organs, as the name suggests, are found in the tendons and detect muscle tension and contraction [Dou97; DBD20]. The muscle spindles, in contrast, detect the length of a muscle in relation to its stretching [DBD20].

While some literature distinguish PROPRIOCEPTION as "joint position sense and awareness of joints at rest" (Danzl and Wiegand, 2017, [DW17], p. 144) and KINESTHESIA as "the awareness of movement" (Danzl and Wiegand, 2017, [DW17], p. 144), others use the terms Proprioception and KINESTHESIA synonymously [Tay09; FFK08; PG12]. In HCI, for example, the terms are often not differentiated and when talking about one of them, the research is mostly concerned with either the kinesthetic actuation of body parts affecting the Proprioception or the perception of the own body (e.g., [FFK08]). In this work, Chapter 8 focuses on a kinesthetic actuation which is essential for altering the **PROPRIOCEPTION** as body parts and joints are actively moved to different positions and orientations.

2.2.4 Nociception

The NOCICEPTION has a special role within the somatosensory system as it is concerned with the perception of pain [Sne18; DBD20; Kaa12]. Hereby, it is a natural and complex alarm system that alerts potential threats or even physical injuries to the brain [DBD20]. That being said, "pain from injury cannot occur without nociception" (Sneddon, 2018, [Sne18], p. 63) and is detected by several free nerve endings (*nociceptors*) in the skin [Sne18].

While there exists a large number of different nociceptors, the most important for this work are the two main cutaneous nociceptors that respond to high and low temperature, as well as to strong mechanical stimuli [DBD20]. This means, (cutaneous) nociceptors are "afferents that respond to innocuous cooling, multimodal afferents responsive to heat, pinch, and cooling" (Kaas, 2004, [Kaa12], p. 1065). Even though this work does not address **Nociception** individually, it is an important factor for all of the investigated stimuli since it is essential to know the physiological pain thresholds in order to keep the experiments safe and harmless for users.

For MECHANORECEPTION, for example, too much pressure can cause serious tissue injuries and might result in bruises. For Thermoception, while depending on the body parts [GOH16], temperatures that are lower than 15 °C-17 °C can cause undercooling [HD99], and temperatures higher than 45 °C-52 °C can cause pain through burns [CB94; HWG52]. For Proprioception, similar nociceptors as for Mechanoreception are responsible to perceive pain, for example, due to overstretching of the joints or issues within the muscles.

2.3 CHARACTERISTICS OF MATERIALS FOR HAPTIC PERCEPTION

The previous section addressed the somatosensory system, which accounts for the haptic perception of humans. This section continues with the definitions of material properties that can be perceived by humans. As objects, things, and our whole environment are composed of different materials, surfaces, textures, shapes, and other properties, we can infer their nature, function, and characteristics. While the visual perception centers around characteristics that are visible to the eye, such as visual shapes [LS96], colors [WG18], or glossiness [BP81], everything also has tangible and tactile properties, which are the basis for haptic perception. Therefore, Okamoto et al. [ONH16; ONY13] divided material properties into five perceptual dimensions as follows: (1) fine roughness, (2) coarse roughness, (3) softness and hardness, (4) warmness and coldness, and (5) friction. All of these contribute to a holistic sensation, and are perceived by the somatosensory system via FINE MECHANORECEPTION, PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION, THERMO-CEPTION, PROPRIOCEPTION, and NOCICEPTION (see Section 2.2). However, each aspect also needs to be investigated independently to identify its effect on perception.

FINE AND COARSE ROUGHNESS As the dimensions indicate, roughness can be sub-divided into a fine and coarse (or macro) roughness [ONH16; ONY13; HR00]. Thereby, coarse roughness is defined as "voluminous, uneven, lumpy, coarse, and relief" ([ONH16], p. 5) that is mediated "by spatial cues" ([HR00], p. 1). Fine roughness, in contrast, "is typically described as harsh or rough" ([ONH16], p. 5) that is "mediated by vibrational cues" ([HRoo], p. 1). While this makes sense from a physiological or material science perspective, roughness is most often considered as a single characteristic (e.g., [Hol+93]) since humans tend to not differ between the perception of vibration (fine roughness) and more voluminous gradations (coarse roughness) [ONY13]. Okamoto et al. observed that this is mainly because describing roughness verbally can be hard as "adjectives indicating the opposite poles of macro and fine roughness are semantically similar" ([ONY13], p. 83), such as *flat*, *smooth*, or *even* [ONY13]. In contrast, such a deep distinction from a HCI or psychological perspective is usually not necessary, since the transition from a very fine roughness, which can be triggered by vibrations, to a coarse roughness can be considered continuous, even though it is processed by different mechanoreceptors. Yet, this does not mean that the perception of fine roughness can only be created by vibrotactile stimuli, or that the perception of coarse roughness can only be created by physical textures. For example, subtle stimulation can be achieved by "dragging" very fine textures, and

many works, notably in HCI, use a vibrotactile or ultrasonic actuation in an attempt to recreate all sorts of different rough textures (e.g., [CUK14; CK17; WF95]). While this work distinguishes between FINE MECHANORECEPTION (Chapter 4), which is addressed by vibrotactile actuation, and PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION (Chapter 5), which is triggered by more intense forces, Chapter 6 approaches roughness as a whole and how the perception of roughness is affected by different haptic and visual stimuli, also in comparison to a vibrotactile actuation.

- SOFTNESS AND HARDNESS The softness and hardness describe the "ratio of relative reaction force to relative surface displacement" ([ONH16], p. 9). Thereby, softer objects are more likely to be deformable by pressure, while more hard or rigid objects stay stiff. The deformation is detectable by the cutaneous mechanoreceptors that recognize the amount of pressure and the object's elasticity [ONY13; ONH16]. While soft- and hardness of objects are not the focus of this thesis, it still has a crucial role when investigating Mechanoreception. In Chapter 5, pressure-based feedback is introduced that typically results in more intense contacts that are perceived as harder than other more subtle cues. In Chapter 6, physical objects with different roughness are in the focus, however, the selection of objects also took hardness into account to balance the palette of stimuli.
- WARMNESS AND COLDNESS Every object or environment has a certain temperature. Depending on a person's own temperature, an object's temperature is either perceived as warm, if the object's temperature is higher, or as cold if it is lower [JH08; ONH16]. However, the perception of the temperature (cf. THERMOCEPTION, Section 2.2.2) is also affected by thermal conductivity and heat capacity of materials [JH08], as some might feel colder than others, even if they have the same temperature, such as metal compared to plastic or wood [HJ06; ONH16]. In this work, concepts for providing different temperatures to users and how the physical warm and cold stimuli affect the visual thermal appearance of different objects are investigated in Chapter 7.
- FRICTION Friction is the force that resists a relative sliding or movement of surface on another [Bri21] and can be slippery or sticky [NOY14; ONY13]. Since it always involves movement, the perception of fric-

tion is often attributed to PROPRIOCEPTION, however, MECHANORE-CEPTION is essential, too [MOY14; ONH16]. In this work, friction has a subordinate role but is taken into account in Chapter 6 where moving stroke stimuli with different roughness were examined and relevant related work found evidence that friction also affects the perception of roughness to some degree [Smi+02; ONH16].

2.4 IMMERSION AND PRESENCE

When investigating concepts and technologies for AR/VR, two terminologies need to be considered: (1) Immersion, and (2) Presence.

The terms are often mixed or perceived similarly in their meaning, however, have distinct characteristics that explain their connection. As one of the pioneers of modern VR research, Mel Slater defined IMMERSION as "what the technology delivers from an objective point of view" (Slater, 2003, [Sla03], p. 1). Therefore, the technical quality of a (VR) application to reproduce the sensory fidelity of respective real-world counterparts is the key to a high level of immersion. As such, immersion is something that can be "objectively assessed" [Sla03]. For example, for a high visual immersion, the field of view, display size, display resolution, realism of physical characteristics, or the frame rate are essential [BM07]. With regards to haptic feedback, the technical quality of interactive devices that replicate sensations, such as the spatial precision of touch or the thermal propagation of a (virtual) object.

PRESENCE, on the other side, is "a human reaction to immersion" [Slao3]. Originally, the term was derived from *telepresence* and described "the sensation of being at the remote worksite rather than at the operator's control station" [WS98]. With regards to VR, it indicates "a user's subjective psychological response to a system" [BM07; Slao3]. As such, a high degree of immersion in an involving situation or environment can result in a high-level presence. For example, being in a VR environment that provides characteristics close to the ultimate display (Section 1.1) where a user gets a sense of *being there* in an alternative world, with only a minor mental influence of the real world, can be an indicator for a high presence.

Throughout this work, both terms are essential and covered in many ways. The presented prototypes have to provide an objectively high degree of immersion to result in experiences with a subjectively high level of presence. Therefore, this work investigated how able the technical approaches were to provide lifelike sensations, and how much they could involve users in the VR environments.

Part II

MECHANORECEPTION

3	Intro	oduction to Mechanoreception	35						
	3.1	Requirements	36						
	3.2	Related Work	38						
4	Fine	Mechanoreception	47						
	4.1	Contribution Statement and Related Publica-							
		tions	49						
	4.2	Chapter Structure	50						
	4.3	Guidance in HCI	50						
	4.4	Spatial Navigation Concepts	52						
	4.5	TactileGlove Prototype	56						
	4.6	User Study and Methodology	59						
	4.7	Results	64						
	4.8	Discussion and Guidelines	67						
	4.9	Exploratory Study: Vibrotactile Guidance for							
		Remote Assistance	69						
	4.10	Limitations and Future Work	76						
	4.11	Conclusion	79						
5	Pres	sure-based Mechanoreception	81						
	5.1 Contribution Statement and Related Publica-								
		tions	82						
	5.2	Chapter Structure	83						
	5.3	Pressure-based Feedback	83						
	5.4	Proof-of-Concept: A pneumatic Pressure-							
		based Actuation	85						
	5.5	Pressure-based Feedback on the Head: A							
		User Study	88						
	5.6	Results	94						
	5.7	Discussion	97						
	5.8	Limitations and Future Work	98						
	5.9	Conclusion	99						

6	Combining Fine and Pressure-based Mechanore-									
	cepti	ion 101								
	6.1 Contribution Statement and Related Public									
	tion									
	6.2 Chapter Structure									
	6.3 Background: Haptic and Visual Stimuli on Perception									
	6.4 Pre-Study: Visualizations of different Rough-									
		ness Expectations 105								
	6.5	User Study and Methodology $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 107$								
	6.6	Results								
	6.7	Discussion								
	6.8	Limitations and Future Work 131								
	6.9	Conclusion								

INTRODUCTION TO MECHANORECEPTION

MECHANORECEPTION is one of the typical senses when thinking of haptic feedback in HCI and is concerned with the detection of tactile touch on the skin. Due to the four different cutaneous receptors that are involved in the process of sensing mechanical stimuli (cf. Section 2.2.1), MECHANORECEPTION is able to recognize far more than a simple contact with the skin. For this, the receptors can sense and differ between fine and subtle touches, such as vibrations, as well as stronger pressure-based impacts. Furthermore, the interplay of all mechanoreceptors makes it possible to perceive both, static touches at a certain point and moving touches and strokes, such as caress.

This part of this work investigates the following aspects of MECHANORE-CEPTION in three chapters: (1) FINE MECHANORECEPTION, (2) PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION, and (3) a combination of both for stroke stimuli. All of these chapters present substantial concepts on how MECHANORECEPTION can be leveraged for haptic feedback in HCI, each with a specific focus. The concepts outlined there are implemented in the form of several prototypical systems and systematically evaluated in user studies to determine how they are perceived by individuals. Although each of the chapters focuses on a particular manifestation of MECHANORECEPTION, the concepts are not exclusive and the meshing among the concepts is particularly evident in the latter chapter, where both, subtle and pressure-based touch, are addressed for moving touch stimuli and the influences of visuals.

Before discussing the individual concepts in each chapter, the following section presents an overview of related work that examined Mechanore-CEPTION for haptic feedback. More specific related work that addressed the submodalities of Mechanoreception are discussed within the respective chapters.

3.1 REQUIREMENTS

Haptic devices have different requirements depending on the intended application. As mentioned in the introduction of this chapter, the type of actuation already has a significant influence on the MECHANORECEPTION. Physical touch can be subtle and fine, even like a tickling feeling, often caused by vibrotactile stimulation and is superficial on the skin. Other stimulations, in contrast, are more intense and caused by pressure-based stimuli. In this case, an external force is applied to the contact point and mostly provokes a deformation of the skin layers, sensed by the involved cutaneous receptors (cf. 2.2.1). Further, besides the intensity of a touch, the perception of different material properties is part of the MECHANORECEPTION. Thereby, the surface texture of an object can be perceived which has different effects on the MECHANORECEPTION depending on the material characteristics. In the following, a set of requirements is defined for HCI applications addressing the MECHANORECEPTION, which are then used to classify the relevant related work.

REQM1. PROVIDE FINE OR PRESSURE-BASED INTENSITIES

Depending on the use case, rather fine and subtle intensity of actuations can be appropriate, for example, to convey subtle notifications or cues, or more intense pressure-based actuations, for example for establishing direct contact with (virtual) surfaces. Therefore, there should be no too gentle actuations for more intense touches, and vice-versa.

REQM2. FOCUS ON ACTIVE OR PASSIVE TOUCH

Because of the different distribution of cutaneous receptors, some applications are better suited for active touch, i.e. touching something, while other applications have to account for the specific characteristics of passive touch, i.e. being touched by something (cf. 2.1). Therefore, haptic applications should always consider which type of touch is reasonable for corresponding skin regions.

REQM3. SUPPORT DISCRIMINATIVE OR AFFECTIVE TOUCH

Similar to the previous requirement, the different distributions of cutaneous receptors also influence the sensitivity to different touches (cf. 2.1). Discriminative traits are more pronounced in glabrous skin (e.g., the hands) and are more suited for sensory perception. Hairy skin, in contrast, is more suited for affective touch, i.e. the elicitation of emotions in response to touch. There-

fore, applications should always take into account which type of sensory perception is appropriate for specific skin regions.

REQM4. PROVIDE STATIC TOUCH OR MOVING STROKES

Touch can be applied locally to a specific spot or stimulate larger areas of the skin. However, depending on the context, moving touches are sometimes preferable, for example, to convey directional cues, or to represent caressing gestures. While static touches are easier to technically implement, moving touches tend to be more challenging. Therefore, applications should always find a tradeoff whether static touches are sufficient or the effort for stroke stimuli is reasonable.

REQM5. SUPPORT DIFFERENT BODY PARTS

The previous requirements are always dependent on the actuated body part and its associated skin type. Additionally to those physiological properties, it is also essential to actuate body parts that are appropriate for a given application. Therefore, the context and the physiological properties have to be considered in order to provide an actuation for particular body parts in a meaningful way.

reqm6. support different environments

For every use case, the environment has to be considered as well. In many cases, a tactile actuation of the body without a special auxiliary modality is sufficient, such as for smartphone notifications or navigation applications. In other situations, however, haptic stimuli can support applications that would perform worse without haptics, such as AR/VR environments where haptic feedback helps for more immersion, presence, and realism. Therefore, care must be taken for which environment, real, augmented, or purely virtual, the haptic actuation is implemented.

REQM7. SUPPORT FOR DIFFERENT DEVICES

Similar to the previous requirement, the device for haptic stimuli has an important role as well. This can be stationary, for example, built into a car seat or game controller, or should be compact and wearable, for example, to provide haptic feedback for interactive VR applications. Therefore, depending on the application, it is necessary to consider in what type of device the haptic stimuli can be generated in a meaningful way.

3.2 RELATED WORK

A large part of the haptic research in HCI focuses on actuation related to MECHANORECEPTION. Individual research will be presented in this section, categorized by (1) general MECHANORECEPTION in HCI through vibrotactile and pressure-based actuations, (2) the rendering of haptic textures for active and passive touch, and (3) guidance.

3.2.0.1 Mechanoreception in HCI

In the field of haptics in HCI, research has proposed a large amount of related work that can actuate users for a broad spectrum of applications. In probably most cases, this research focuses on the *affective* responses that are a result of tactile actuations, while *discriminative* aspects are more often investigated for use in AR/VR environments.

In general, HCI has investigated various interaction concepts, methods, and techniques to provide haptics to the body, such as the squeezing, twisting, or skin deformation of body parts [KR15; GIB17; Sim+20; Sim+21; Mut+20; Yar+17], various pneumatic actuation for pressure-based feedback [Poh+17; He+15; Del+18; Kan+19], thermal cues [Liu+21; Gün+20a], mechano-tactile forces with the help of small motors [Cas+15; Pez+19; Nun+20], and even by utilizing tiny robots for attention guidance [KF19]. Recently, the Meta company provided insights into their plans for the next years regarding haptic feedback for the *Metaverse* (a highly immersive VR environment). One of their current research is focusing on a haptic glove that relies on pneumatic actuation and microfluids to create a realistic sense of touch¹. Yet, while this prototype is supposed to be very powerful, the idea to provide tactile feedback in a glove is not new. For example, one of the first tactile gloves, the Teletact [Sto01], already used a pneumatic actuation and in 1997, Caldwell et al. [CTW97] presented an updated version of it that also provides thermal feedback.

In the following, fine- and vibrotactile-based, as well as pressure-based feedback is presented in more detail. Furthermore, Section 4.3 of the following chapter on FINE MECHANORECEPTION will provide an addi-

¹ https://tech.fb.com/inside-reality-labs-meet-the-team-thats-bringing-tou ch-to-the-digital-world/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

	ReqM1. Intensity	ReqM2. Active / Passive	ReqM3. Discriminative / Affective	ReqM4. Static / Stroke	ReqM5. Body Part	ReqM6. Environment	ReqM7. Device Type
Barghout et al. [Bar+09]	√	→)			ARM	RW	≋ sleeve
Bloomfield and Badler [BB03]	√	→)	 0	0	Up. Body	VR	🗱 suit
Elsayed et al. [Els+20b]	√	→)			BODY		🗮 suit
Funk et al. [Fun+16]		→)	0	0	HAND	AR	₩ glove
Hamam et al. [HEE13]	√	→)	0		ARM		≋ sleeve
Huisman et al. [Hui+13]	\checkmark	→)	 O	0.	ARM	RW	≋ sleeve
Israr and Poupyrev [IP11]	 ✓ 	→)	==	0.	BACK	RW	🗮 chair
Israr et al. [Isr+14]	√	→)	 0	0.	BACK	RW	🕽 vest
Konishi et al. [Kon+18b]	√	→)	==	0.	BODY	VR	🕽 suit
Lindeman et al. [Lin+06]	✓	→)		0	Up. Body	VR	🗮 vest
Park et al. [PLN10]		→)	0	0.	HEAD		🗮 phone
Rahman and El Saddik [RE11]		→)	0		ARM	RWVR	≋ scarf
Rahman et al. [Rah+11]	√	→)	===	0	Up. Body	RW	≋ jacket
Tsetserukou et al. [Tse+10]	√	→)	0	0.	Up. Body	RWVR	₩ misc.
Zhang et al. [Zha+19]		•)	0		ARM	RW	≋ sleeve
Ch. 4: TactileGlove	√	→)		0.	HAND	RWAR	₩ glove

Table 3.1: Overview of a set of related work in the field of FINE MECHANORE-CEPTION. Legend: ✓ fulfilled requirement, III patterns, I active /
D passive, III discriminative / O affective, O static / ✓ strokes, D mobile, S vibrotactile.

tional overview of the more specific application area of guidance and navigation in HCI.

FINE AND VIBROTACTILE ACTUATION Yet, while the aforementioned approaches showed the feasibility of mostly mechanical or pressurebased actuations, most related work and typical state-of-the-art solutions primarily evolve around vibrotactile stimuli. These are in most cases easy to deploy and have small form factors to fit easily into wearable devices, such as [PLN10; Tse+10; Tse10; RE11; Zha+19]. While vibrotactile stimuli are suitable for actuating smaller areas of the body, they are also found to be in sleeves [Hui+13], or, for example as done by Bloomfield et al. [BBo3], Konishi et al. [Kon+18b], or Lindemann et al. [Lin+o6], even applied to the whole body through wearable suits that aimed to enhance the immersion or situational awareness. Due to the advent of modern VR systems, these concepts were also already considered by various commercial or crowdfunded devices, such as Tactsuit², KOR-FX³, Hardlight VR suit⁴, or the neosensory vest⁵. Similarly, they also exist devices using voice-coil motors that provide slightly more intense vibrotactile-like stimuli⁶. Rahman et al. [Rah+11] created a jacket with embedded vibrotactile actuators to increase awareness while driving. Further, besides wearable vests, Israr et al. [Isr+12; Isr+14], for example, embedded vibrotactile actuators into furniture to stimulate the user's back.

That being said, vibrotactile stimuli are cost-efficient and effective to convey a lightweight sensation of being touched, emotionally affecting the users [Zha+19; RE11; Cha+09], and even providing moving stroke sensations through phantom sensations [IP11; Bar+09; Els+20b; All70; RE11]. However, although vibrotactile actuations are most suitable for a lot of situations and have low technical constraints, they typically suffer from a limited realism when it comes to the point where a lifelike touch needs to be rendered, e.g., during VR experiences. Further, while research has shown that vibrations (and similar ultrasonic actuations) can recreate textures, even for creating different roughness [CUK14; CK17; WF95], such approaches are still limited in providing haptic stimuli with the same quality as pure physical textures [LTC21; Geh+19].

Further application areas for vibrotactile stimuli are for augmenting multimedia videos [HEE13] or for enhancing remote social communication [Cha+09]. Funk et al. [Fun+16] compared different cues, i.e., visual, audio, and tactile, for error feedback during assembly tasks, while Kosch et al. [Kos+16] investigated these concepts for workers with cognitive impairments. Also, vibrotactile actuation is commonly used for guidance and navigation purposes, which will be addressed in the following chapter in Section 4.3.

² https://www.bhaptics.com/tactsuit/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

³ http://korfx.com/products (accessed March 01, 2022)

⁴ https://www.kickstarter.com/projects/morgansinko/hardlight-vr-suit-don

t-just-play-the-game-feel-it/description (accessed March 01, 2022)

⁵ https://neosensory.com/vest/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

⁶ https://www.skinetic.actronika.com/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

An overview of the aforementioned works with regards to FINE MECHANORECEPTION is highlighted in Table 3.1.

PRESSURE-BASED ACTUATION AND FORCE-FEEDBACK Although vibrotactile feedback already provides well perceptible stimuli, they are usually only well suited for applications involving Fine Mechanoreception. For more intensive stimuli related to Pressure-based Mechanoreception, which for example should represent a stronger contact with the body, more powerful pressure-based approaches are necessary.

Already in 2005, Suzuki and Kobayashi [SK05] showed a system to provide force feedback based on pressurized air coming from a table. Thereby, users could perceive 2D projections on this surface also in a three-dimensional way. Likewise, Sodhi et al. [Sod+13] and Gupta et al. [Gup+13] created a subtle force-feedback through small air vortices for punctual stimuli, e.g., for Augmented Reality (AR) environments or notifications. Further, some research embedded similar approaches or fans in handheld devices in order to create a counterforce [SKI02; Heo+18]. Similarly, various research evolved around ultrasonic haptics which provides subtle pressure due to ultrasonic sound waves [Car+13; Wil+14; Mar+18]. However, while this can be counted as pressurebased force-feedback in mid-air, the resulting force is still rather low and would stimulate mostly the FINE MECHANORECEPTION.

A large part of this type of research investigated how motor-driven or SMA based devices can pinch, squeeze, or deform the skin in different ways [KR15; GIB17; Sim+20; Sim+21; Mut+20; Yar+17], mostly for the use of notifications or affective touch. Further, other approaches using pneumatics that can inflate small air cushions were explored for pressure-based notifications, e.g., as done by [Poh+17; He+15]. Yet, while notifications are just one use-case, Delazio et al. [Del+18] designed a haptic jacket that used compressed air to inflate silicone cushions at the upper body. With this, they could provide a strong pressure-based on a similar technique, the commercial haptx7 glove creates tactile sensation through tiny actuators for the fingers. While not directly creating pressure-based feedback, Lopes et al. [Lop+18; LIB15] used EMS to provide force-feedback and impact forces in Mixed-Reality. In one work, the authors investigated how the muscles of the

⁷ https://haptx.com/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

	ReqM1. Intensity	ReqM2. Active / Passive	ReqM3. Discriminative / Affective	ReqM4. Static / Stroke	ReqM5. Body Part	ReqM6. Environment	ReqM7. Device Type
Carter et al. [Car+13]	\checkmark	•	=	0	HAND	RW	ৰ) tabletop
Delazio et al. [Del+18]	\checkmark	⇒)	#0	0.	Up. Body	VR	न्ड jacket
Gupta et al. [Gup+13]	\checkmark	→]	#0	0	BODY	RW	र्ज air vortex
Gupta et al. [GIB17]	\checkmark	→]	0		WRIST	RW	🕲 wristband
Heo et al. [Heo+18]	\checkmark	(+ +)	=	0.	HAND	VR	ನೆ controller
Kettner et al. [Ket+17]	\checkmark	→)	0	0	WRIST	RW	न्ध wristband
Kim and Follmer [KF19]	\checkmark	→)	=	0.	ARM HAND	RW	😂 sm. robots
Knierim et al. [Kni+17]	\checkmark	→)	≣0	0	BODY	VR	🖌 drone
Knoop and Rossiter [KR15]	\checkmark	→)	≣0		WRIST	RW	🎯 wristband
Liu et al. [Liu+21]	\checkmark	→)	≣0		ARM	VR AR	ು ನೆ sleeve
Lopes et al. [Lop+18]	\checkmark	→)	≣0	0	ARM	AR	🕈 pads
Pohl et al. [Poh+17]	\checkmark	→)	==	0.	WRIST	RW	न्ड wristband
Simons et al. [Sim+20]	\checkmark	→)	0		ARM	RW	🕲 sleeve
Simons et al. [Sim+21]	\checkmark	→)	==		ARM	RW	દં 🕲 sleeve
Sodhi et al. [Sod+13]	\checkmark	→]	=	0	HAND BODY	RWAR	र्ज air vortex
Suzuki et al. [SKI02]		→]	=	0	HAND	VR	ನೆ controller
Suzuki and Kobayashi [SK05]	~	•		0	HAND	AR VR	न्ड tabletop
Teng et al. [Ten+21]	\checkmark	•		0	FINGER	AR VR	ज ्ज thimble
Ch E: PNEUMOVOLLEY		→]		0/	HEAD UP BODY	VR	Spneu cushions

Table 3.2: Overview of a set of related work in the field of PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION. Legend: ✓ fulfilled requirement, ➡ active / ➡) passive, ➡ discriminative / ♥ affective, ♥ static / ✓ strokes, □ mobile, RW Real World, ♣ accessibility, ➡ air/pneumatic, ♥ Shape Memory Alloy (SMA), ♣ mechanical/robotic, ◀ drone, ♦ thermal, ➡ Electrical Muscle Stimulation (EMS).

users could be actively stimulated when touching a virtual object, thus, giving the impression of physical contact.

While those approaches mostly focused on direct on-body feedback through wearables, research also used drones to poke users externally [Kni+17], or used a large number of small robots that can convey notifications through pushing the user [KF19].

But also on a smaller scale, more a lightweight pressure-based actuation can be achieved, e.g., through (compressed) air in shape-changing tangibles [Yao+13], in wearable devices for notifications [Ket+17; Poh+17], or for haptic feedback on the fingertips [Ten+21]. Fuji et al. [FNK21], for example, embedded electrohydrodynamic pumps into small tangibles that can inflate polymer chambers with liquids to provide a perceivable raised surface. An overview of some of these works concerning the aforementioned requirements is highlighted in Table 3.2.

3.2.0.2 Creating Tactile Textures

Besides the aforementioned works which mainly focus on either *affective* touch or FINE MECHANORECEPTION and PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION in general, there is also a large number of works that aim to recreate not only a binary tactile sensation but also to provide haptic textures. Thereby, as objects and surfaces consist of different material characteristics, such as roughness or hardness [ONY13; ONH16], it is essential to find ways to create the fine structures of these and how they are *discriminatively* perceived.

In the following, the related work is grouped into *active* and *passive* touch research. Further, in the last Chapter 6 of this part, a deeper background on visual and tactile influences on MECHANORECEPTION will be provided (see Section 6.3).

TEXTURES FOR ACTIVE TOUCH Most often, research focusing on *discriminative* traits are evolving around *active touch* (cf. 2.1). Thereby, research investigated methods to provide haptic textures with various approaches [Pac+17; WOX20; WYL21]. Thereby, some recreate textures on flat surfaces [Bau+10; Ten+21; Nit+19], while others used vibrotactile arrays directly located on the fingertip [WGS18; Pac+17]. Similarly, research also embedded sophisticated mechanisms into handheld (VR) controllers that can dynamically provide surfaces with different macro and micro-roughness for the hand or thumbs [Whi+18; Ben+16; Kim+09; Cho+18; LTC21]. Other research found methods to recreate roughness and friction of surfaces using a stylus by vibrotactile stimuli [CUK14; CK17] or by directly applying ultrasonic vibrations to surfaces [WF95].

In addition to these approaches, which are usually fixed to a handheld device or attached to a stationary surface, there are also more interactive approaches, such as drones designed to provide tactile stimulation [Hop+18; Kni+17], as well as robotic arms equipped with the I

capability to interact with different parts of the body [Ara+16; MS94]. An overview of the most important of these works with regard to the aforementioned requirements is highlighted in Table 3.3.

ē

	ReqM1. Intensity	ReqM2. Active / Passive	ReqM3. Discriminative / Affectiv	ReqM4. Static / Stroke	ReqM5. Body Part	ReqM6. Environment	ReqM7. Device Type
Ackerley et al. [Ack+14]	√	+)	₩O		arm head +	RW	\$ rotary motor
Araujo et al. [Ara+16]	\checkmark	•		0.	HAND	VR	😂 robotic arm
Bau et al. [Bau+10]	\checkmark	•		0	FINGER		🕈 tabletop
Benko et al. [Ben+16]	\checkmark	•		0	FINGER	VR	😂 controller
Boldu et al. [Bol+19b]		→]	₩0		ARM	RW	😂 mag. powder
Cha et al. [Cha+09]		→]	0	0.	Up. Body	RW	🗮 jacket
Culbertson et al. [CK17]	√	•		0.	HAND	RW	🗮 🛱 stylus
Essick et al. [Ess+10]	\checkmark	→]	₩0		arm head +	RW	📽 rotary motor
Hoppe et al. [Hop+18]	√	(→ →)		0.	HAND	VR	🖪 drone
Kim et al. [Kim+09]	√	•		0	FINGER	RW	🏟 mouse
Knoop and Rossiter [KR15]	√	→]	₩O		WRIST	RW	🕲 wristband
Lee et al. [LTC21]	√	•		0.	FINGER	VR	😂 controller
Liu et al. [Liu+21]	√	→)	₩0		ARM	VR AR	े न्डे sleeve
Muthukumarana et al. [Mut+20]	√	→]	₩0		ARM	VR	🕲 sleeve
Rahman and El Saddik [RE11]		→)	0		ARM	RWVR	≡ scarf
Yoshimi Sato et al. [Yos+08]		→]	₩0		ARM		🛱 🗱 glove
Whitmire et al. [Whi+18]		•		0	FINGER	VR	😂 controller
Zhang et al. [Zha+19]		→]	0		ARM	RW	🗮 arm sleeve
Ch. 6: Smooth as Steelwool	√	→)			ARM	VR	🗘 rail

Table 3.3: Overview of a set of related work in the field of MECHANORECEPTION with regards to active and passive touch. Legend: ✓ fulfilled requirement, III patterns, I active / D passive, III discriminative / O affective, O static / ✓ strokes, D mobile, RW Real World, S air/p-neumatic, Shape Memory Alloy (SMA), S mechanical/robotic, ✓ drone, S vibrotactile, O thermal, F electric.

TEXTURES FOR PASSIVE TOUCH Similarly, related research also investigated methods to recreate textures for applications focusing on *passive touch* (cf. 2.1), i.e., being touched by something, typically on other body parts than the hands. For example, Sato et al. [Yos+o8] used an array of small motors with attached fishing lines to simulate ants walking on the arm of the users. Similarly, some approaches used vibrotactile arrays to give the sensation of being touched (or even kissed) for affective touch communication over distance [Zha+19; RE11; Cha+09; Hui+13]. Other approaches by Boldu et al. [Bol+19b; Bol+19a] used an iron powder-infused gel applied to the small hairs on the arm that were then stimulated by a strong magnet hovering over the arm in order to trigger the FINE MECHANORECEPTION. In more recent work, Muthukumarana et al. [Mut+20] were utilizing shape memory alloys (SMA) that change their form by using bimetals allowing for a sensation of being stroked in VR, similar to Knoop et al. [KR15] who used SMAs for a tickling sensation by pinching and stretching the skin. Using a combination of pneumatic and thermal actuation, Liu et al. [Liu+21] presented a system that could provide caress stimuli on the forearm for social touch. In other experiments, such as conducted by Essick et al. [Ess+10] and Ackerley et al. [Ack+14], moving stroke sensations were performed by a rotary tactile stimulator that had different probes attached for different textures touching the participants. However, while Essick et al. investigated the influence of materials with different roughness and hardness on the pleasantness [Ess+10], Ackerley et al. researched the effects of the stroke velocity on the pleasantness [Ack+14]. An overview of some of these works with regard to the aforementioned requirements is highlighted in Table 3.3.

MECHANORECEPTION I: FINE TACTILE PERCEPTION



"In humans [..], the hand and its complex neural "backup" is the quintessential tactile organ."

Ian Darian-Smith, 1984 [Dar84]

MECHANORECEPTION is one of the most involved senses in the somatosensory system [Kaa12]. As introduced in Section 2.2.1, a distinction is often made between FINE MECHANORECEPTION and stronger PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION depending on the corresponding tactile afferents [Dou97; Joho1; MR10; Mar+09; Ola+10]. In this chapter, the focus lies on the first one of these: concepts for a haptic actuation of FINE MECHANORECEPTION. In particular, this involves a specific emphasis on the hands, which have particularly distinctive tactile receptors due to their glabrous skin, and are mainly involved in processes for *active* touch (see Sections 2.1 and 2.2.1).

Artificially actuating FINE MECHANORECEPTION is often caused by vibrations, which stimulate the skin receptors by high-frequency oscillations. Much research has already investigated how vibrotactile stimuli can be used to simulate (subtle and fine) touch and utilized vibration cues in

various use cases. On one side, they can hint analog information, such as a simple contact or attention to a certain direction. On the other side, and probably most familiar from everyday life, vibrotactile stimuli can be used for notifications, for example when receiving a message on a smartphone. In contrast to the direct or analog information of "just" a contact, notifications and other vibration patterns have an iconic meaning that needs to be learned and interpreted by the user. In the case of a notification, this might be short or long vibrations that distinguish from whom a message was received. More complex vibration patterns retain additional informational quality and might be used for iconic navigation purposes. For example, commercial navigation applications, such as Google Maps, use Morse code-like vibrations for subtle directional instructions during pedestrian navigation¹, while research has investigated other navigational cues for guidance via vibrotactile feedback, such as vibrating belts [Heu+08; TY04], spatial guidance applied to the head [KR17; de +17] or foot [Sch+15], or target acquisition in 2D space [Leh+12; Oro+07]. However, these are mostly limited to full body guidance, indirect cues, or one- or two-dimensional spaces.

This chapter investigates how FINE MECHANORECEPTION is perceived on the glabrous skin (see Section 2.2.1) of the hand in form of vibrotactile actuations. Moreover, the chapter explores how vibrotactile feedback can be leveraged to enable direct spatial guidance cues to the hand for precise target acquisition in the three-dimensional space. Therefore, different concepts, such as the guidance method and the number of vibrotactile actuators, were varied and implemented in a prototype referred to as TACTILEGLOVE throughout this work. Through a systematic user study, these concepts were then evaluated with 15 participants. An additional second exploratory user study was conducted that investigated the applicability of such vibrotactile stimuli provided directly to the hand in a telecooperative task which is typically based on merely visual and auditory cues.

¹ https://maps.google.com (accessed March 01, 2022)

4.1 CONTRIBUTION STATEMENT AND RELATED PUBLICATIONS

This chapter is based on the following publications:

Sebastian Günther, Florian Müller, Markus Funk, Jan Kirchner, Niloofar Dezfuli, and Max Mühlhäuser. "TactileGlove: Assistive Spatial Guidance in 3D Space through Vibrotactile Navigation." In: *Proceedings of the 11th PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments Conference*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, June 2018, pp. 273–280. ISBN: 9781450363907. DOI: 10.1145/3197768.3197785

Sebastian Günther, Sven Kratz, Daniel Avrahami, and Max Mühlhäuser. "Exploring Audio, Visual, and Tactile Cues for Synchronous Remote Assistance." In: *Proceedings of the 11th PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments Conference*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, June 2018, pp. 339–344. ISBN: 9781450363907. DOI: 10.1145/3197768.3201568 consulted to and reviewed the design process, contributing his vast experience.

Contribution Statement: I led the idea creation, concept design, implementation, performed the data analysis, and writing process. The former student *Jan Kirchner* supported building the prototype and implemented the study application based on my requirements. *Florian Müller* consulted to and reviewed the design process, contributing his experience. *Markus Funk* supported with his experience on statistical analysis. *Niloofar Dezfuli* and *Max Mühlhäuser* supervised the writing process of the publication and provided their valuable feedback. The second publication (found in Section 4.9) was part of on a internship at FXPAL in Palo Alto, California, and was supervised by *Sven Kratz* and *Daniel Avrahami*, as well as *Max Mühlhäuser* who supervised the initial concepts and writing process with his experience.

• Some contents of this chapter might contain verbatim parts of the aforementioned publications.

4.2 CHAPTER STRUCTURE

The remainder of this chapter is structured as follows: After the introduction, an overview of guidance approaches using tactile stimuli is given (Section 4.3). Based on this, concepts for using tactile cues on the hand are introduced, followed by their implementation in a prototypical system, called TACTILEGLOVE (Sections 4.4 and 4.5). Sections 4.6 and 4.7 then present a controlled experiment and its results that investigated the acquisition of invisible targets by following direct vibrotactile cues on the hand, concluded by a structured discussion and guidelines for future applications (Section 4.8). The findings will then be further discussed with regards to their limitations and future work (Section 4.10). Further, a second exploratory user study was conducted to investigate the usage of vibrotactile cues in a remote collaboration scenario (Section 4.9. The chapter closes by a short concluding summary (Section 4.11).

4.3 GUIDANCE IN HCI

In addition to the related work on MECHANORECEPTION (Section 3.2.0.1), a major application area focuses on guidance in HCI. Most often, this is achieved through on-body tactile cues since those are found to be highly effective and perceivable by humans, cost-efficient, and also proven to be useful for guiding persons with visual impairments (PVI). Research, therefore, investigated navigation capabilities in handheld devices and controllers [CLO20; Chu+21; Jan83], wrist-bands [Tsa+21; Pan+13; SOH18; Sal+18; Elv+19; Rai+17; Leh+12], shoes [Sch+15], or on helmets and Head-Mounted Display (HMD)s [VSB21; Ari+17; de +17]. Weber et al. [Web+11], for example, investigated high-resolution guidance through a vibrotactile wristband to follow a predefined trajectory. Their system used six vibration motors located around the wrist and the authors observed that such feedback had limitations during translation tasks compared to verbal communication, however, performed better during rotational tasks. Further, the authors found positive effects during situations when verbal guidance was limited. However, they mentioned that guidance could be further improved by encoding more information into the vibration patterns, such as the distance.

	ReqM1. Intensity	ReqM2. Active / Passive	ReqM3. Discriminative / Affective	ReqM4. Static / Stroke	ReqM5. Body Part	ReqM6. Environment	ReqM7. Device Type
Ariza N. et al. [Ari+17]	 ✓ 	+)		0.	HEAD	VR	🗮 HMD
Chang et al. [Cha+18]	√	⇒)			HEAD	VR	🗘 HMD
Chung et al. [Chu+21]	√	•	III	0	HAND	VR	\cong controller
Heuten et al. [Heu+08]	√	→)		0.	WAIST	RW	🗮 belt
Kaul and Rohs [KR17]	√	⇒		0	HEAD	VR	🗮 cap
Lehtinen et al. [Leh+12]	✓	⇒		0.	HAND	RW	₩ glove
Paneels et al. [Pan+13]	√	⇒)		0.	WRIST	RW	🗮 bracelet
Raitor et al. [Rai+17]		(+ +)		0	WRIST	RW	ನೆ wristband
Salzer et al. [SOR10]	√	⇒)		0	WAIST	RW	🗮 belt
Schirmer et al. [Sch+15]		⇒		0	FOOT	RW	🗮 shoe
Spelmezan et al. [SHB09]		⇒)		0	Up. Body	RW	₩
Tsai et al. [Tsa+21]	✓	⇒)	III O		ARM	VR	📽 wristband
Tsukada and Yasumura [TY04]		⇒)		0	WAIST	RW	🗮 belt
Uchiyama et al. [UCP08]	::::	⇒)		0	HAND	RW	€.≣ glove
Weber et al. [Web+11]	√	⇒)			WRIST	RW	ҟ 葦 bracelet
Zelek [Zelo5]		•)	0	0.	HAND	RW	k ≡ glove
Ch. 4: TactileGlove	√	→)		0.	HAND	RWAR	k ≡ glove

Table 4.1: Overview of a set of related work in the field of MECHANORECEPTION with regards to guidance and navigation tasks. Legend: ✓ fulfilled requirement, ::::: patterns, c active / → passive, ::: discriminative / ○ affective, ○ static / ✓ strokes, RW Real World, S air/pneumatic, S mechanical, A accessibility, visual impairments, S vibrotactile.

Also, besides the aforementioned devices, a lot of research investigated gloves that are augmented with vibrotactile actuators that are supposed to improve pedestrian navigation and guidance. For example, Uchiyama et al. [UCPo8] presented a glove for persons in a wheelchair in order to guide them through directional vibrotactile stimuli (though, not using phantom sensations) on a 3x3 vibration motor grid. Paneels et al. [Pan+13] used six actuators on the user's wrist and compared different vibration patterns for indoor navigation. Similarly, Zelek et al. [Zelo5] designed a glove for active obstacle avoidance and notifications for PVIs. However, for full-body guidance, tactile belts have been established that vibrate in the horizontal direction of a point of interest

or path [TY04; Heu+08; SOR10]. Similarly, but for a 3D space, Kaul et al. [KR16; KR17] encoded spatial information in form of vibrotactile patterns around the head to navigate users. Here, the authors compared their system with AR and audio guidance approaches, namely attention funnels [Bi0+06]. Both, visual and vibrotactile, outperformed audiobased guidance with visual having the best ranking. In another work by Kerdegari et al. [KKP16], the authors compared haptic and audio cues for head-mounted augmentation in low visibility environments in a similar way to guide the attention of participants.

Although most of the presented work used vibrotactile cues, there also exist various approaches that use a more direct guidance through mechanical forces. For example, Chang et al. [Cha+18] used small motors mounted to the sides of an HMD to generate torque that resulted in a normal force steering the attention of the user in VR. In a different work, Raitor et al. [Rai+17] used air cushions in a wristband that could be pneumatically inflated for motion guidance, i.e., during medical interventions.

Further, guidance is not limited to navigation but is also interesting from a motion guidance perspective, where tactile instructions help to perform certain body movements [Elv+19; SHB09; Sch+12; Che+16]. Besides vibrotactile stimuli, Goto et al. [Got+18], for example, used a kinesthetic actuation of the hand for more direct motion guidance (cf. Chapter 8).

An overview of important guidance and navigation approaches with regards to MECHANORECEPTION and the aforementioned requirements (Section 3.1) are highlighted in Table 4.1.

4.4 SPATIAL NAVIGATION CONCEPTS

Three-dimensional guidance of the hand allows for diverse approaches to how vibrotactile patterns can be efficiently used for spatial navigation. On the one hand, these are technical decisions, such as the resolution of the actuation or the positioning of actuators. On the other hand, mental models of users have to be taken into account to provide an accurate understanding of how such subtle vibrotactile patterns have to be interpreted. Based on the requirements of FINE MECHANORECEPTION and related work on this topic (Section 3.2.0.1), as well as the previ-



Figure 4.1: Concepts of different arrangements and number of vibration actuators with (a) 4+2, (b) 6+2, and (c) 8+2 actuators in a radial layout. The first number indicates the amount of active actuators on the outer ring, while the +2 represents the top (dorsum) and bottom (palm) actuators. Subfigure (d) show the arrangement from a side perspective.

ously introduced approaches for guidance, this section will introduce concepts for spatial navigation in a full 3D space through vibrotactile actuation on the hand.

4.4.1 Actuator Placement and Arrangement

Since the entire environment of a person should be covered to provide full guidance in a 3D space, two types of actuator arrangements are imaginable: (1) a matrix-like or (2) a spatial arrangement.

In a matrix-like arrangement, individual vibration motors can be actuated similarly to a pixel on a two-dimensional display. This makes it possible to reproduce patterns or even to create vibrotactile animations, depending on the resolution of the matrix, e.g., as proposed for guidance instructions for persons in wheelchairs [UCP08; Sch+15]. However, such a setup is typically more suitable for traditional GPSbased navigation systems relying on a horizontal plane for navigation or forces a user to learn different patterns that may not directly reflect the actual direction but have to be interpreted.

In order to provide tactile cues for the complete 3D space, it is necessary to convey all three axes in a meaningful and direct way, at best without the need to learn a multitude of varying patterns. For example by having a spatial arrangement of actuators to directly pin-point directions through directional cues. However, this also means that actuators need to be arranged carefully to be distinguishable by users. For 2D-based navigation, previous research has already shown that circular arrangements are preferable and able to convey such cues effectively [Heu+08; SOR10; TY04]. Similarly, this has to be also adapted for 3D-based navigation to include full spherical coverage of all possible directions. This was, for instance, proven to be effective for full-body guidance through a vibrotactile actuation on the head [KR17]. However, as the hand is independent of the viewing direction and provides much less potential actuation surface but with higher discriminative traits due to the glabrous skin (cf. Section 2.2.1), the quality of such cues might be also dependent on the vibrotactile resolution and further research is necessary.

Following the above insights, glove instrumentation was conceptualized to provide a circular layout on the back of the hand (*dorsum*) for providing directional cues on a horizontal plane as shown in Figures 4.1a-c. Yet, to extend it for all three dimensions, a single actuator in the center of this ring can be utilized to give navigational cues orthogonal to the back of the hand, while another actuator located at the palm does the same for the opposite direction as highlighted in Figure 4.1d.

4.4.2 Push and Pull

Besides the layout of actuators, directional cues need to be interpreted by users. Hereby, depending on an applied force on a person, a directional cue can be either a PUSH or PULL action. However, this typically requires an external force that would mechanically push or pull the person in a certain way. For wearable systems and devices, which should restrict the movement as little as possible, this is difficult to accomplish as large setups may be required.

As an alternative, directional cues can also be conveyed indirectly or iconic, for example through vibrotactile patterns. In such a case, the user has to interpret the cues individually and translate them into physical movements. However, this requires a longer learning phase in order to understand how such indirect feedback has to be interpreted and might change depending on the mental model of users. Therefore, to design an effective guidance system that uses a vibrotactile actuation, direct stimuli pointing in the physical direction seem more suitable. Yet, such



Figure 4.2: Two different actuation methods based on a (a) PUSH and PULL model. The closer the hand gets towards a target, the stronger the vibration intensity will be. Further, (b) phantom sensations allow for the illusion of a continuous vibration independent of the hand orientation.

direct directional cues can still be interpreted differently, for example as a PUSH or PULL analogy. In the context of this work, (1) PUSH and (2) PULL are defined and investigated as follows:

- PUSH indicates a stimulus applied to the hand opposing the target, resulting in direction cues that are *furthest* from the actual target, perceived as pushing of the hand. As an example, consider a second person pushing the first person's hand in a certain direction to draw attention towards it.
- PULL indicates a stimulus applied to the hand in the direction of the target, represented as directional cues that are *closest* towards the actual target, perceived as dragging or pulling of the hand. For example, one might imagine a person's hand is pulled by a dog on a leash in the direction the dog is walking.

Both approaches are encountered in everyday situations and do not seem to affect the learning curve for haptic guidance [SHB09]. However, while both mappings seem to perform similarly for vibrotactile patterns on the wrist in a 2D-space [Sal+18], it remains unclear to which degree both approaches are preferable for spatially guiding the hand in a threedimensional manner.

4.4.3 Continuous Vibrations through Phantom Sensations

Phantom sensations are a known phenomenon that was already investigated decades ago [All70] and are sometimes also referred to as funneling illusion [Bar+09]. By carefully actuating two or more adjacent vibration motors, it is possible to create the illusion that - depending on the intensity of the actuators - a flowing, continuous movement among the actuators occurs. As a result, fewer actuators are required on a particular surface, and it is possible to create the illusion of intermediate values and finer gradations. Depending on the body part, the distances necessary for a successful phantom sensation are varying. If actuators are too far apart, no fluid or continuous motion can be conveyed. If actuators are too close to each other, they may overlap each other's sensation [Els+20b]. As the hand is surrounded by GLABROUS SKIN, it has a very high resolution of mechanoreceptors (cf. Section 2.2.1). Therefore, adjacent actuators shall be located in a rather small interval, so that their actuation of them is not interpreted as two independent points (twopoint discrimination) [JV79; JV83]. In the context of the TACTILEGLOVE concepts, a phantom sensation allows for a more precise presentation of directional cues as the vibrotactile actuation can always continuously point straight towards a target independent of the hand orientation (Figure 4.2b). Further, with respect to the spherical arrangement of all actuators (Section 4.5.1), users can rotate the hand in all axes while the vibrotactile cues are updated correspondingly.

4.5 TACTILEGLOVE PROTOTYPE

For the investigation of the different metaphors and possible resolutions of vibrotactile guidance, a prototypical glove was designed implementing the aforementioned concepts: the TACTILEGLOVE. As a basis for this, a unisized glove with removed fingertips, as commonly used for cycling, was utilized. For the vibrotactile actuation, ten disc vibration motors with a diameter of 10 mm each were woven into the glove. Eight of them were arranged in a circular array equally distributed on the back of the hand (*dorsum*), one vibration motor was located in the center of this circular array, and another was attached to the lower side of the hand (*palm*). The prototypical glove is depicted in Figure 4.3.


Figure 4.3: The TACTILEGLOVE prototype showing the (a) microcontroller and custom connector board. Further, the location of all vibrotactile actuators are shown from a (a) top-down and (b) palm-side perspective.

The ten vibration motors had a nominal voltage of 3.3 V and were regulated by Pulse-Width Modulation (PWM) using an Arduino compatible microcontroller ² with Bluetooth LE support that received instructions via a separate workstation with an update rate of 60 Hz. In addition, safety diodes ³, transistors ⁴, and resistors ⁵ were soldered onto a connector board between the microcontroller and the actuators so no harmful reverse voltages would damage the board (see Figure 4.3c). For better portability, the small microcontroller was attached to a separate pocket on the forearm of the users, leaving the hand as mobile and unobstructed as possible.

An optical motion tracking system (Optitrack) was used to track the position and rotation of the hand, respectively the TACTILEGLOVE in the full 3D space. Therefore, a total of six high-speed infrared cameras were pointed toward the users' position and hand that were tracking an arrangement of four retro-reflective markers to be recognized as unique trackables (see Figure 4.3a). This tracking data was then processed by the separate workstation, which calculated the intensity of the actuation according to the absolute distance for a target point in the physical 3D space. This very precise tracking also made it possible to provide full spherical coverage for every possible direction, regardless of the orientation of the hand. This means that independently of how a user rotates the hand, the actuation is always directed at the current target.

² RedBearLab Duo with Bluetooth Low Energy

³ Superfast Switching Silicon-Rectifier Diodes, FE1B, nominal current = 1 A, repetitive peak reverse voltage = 100 V

⁴ NPN Epitaxial Silicon Transistor, BC548BTA, collector-emitter voltage = 30 V, $h_{fe} = 200 - 450$

⁵ Carbon Film Resistors, CFR25JT-52-1K0, Tolerance: 5%, 0.25 W

4.5.1 Direction and Distance Encoding

For effective vibrotactile guidance, the vibrations have to be reasonably understood by users. In addition to the actuation metaphor (Push and Pull) and location of the actuators, the vibration pattern is also of importance. As demonstrated in related work (e.g., [LS10; Pan+13; Oro+07]), modulated vibrations are ideal candidates by increasing their FREQUENCY the closer the hand is to a target. Moreover, the direction to the target has to be encoded by vibration patterns as well. To this end, PHANTOM SENSATIONS provide the illusion of continuous actuation even between neighboring vibration motors and consequently require dynamic changes in INTENSITY (cf. Section 4.4.3). For TactileGlove, INTENSITY and FREQUENCY were implemented as follows:

THE INTENSITY of each actuator defines how strong a vibration occurs and is calculated by the angle towards the target. Therefore, a virtual cone with an opening angle of 60°, which was found to be effective during informal tests, is projected from the center of the hand towards the target. All actuators within the cone are included in the intensity calculation in order to achieve a continuous PHANTOM SENSATION (cf. Section 4.4.3). For each of these actuators, the cosine to the perpendicular of the cone is taken as a factor and multiplied by 255 (maximum for the PWM control and a voltage of 5 V). Hence, if there is a direct straight line to the target, the intensity results at full 5 V. On the contrary, the larger the angle to the perpendicular towards the target, the lower the factor down to a minimum of 0.5 (defined by the cosine of 60°). A factor of 0.5 thus equals a PWM value of 128 and 2.5 V, respectively, as voltages below would not operate the vibration motors. In addition, all actuators outside the virtual cone, i.e. an angle to the target greater than 60°, will result in an intensity of 0, as seen in equation 4.1.

$$Intensity = \begin{cases} 5 \ V * \cos(\alpha), & \text{if } \alpha <= 60^{\circ}, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases} \mid \alpha = \text{angle to target} \\ (4.1)$$

THE FREQUENCY of each actuator defines how often it vibrates within a second. As shown in related work [LS10; Pan+13; Oro+07],

changes in the frequency are an effective method to improve spatial awareness of users when a pulsating stimulation with increasing frequency towards the target is performed. In the context of **TACTILEGLOVE**, the frequency was defined as a rather slow 2 Hz for a distance of 1 m and was linearly getting faster the closer the hand gets to a target. The calculation is defined as in equation 4.2. In addition, a suppression of the vibration once the target is reached indicates a successful navigation [Oro+o7]. Since the hand cannot be held perfectly steady over a longer period of time, the target is defined to be within a spherical area with an adjustable radius. During informal tests, a radius of 7.5 cm was found to be a reliable reference value.

$$Frequency = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{d \times 2Hz}, & \text{if } d > 7.5cm, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases} \mid d = \text{distance in meter } (4.2)$$

4.6 USER STUDY AND METHODOLOGY



This section introduces the methodology of a controlled experiment assessing how effective users can interpret vibrotactile patterns on the hand for guidance. The aforementioned TACTILEGLOVE was thereby used to provide the different navigational cues in a 3D space. Even though the targets were invisible, to reduce effects and distractions from seeing the single actuators vibrating, all participants were blindfolded during the study. In particular, the user study investigated the following research questions for vibrotactile guidance in hand-reachable distances:

RQ1. How do Push and Push metaphors affect spatial guidance?

RQ2. How do different NUMBERS OF ACTUATORS affect spatial guidance?

4.6.1 Design and Task

The user study was performed as a within-subjects design. As IV, the GUIDANCE METHOD and NUMBER OF ACTUATORS were varied in a repeatedmeasures design. For the DV, the TARGET SELECTION TIME (TST) and NUMBER OF ERRORS (NOE) were tracked. Further, the NASA TLX [HS88; Haro6] was used to measure the perceived workload. This resulted in $2 \times 3 = 6$ conditions. The first three conditions were either consistently PUSH or PULL, followed by the respective opposite for the latter three. Together with the NUMBER OF ACTUATORS, everything was counterbalanced using a Balanced Latin Square design. All IV and DV are explained in more detail in the following subsections.

4.6.1.1 Independent Variables (IV)

There were two IV: (1) NUMBER OF ACTUATORS and (2) GUIDANCE METHOD.

- NUMBER OF ACTUATORS (3 FACTORS): The NUMBER OF ACTUATORS consisted of three levels which varied the active vibration motors (4+2, 6+2, and 8+2) as defined in Section 4.4.1. The actual arrangements of all three levels are depicted in Figure 4.1.
- GUIDANCE METHOD (2 FACTORS): The GUIDANCE METHOD consisted of two levels, namely Push and Pull as defined in Section 4.4.2. For a better understanding, an example of how this two actuation methods are visualized in Figure 4.2a.

4.6.1.2 Dependent Variables (DV)

There were three different DV in order to assess the performance using TactileGlove: (1) Target Selection Time (TST), (2) Number of Errors (NoE), and (3) NASA Raw Task Load Index (RLTX).

TARGET SELECTION TIME (TST): The TST is defined as the time from starting a trial until a participant confirms a target by clicking the presenter. It was measured in milliseconds.

- NUMBER OF ERRORS (NOE): The NoE is defined as the number of wrong confirmations of a target when clicking the presenter during a condition. Training targets are not counted which means that there can be a maximum of 27 errors per condition.
- NASA RAW TASK LOAD INDEX (RLTX): The RLTX is a well-established measurement and questionnaire for perceived workload [HS88]. It contains individual questions regarding the mental, physical, and temporal demand, performance, effort, and frustration on 100point scales with 5-point steps. The overall score is then calculated by the average of each subscale. A lower score is better and means a lower task load. While the original TLX also contains a pairwise comparison of each category, this study did not include it as commonly known as the RAW TLX [Har06]. For more information, see also Section 1.6.

4.6.1.3 Task

The task was to identify 5 training targets and 27 real targets during each condition. While the training targets were always identical and intended to familiarize the participants with the current condition, all real targets were evenly distributed in a $3 \times 3 \times 3$ invisible grid-like space in front of the participants (Figure 4.4b). Yet, the order in which the participants had to find the targets was randomized and unknown to them. To find a target, the participants had to follow the vibration patterns coming from the TACTILEGLOVE while being blindfolded. Every time the participants identified a target, indicated by a suppressed vibration, the participants had to confirm it by clicking a provided presenter. If they could not find the current target and wanted to give up a trial, the participants were asked to click the presenter in order to count the trial as an error. Combining all the 6 conditions with the 5 training targets and 27 real targets per condition, the participants had to identify a total of $6 \times (5 + 27) = 192$ targets.

4.6.1.4 Participants

In total, 15 participants participated in the study (6 female, 9 male) with an age range between 20 and 33 years (M=25.5, SD=3.8). All of them were right-handed with an average hand length of 18.4 cm and a

hand diameter of 20.6 cm which was suitable for the glove design. Most of the participants had no prior experience with vibrotactile feedback (n=11, 73%), one worked with vibrotactile systems before, and three had some experience with haptic feedback in-game controllers. Besides snacks and drinks, no compensation was provided.

4.6.2 Study Setup and Apparatus

The apparatus in the form of TACTILEGLOVE was employed as outlined in Section 4.5. This included the layout of the vibration motors, their actuation, and the tracking of the hand using a high-precision motioncapturing system. In addition, a backless stool was fixed in the experiment room so that participants would sit in the same spot at all times. The experimenter remained in the back of the room to observe the participants and control the study using a desktop computer. Figure 4.4c shows a participant while performing a condition.

4.6.3 Procedure

BEFORE THE STUDY: The participants were first welcomed and introduced to the study. Thereby, they were briefed on the goals, the TACTILEGLOVE prototype, and the setup of the study. Once participants had no further questions, they were asked to fill out a demographic questionnaire and consent form.

In the next step, participants were asked to sit down on a fixed stool comfortably. Then, the experimenter assisted with putting on the glove and assured it was fitting tightly but did not restrict arm movements. While sitting on the chair, the experimenter also explained the rough scale of the potential target areas, however, without disclosing exact positions or distributions of any target. Therefore, participants were also asked to remain seated and did not need to reach behind them.

As soon as participants felt comfortable, the experimenter assisted with putting on the blindfold and handed a presenter to their left hand for confirming targets and to proceed to the next trial. However, before starting with the first condition, the participants



Figure 4.4: Setup of the study with (a) a participant wearing the TACTILEGLOVE, a blindfold, and a presenter. The 3x3x3 cube in (b) depicts how the target areas were defined, including an example area at the coordinate 3,1,1 highlighted in green. (c) shows the participant during a target acquisition task.

were introduced to the concepts of the PUSH and PULL methods and how the vibration patterns are to be interpreted with regard to FREQUENCY and INTENSITY by initiating example vibrations.

DURING THE STUDY: A condition always started by telling the participants the current vibration patterns (PUSH or PULL, and the number of actuators active). To get familiar with it, five identical training trials always preceded the first real target. However, the five training trials were not communicated to the participants and the 27 real trials started directly afterward in random order. When participants were confident to correctly identified a target or if they wanted to skip the current trial, they had to press the presenter, as described above.

After finishing all training and targeting trials of a condition, an audio notification informed the participants and they could put off the blindfold. Then, the experimenter provided a laptop to answer a questionnaire and NASA Raw NASA-TLX (RTLX). Before proceeding with the next condition, participants could take a break.

AFTER THE STUDY: Once the participants had finished all six conditions, they could take off the glove and blindfold. In a semi-structured interview and post-questionnaire, the participants were asked for overall feedback and rank each condition, as well as for additional qualitative feedback, ideas, and suggestions. Overall, the whole procedure took about 60 to 75 minutes per participant.



(a) Target Selection Time (in (b) Number of Errors (c) Raw TLX score seconds)

Figure 4.5: Results of the user study showing the means of the (a) Target Selection Time (TST), (b) Number of Errors (NoE), and (c) Raw TLX (RTLX) score grouped according to the NUMBER OF ACTUATORS and GUIDANCE METHOD. All error bars depict the standard error.

4.7 RESULTS

In this section, the results of the controlled experiment are reported by first describing the performed analysis, followed by the qualitative and quantitative feedback. The latter is further split into general feedback with regards to the interaction with TACTILEGLOVE and potential application scenarios.

4.7.1 Analysis

To analyze the data, the entire logs were pooled and analyzed using a 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA. If significant main effects were observed, Bonferroni-corrected paired-sampled t-tests were used for pairwise posthoc comparisons. Further, outliers in the data were removed by identifying data points with a deviation from the mean that is larger than three times the standard deviation⁶.

4.7.1.1 *Target Selection Time* (*TST*)

The analysis revealed significant main effects of the NUMBER OF ACTUA-TORS on the Target Selection Time (TST) (p = .02). Post-Hoc analysis further showed significant interaction effects between 4 and 8, as well as between 6 and 8 active actuators (both p < .05). There were no sig-

⁶ outlier if: { $x \in \mathbb{R} | M - 3 \times SD < x < M + 3 \times SD$ }

nificant effects with regards to the GUIDANCE METHOD (p > .05) and no significant interaction effects were found ($F_{2.78} = 2.172, p > .05$).

Overall, during PULL conditions, participants performed faster than using PUSH ($M_{pull} = 11.84 \ s$, $SD_{pull} = 4.63 \ s$ and $M_{push} = 13.24 \ s$, $SD_{push} = 4.55 \ s$). Looking into more detail, participants performed best when having 8+2 NUMBER OF ACTUATORS, followed by 6+2 and 4+2 during the PULL conditions (Pull: $M_{8+2} = 9.72 \ s$, $SD_{8+2} = 2.33 \ s$, $M_{6+2} = 11.78 \ s$, $SD_{6+2} = 4.26 \ s$, and $M_{4+2} = 13.89 \ s$, $SD_{4+2} = 5.77 \ s$). Similarly, during PUSH conditions, 8+2 performed better than 4+2 and 6+2 (Push: $M_{8+2} = 11.33 \ s$, $SD_{8+2} = 3.48 \ s$, $M_{6+2} = 15.38 \ s$, $SD_{6+2} = 5.5 \ s$, and $M_{4+2} = 12.69 \ s$, $SD_{4+2} = 3.4 \ s$). All results are depicted in Figure 4.5a.

4.7.1.2 Number of Errors (NoE)

The analysis showed significant main effects of the guidance method on the Number of Errors (NoE) (p = .048). No significant main effects were found for the number of actuators (p > .05) nor interaction effects ($F_{2.82} = 1.193$, p > .05).

Overall, during Pull conditions, participants were able to identify more targets and did less errors than during Push conditions ($M_{pull} =$.7, $SD_{pull} = .89$ and $M_{push} = 1.33$, $SD_{push} = 1.92$). Within Pull conditions, participants made the least errors when having 8+2 NUMBER OF ACTUATORS, followed by 6+2 and 4+2 (Pull: $M_{8+2} = .43$, $SD_{8+2} = .51$, $M_{6+2} = .8$, $SD_{6+2} = 1.01$, and $M_{4+2} = .86$, $SD_{4+2} = 1.03$). In contrast, during Push conditions, 4+2 active actuators resulted in less errors than 8+2 and 6+2 (Push: $M_{8+2} = 1.0$, $SD_{8+2} = .85$, $M_{6+2} = 2.07$, $SD_{6+2} =$ 2.82, and $M_{4+2} = .93$, $SD_{4+2} = 1.44$). All results are depicted in Figure 4.5b.

4.7.1.3 NASA Raw Task-Load-Index (RTLX)

The analysis could not reveal any significant main effects on the NASA Raw Task-Load-Index (RTLX) (p > .05), as well as no interaction effects ($F_{2.84} = .108, p > .05$).

Both, for PUSH and PULL conditions, participants rated the RTLX on a similar level ($M_{pull} = 42.02$, $SD_{pull} = 16.34$ and $M_{push} = 46.9$, $SD_{push} = 17.81$). For PULL conditions, the lowest scores were given a NUMBER OF AC-

TUATORS of 8+2, followed by 4+2 and 6+2 (Pull: $M_{8+2} = 39.87$, $SD_{8+2} = 16.78$, $M_{6+2} = 44.27$, $SD_{6+2} = 14.55$, and $M_{4+2} = 41.93$, $SD_{4+2} = 16.34$). During PUSH conditions, 4+2 performed better than 8+2 and 6+2 (Push: $M_{8+2} = 46.25$, $SD_{8+2} = 18.06$, $M_{6+2} = 49.97$, $SD_{6+2} = 19.2$, and $M_{4+2} = 44.49$, $SD_{4+2} = 16.91$). All results are depicted in Figure 4.5c.

4.7.2 *Qualitative Feedback*

Participants were invited to give verbal feedback throughout the study, and written feedback during the post-questionnaire. In general, the spatial guidance with the TACTILEGLOVE was found to be a novel concept and was a new experience for the participants. The vibrotactile feedback was described as "quite simple, can instantly be understood and used" (P5), as well as "an interesting experience to use the glove" (P2). This was further supported by high success rates as "it eventually brings you to the target and gives you a feeling of success" (P4). The analysis showed that conditions with a PULL generally performed better than PUSH. However, some participants thought their performance was best using PUSH, yet, still felt more confident during PULL.

Some of the participants reported having issues distinguishing single actuators. In particular, the location of the top and back actuators was occasionally felt too close. This also was the case for the top and bottom actuators and P12 stated that "the localization of the vibrators on the back of the hand are a bit difficult to differentiate from up and down". Participants sometimes also reported that "the lower vibration motor felt stronger" (P12) or "the impression on the backside of the hand was harder" (P7). Those issues were mostly observed if participants had rather slim hands.

The TACTILEGLOVE as a wearable was found to be "*lightweight and fits the hand very well*" (P15), while one participant even described it to be "*cuddly*" (P10). However, the prototype used a unisized glove, and participants with smaller hands expressed that vibration motors should have been "*closer to skin*" (P1) and "*tighter*" (P13).

4.7.2.1 Potential Use-Cases suggested by Participants

In addition to the aforementioned feedback, participants provided ideas for potential future use-cases during semi-structured interviews after finishing all conditions. Hereby, the experimenters asked explicitly for real-world situations where the participants could imagine using such vibrotactile guidance.

Participants were highly motivated during these questions and thought of a large number of potential situations. Most often, chances for supporting persons with visual impairments were highlighted as "hands are free for other work and things can be done blind(-folded)" (P7). Thereby, the vibrotactile guidance can assist while trying to "find objects without looking" (P2), "support for visual search" (P10), and "positioning an object precisely with vibration help" (P7). As a more specific example, P3 described it as support for "visually impaired persons [...] to find buttons like door-openers in public transport or at traffic lights". Independent of the assistive aspects, P12 suggested using the TACTILEGLOVE to faster find "groceries in a supermarket".

Another suggestion was to use vibrotactile guidance on the hand for educational purposes, such as support for art classes where the hand could be guided to follow a path while painting. Similarly, P11 highlighted positive effects for learning handwriting in school and P7 suggested it for "*teaching driving*". However, this would require even more finegrained actuations. Other potential use-cases encompassed situations where "*some kind of physical interaction is required*" (P1) during industrial tasks, or for "*medical tasks like surgeries*" (P13) and "*maintenance tasks* [...] *at a machine*" (P5). Nevertheless, for such an environment, participants explained the device has to be "*more robust to be used in industrial scenarios*" (P13).

Also, the usage of such a system for haptic feedback in AR/VR environments was mentioned (P6). This participant further elaborated that an increase in the number of actuators with a "*a finger-granularity* [..] *might be good to feel virtual objects and perceive them as tangible*" (P6). Considering AR situations, some participants (P6, P8, P15) named gaming purposes to benefit from haptic feedback, however, did not stat explicit examples.

4.8 **DISCUSSION AND GUIDELINES**

The analysis and feedback from the participants showed that finegrained guidance in close range to them is achievable through vibrotactile actuation on the hand. However, the performance of the guidance is highly dependent on the NUMBER OF ACTUATORS as well as the GUID-ANCE METHOD. In this section, three design guidelines are presented and discussed for future guidance applications.

4.8.1 Prefer Pull over Push

The results showed significantly better performances for following vibrotactile patterns during PULL conditions. Participants were able to identify and select targets on average about 20% faster while doing fewer errors or giving up. This was further supported by the qualitative feedback of participants who typically preferred a PULL guidance method as more natural and intuitive. Still, the effects on the task load (RTLX) were slightly lower for PUSH conditions and some participants subjectively thought they performed better during those conditions. However, no significant effects were confirmed during the analysis and further research is necessary with regard to the task load.

4.8.2 Higher Actuators Resolutions are more effective

Conditions using 8+2 actuators always resulted in a lower TARGET SE-LECTION TIME (TST), NUMBER OF ERRORS (NOE), and task load (RTLX) when using PUSH, and were seconded by 6+2. While using phantom sensations, vibrotactile guidance was still working for a lower NUMBER OF ACTUATORS, however, more fine-grained actuations with less physical spacing between actuators helped to increase the overall performance. This is in alignment with statements of participants that described that fewer actuators are better distinguishable. However, requiring a high distinguishability was shown to be less important than a high precision of the guidance as the target acquisition time would have been longer. Also, further research is needed to identify when this effect is no longer given and a maximum resolution is reached. In any case, designers always have to consider a trade-off between wearability and effectiveness depending on the use case.

4.8.3 Equal Distances between Actuators are important

The results are indicating another interesting effect that was observable when comparing 8+2 and 4+2 active actuators with 6+2. In almost all cases the first two layouts were faster or more reliable ways to perform the targeting task, even in cases with 4+2 which has fewer motors. Yet, during 6+2 conditions, the outer ring of actuators had two disabled motors that were located on the left and right sides of the hand. This had the effect that the distance between two neighboring motors could be slightly varying compared to the two other layouts that were always having an equidistant spacing. However, this negative impact for 6+2 conditions could also come from missing cardinal directions as participants might map the vibration patterns like a compass on the hand, thus, anticipating stronger signals coming from the left or right side. Therefore, as a general guideline, there is a tendency to take care of both aspects and always provide actuators in cardinal directions of the hand, but also locate vibrotactile actuators with the same distance between each neighbor.

4.9 EXPLORATORY STUDY: VIBROTACTILE GUIDANCE FOR REMOTE AS-SISTANCE



A potential use case for vibrotactile guidance in a user's nearby surroundings can be found in the area of remote collaboration and assistance. There are often complex situations in which an inexperienced person needs the help of an experienced expert. Despite modern video conferencing solutions, they may be inadequate in certain situations, for example when objects are occluded by others or objects are out of



Figure 4.6: Views during the study showing (a) the vibrotactile glove, (b) view through the HMD with recognized object and additional AR label, and (c) top-down view of the same scene as seen by the operator.

the camera's field of view. In this section, an exploratory study investigates how vibrotactile guidance for the hand performs against auditory and visual feedback. Through an abstracted task that required active communication between two remote parties, participants were asked to use the different cues to form an effective team.

4.9.1 Study Design

The study used a between-subjects design with two participants either acting as **REMOTE EXPERT** or **FIELDWORKER** together. As **IV**, three different supporting cues were compared with verbal communication only as a baseline. The supporting cues were (1) verbal communication, (2) visual cues, (3) audio cues, and (4) tactile cues (as described in Section 4.9.2).

As for the DV, a questionnaire after each condition was used, asking for feedback on the provided cues. Further, the TCT was measured for each condition.

In a final post-questionnaire, the participants had to rank each condition with regards to their perceived EFFECTIVENESS and DISTRACTION, as well as an OVERALL RATING.

4.9.2 Study Setup and Apparatus

The setup was divided into two areas so that two different roles for each participant group could be performed separately: (1) the remote expert, and (2) the fieldworker space.

In the remote expert space, a common desktop computer was available to run the operator study application. This application offered both, a first-person view of the fieldworker and a top-down view of the fieldworker's workspace. In either of these views, the expert could perform a simple click to set a tactile, auditory, or visual cue, depending on the condition, which was then passed to the fieldworker. Additionally, a headset was provided for the expert to communicate verbally. A printed codebook with the sorting sequences was also provided for the specific tasks.

On the fieldworker's side, a workspace was provided with six similarlooking boxes for performing the tasks. The boxes had different weights between 100 g and 1,100 g in 200 g steps, without the weight of the boxes being visually recognizable. Also, the fieldworker was equipped with a HMD⁷ and headset. During conditions with tactile cues, the fieldworker also wore the TACTILEGLOVE provided in the room.

An additional top-mounted camera⁸ was located in the fieldworker's room to track the position and orientation of the boxes, the HMD, and the hand. The camera image was broadcast to the remote expert, as was the first-person perspective of the fieldworker through the HMD.

4.9.2.1 Audio Cues

Audio cues were presented in form of stereo signals. Depending on the head orientation of the fieldworker, a subtle sound loop was hearable either on the left or right ear. The closer the fieldworker's view was towards the marked target, the louder the audio cue got. If the view was directly towards the target, both stereo channels were active and the sound loop changed the frequency.

⁷ META1 augmented reality glasses

⁸ Microsoft Kinect 1



Figure 4.7: Setup of the study showing (a) the fieldworker space with a topmounted Kinect for tracking, (b) the fieldworker wearing the HMD, headset, and boxes of the task in front, and (c) the working space of the operator including the codebook for solving the task.

4.9.2.2 Visual Cues

Visual cues were presented in form of virtual labels augmented directly to the view of the fieldworker. Each label was translucent and was either a simple marker or could contain custom text. If the label was outside of the view, the respective side of the view was highlighted by a visual indicator.

4.9.2.3 Tactile Cues

Tactile cues were presented through vibrotactile patterns on the hand by the TACTILEGLOVE. As the task was based in a 2D space, only four vibration actuators were active, depicting the direction towards a selected target through phantom sensations. Similar to the aforementioned prototype, the frequency of the vibration increased the closer the hand gets towards a target. Only the suppression of the pattern was not included as the remote experts were asked to do it manually once the fieldworkers reached a target.

4.9.3 Verbal Communication

Verbal communication was available during all conditions to recreate a realistic environment. However, it was also the baseline condition where no additional cues were active. The communication was done as a bi-directional voice-to-voice interface, similar to traditional audio calls using a headset.

4.9.4 Task and Procedure

The task should represent an abstracted version of a typical scenario where two parties with different knowledge about a situation have to work together and actively communicate to solve the problem. For example, this could be a situation where a first-aider has to contact a doctor or paramedic to help during an emergency or a situation where a worker in the field has to fix a broken machine and has to contact an expert of the vendor. The task was created with this in mind and the procedure was as follows:

After welcoming the participants, introducing them to the study, and assigning them to one of the two roles, they had to solve the task as follows:

- A prepared order of the six boxes by the experimenter was presented to the fieldworker who had to communicate them to the remote expert.
- (2) Based on this initial order, the remote expert then had to find the box pairs that have to be compared by their weight by the fieldworker.
- (3) The fieldworker then compared the box pairs and had to communicate which box is lighter or heavier.
- (4) Based on the comparison, the expert looked up the final order in the provided codebook, which had to be communicated a last time to the fieldworker.
- (5) The fieldworker now had to put the boxes in the final order. Once both sides agreed to have solved the task, the experimenter stopped the trial.

The experimenter encouraged the participants to actively use the provided cues that were available in each condition. Further, they were asked to try out how they can achieve their ideas with it but were completely free in how they were using the cues.



Figure 4.8: Sequence of the task solving process. (1) The fieldworker had to communicate the initial order of the boxes to the remote expert, (2) then the expert had to identify the boxes to compare, (3) the fieldworker had to compare them as told by the expert and communicate the weights back. (4) In a final step, the expert had to figure out the final order in the codebook (5) which had to be communicated one last time to the fieldworker who had to sort it accordingly.

After each condition, the participants were asked to fill out a questionnaire as described in Section 4.9.1. Once all conditions were completed, a final questionnaire had to be answered which should emphasize overall feedback on each cue.

4.9.5 Observations and Discussion

In this section, the results of the study are discussed. Due to the low number of participants and explorative nature of the study, no statistical analysis was performed and the focus was on the qualitative feedback given.

Overall, VERBAL communication was strongly used and participants were able to find a common ground quickly [FK89]. Besides that, participants ranked VISUAL cues as most effective, followed by TACTILE and AUDIO cues. With regards to the TCT, VERBAL communication and AUDIO cues were fastest while VISUAL and TACTILE cues remained on a similar slightly slower level (verbal: M = 2:55 min, audio: M = 2:29 min, visual: M = 3:13 min, tactile: M = 3:14 min). Although, the times are not reliable given the low number of repetitions and the experimenters could observe that the times often varied considerably when participants tried out new cues first, the study could show useful insights into how participants relied upon and interacted with these cues as discussed in the following.

4.9.5.1 Audio Cues

AUDIO cues were mostly disliked as participants described them as distracting and not very effective. While one participant acknowledged that "the sound was interesting and somewhat intuitive" (W1), the general observation was that participants were insecure in identifying the correct box if there was another box too close by. Interestingly, W3 reported that audio cues "helped to get to the right place more quickly than the verbal instructions". However, W1 stated that they "did like the audio signals [..] it may have overloaded the aural channel with the voice contact". In contrast, one remote expert described AUDIO cues as effective as "audio seemed to help the worker a little bit more" (E4).

4.9.6 Visual Cues

VISUAL cues were reported to be the most effective from both parties as they were "able to see the match without the urge to describe it" (W₃) and "it took less time to describe which boxes to chose" (E₁).

However, the **VISUAL** cues could overlay the real world too much and, thus, reduce the ability to focus. W3, for example, suggested that "*a brief flash*" rather than a constant visualization could improve this modality. Also, technical limitations of the HMD did not work well for people with debility of sight, making it hard for them to see the contents.

4.9.7 Tactile Cues

TACTILE cues were a novelty for the participants and appreciated "the concept in general [..] for guidance" (W₃). However, this also meant that participants reported needing "more time to learn the patterns" (W₄). As a result, fieldworkers also often asked if the expert meant a certain box when hovering over it with their hand. Therefore, one expert found the accuracy too low and "gave up sending tactile feedback [..] from the middle of this task" (E1). However, W₂ said the TACTILE stimuli were "a helpful additional reminder".

While this study investigated the applicability of TACTILE cues in a preliminary experiment, they remain an interesting support when objects are hardly visible or workers have to visually focus on something else. Further, the study showed that TACTILE cues, even when used in such a direct form, need additional training phases in order to better compete with the strong VISUAL cues and VERBAL communication that people are typically familiar with.

4.9.8 Verbal Communication

The VERBAL communication was often enough for this task and participants thought that it "*might be enough for most of the use cases*" (E1). While the task was kept simple and boxes to sort were hard to verbally describe at first, participants started to have a common ground very fast [KFS03].

Also, because the TACTILE and AUDIO cues were something new for them, participants used to describe what they can feel or hear. For example, "I hear a sound on my left now" (W4) or "it is guiding me to this box, is this correct?" (W2). While using VISUAL cues, this effect did not occur. However, when using VERBAL communication only, participants often just described what they see and used a lot more communication overhead as they more often acknowledged what they mean. Although, experts intervened if workers reached for the wrong box.

As such, future systems should always support VERBAL communication as a base channel as speech will remain a powerful tool. However, if situations are noisy, other cues, such as the VIBROTACTILE OR VISUAL, should be used as additional support.

4.10 LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE WORK

With the TACTILEGLOVE prototype, vibrotactile guidance for the hand in a full 3D space could be shown feasible and effective. Still, there exist some limitations that should be addressed in future research. Further, additional studies can help to better understand how such a system performs in other situations.

4.10.1 *Guidance Improvements*

The concepts implemented in the TACTILEGLOVE prototype were reliably conveying spatial information to the participants. However, some of the patterns were not completely convincing or harder to distinguish. As such, the up and down actuators that were located in the palm and center of the backside of the hand were sometimes too similar to other actuators around. Therefore, a few participants during the first study could be observed to rotate their hand more often and rely on the outer ring of actuators, thus, ignoring the other two. This might be improved by re-locating the *up* and *down* actuators or giving them more unique characteristics. For example, they could in general have a stronger intensity to be perceived as more present and distinct. However, further research is necessary.

Additionally, the frequency of the vibrotactile patterns was intentionally lower when targets were further away from the hand, as suggested by related work. However, if the distance was too large, the frequency tended to be too low and less recognizable by participants. As a potential improvement, a minimum threshold of the frequency should be considered for larger distances.

4.10.2 Accessibility Studies

As stated in the motivation of this work, accessibility is a highly relevant topic and accessible guidance for persons with visual impairments, in particular, is more relevant than ever before due to fast-changing and distracting situations around them. The TACTILEGLOVE concepts can assist in situations, such as finding buttons in public transport, reaching objects in close but unknown range, or giving spatial cues during navigation, by conveying information in subtle and non-stigmatizing ways as the whole device could be worn as a regular glove.

Yet, while accessibility was in mind, the first user study was performed only with blindfolded participants and further studies are necessary to deepen the insights on how the vibrotactile patterns can be perceived by persons with visual impairments.

4.10.3 Virtual Reality Capabilities

The TACTILEGLOVE system was suitable for a blindfolded guidance task and in remote assistance scenarios. However, it is still unknown to what degree the glove can render haptic feedback in complex VR or AR environments. For example, related research already investigated how vibrotactile grids on the head or wrist can be leveraged in VR [KR17; Pez+19], as well as how vibrotactile actuation can support the perception of a virtual object or canvas [KG18; Els+20a]. Yet, the presented prototype in this chapter was found to also convey the presence of invisible objects as participants sometimes described that they could feel the target zone as a sphere during the blindfolded experiment.

4.10.4 Tracking of Environment

Currently, the presented approach used external tracking in form of expensive infrared motion tracking during the first study. While this approach provided a high accuracy with a very fast update rate, it is not suitable for real-world appliances as it always has to be installed in a fixed location with a cumbersome calibration process. During the remote assistance study, a more easy-to-deploy tracking was used, however, the Kinect tracking is generally less accurate.

As such, future devices could be improved with two visionary solutions. First, as already known from modern AR glasses, such as the Microsoft Hololens, constant tracking of the environment through a set of embedded cameras might allow for a high-resolution 3D map of the surroundings. However, in the current state, the tracking is still not accurate enough for high-fidelity recognition and localization of small spots, and the tracking needs to know what it "sees", e.g., through well-trained machine learning models. Second, the environment itself could provide information about how it "looks". For example, street lamps could gather context information about their surroundings, or buttons on street crossings could send their location to the user. A TAC-TILEGLOVE-like system then could identify its world position through the ubiquitous information coming from beacons in the environment, and also recognize which interaction methods or guidance possibilities are available for the user.

4.11 CONCLUSION

This chapter investigated vibrotactile stimuli for FINE MECHANORECEP-TION. Thereby, it was shown how vibrations on the skin surface were perceived by users and how this perception was affected by actuations with different parameters and intensities. After introducing interaction concepts for using vibrations for spatial guidance, a prototypical glove was designed that was capable of mapping directional instructions for all three dimensions. Through a systematic user study, it could be shown that a **PULL** metaphor, i.e. the actuation of vibrators closest to a target point, was the most intuitive to follow and easiest to interpret by the participants. Furthermore, a higher resolution of the actuation supported the effectiveness of conveying fine-grained directional instructions.

In a second exploratory user study, this chapter applied the vibrotactile guidance to a remote assistance task in which participant pairs had to effectively and efficiently solve an abstract task remotely. Therefore, the haptic cues were compared to visual and auditory cues. While it was found that haptic cues took longer to be interpreted, they were seen as a useful addition to support the dominant visual or auditory sensory system.

In summary, this chapter emphasizes the importance and ability of FINE MECHANORECEPTION to detect subtle stimuli on the skin. In particular, the studies showed how such stimuli were even precisely detectable on the smaller surface of the hand. In the scope of somatosensory interaction, addressing FINE MECHANORECEPTION is, therefore, an important factor to give explicit instructions to users to convey spatial information without overloading the haptic perception. However, while this type of feedback was ideal for these tactile instructions and participants even reported to *feel* the spherical target areas during the first study, more intense contacts, e.g., when touching or being touched by virtual objects, require stronger actuation, such as pressure-based feedback that will be addressed in the following chapter.

MECHANORECEPTION II: PRESSURE-BASED FEEDBACK



As previously mentioned, MECHANORECEPTION is commonly subdivided into FINE MECHANORECEPTION and PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION. After having investigated the first in the previous chapter, this chapter focuses on pressure-based stimuli. Albeit both types of MECHANORE-CEPTION mostly interplay, pressure-based stimuli differ in that external forces with more intensity elicit stronger and deeper contact with the skin. These more forceful contacts further differ to the extent that a touch often produces a skin deformation at the pressure point, rather than mere superficial contact with the skin.

Therefore, such pressure-based stimuli are always essential when there is physical contact with a solid (virtual) surface or external force, for instance in the case of physical contact with other persons, contact with solid objects, and collisions with objects or surfaces. In the case of modern AR or VR applications, this type of haptic feedback is particularly valuable, since virtual overlays and obstacles are intangible and cannot be reached physically. Accordingly, novel approaches must be found to create the illusion of a tangible experience and contact with the environment, also in the form of a counterforce. This chapter, therefore, investigates how pressure-based stimuli for touch, contact, and collisions on the body in form of *passive* touch can be haptically rendered. In the first step, requirements were derived based on related and existing work. Based on these requirements, a pneumatic-based approach was designed, using air cushions inflated by compressed air to provide a pressure-based actuation. In particular, through variable actuator sizes and placements on the body, this prototypical system allowed to perceive the virtual environment in a physical form. As a proof-of-concept, the novel interaction concepts for **PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION** were implemented in two VR applications. One of them, named **PNEUMOVOLLEY**, was afterward systematically investigated in a user study focusing on realism and presence.

5.1 CONTRIBUTION STATEMENT AND RELATED PUBLICATIONS

This chapter is based on the following publications:

Sebastian Günther, Dominik Schön, Florian Müller, Max Mühlhäuser, and Martin Schmitz. "PneumoVolley: Pressure-based Haptic Feedback on the Head through Pneumatic Actuation." In: *Extended Abstracts of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (*CHI EA '20*). New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2020, pp. 1–10. ISBN: 9781450368193. DOI: 10.1145/3334480.3382916

Sebastian Günther, Mohit Makhija, Florian Müller, Dominik Schön, Max Mühlhäuser, and Markus Funk. "PneumAct: Pneumatic Kinesthetic Actuation of Body Joints in Virtual Reality Environments." In: *Proceedings of the 2019 on Designing Interactive Systems Conference*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, June 2019, pp. 227–240. ISBN: 9781450358507. DOI: 10.1145/3322276.3322302

Contribution Statement: I led the idea creation, concept design, implementation, performed the data analysis, and writing process. The former student *Mohit Makhija* supported building the initial pneumatic-based prototypes and with the conduction of the studies. The former student *Dominik Schön* supported the implementation of the second Virtual Reality application. *Florian Müller* and *Markus Funk* consulted to and reviewed the design process and shared their experiences for the statistical analysis of the data. For the second publication *Martin Schmitz*

supported the writing process by sharing his experiences. *Max Mühlhäuser* supervised and supported the writing process of both publications and gave valuable feedback during the design process.

• Some contents of this chapter might contain verbatim parts of the aforementioned publications.

5.2 CHAPTER STRUCTURE

The remainder of this chapter is structured as follows: After this introduction, a set of requirements and concepts for a successful pressurebased actuation are presented (Section 5.3). Based on those, a prototypical proof-of-concept was implemented using pneumatically-driven actuators together with a proof-of-concept application (Section 5.4). Then, the concepts were deepened to pressure-based feedback on the head as this part of the body requires even a more careful actuation, and evaluated in a controlled experiment (Section 5.5). Section 5.6 presents the results which are then discussed in Section 5.7. The chapter closes by discussion current limitations (Section 5.8) and a short concluding summary (Section 5.9).

5.3 PRESSURE-BASED FEEDBACK

Pressure-based stimuli allow a wide range of applications. This being that, the requirements always depend on the application, the environment, and also on the actuated body parts. For example, smaller body parts should have appropriate small actuators. Larger body parts, however, can accommodate larger actuators, or similarly small actuators but with a higher resolution. In the following, requirements and concepts for pressure-based actuation are defined, in addition to the general requirements for MECHANORECEPTION as presented in Section 3.1.

REQP1. PROVIDE FITTING ACTUATOR DIMENSIONS

The size of the actuators takes a decisive factor in the design in order to provide a fitting experience. Therefore, the size of the actuated body part in correspondence to the contact has to be taken into account, and actuators should not exceed the available space nor be too small for larger areas of the body.

REQP2. PROVIDE APPROPRIATE RESOLUTION OF ACTUATION

Typically, the higher the resolution, the more precisely body parts can be actuated depending on the given space. Though, a higher resolution also yields in potential higher energy consumption and requires more complex control mechanisms. To mitigate this demand, phantom sensations as known from vibrotactile feedback can be also applied to a pressure-based actuation (cf. [All₇₀; PC18] and also see Section 4.4.3). Thereby, two or more actuators can be interpolated to provide the illusion of a larger actuation while reducing the overall resolution.

REQP3. PROVIDE VARYING APPLIED PRESSURE

The pressure should be adjustable to provide enough stimulation to the body but without harming the user. Therefore, careful thresholds need to be identified beforehand to reproduce a lifelike sensation of forces that do not apply too much pressure. For example, research has shown that 300+ kPa are usually harmless when applied to most body parts that consist of a large buffer of adipose tissue or musculature between the skin and skeleton (e.g., [Del+18; Gün+19]). However, other body parts, such as the head, do not have such a large layer of fat which results in a lot more direct pressure force on the skull. Further, as the head also hosts the brain, no damage should occur to the brain cells which are easily harmed even by forces of softer head balls during football matches [Dur18; Has+13].

REQP4. PROVIDE VARYING ACTUATION PATTERNS

Actuation patterns allow perceiving haptic feedback in different ways. The most basic ones are direct patterns that would be perceived as force feedback directly on the body, appropriate for simulating the sensation of contact with surfaces, external forces, or binary on/off states. That being said, more complex patterns that vary in speed, acceleration, or actuated regions can be also used for indirectly conveying information, such as direction cues or notifications. The large range of possible patterns includes pulsating stimuli, i.e., inflating and deflating of actuators in a wave-form sequence, and rotating stimuli, i.e., a circling actuation around the head. Even combinations of different patterns are conceivable.

Following these requirements and concepts, providing pressure-based stimulation has to be considered carefully to generate an appropriate sensation. As highlighted in the related work section of this part (Section 3.2.0.1), most research used vibrotactile stimuli, however, this was shown to be ineffective for a realistic and immersive stimulation for PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION. Therefore, in this chapter, a different approach using a pneumatic actuation (similar to [Del+18]) will be presented. Using textile actuator cushions that can be inflated through compressed air, a proof-of-concept system was designed and concepts for a pressure-based actuation on the head were evaluated.

5.4 PROOF-OF-CONCEPT: A PNEUMATIC PRESSURE-BASED ACTUATION

A haptic system that provides pressure-based stimuli needs more force than traditional vibrotactile systems. While some use external devices (cf. Section 3.2.0.1), in the thesis a different approach using compressed air within a closed system that can inflate air cushions was designed following the aforementioned requirements. Therefore, a system was created that used an air compressor¹ that can power the system for intense stimulation. However, as such high pressure is more than needed to operate such a system, a physical pressure regulator was used to limit the amount of pressure to 250 kPa (2.5 bar).

Actuators were designed as rectangular air cushions made of a synthetic flexible fabric that could not stretch. Each of the cushions was stitched together with standard sewing thread and had a custom 3D-printed port for receiving the pressurized air. While, for example, Delazo et al. [Del+18] used vacuum pumps to release air from the actuators, the presented design in this thesis did not need additional electronic components since the actuator cushions would rapidly inflate through the high pressure but automatically release air once the inflation stopped. Through informal pre-test, it was observed that this approach was ideal to reduce the overall complexity as the cushions released the air fast enough to remove any pressure, but would remain strong and stiff while the air supply is still given.

¹ Dürr Technik TA-200K, up to 1200 kPa (12 bar) coming from a 25 liter aggregate

For connecting actuators to the air compressor, PVC tubes with a diameter of 4 mm were used which allowed for enough airflow. For each actuator, a separate solenoid valve was used to release and stop the airflow². The solenoid valves were then connected to a metal distributor which was behind a separate solenoid valve acting as the main inlet, and connected directly to the air compressor. As the pressure-based actuation had to be as instant as possible, the selected solenoid valves only took 30 ms on average to open or close.

Communication with a remote workstation to control the solenoid valves was realized by using the ActuBoard platform as introduced in Chapter 9. All solenoid valves were directly connected to the ActuBoard which provided a C# serial interface that was implemented to react to different events within a Unity application. Therefore, custom trigger elements were linked to a respective valve and initiated pressure-based feedback once the trigger was activated. An actuator in its inflated and deflated state is shown in Figure 5.2 b.

5.4.1 *Safety Measures*

The system operated at a reduced maximum pressure of 250 kPa (2.5 bar) which is strong enough for the actuation but too weak to provide any harm. Further, the pressure could immediately be released through the air cushions once one of the safety mechanisms was triggered. Therefore, there were software-based switches, as well as emergency hardware switches to turn off the power. As the solenoid valves were normally-closed, they blocked any incoming air pressure after the power supply was turned off.

5.4.2 *Example Application for On-Body Pressure-based Feedback*

As a proof-of-concept application, a snowball fight was implemented in VR^3 . Hereby, the player had to use the VR controllers to grab snowballs from the ground and throw them at an enchanted snowman. On the other side, the snowman did the same and threw snowballs back at the

² U.S. Solid G12V DC solenoid valve, 12 V, 7 bar, normally closed

³ This application was also the foundation of one of the THERMOCEPTION examples as described in Section 7.9.3 of Chapter 7.



Figure 5.1: Proof-of-concept implementation of pressure-based actuators in form of air cushions in a (a) inflated and (b) deflated state. Four of them were (c) embedded in a jacket to provide feedback on the chest during a (d) example VR snowfight game.

player. The idea thereby was to explore how convenient it would be to include pressure-based actuators in that VR application. As a result, if the player would not dodge the snowballs and was hit on the body, respective actuators would rapidly inflate in the same spot to give the impression that the player had been hit and felt an impact force.

Therefore, four air cushions were designed as described earlier with a size of 7.5×7.5 cm and a strong but flexible synthetic fabric (see Figure 5.1a). Then, they were sewn into the inside pockets of a jacket to act as pressure actuators and connected to a control unit. The actuators inside the jacket are depicted in Figure 5.1b, the example VR game in Figure 5.1c.

During informal experiments with this prototypical implementation, it was found to increase the enjoyment of the testers. They described the impact sensation as realistic and were not afraid of the actuation. Further, it was observed that all testers did not perceive the unusual pressure-based actuation as uncomfortable or dangerous. However, while the presented proof-of-concept application was not formally evaluated, the observations were in alignment with the findings of Delazio et al. [Del+18]. Yet, the authors and this proof-of-concept were only focusing on the actuation of the upper body while other body parts were not considered. Therefore, the presented concepts in this thesis were applied to the head which has specific additional requirements due to the different physiology, and were then evaluated in a follow-up study, as presented in the next section.



5.5 PRESSURE-BASED FEEDBACK ON THE HEAD: A USER STUDY

To further investigate the potential of pressure-based stimuli through pneumatic actuation, a systematic evaluation was performed. Related work and the presented proof-of-concept could already show how such actuation can leverage the user experience for on-body feedback, such as the torso or limbs [Del+18]. Yet, providing force feedback to the head is still explored less. Also, contrary to most other parts of the body, adipose tissue plays only a subordinate role in the mostly bony and muscle-free structure of the cranium. Further, the head may react differently to pressure-based feedback as it is found to be very sensitive to an excess amount of external forces, typically described as scalp tenderness [DD87].

As also discussed in MECHANORECEPTION introduction (Chapter 3), some existing work used vibrotactile arrays (e.g., [VSB21; KR17; Ari+17; de +17]) that particularly focused on directional or guidance aspects. Others investigated torque forces of the head and pushed towards the face through mechanical and pneumatic approaches (e.g., [Kon+18a; Cha+18]). However, research has shown that vibrotactile actuators have limitations to fully convey a realistic experience of force in VR [KR17] and pressure-based stimuli on the upper head remained underexplored.

5.5.1 Pneumatic Actuation of the Head in Virtual Reality

As a first step towards force feedback on the head and to investigate the feasibility of the presented concepts and system of this chapter, a second VR application, called PNEUMOVOLLEY, was designed together



Figure 5.2: (a) The location of the air cushions conceptualized around a model of the head. There were four actuators around the longitudinal cross-section of the head (blue), and one actuator at the top center (pink). (b) shows two actuators in an uninflated and inflated state, while (c) shows how the final prototype for the evaluation was designed, including all five air cushions within a fabric cap.

with a prototype in form of a pneumatic actuated cap. As the primary goal was to investigate how such a pressure-based actuation performs on the head, the original prototype as introduced in Section 5.4 was adjusted for the respective individual requirements.

After initial and informal tests, the actuators in form of five air cushions were designed to fit in a fabric cap to provide full coverage of the upper parts of the head. Four of the actuator cushions had a dimension of $12.5 \times 6.5cm$ which was found to be effective in the pre-tests. The actuator cushions were then placed on the longitudinal cross-section of the head in a ring layout. On the top center of the head, another actuator cushion was located. This cushion had a square dimension of $9 \times 9cm$ to better fit this location, as elongated actuators would have provided an uneven actuation space. For easy replacement and to better adapt to different head sizes, all of the cushions were attached to the inside of the cap using *hook-and-loop* fasteners. Further, the inflation duration for contact was set to 150 ms and directly released afterward.

5.5.1.1 PneumoVolley VR Game

The game designed for the evaluation, which will be referred to as **PNEUMOVOLLEY** in this work, was based on the idea of the open-source game *Blobby Volley*⁴, a Volleyball-like classic 2D-game. The twist here is that instead of playing the game with hands, the ball has to be brought to the other side with the head. The rules of the game specify that only the player who has the serve can score points. To earn those points, the ball must be brought over the net with a maximum of three consecutive

⁴ https://github.com/danielknobe/blobbyvolley2 (accessed March 01, 2022)



Figure 5.3: A participant (a) preparing to get a ball, and (b) reaching the ball with the head. (c) A participant within the VR environment playing against the Artificial Intelligence (AI) opponent.

headers and land on the opponent's court. If, on the other hand, the ball lands on the own side's court or if more than three headers were executed, the right to serve - and thus the chance to score points - passes to the opponent. The first player to score 15 points wins.

As the original game is only playable from a 2D side perspective, the game had to be rethought for a full 3D experience in VR and the use with a HMD. Therefore, no code or assets of the original game were reused and PNEUMOVOLLEY was created from scratch. That being said, the visuals were similar to the original, however, completely remodeled in 3D, and the game mechanics were implemented with the Unity engine and SteamVR framework. Further, the playable area and game court were made to be dynamically adjusting to the boundaries of the VR tracking space plus an additional safety buffer of 1.5 m to physical walls and obstacles to avoid collisions. For the user study, the available area for the player had a resulting size of $3 \times 2m$. In a similar fashion to the original, the playable area had no *out* and the boundaries were 3 m high invisible walls that would bounce back the ball.

To trigger the force impact of the ball once it hit the head, an invisible sphere first was modeled around the virtual center position of the HMD, to represent a participant's head. On this sphere, five *hot zones* were defined in an identical layout to the physical cap. Attached physics colliders then reacted to contacts with the virtual ball and initiated the inflation of the underlying air cushion, as well as played back the ball physically accurate. As for the inflation of the air cushions, pre-tests showed that a duration of 150*ms* provided an intense but harmless impact force to the head.

SINGLEPLAYER AI AND MULTIPLAYER MODE The PNEUMOVOLLEY game could be played as multiplayer or singleplayer. In multiplayer, two players were able to compete against each other using either their own VR tracking spaces or with a traditional keyboard. However, as there was only one haptic prototype designed, a maximum of one player could benefit from the additional pneumatic PRESSURE-BASED feedback. Further, as this would influence the study or would require additional setup, an additional singleplayer mode was implemented where the player had to compete against an AI opponent.

The AI opponent was based on Unity's *ML Agents* [Jul+18] using a *Proximal Policy Optimization* reinforcement learning algorithm. As such, the AI opponent was trained using thirty simultaneous instances with a total of fifty million steps for the user study. For learning the movements, the learning agent was able to move the AI opponent on two axes by forward, backward, left, and right commands, as well as a command to trigger jumps. As the AI opponent had to learn the rules of the game, it was rewarded for each ball that was played over the net and received a penalty if the ball landed on the own court. If the latter was the case, the ball was returned to the AI opponent in a random direction to simulate potential balls that come from the opponent or that bounce from the court limits.

5.5.2 Study Design

The user study evaluating the aforementioned concepts for an actuation on the head investigated the following research questions:

- RQ1. How does pressure-based feedback affect the realism in VR?
- RQ2. How does pressure-based feedback affect the involvement in VR?
- RQ₃. How does pressure-based feedback increases the enjoyment while being in VR?

Therefore, the study used a within-subjects design and participants played in singleplayer mode against the AI opponent (see Section 5.5.1.1). Therefore, the experiment focused on one IV with PRESSURE-BASED feedback and a NO-HAPTICS baseline as the two levels. To avoid

bias, half of the participants started with the PRESSURE-BASED condition, while the other began with the NO-HAPTICS baseline.

As for the DV and to assess the enjoyment, realism, and presence of the **PRESSURE-BASED** feedback compared to the **NO-HAPTICS** baseline, the participants had to answer questions based on the Witmer-Singer (WS) presence questionnaire [WS98] after each condition. Hereby, the following items were included (all used 7-Points scales):

- Q1. How involved were you in the Virtual Environment experience? (WS item 23)
- Q2. How much did your experiences in the Virtual Environment seem consistent with real-world experiences? (WS item 12)
- Q3. How natural did your interactions with the environment seem? (WS item 3)
- Q4. How responsive was the environment to actions you initiated or performed? (WS item 2)

Additionally, the overall enjoyment and realism of the PRESSURE-BASED condition were assessed in a post-questionnaire (both 7-Points scales), as well as through additional qualitative feedback.

5.5.3 Task

The participants were invited to play a VR variation of the original *BlobbyVolley*⁵ game. The rules are derived from the traditional Volleyball game, however, the ball has to be brought over the net with the head. Therefore, participants had to compete against the AI opponent in the complete 3D space. The first player who achieved 15 points won the match. However, participants could play as much as they wanted until proceeding to the next condition. A detailed implementation of the game and its rules are found in Section 5.5.4.

⁵ https://github.com/danielknobe/blobbyvolley2 (accessed March 01, 2022)
5.5.4 Apparatus and Study Setup

The apparatus and the setup of this study were identical with the aforementioned system described in the Section 5.5.1.

5.5.5 Procedure

The procedure was as follows:

- BEFORE THE STUDY: Participants were welcomed and the experimenter explained the goal of the study. Then, they were introduced to the system and the game, including a brief explanation of the rules. Once participants had no further questions, they were asked to sign a consent form and the experimenter assisted with putting on the HMD and actuation cap.
- DURING THE STUDY: Participants either started playing the NO-HAPTICS baseline or PRESSURE-BASED feedback condition first. They had to play against the AI opponent until one of the parties reached a score of 15 as a minimum. However, they could restart the match as often as they wanted and play again. Once they finished a condition, they were asked to fill out the questionnaire and could continue with the respective other condition.
- AFTER THE STUDY: After playing the game with both types of feedback, participants were assisted to put off the prototype and HMD. Then, they were asked to fill out a demographics questionnaire and invited to provide additional feedback in a post-questionnaire. During the whole procedure, participants were free to provide verbal feedback noted by the experimenter. Further, they were allowed to take a break or stop the study at any time.

5.5.6 Participants

In the study, 9 individuals between 21 and 62 years participated (M=35.7, SD=13.6, 4 female, 5 male). None of them described themselves as a proficient user, yet, one participant reported using VR reg-

94 PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION



Figure 5.4: Plots of the responses with regards to the (a) involvement and (b) real-world consistency.

ularly. Four participants had some experiences with VR, and four had never used VR before. Besides snacks and drinks, no compensation was provided.

5.6 RESULTS

In this section, the results of the described user study are reported.

5.6.1 Analysis

A non-parametric analysis of the questionnaires' responses was performed using Wilcoxon rank-sum tests for pairwise comparisons (only two levels for the IV). For further insights, the median, interquartile range (IQR), and a plot for each item is given.

5.6.1.1 *How involved were you in the Virtual Environment experience?*

The analysis revealed significant higher scores for the PRESSURE-BASED feedback compared to the NO-HAPTICS baseline with regards to the involvement of the VR experience ($\tilde{x}_{no} = 5$, $IQR_{no} = 2$, $\tilde{x}_{pb} = 5$, $IQR_{pb} = 1$, W = 0.00, $p < .05^6$). Figure 5.4a shows the distribution of the participants' responses.

^{6 3} pairs of values were tied



Figure 5.5: Plots of the responses with regards to the (a) natural interaction and (b) responsiveness.

5.6.1.2 How much did your experiences in the Virtual Environment seem consistent with real-world experiences?

The results showed higher overall score for the pressure-based feedback compared to the NO-HAPTICS baseline. However, the analysis could not reveal any significant differences ($\tilde{x}_{no} = 3$, $IQR_{no} = 2$, $\tilde{x}_{pb} = 4$, $IQR_{pb} = 0$, W = 2.50, p > .057). Figure 5.4b shows the distribution of the participants' responses.

5.6.1.3 How natural did your interactions with the environment seem?

The PRESSURE-BASED feedback received a higher median rating as the NO-HAPTICS baseline with regards to how natural the interaction was perceived. However, the analysis could not reveal any significant differences ($\tilde{x}_{no} = 4$, $IQR_{no} = 2$, $\tilde{x}_{pb} = 5$, $IQR_{pb} = 3$, W = 1.50, $p > .05^8$). Figure 5.5a shows the distribution of the participants' responses.

5.6.1.4 *How responsive was the environment to actions you initiated or performed?*

The PRESSURE-BASED feedback and the NO-HAPTICS baseline showed comparable high scores for the responsiveness to the initiated actions. However, the analysis could not reveal any significant differences ($\tilde{x}_{no} = 5$, $IQR_{no} = 2$, $\tilde{x}_{pb} = 4$, $IQR_{pb} = 1$, W = 15.50, $p > .05^9$). Figure 5.5b shows the distribution of the participants' responses.

^{7 2} pairs of values were tied

^{8 4} pairs of values were tied

^{9 2} pairs of values were tied

5.6.1.5 Post-Questionnaire: Overall rating of the realism and enjoyment of the pressure-based feedback

In the post-questionnaire, the participants were asked to rate the overall realism and enjoyment of the **PRESSURE-BASED** feedback while interacting with the system. The responses were overall on a high level, indicating a well-perceived amount of realism ($\tilde{x} = 5$, IQR = 2). Moreover, the overall enjoyment was rated even higher and participants appraised the novel feedback ($\tilde{x} = 6$, IQR = 1).

5.6.2 *Qualitative Feedback*

In addition to the quantitative results of the questionnaires, the participants were asked to give subjective feedback verbally during the study, as well as in written form within the post-questionnaire. Further supporting the aforementioned results, participants described the **PRESSURE-BASED** feedback on the head as "fun VR experience" (P₃, P₇) with a positive attitude towards "implementation of the haptic feedback" (P₅). Thereby, they were surprised how "air cushions give very localized feedback where it hit the head" (P₂) or where the participants even hit the ball (P₂).

In that regard, also the comfort was described as positive and one participant stated that "*the cap was comfortable*" (P9) which they did not expect before (P9). None of the participants reported the impact forces of the pneumatic actuation as too heavy, in fact, contrary to the initial assumption, some participants expressed that the feedback "*could have been stronger*" (P1, P4, P9).

The game experience and implemented scenario was reported to be "*fun*" (P₅) with "*nice visuals*" (P₆). Participants liked the "*competitive gameplay*" (P₄) and the "*nostalgic experience*" (P₄) when remembering the inspiration of the game. However, the AI opponent seemed to "*immature*" (P₆) and in some cases "*unfair*" (P₅) which a ball behavior that "*sometimes feels unrealistic*" (P₂). Further, as the playable area had to be limited due to the boundaries of the physical space, some participants found the field as "*too small*" (P₃, P₆).

5.7 DISCUSSION

To recapitulate, this chapter presented concepts for pressure-based haptic feedback to stimulate PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION. Based on pneumatic actuated air cushions, a system was implemented that can provide forces onto a user's body. Further, through an investigation of those concepts applied to the head, the findings could show a high level of realistic impact forces which will be discussed in-depth in this section.

5.7.1 Pressured-based Actuation increases Involvement

The involvement was consistently rated higher for pressure-based feedback compared to the no-haptics baseline. This was further underlined by the high rating of enjoyment and the qualitative feedback of the participants. As such, VR experiences can benefit from the additional feedback to be one step closer to the idea of an ultimate display [Sut65] which would render a virtual world more persuasive. Still, it remains unclear to which degree pressure-based feedback can be utilized for different scenarios and how it compares with vibrotactile feedback.

5.7.2 Pressure-based Actuation increases Realism

The results of the study could show a higher degree of realism when perceiving pressure-based feedback compared to the no-haptics baseline. Participants rated the experience as more natural and consistent with their real-world experiences. Although, a completely realistic experience compared to real-world experiences still seems not reached as participants had divided opinions. While appraising the benefits compared to the no-haptics baseline, some participants reported that the feedback felt too unresponsive or sometimes not strong enough to represent a realistic collision with a volleyball.

5.7.3 Pressure-based Actuation could be stronger than experienced

While initially assumed that less pressure is more reasonable and to be particularly cautious to avoid any pain or irritations, participants felt that the level of applied pressure could be more intense. However, this would require more stiff air cushions which conform less to the shape of the body while producing an even more rapid contact pressure. In addition, the air cushions currently remain in direct contact with the body even in the uninflated state, however, a small offset or space between the actuator and the body might make it possible to perceive inflation more intensively by making the contact feel more like a light slap.

5.8 LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE WORK

This chapter comes with some limitations that are addressable for future iterations.

5.8.1 Additional User Studies

The user study investigated the haptic feedback on the head. The focus was on immersion and realism of the pressure-based actuation and was able to deliver promising results respectively. For additional findings, the study should be extended and conducted with a larger group of participants. Further, other experimental setups are recommended, such as use-cases in the area of notifications or guidance, as well as a comparison to a state-of-the-art vibrotactile actuation. While related work [Del+18] could highlight how a pressure-based actuation is perceived on the body, more research is necessary to identify the limits of such an actuation, for example how accurately the actuator placement has to be and how the visual perception during VR situations can affect the perception of the actuation.

5.8.2 Number of Actuators and Patterns

Even though the concepts are suitable for even a large number of actuators, the user study only investigated a layout with five actuators located in a cap. Future investigations could increase the number of actuators and also explore how combining different regions of the body could be affected by pressure-based actuation.

Also, the investigated actuation was mainly a very direct contact once the virtual ball collided with the head. However, as described in the concept and system sections 5.4, other types of actuation are possible, such as varying timings and intensities, as well as complex actuation patterns which have to be interpreted by the participants.

5.8.3 Wearability

The wearability of the presented approach using a pneumatic actuation is still limited. While the PNEUMOVOLLEY game of the user study required a lot of movements and space for the participants, none reported feeling restricted in their movement. However, it could be observed that the tubes going to the participants sometimes entangled an arm, but were quickly untangled again. As a future improvement, the system could increase mobility by using small gas-filled cartridges to supply the actuators. However, this would require a regular refill of the cartridges. Alternatively, a mechanical solution that pumps compressed air from one closed chamber to an actuator cushion might require no external air supply at all, although require more space and electrical power to drive the pumping process.

5.9 CONCLUSION

In this chapter, the aspect of a pressure-based actuation was examined for the PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION. Based on related work, requirements and concepts were identified, which were essential for a pressure-based actuation. In this context, the emphasis was on the characteristics that actuators should provide to adapt to the physiology of the human body, the human perception, and how stronger forces can stimulate the mechanoreceptors. Therefore, a system based on compressed air was designed, capable of inflating custom air cushions. Thereby, these air cushions enable localized pressure-based actuation that can reproduce physical contact, impact forces, and collisions within virtual worlds.

As a proof-of-concept, two VR applications were prototyped as demonstrators. While the first application applied a pressure-based actuation to the upper body, the second application was designed for direct actuation of the head. Furthermore, a user study was conducted to investigate the effects of pressure-based actuations in terms of involvement, realism, and enjoyment for the second application. The results confirmed that the concepts developed in this chapter increased the realism within the VR environment and led to better involvement and enjoyment for the participants.

In the larger picture of MECHANORECEPTION, this chapter demonstrated that a pressure-based actuation is a useful addition to present a lifelike illusion of real collisions with virtual objects and environments. However, since the MECHANORECEPTION is a complex construct, which is stimulated by the four cutaneous receptors in very different ways, further investigations are necessary. While this and the previous chapter investigated static and position-fixed stimuli, the subsequent chapter examines the influence of moving stimuli, such as strokes and caress. Further, it integrates the findings from both, FINE MECHANORECEPTION and PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION.

6

COMBINING FINE AND PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION: HAPTIC STROKE STIMULI



The previous two chapters investigated the individual aspects of Fine Mechanoreception and Pressure-Based Mechanoreception. In this chapter, both aspects are investigated together for moving stroke stimuli. Further, while both previous chapters focused on interpreting vibrotactile cues and pressure-based feedback for AR/VR, this chapter is focusing on how to recreate special object properties, in particular their roughness, and how the haptic perception is affected by visuals in VR and vice-versa.

Although great progress has been made to provide a large variety of physical textures for haptic feedback in VR, most approaches are usually limited to a specific scenario, as the physical devices are limited number by the number of actual textures they can provide. Therefore, while there is a need for haptic stimuli of an almost indefinite amount of visualizations, only a subset can be recreated one-to-one due to the limited physical space of actuators. Therefore, it is essential to understand how visuals affect the haptic perception and how textures are perceived in general, to find an ideal trade-off between the requirement of a large number of physical textures and a sub-set that is still sufficient to convey a realistic illusion.

That being said, a first understanding of human perception is essential. For example, previous work highlighted that one of the most dominant senses is the visual that also contributes to tactile expectations before and during contact [YT15; Sun+16; EB02; LK04]. This means for example that if someone sees something rough, they expect to also feel something rough. But how does this differ when the visual expectation and haptic stimuli are not matching and to which degree are these visual expectations affecting haptic perception until users still would perceive a matching sensation?

This chapter, therefore, investigates how users *discriminatively* perceive haptic stimuli together with visualizations during *passive touch* on the example of texture roughness by assessing their perceived haptic and visual roughness, matching, degree of realism, and pleasantness. For this, in a first online questionnaire, the roughness expectations of 50 items were explored to identify a list of objects categorized into five levels of roughness ranging from *very smooth* to *very rough*. Then, through a second controlled experiment, the haptic perception of five physical textures with different levels of roughness combined with the perception of ten visualizations was conducted with the help of a designed prototype that facilitates haptic stroke stimuli along the arm and a VR environment for showing the different visualizations. Further baselines for comparison were the visualizations' real-world materials, silicone cushions, state-of-the-art vibrotactile feedback, and a no-haptic baseline.

In summary, this chapter contributes (1) the investigation of the visual roughness expectation of 50 items, (2) a systematic evaluation of the interdependency between haptic stroke stimuli and visualizations in VR with regards to perceived roughness, matching, realism, and pleasantness, and (3) a comparison of the haptic strokes with vibrotactile phantom sensations, the visualizations' real-world materials, and a no-haptics baseline.

6.1 CONTRIBUTION STATEMENT AND RELATED PUBLICATION

This chapter is based on the following publication:

Sebastian Günther, Julian Rasch, Dominik Schön, Florian Müller, Martin Schmitz, Jan Riemann, Andrii Matviienko, and Max Mühlhäuser. "Smooth as Steel Wool: Effects of Visual Stimuli on the Haptic Perception of Roughness in Virtual Reality." In: *Proceedings of the 2022 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '22)*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2022. ISBN: 978-1-4503-9157-3/22/04. DOI: 10.1145/3491102.3517454

Contribution Statement: I led the idea creation, conceptual design, implementation, methodology of the both user studies, performed the data analysis, and writing process. The former student *Julian Rasch* supported building the prototype, and assisted the conduction of the second study. *Dominik Schön* supported the implementation of the VR application. *Florian Müller, Martin Schmitz* and *Andrii Matviienko* consulted to and reviewed the design process. *Florian Müller* gave valuable input for the statistical analysis of the data. *Jan Riemann* helped with his experience to solve technical challenges that occurred while building the initial prototype. *Max Mühlhäuser* and *Andrii Matviienko* supervised the project and writing process.

9 *Some contents of this chapter might contain verbatim parts of the aforementioned publication.*

6.2 CHAPTER STRUCTURE

After this introduction, this chapter is structured as follows: First, a background on visual and tactile effects on haptic perception is given in Section 6.3. Afterwards, this chapter presents a pre-study that investigated the roughness expectations of 50 different items by a group of 40 participants (Section 6.4). The findings of this pre-study were then used for a follow-up user study that investigated the interdependencies of haptic stimuli with different roughness and visualizations in VR. Section 6.5, therefore, describes the methodology of the user study,

including details on the prototypical system implementing the underlying concepts. The results are then presented in Section 6.6, followed by in-depth discussions of the findings in Section 6.7. The chapter closes then by a discussion of the limitations (Section 6.8) and a concluding summary (Section 6.9).

6.3 BACKGROUND: HAPTIC AND VISUAL STIMULI ON PERCEPTION

Before considering the actual haptic perception, it is important to recognize how the visual expectation of things influences the haptic perception even before contact [Sun+16; YT15] which also means that the texture perception is commonly multisensory [LK04]. For example, Yanagisawa and Takatsuji [YT15] observed significant differences in the haptic perception depending on the visual material shown before. Still, Lederman and Abbott [LA81] found that, while vision seemed not the most dominant factor, the visual and haptic perception is able to independently classify the grit of a physical texture in almost identical quality. In their follow-up experiments, Lederman et al. [LTJ86] further highlighted that the "multidimensionality of texture perception" (Lederman et al., 1986, [LTJ86], p. 1) is important and that the visual and haptic perception influence each other based on attention. However, Guest and Spence [GS03] found that the roughness perception is not improved by a combination of visual and haptic perception if users perceived roughness individually. Bergman Tiest and Kappers [BK07] extended those investigations for a set of flat textures.

Although these experiments provided careful insights, their focus was on *active touch*, where participants had to discriminate the roughness of surfaces by directly touching them. Moreover, mostly the visual and haptic stimuli were typically of similar materials and further explorations are necessary to identify to which degree haptic perception is modified, if a physical texture is completely unrelated to the visual appearance of an object, e.g., as it might happen when having limited haptic feedback for VR.

On the side of texture perception and visual interplay during *passive touch*, Botvinick and Cohen introduced the Rubber Hand Illusion (RHI). Thereby, people perceive a "rubber hand as belonging to themselves" (Botvinick and Cohen, 1998, [BC98], p. 756). For example, Schütz-



Figure 6.1: The ten VISUALIZATIONS of the study (bottom) and their physical real-world counterparts (top), categorized into five increasing levels of roughness: *silk*, *spoon*, *cotton*, *finger*, *sponge*, *toothbrush*, *branch*, *rock*, *steel wool*, and *sandpaper*.

Bosbach et al. [STW09] applied this concept to research how soft cotton and a rough sponge affect the roughness perception and observed that non-matching stimuli were not able to alter the roughness perception. However, they could also identify that stroking the rubber hand with a smooth fabric resulted in a lower rating of its smoothness compared to the same physical sensation applied to their real hand. In a different experiment, Ward et al. [WMJ15] could confirm that a mismatch of expected hardness has a negative impact on the body ownership illusion, e.g., when seeing a hard pencil but feeling a soft brush, while the roughness had less effect on the persuasion of the RHI. Other related work investigated emotional responses resulting from different visual appearances and haptic strokes from other persons where they identified that a stranger's touch was more unpleasant [Ipa+21; IHI19].

In summary, the aforementioned work highlighted to which extent visuals might affect the haptic perception. However, further research is necessary to identify how the aspect of roughness is affecting human perception, in particular for *discriminative passive touch* in VR scenarios.

6.4 pre-study: visualizations of different roughness expectations

Typically, people have different conceptions and mental models of how various objects are perceived (cf. [STW09]). Therefore, in order to provide different visualizations for the main study, a broad variety of possible visualizations that propagate different roughness had to be identified. In this pre-study, an online questionnaire was conducted to obtain a diverse variation of VISUALIZATIONS with different expectations of roughness based on the mental models of participants. As



a hypothesis, items with a low deviation of the ratings were thought to share a similar conception of the roughness among all participants, and therefore, should also propagate similar characteristics. Overall, 50 initial items that span a scale from smooth-to-rough were carefully selected for this pre-study by a group of five HCI experts during a brainstorming session.

6.4.1 Procedure

During the online questionnaire, the participants were asked to rate the subjective roughness of the 50 items in a randomized order on 5-Point scales ranging from 1 (*very smooth*) to 5 (*very rough*). None of the items included any visual representation to have the participants focus on their specific mental models of the items' expected roughness. On average, it took 15 minutes per participant to answer the questionnaire. No compensation was provided.

6.4.2 *Participants*

In total, 40 participants, acquired through the institute's network, online discussion groups, and among contacts, answered the questionnaire (20 female, 20 male). The participants were aged between 23 and 57 years (M = 30.9, SD = 6.2).



Figure 6.2: Results of the pre-study showing the five best rated items per roughness category and the selected items that were used in the follow up user study.

6.4.3 Results of Pre-Study

In a first step, all responses were aggregated and the 50 items were sorted by their median ratings. Afterward, items that showed a high uncertainty in terms of a high deviation (IQR > 1) were excluded. From the remaining list of items, two VISUALIZATIONS for each of the five levels of roughness were selected with respect to their suitability for VR. As additional criteria, the final items should have high versatility, meaning their appearance should highly vary. For example, both, the silk cloth and bottom of spoon, were ranked as *very smooth* ($\tilde{x} = 1$) but are seen differently regarding their hardness. An overview of five items per roughness category¹ that had the most promising features after the pre-study is listed in Figure 6.2.

In total, 10 VISUALIZATIONS were identified and grouped into five ascending levels of expected visual roughness: (1) *very smooth* (Silk Cloth, Bottom of Spoon), (2) *smooth* (Cotton Pad, Fingertip), (3) *medium* (Foam side of Cleaning Sponge, Toothbrush), (4) *rough* (Small Edged Rock, Wooden Branch with Bark), and (5) *very rough* (Steel Wool, coarse Sand Paper).

6.5 USER STUDY AND METHODOLOGY

In order to investigate the influence and interdependencies of HAP-TIC STIMULI and VISUALIZATIONS on the perception of roughness, the following research questions were investigated through a controlled experiment:

¹ only two items were suitable for the *very rough* category



- RQ1. How do different physical textures of HAPTIC STIMULI affect the roughness perception?
- RQ2. How do different VISUALIZATIONS affect the perception of physical textures?
- RQ3. How do different physical textures with varying roughness compare to the VISUALIZATIONS' real-world materials?
- RQ4. How do users perceive haptic strokes compared to vibrotactile phantom sensations?
- RQ5. How do the perception of roughness and the matching of stimuli affect the pleasantness?

6.5.1 Study Design

The experiment was using a within-subjects design with Haptic Stimulus and Visualization as the IV. In total, 11 levels of the Visualization in VR and 9 levels of the Haptic Stimulus were varied during the experiment, resulting in $11 \times 9 = 99$ conditions. Both IV are described in detail in the following.

6.5.1.1 VISUALIZATION (10+1 levels)

There were 10+1 VISUALIZATIONS based on the results of the pre-study (Section 6.4). Hence, the following VISUALIZATIONS with different levels of expected roughness were defined (two for each level of roughness): (1a) *silk*, (1b) *spoon*, (2a) *finger*, (2b) *cotton*, (3a) *sponge*, (3b) *toothbrush*,

(4a) *branch*, (4b) *rock*, (5a) *steel wool*, and (5b) *sandpaper*. In addition, a neutral *no-visuals* baseline was defined. All VISUALIZATIONS as they appeared in VR are depicted in Figure 6.1.

6.5.1.2 HAPTIC STIMULUS (5+4 levels)

The HAPTIC STIMULI were based on five textures with different roughness and four additional baseline comparisons. For an even gradation of roughness, the five textures were based on four types of abrasive sandpaper and one strip of high-gloss polyethylene, similarly to related work (e.g., [Hel82; HRoo; BKo7], more information in the Apparatus section 6.5.2). As baselines, the untextured *Silicone Cushion*, the VISUAL-IZATIONS' *real-world* materials, and state-of-the-art *vibrotactile* phantom sensations were used, together with a *no-haptics* baseline.

To summarize, the haptic levels were: (1) *very smooth* (polyethylene), (2) *smooth* (sandpaper 1000), (3) *medium* (sandpaper 400), (4) *rough* (sandpaper 120), (5) *very rough* (sandpaper 80), (6) *silicone*, (7) *vibro-tactile* phantom sensation, (8) *real* baseline, and (9) *no-haptics* baseline. Figure 6.3 depicts the HAPTIC STIMULI and the *real-world* counterparts for each VISUALIZATION, which are shown in Figure 6.1.

6.5.1.3 Dependent Variables

For the dependent variable (DV), the participants were asked to rate the following five aspects through questionnaires: (Q1) *perceived haptic roughness*, (Q2) *perceived visual roughness*, (Q3) *matching* of HAPTIC STIM-ULI and VISUALIZATIONS, (Q4) *real-world expectation and realism* (based on the Witmer-Singer Presence Questionnaire [WS98]), and (Q5) *pleasantness* of each actuation. All these items were assessed using on a 5-Point scale [JM71; WUN12] through the following questions:

- Q1. How would you rate the roughness of the HAPTIC STIMULUS? (*very smooth* to *very rough*)
- Q2. How would you rate the roughness of the VISUALIZATION? (*very smooth* to *very rough*)
- Q3. The HAPTIC STIMULUS and VISUALIZATION matched. (*did not match* to *did match completely*)



- Figure 6.3: The HAPTIC STIMULI showing (a) the five physical textures with increasing roughness (desaturated macro shots for a better contrast and comparison), and (b) the four haptic baselines that are the untextured silicone cushion, the VISUALIZATIONS' real-world counterparts, the *Vibration Mount* for vibrotactile phantom sensations, and the no-haptics baseline.
 - Q4. How much did your experiences in the virtual environment seem consistent with your real-world experiences?² (*not consistent* to *very consistent*)
 - Q5. The actuation felt pleasant. (*not pleasant* to *very pleasant*)

6.5.2 Apparatus and Study Setup

For the study, a prototypical device was designed to create a moving haptic stimulus with the different levels of roughness on the arm, including a *Vibration Mount* for the vibrotactile baseline. A wearable *Guiding Rail* for the arm that could accommodate various *Actuator Sledges* was designed. The *Actuator Sledges* were designed to embed small objects, such as the real-world counterparts, or inflatable *Silicone Cushions*³ (Figure 6.4.1, 6.4.2, and 6.4.3).

² based on Q12 of [WS98]

³ The silicone cushions were made of the 2-component silicone EcoFlex 00-30 by Smoothon Inc.



Figure 6.4: The actuator design from the fabrication process to the final actuator showing (1) the casting of the *Silicone Cushion*, (2) the uninflated and (3) inflated *Silicone Cushion* without texture and (4) with a texture. Also shown is (5) the motion rail for the actuator sledges.

To move an *Actuator Sledge* along the *Guiding Rail*, a timing belt driven by a stepper motor⁴ on a stationary aluminum rail (Figure 6.4.5) was used and controlled with a connected ESP-32 microcontroller. While the prototype was able to provide different velocities and driving patterns (e.g., a fast acceleration at the beginning, linear movements, or sinuswave-like movements), the velocity was set to a linear value of 10 cm s^{-1} during the user study, which was shown to have a higher pleasantness rating than others [TAS14; Ack+14]. A flexible cantilever translated the motion to the Actuator Sledge that was placed in the Guiding Rail. This had the advantage that to compensate for slight movements of the users and to better fit the uneven surfaces of their arms. Additionally, a 3D-printed armrest as a support to keep the arm in place comfortably was provided. To further increase an even actuation, it was also assured that the profile of the Guiding Rail adapted to the individual shapes of arms. Therefore, the arms of 8 individuals⁵ were measured. Then, the following convex and concave profiles for the Guiding Rail could be derived to counter various arm shapes: (1) 0 mm linear, (2) +1.5 mm convex, (3) -1.5 mm concave, and (4) -3 mm concave curved.

6.5.2.1 Design of Actuators

The *Silicone Cushion* was designed to provide an even contact surface to the skin for all materials. Therefore, the *Actuator Sledges* using a *Silicone Cushion* could provide a flexible actuation through textures with different levels of roughness. The inflation of a *Silicone Cushion* could be performed at any point (Figure 6.4.4), however, for the study,

⁴ NEMA-17 stepper motor

⁵ We measured 8 diverse individuals: 3 female, 5 male, between 26 and 61 years (M=33.5, SD=10.7), between 168 cm and 192 cm tall (M=178, SD=8.2), and between 50 kg and 116 kg weight (M=76.4, SD=18.0)



Figure 6.5: The actuators in (1a) an uninflated and (1b) inflated state without texture, and (2a) an uninflated and (2b) inflated actuator with a physical texture.

the actuators were always inflated to provide an even actuation. The inflation of the *Silicone Cushion* was controlled through an array of two diaphragm pumps and solenoid valves that were directly connected to an ActuBoard (cf. Chapter 9, Figure 6.5.1 and Figure 6.5.2).

For the textures that could provide different levels of roughness, several approaches were considered. For example, textures could have been 3D printed [TZG18; DZK19], however, the fabrication process is fragile, and using different grits of abrasive sandpaper also guaranteed a normalized scale based on international standards while still being versatile and flexible [Hel82; HRoo; BK07]. Another approach by casting textures with different roughness directly into the *Silicone Cushion* was explored. However, this only resulted in very subtle perceivable differences that could not provide the required roughness. Research also proposed vibrotactile [CUK14; CK17] or ultrasonic patterns [WF95] to create surface roughness as well. However, those methods require sophisticated setups that would still be limited by *replicating* the physical roughness [WF95]. Still, vibrotactile feedback remains a common approach to providing a haptic sensation and vibrotactile phantom sensations were added as baseline (see Section 6.5.2.3).

As a result, abrasive sandpapers with grits of 80, 120, 400, and 1000⁶ were found to be the most reliable for the study. In addition, the specific grits were also selected carefully to not cause pain by involuntarily trapping hairs. For the *very smooth* texture, however, sandpaper was not suitable and a high-gloss strip of polyethylene was used. In the last fabrication step, the flexible strips of sandpaper and polyethylene were glued to the center of a *Silicone Cushion*, while having the *Silicone Cushion* without any texture as an additional baseline (*silicone*).

⁶ according to the Coated Abrasive Manufacturers Institute (CAMI) notation; the smaller the value, the rougher the texture; non-linear



Figure 6.6: The design of the *Vibration Mount* that could be inserted into the *Guiding Rail* in a plug-and-play approach. It consisted of five vibration motors that were controlled by the application.

6.5.2.2 Real-World Materials Baseline

The *real* materials and counterparts fitted the VISUALIZATIONS' 3Dmodels. However, this means that they could not be used with a *Silicone Cushion* due to their rigidity or sizes. Therefore, to maintain an even contact and flexibility, most were glued together with a flexible sponge into an actuator sledge. For the *very smooth* and *vibrotactile*, however, a spring-loaded design was used that limited the maximal extension to avoid too much pressure on the skin but still enough flexibility for different arm shapes. Also, for the *smooth*, a comparable actuation could not be guaranteed nor to be performed synchronously when using a real finger (e.g., from the experimenter). Therefore, a silicone finger was cast by using a plaster negative of a real finger and then treated with magnesia chalk commonly used in sports to reduce friction. All real-world counterparts are shown in Figure 6.1.

6.5.2.3 Vibrotactile Baseline

Another baseline was a state-of-the-art vibrotactile actuation using phantom sensations [All₇₀; PC₁₈; Bar+o9], similarly as it was done for the TACTILEGLOVE prototype (see Section 4.4.3). Hereby, the vibrotactile motors create the illusion of a continuous motion by changing the intensity of adjacent vibration motors instead of having a physical movement on the arm [All₇₀; Bar+o9].

Therefore, a *Vibration Mount* (Figure 6.6) as plug-and-play attachment for the *Guiding Rail* was designed and was the basis for five vibration motors⁷. Each of them was placed equidistant with a spacing of

⁷ Vibrating Mini Motor Discs, PWM, 2 V - 5 V

31.5 mm [Els+20b] for a total actuation range of 129 mm, likewise to the length of the physical stroke actuation, to keep up the phantom sensation [Els+20b; TMG13; Ack+14]. Similar to the real-world baseline, a spring-loaded approach was used for the motors to keep an even contact between the vibration and skin. For limiting the maximum pressure applied, each spring-loaded screw was countered with a nut for every participant.

The illusion of a continuous motion through vibrotactile signals was maintained by modulating the intensity in a similar way as done by related work (e.g., [IP11; Isr+12; IA18]). For this, the actuation was always beginning at one side depending on the direction with the respective outermost motor and was then modulated in a wave-like pattern to the other side where the leading motor was set to full intensity in the direction of the movement and followed by a trail of lesser intense vibration signals. Thereby, it was essential to keep the timing and velocity of the phantom sensation in alignment with the physical strokes at 10 cm s^{-1} . The controlling of the vibration was again handled with ActuBoard (see Chapter 9).

6.5.2.4 Virtual Reality Environment and Visualizations

A virtual room using the Unity Engine⁸ was designed for the experiment's VR environment. The appearance was based on the real-world experimentation room including an identical setup consisting of a wooden table with the same height and measurements.

For almost all ten VISUALIZATIONS besides the cotton pad, steel wool, sandpaper, and *no-visuals* baseline, realistic 3D models from different professional online archives⁹ were utilized. The others were designed by a professional digital media artist. All VISUALIZATIONS are shown in Figure 6.1.

⁸ https://unity.com/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

⁹ CGTrader.com (cgtrader Royalty Free License): Silk Cloth; Turbosquid.com (TurboSquid 3D Model License): Spoon, Toothbrush, Small Edged Rock; Sketchfab.com (CC BY 4.0): Cleaning Sponge, Wooden Branch; Makehumancommunity.org (CCo 1.0): Fingertip

6.5.2.5 Calibration for Synchronicity of Visualization and Haptic Stimulus

Different measures were taken to increase the synchronicity between the haptic strokes and the VR experience. First, an HP Reverb G2 HMD with inside-out tracking¹⁰ was used. However, this can reduce the reliability of the tracking if not enough visible features are available for the tracking cameras, so the experimentation room was additionally augmented with visual markers of different shapes, colors, and sizes until no offsets or shifts from the tracking were recognizable.

Second, the spatial consistency between the real and virtual worlds was ensured by inspecting and re-calibrating the scene before starting the study for new participants. To do so, the virtual and real table edges, as well as the surface of the table, were manually aligned with help of the VR controllers until the layout of the virtual scene was identical to the physical boundaries, position, and rotation.

Also, it was essential that participants could self-identify with their virtual avatar as shown by related work [YS10; Sla08; HIK08; IKH06]. Therefore, the 3D avatar was a realistic human model¹¹ that could be modified in size, texture, and color for each participant [IKH06; TH05]. Thereby, the model of the avatar also used an *inverse kinematic* script for the upper body and right arm [Par+18] to make the behavior more lifelike. However, before starting the experiment, participants always were asked to familiarize themselves with the VR environment and their avatar which was then followed by potential re-calibrations. Further, when the left forearm was actuated and the spatial synchronicity between the virtual and real arm was assured, as previous work highlighted its importance for a high sense of embodiment [IKH06; STW09; Ack+14]. An additional armrest on the table was used to restrict arm movements, which was also modeled for the VR environment.

Third and most importantly, the actuation had to be timesynchronous [Ack+14] where the physical actuation range was identical to the movement in the virtual scene [PSS12]. Therefore, in the first step, the distance between the wrist and the *Guiding Rail* was measured and was then defined as the starting point for the VISUALIZATIONS. In a second step, the physical actuation range of the *Guiding Rail* (129 mm) was mapped to the virtual scene together with

¹⁰ https://circuitstream.com/blog/hp-reverb-g2/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

¹¹ http://www.makehumancommunity.org/ (accessed March 01, 2022)



Figure 6.7: A participant during the experiment showing (1) the real-world setup and apparatus, (2) a simulated mixed reality view indicating a blend between real and virtual worlds, and (3) the virtual scene in VR.

the synchronous velocity of 10 cm s^{-1} for the physical and virtual movements.

In Figure 6.7, a participant in the (1) real-world setup as observed from the outside, (2) a mixed-reality view of how the participant would perceive the setup, and (3) the study scene as it appeared in VR are shown.

6.5.3 Procedure

BEFORE THE STUDY: The participants were welcomed and introduced to the study. They were also informed of the data logging and asked to sign a consent form once they agreed. Further, the experimenter asked for potential allergies to certain materials to be sure no negative reactions would occur.

Then, the participants were asked to uncover their left forearm and the experimenter checked the arm shape for a fitting *Guiding Rail*. After assisting in putting on a fitting *Guiding Rail*, it was ensured that the actuation was comfortable and safe by manually moving the *Actuator Sledge* along the arm and making sure the contact was even, and applied an appropriate amount of pressure with a contact surface of around 1-2 cm^2 . In a similar step, the *Vibration Mount* was calibrated to the arms of the participants with the spring-loaded screws. During the whole calibration process, participants were asked to look away so they were unable to see the actuators in advance. That being said, they were also not informed verbally of how the textures and actuators look like and no information on any of the baselines was given. Once ready, participants had to put on the HMD, rest the left arm on the armrest, and get familiar with their virtual avatar until it felt natural and they could identify with the avatar. (cf. [Slao8]).

- DURING THE STUDY: For each condition, participants saw a VISUALIZA-TION in VR while feeling one of the physical HAPTIC STIMULI on the arm. Every combination of a HAPTIC STIMULUS and VISUALIZATION was presented at least by two back-and-forth movements to give the participants enough time to feel the texture. If a participant desired to repeat the actuation of a condition, it was repeated. Afterward, participants were asked to answer the questionnaire that could be answered with the VR controller. Additional verbal feedback was written down by the experimenter at any time. Once ready, the experiment continued with the next condition.
- AFTER THE STUDY: After finishing the 99 conditions, the experimenter helped to take off the HMD and *Guiding Rail*. Then, participants were asked to fill out the final questionnaire, including the overall experience, enjoyment, and realism of the feedback, as well as a demographics survey. While optional, participants were invited to discuss the experiment for supplementary qualitative feedback. Throughout the whole experiment, participants could pause or stop at any time without giving reasons. On average, the procedure took 90 minutes for each participant.

6.5.3.1 Hygienic Measures

As this study was conducted during the COVID-19 pandemic, extended hygienic measures were applied. All of them were approved prior to the experiment by the university's health department and in line with the governmental measures at that time. Further, all participants and experimenters had to sanitize their hands before the study and wear medical masks throughout. All materials, textures, the HMD, and contact surfaces were sanitized before and after each participant. The study room was regularly ventilated and an additional ventilation break of at least 30 minutes between two participants was applied. All experimenters were fully vaccinated and tested regularly with *SARS-CoV-2 antigen rapid tests*.

6.5.4 Participants

31 participants (17 female, 14 male) between 18 and 50 years (M=28.7, SD=5.4) were recruited. 9 of them had no VR experience, 16 used it a few times before. 4 other participants stated to be regular and 2 to be proficient VR users. 4 participants needed the 0 mm, 14 the -1.5 mm, and 13 the -3 mm *Guiding Rail*. Besides snacks and drinks, no compensation was provided.

6.6 RESULTS

In the following, the results of the study are presented. After introducing the performed data analysis, the quantitative results are described, followed by qualitative feedback from the participants.

6.6.1 Analysis

For analyzing the data, different methods were performed as described in the following. More detailed background information on the used methods can also be found in Section 1.6.

(1) Aligned Rank Transform (ART): For the responses of the questionnaires (Q1-Q5), a non-parametric analysis using the ART procedure [Wob+11; Elk+21] using mixed-effects models was performed, together with the ART-C procedure as proposed by Elkin et al. [Elk+21].

(2) Cumulative Link Mixed Models (CLMM): To identify influences of the *perceived haptic roughness* (Q1) and *perceived visual roughness* (Q2) on the *matching* of HAPTIC STIMULI and VISUALIZATIONS (Q3), as well as the influences of the *perceived haptic roughness* (Q1) and *matching* (Q3) on the *pleasantness* (Q5), a *cumulative link mixed model* (CLMM) was fitted using the Laplace approximation. The results report the *pseudo* $-R^2$ of the ANOVA.

(3) Friedman's test and Wilcoxon Rank-Sum tests: For analyzing the post-questionnaires assessing the overall enjoyment and realism, as well as for a comparison of the *matching ratings* (Q3) with the *expected*



Figure 6.8: Heatmap representation of the results on the perceived haptic roughness. Each cell contains the median rating and the 1st and 3rd quartile in brackets. The horizontal line separates the five physical textures (top) from the four baselines (bottom).

matching, Friedman's test with Bonferroni-corrected Wilcoxon rank-sum tests for posthoc comparisons were performed.

6.6.2 Perceived Haptic Roughness (Q1)

The analysis revealed significant main effects of the HAPTIC STIMULUS on the *perceived haptic roughness* ($F_{8,2941} = 361.68$, p < .001). Post-hoc tests confirmed significant effects for almost all HAPTIC STIMULI contrasts (*silicone-no-haptics* and *medium-rough* p < .01, other p < .001, except *vibrotactile-real* and *silicone-smooth* p > .05). Although participants showed a good ability to distinguish between different roughness, the data revealed that levels with a higher roughness a similar perceived roughness (*medium, rough*, and *very rough* with $\tilde{x} = 4$).

Significant effects of the VISUALIZATION on the *perceived haptic roughness* were found ($F_{10,2941} = 6.71$, p < .001). However, post-hoc tests only confirmed significant effects for some contrasts with higher anticipated mismatch regarding this questionnaire item, such as *no-visuals-finger*, *cotton-finger*, *spoon-finger*, *toothbrush-rock*, and *toothbrush-sandpaper* (all p < .05), as well as *no-visuals-rock*, *no-*



Q2: Perceived Visual Roughness

Figure 6.9: Heatmap representation of the results on the perceived visual roughness. Each cell contains the median rating and the 1st and 3rd quartile in brackets. The horizontal line separates the five physical textures (top) from the four baselines (bottom).

visuals-sandpaper, silk-rock, silk-sandpaper, spoon-rock, spoon-sandpaper, cotton-rock, and cotton-sandpaper (all p <.001).

The analysis also found significant interaction effects between Haptic Stimuli and Visualizations ($F_{80,2941} = 5.46$, p < 0.001). The ratings of the *haptic roughness* are depicted in Figure 6.8.

6.6.3 Perceived Visual Roughness (Q2)

The analysis unveiled that the VISUALIZATIONS had a significant effect on the *perceived visual roughness* ($F_{10,2941} = 733.32$, p < .001). Post-hoc tests confirmed significant effects for almost all VISUALIZATIONS except five (*no-visuals-sponge* and *toothbrush-rock* p < .05, others p < .001, except *silk-spoon, silk-cotton, spoon-cotton, branch-rock,* and *steel wool-sandpaper* with p > .05). Comparing the medians of each VISUALIZATION, almost identical ratings of the perceived roughness and the expected roughness compared to the pre-study were observed. However, a shift by one point was found for the *cotton* towards *very smooth* ($\tilde{x} = 2$ towards $\tilde{x} = 1$) and *sponge* towards *smooth* ($\tilde{x} = 3$ towards $\tilde{x} = 2$). The *no-visuals* baseline was largely rated as neither *smooth* nor *rough* ($\tilde{x} = 3$).



Figure 6.10: Heatmap representation of the results on the matching of each combination of a HAPTIC STIMULUS and a VISUALIZATION. Each cell contains the median rating and the 1st and 3rd quartile in brackets. The horizontal line separates the five physical textures (top) from the four baselines (bottom).

The analysis did not reveal any significant effects for the HAPTIC STIMULUS ($F_{8,2941} = 0.93, p > .05$) nor any interaction effects ($F_{80,2941} = 0.46, p > .05$). The ratings of the *visual roughness* are depicted in Figure 6.9.

6.6.3.1 Confirming suitability of selected Visualizations

The ratings of the *perceived visual roughness* could show that the selected VISUALIZATIONS were equally distributed and in alignment with the roughness ratings of the same items in the pre-study (as also visible by comparing each column of Figure 6.8b). Although there was a slightly lower perceived visual roughness for the *cotton* and *sponge*, the results still confirmed that the selection of the ten VISUALIZATIONS covered all five defined levels of roughness, indicating a largely persistent expectation on the roughness.

6.6.4 *Matching of Haptic and Visual Stimuli* (Q3)

The analysis found a significant main effect of the HAPTIC STIMULUS on the *matching of both stimuli* ($F_{8,2941} = 148.58$, p < 0.001). Post-hoc

tests confirmed significant effects for all HAPTIC STIMULI involving the *real* material (p <.001), between *very rough* and *no-haptics, vibrotactile, smooth* and *real* (all p <.01), as well as between *no-haptics* and *silicone, very smooth, smooth, medium* and *rough* (all p <.001). Significant effects were also found for all *vibrotactile* contrasts except *no-haptics* (p >.05, all others p <.001).

The analysis further revealed significant effects for the VISUALIZATION ($F_{10,2941} = 26.91$, p < 0.001) and post-hoc tests revealed significant effects for all *no-visuals* contrasts (all p < .001), except for the *finger* (p > .05).

Moreover, significant interaction effects were identified ($F_{80,2941} = 19.44, p < 0.001$). The ratings of the *matching* are depicted in Figure 6.10.

6.6.4.1 Influence of Haptic and Visual Roughness on Matching

A *cumulative link mixed model* (CLMM) was fitted to predict the *matching* (Q3) with the roughness of HAPTIC STIMULI (Q1) and VISUALIZA-**TIONS** (Q2). The model included the participant as random effect (N = 31, SD = 0.55). The measures of goodness-of-fit were calculated as *pseudo* $-R^2_{McFadden} = 0.209$ and *pseudo* $-R^2_{Nagelkerke} = 0.499$. An analysis of variance based on mixed ordinal logistic regression indicated no statistically significant effect of Q1 on Q3 ($\chi^2(4, N = 31) = 0.00, p > .05$) or of Q2 on Q3 ($\chi^2(4, N = 31) = 0.00, p > .05$). However, there was a statistically significant interaction of Q1 × Q2 ($\chi^2(16, N = 31) = 1834$, *p* < .001).

6.6.4.2 Comparison to Expected Matching

In order to examine if the matching ratings from the participants in the study are in alignment with the initial expectations of how stimuli should match, all VISUALIZATION-HAPTIC STIMULUS pairs¹² that had a maximum median deviation of ± 1 regarding their visual and haptic roughness were grouped and it was hypothesized that those would be *expected matching*. In contrast, pairs with a median deviation > ± 1 were marked as *expected non-matching*. All baselines were categorized in

¹² including only the five level of roughness; the baselines were treated as individual groups



Figure 6.11: Heatmap representation of the results on the realism rating of each combination of a HAPTIC STIMULUS and a VISUALIZATION. Each cell contains the median rating and the 1st and 3rd quartile in brackets. The horizontal line separates the five physical textures (top) from the four baselines (bottom).

individual groups (as introduced in 6.5.1.2). Friedman's test indicated significant effects ($\chi^2(5) = 125$, p < .001) and Bonferroni-corrected Wilcoxon rank-sum post-hoc tests revealed significant effects between pairs with an *expected matching* and *expected non-matching* confirming the original hypothesis (p < .001, $\tilde{x}_{matching} = 4$, $\tilde{x}_{non-matching} = 2$). The analysis further found significant effects for all other groups except for *vibrotactile-expected non-matching*, *vibrotactile-no-haptics* and *expected matching-real* (all three p > .05, all others p < .05; $\tilde{x}_{none} = 1$, $\tilde{x}_{real} = 4$, $\tilde{x}_{silicone} = 3$, $\tilde{x}_{vibro} = 1$).

6.6.5 *Real-World Consistency (Realism, Q4)*

The analysis showed significant main effects for the HAPTIC STIMULUS ($F_{8,2941} = 149.85$, p < .001). Post-hoc tests showed significant differences for all contrasts involving the *real* material (all p < .001) and for the *no-haptics* contrasts (p < .001), except for *vibrotactile* (p > .05, all other contrasts including *vibrotactile* p < .001). Significant effects were also found for *smooth-very rough* (p < .001), *smooth-silicone* (p < .01) and *smooth-medium* (p < .05).



Q5: Pleasantness of Actuation



The anylsis also showed significant main effects for the VISUALIZATION ($F_{10,2941} = 26.36$, p < .001). Post-hoc tests revealed significant differences for all contrasts involving the *no-visuals* baseline (all p < .001) except for *cotton* (p > .05). However, there were significant effects between the *cotton* and *spoon*, *sponge*, *toothbrush*, *branch*, *rock*, *sandpaper* and *finger* (all p < .001)Other significant effects were found for *spoon-silk*, *spoon-steel wool* (both p < .05), *spoon-toothbrush* (p < .01), and between *silk* and *toothbrush*, *branch*, *rock* and *sandpaper* (all p < .001), as well as for *finger-toothbrush*, *toothbrush-sponge*, *toothbrush-steel wool*, *steel wool-branch*, *steel wool-sandpaper* and *finger-vibrotactile* (last p < .001).

Again, the analysis showed significant interaction effects between Hap-TIC STIMULI and VISUALIZATIONS ($F_{80,2941} = 18.75, p < .001$). The ratings of the *matching* are depicted in Figure 6.11.

6.6.6 Pleasantness (Q_5)

The analysis revealed significant effects for the HAPTIC STIMULUS on the pleasantness rating ($F_{8,2941} = 117.2$, p < .001. Post-hoc tests revealed that almost every contrast had significant differences, most with



Figure 6.13: Likert responses of the post-questionnaire asking for (a) the enjoyment, and (b) the realism comparing vibrotactile, no-haptic, and haptic stroke feedback.

p <.001, except for vibrotactile-rough, vibrotactile-very rough, silicone-real, silicone-smooth, no-haptics-medium, and medium-rough (all p >.05).

Significant effects for VISUALIZATION ($F_{10,2941} = 2.85, p < .01$) were observed, too. However, post-hoc tests only revealed significant differences between *toothbrush* and *no-visuals* and *sandpaper* (both p < .01), as well as *spoon*, *finger* and *steel wool* (all p < .05). Additionally, significant interaction effects were identified ($F_{80,2941} = 2.22, p < .001$). The ratings of the *pleasantness* are depicted in Figure 6.12.

6.6.6.1 Influence of Haptic Roughness and Matching on Pleasantness

After reviewing the data, it was expected that the pleasantness would be also dependent on the *matching* rating with the ratings of the *haptic roughness perception*. Therefore, a *cumulative link mixed model* (CLMM) was fitted to predict the *pleasantness* (Q5) with the *haptic roughness* (Q1) and *matching* (Q3) ratings. The model included the participant as random effect (N = 31, SD = 0.86). The measures of goodness-of-fit were calculated as *pseudo* $-R^2_{McFadden} = 0.202$ and *pseudo* $-R^2_{Nagelkerke} =$ 0.472. An analysis of variance based on mixed ordinal logistic regression indicated no statistically significant effect of Q1 on Q5 ($\chi^2(4, N = 31) =$ 0.00, p > .05) or of Q3 on Q5 ($\chi^2(4, N = 31) = 0.00, p > .05$). However, there was a statistically significant interaction of Q1 × Q3 ($\chi^2(16, N =$ 31) = 31.98, p < .05).

6.6.7 Post-Questionnaire: Overall Enjoyment and Realism

Participants were asked to rate the *haptic strokes*, *vibrotactile* feedback, and *no-haptic* feedback in the post-questionnaire with regards to the overall *enjoyment*. Here, participants rated *haptic strokes* as best ($\tilde{x} = 4$), followed by *no-haptic* ($\tilde{x} = 3$), and *vibrotactile* ($\tilde{x} = 2$, Figure 6.13a). Friedman's test showed significant results ($\chi^2(2) = 24.3$, p < .001) and Bonferroni-corrected Wilcoxon rank-sum post-hoc tests revealed significant effects for *haptic stroke-no-haptic* and *haptic stroke-vibrotactile* (both p < .001). No significant effects were found for *no-haptic-vibrotactile* (p > .05). In general, the majority of the participants responded to enjoy the whole experiment (12 strongly agreed, 14 agreed, 3 neither agreed nor disagreed, and 2 disagreed, $\tilde{x} = 4$).

As for the overall *realism* between the three modalities, *haptic strokes* were ranked first ($\tilde{x} = 4$), followed by *vibrotactile* ($\tilde{x} = 3$), and *no-haptic* feedback ($\tilde{x} = 2$, Figure 6.13b). Friedman's test found significant results ($\chi^2(2) = 21.4$, p < .001. Bonferroni-corrected Wilcoxon rank-sum posthoc tests revealed significant effects for *haptic stroke-no-haptic* and *haptic stroke-vibrotactile* (both p < .001). No significant effects were found for *no-haptic-vibrotactile* (p > .05).

The majority of the participants responded to be able to identify haptic textures reliably (6 strongly agreed, 13 agreed, 10 neither agreed nor disagreed, and 2 disagreed, $\tilde{x} = 4$) and they largely agreed that the experiment was pleasant (12 strongly agreed, 13 agreed, 3 neither agreed nor disagreed, and 3 disagreed, $\tilde{x} = 4$).

6.6.8 Subjective Feedback

The experiment was generally well-received, in particular, if "the haptic fitted to the visualization" (P29, P20). P21 explained to have "*wow* moments when it already closely matched the object". This was also confirmed by several participants describing the haptic stroke sensation as "realistic" (P15, P21, P23, P24, P27, P29), "very convincing" (P31), and even "increases the immersion when the haptic feedback matches the scene" (P2). Participants thereby enjoyed "when the object feels as expected and seemed real" (P10) and "the haptic stroke matched the visual object" (P19). Interestingly, P29 quoted that "the haptic also influ-

enced my expectations towards the object" and "concluded additional information (wet sponge, cold hands)". In contrast, non-matching stimuli were often reported as unpleasant or even "weird" (P16). P26, for example, described it felt "less realistic [..] and also felt much more uncomfortable" when "very rough haptic stroke feedback was felt for very smooth looking objects". In alignment with the analysis, rougher textures were also typically considered more unpleasant (P25, P27) but had more positive feedback if the roughness was matching (P9, P17, P25).

For P14 it was "super exciting to see how the visual appearance changed in imagination when the haptic feedback was unexpected". For P8 it was "an interesting challenge to try to identify what is touching you" and P10 said that "you could forget for a moment that you are in VR due to the well-depicted objects".

Although the study focused on the roughness of haptic stimuli and visualizations, some participants also reported insights on other characteristics, such as the temperature. For example, P5, P6, P7, and P15 highlighted that some materials, such as the *spoon*, felt more cooler, and P11 stated that a matching temperature "fits to the expectation".

Most of the negative comments were related to the *vibrotactile* feedback as "it was just not a nice feeling" (P9) and "felt unrealistic" (P19) or "unnatural" (P20). In terms of roughness, there was a tendency of describing it as rough or scratchy rather than smooth (P17, P22, P27). However, participants did describe the vibration as quite appropriate for the toothbrush, if it had been electric (P7, P9, P11, P13, P20, P21), or a smartphone notification (P2), and P21 perceived it as "small electric impulses when you are in love" (P21).

If there was no HAPTIC STIMULUS, participants were often unsure how to respond at the beginning. For example, P10 stated that "nothing touched me, but I don't know" and P21 asked if it was "Fake?" and said to "have the impression that I feel something, although there was nothing there". However, in some cases, even the *no-haptics* stimulus was somewhat convincing. For example, P20 told to feel "nothing, but it was still kind of a match because it seemed so light."

6.7 **DISCUSSION**

This section discusses the results of this Chapter. Most interestingly, the data showed that two levels of roughness, a *smooth* and *very rough* texture, could be conveying enough to keep a matching and realistic experience. Thereby, also the expectation of a visualization's roughness can still adapt to the haptic stimulus. Further, it was also observed that the pleasantness is depending not only on the roughness of a physical haptic stimulus alone but also on the matching with a visualization. These and the other findings are discussed in the following.

6.7.1 *Two distinct Textures can be sufficient for a Matching and Realistic Experience*

The analysis revealed that it is possible to convey a matching and realistic experience for all of the ten visualizations by providing just a *smooth* and *very rough* texture of physical roughness. Although participants were able to discriminate the textures of the HAPTIC STIMULI accurately, the expectation of a VISUALIZATION'S roughness was strong enough to blur the boundaries of the haptic perception. Also, without having a direct comparison between two physical gradations, participants had stronger issues pinpointing a texture to a certain level of roughness.

For all VISUALIZATIONS, the experiment showed that the high matching of realism with only two physical textures was also comparable to the perception of the real-world counterparts. This means the results indicated that participants distinguish HAPTIC STIMULI only binary to whether something is either smooth or rough and then adjusted their expectations respectively. Hereby, the two *rough* and *very rough* textures were consistently rated similarly in their perception, likewise to smoother textures. However, differences between a *smooth* and *very smooth* roughness were more common to recognize. For example, while being exposed to the *very smooth* texture when seeing the *spoon* visualization with an initial *very smooth* visual expectation, the sensation was mostly described to be a *smooth* texture. This might support the initial idea of the binary selection process.

As a consequence of future haptic systems, immersive experiences could be already created with a lower amount of physical textures
which would reduce the complexity of the underlying architecture. In particular, such haptic devices would allow a more compact design by providing only two textures of different roughness, namely a rough and smooth one. This would also yield additional space for wearable devices that can be used to recreate other material characteristics, such as temperature or hardness.

6.7.2 The Expectation of a VISUALIZATION'S Roughness adapts to the HAPTIC STIMULUS

Adding to the aforementioned finding, some VISUALIZATIONS (*sponge*, *toothbrush*, *branch*, and *rock*) were rated as equally matching across several haptic levels of roughness. In particular, these four VISUALIZATIONS were classified and anticipated correctly. However, once the HAPTIC STIMULUS was applied to the arm, the expected visual roughness also changed towards the HAPTIC STIMULUS, even though the VISUALIZATION was the same as before.

This resulted in situations, where some participants described that a rock could be both, *smooth* or *rough*, although the visualization of the *rock* was intended to be edgy and sharp. Asking participants why they thought the *rock* was rather smooth now, they argued that it might also have been a rounded pebble that would also match their experience. This effect was also observed for the *branch* where participants indicated that both, rough and smoother stimuli, were matching since the bark of the *branch* might not only be rather scratchy but also more flattened and, thus, smooth. In addition, both examples were objects that also occur in a wide range of variations naturally which means they are already well known in different forms, shapes, and characteristics, such as the dryness or age of the piece of wood. As result, although the mental models and roughness expectations were similar purely based on the visual appearance (cf. results of the pre-study and Section 6.6.3), more atypical smooth stones or branches can also fit the expectation as realistically as long as they would also occur in the wild.

Looking at other VISUALIZATIONS, such as the *steel wool* or *spoon*, it could be observed that they had less variability in their perceived and expected roughness. For example, the *steel wool* was commonly rated as very rough and scratchy, and no participant could imagine that it might also feel smooth when they were asked for it (after their initial response). The bottom of the *spoon*, on the other hand, only matched with smoother HAPTIC STIMULI, since the typical expectation would correspond to just such a smooth surface. For example, a very rough *spoon* is typically uncommon as it might injure the oral cavity. An old and rusty *spoon* might be more matching to rough textures but would then also result in different expectations.

Overall, the results indicated that the HAPTIC STIMULUS is able to override the roughness expectation without negatively affecting the matching or realism depending on the shown object. For future devices, this means that objects of the same type but with different visual appearances might be having an identical HAPTIC STIMULUS and would still match the users' expectations.

6.7.3 Pleasantness depends on Roughness and Matching

Stimuli with a *smooth* texture were typically perceived as more pleasant than stimuli that were more *rough*, as also shown by existing research [Ess+10]. However, the findings could also show that the matching of HAPTIC STIMULI and VISUALIZATIONS influenced the pleasantness. In particular, a high matching rating was observed to have positive effects even for *rough* textures, for example as seen for the *toothbrush*. Contrary, a low matching of stimuli let participants perceive the same *rough* HAPTIC STIMULUS as significantly more unpleasant. For example, a *very rough* texture was largely described as less pleasant for *very smooth* or *smooth* VISUALIZATIONS than for the expected *rough* or *very rough* VISU-ALIZATIONS. Likewise, a vibrotactile sensation that was mostly reported as a non-matching also resulted in lower pleasantness ratings.

Future applications, therefore, could have a direct influence on the perceived pleasantness by altering matching and non-matching HAPTIC STIMULI and VISUALIZATIONS. Also, while *very rough* texture was covering a broader spectrum than a *rough* texture, the *rough* should be preferred due to its higher pleasantness rating.

6.7.4 Prefer Physical Textures over Vibrotactile over no Haptics

HAPTIC STIMULI based on the sandpaper and the real-world baseline materials showed the highest enjoyment and realism ratings. The *vibrotactile* baseline, however, was rated as a less matching and realistic experience which was also supported by some participants who indicated a strong uncertainty of how to perceive the vibrotactile actuation. While they could recognize a continuous movement, the participants rarely said it was matching to the shown VISUALIZATION. However, even though this indicates that a more physical and mechanical stroke highly improves the experience, the benefits of vibrotactile feedback will remain until true haptic actuation is more technically achievable. This was further underlined by the observation that vibrotactile feedback was still more favorable than the *no-haptics* baseline, as also indicated by results from related work (e.g., [Geh+19]).

However, for the *no-haptics* baseline, it was also interesting that during early trials, participants were often uncertain if there was really a non-existent HAPTIC STIMULUS. For future applications, this could probably also indicate that a physical actuation may not be mandatory in every situation, as long as the visuals are dominant enough.

6.8 LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE WORK

In the previous section, the main findings were discussed. However, the experiments also had some limitations which will be discussed together with potential future work in the following.

6.8.1 Selected Set of Visualizations and Textures

During the intensive brainstorming sessions and the pre-study, the HAPTIC STIMULI and VISUALIZATIONS were identified. All of them are of course just a subset of a potentially infinite amount. Yet, while selecting the VISUALIZATIONS, it was also assured that they cover a broad spectrum of objects with different roughness that is known from everyday life, so participants are familiar with them, even though some of them are

typically not something that people would perceive on the arm, such as the spoon or sandpaper file.

In future studies, experiments should try to use other objects to elaborate on how the findings apply to different items. Also, the combination of different stimuli at the same time is interesting as it might affect the perception differently or more intensely.

6.8.2 Other Object Characteristics

Along with the aforementioned limitation, the experiments in this chapter focused on the perceived roughness, and potential confounding influences were kept minimal, such as other object properties like temperature or friction. For example, with regards to hardness, all VISUAL-IZATIONS were selected to consist of one material that is typically more hard or rigid, and one that is rather soft. With regards to stickiness and friction, all items were similar. However, the stickiness of the silicone finger had to be reduced by applying magnesia chalk. The temperature for all objects was at room level with comparable thermal conductivity. However, the spoon, which was made of metal, was mostly perceived as colder. As consequence, future research should investigate the other properties as well to add to the full picture of haptic perception. As a step towards it, this thesis also includes an investigation of temperature as shown in Chapter 7.

In addition to the perception of object properties, the investigation of how the haptic perception is affected by visuals is important. In the past, similar experiments in HCI investigated the influence of visuals on temperature (e.g., [FSH10; BNL20] and the experiments of Chapter 7). However again, more research is necessary for the remaining characteristics, namely the hardness, stickiness, or even combinations of them. For example, as the spatial resolution on the arm is rather low compared to other body parts [TMG13; McG+12], future studies remain relevant to identify how spatially accurate a haptic actuation within VR has to be to still convey a realistic illusion.

6.8.3 Affective Responses to Combined Stimuli

The main objectives of the experiments presented in this chapter were DISCRIMINATIVE aspects during PASSIVE TOUCH. Therefore, almost every VISUALIZATION WAS a static object that was moved along the arm. Yet, while those objects also create AFFECTIVE responses, typical HCI research on AFFECTIVE aspects are focusing on interpersonal interactions [EA16; Hui17]. Therefore, a *fingertip* was included as one of the VISUALIZATIONS. However, the haptic *fingertip* was made of silicone and not a real finger as it would have been impossible to guarantee a consistent actuation between all participants. As a consequence, the matching and realism ratings were identified as rather low for the fake finger.

6.8.4 Applicability for Active Touch

Again, the focus of the experiment was on **DISCRIMINATIVE** aspects during **PASSIVE TOUCH**. Yet, the underlying concepts could also be applied to **ACTIVE TOUCH**. However, both are typically involving the two different skin types, *hairy* and *glabrous* skin, that have individual discriminative traits. This also means that the parameters for **ACTIVE TOUCH** probably have to be adjusted to fit the better ability to detect subtle differences, e.g., by having even more fine-grained gradations of textures. Therefore, further investigations are necessary to evaluate how the results of this contribution are transferable to **ACTIVE TOUCH**.

6.8.5 Pleasantness over Time

High pleasantness is essential for the acceptability of any novel application. The findings of this experiment showed that pleasantness was highly dependent on the matching and roughness of the HAPTIC STIMULI. However, skin fatigue or irritations in response to an experiment duration of about 90 minutes per participant could have negatively affected the pleasantness ratings. The randomized order of the conditions is typically an effective countermeasure to avoid such effects over the whole experiment and participants also did not actively report this. However, lower pleasantness ratings over the duration of the experiment might have occurred sub-consciously as a prolonged exposure to haptic stimuli could cause greater fatigue or even an unwanted sensory over-stimulation.

That being said, after checking the median ratings of pleasantness over time including all participants, a small trend of fewer than 0.5 points was observed. At the same time, the median ratings of haptic roughness over time increased slightly. Both can be an indicator of actual skin fatigue, however, could be still just a coincidence due to the randomization. As such, further research is necessary to investigate the effects on skin fatigue and how this type of actuation affects pleasantness with regard to the density and intensity of physical stroke stimuli.

6.8.6 Technical Limitations

The haptic strokes were provided through a prototypical system. However, since uniform actuations were in the focus, the prototype was not in a wearable state that would be necessary for real-world VR applications.

Also, the sandpaper textures were glued onto the *Silicone Cushions* which was ideal for the study. However, this might be too fragile for future systems where textures with different roughness could be embedded directly into the actuators. For example, it was initially planned to cast smooth and rough textures on a macro-level directly in a *Silicone Cushion*'s surface, similar to Yao et al. [Yao+13]. Unfortunately, this approach was ineffective as textures could not provide a rough enough sensation. Also, when trying to mix fine grains of sand directly into the silicone, actuators were not durable enough since the silicone tended to tear.

6.9 CONCLUSION

This chapter investigated how users perceived HAPTIC STIMULI with different roughness, in particular when interacting with VISUALIZATIONS in VR through a controlled experiment with 31 participants. Taking a closer look at the vision of a future versatile and lightweight multimodal device for somatosensory interaction, the results on FINE MECHANORE-CEPTION and PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION from this chapter are

particularly encouraging. By conducting the presented user studies, it was possible to show how to provide a strong sensation of stroking with different levels of roughness. Further, the findings revealed that for different VISUALIZATIONS, just two real surfaces were required, one smooth and one rough, in order to provide a matching and realistic experience. In addition, the results also highlighted that the pleasantness is strongly affected by the haptic roughness and the degree to which they match the expected roughness. Consequently, under the further assumption that this sensation can be congruently supported by visual stimuli, future systems implementing a stroking modality can benefit from the results with comparatively low effort for the devices. This, in turn, increases the potential for the feasibility of a multi-modal somatosensory device in the close future.

Part III

THERMOCEPTION

Ther	rmoception 13	9
7.1	Contribution Statement and Related Publica-	
	tion	0
7.2	Chapter Structure	.1
7.3	Related Work	.1
7.4	Requirements	9
7.5	Thermal Concepts and System Implementation 15	0
7.6	User Study and Methodology 15	8
7.7	Results	6
7.8	Discussion	2
7.9	Example Applications	5
7.10	Limitations and Future Work	7
7.11	Conclusion	9
	Ther 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 7.6 7.7 7.8 7.9 7.10 7.11	Thermoception137.1Contribution Statement and Related Publica- tion147.2Chapter Structure147.3Related Work147.4Requirements147.5Thermal Concepts and System Implementation157.6User Study and Methodology157.7Results167.8Discussion177.9Example Applications177.10Limitations and Future Work177.11Conclusion17

7

THERMOCEPTION: ON-BODY THERMAL FEEDBACK



The previous chapters investigated somatosensory interaction with a focus on MECHANORECEPTION. However, looking at human perception, a significant part of sensing and interacting with the environment is linked to THERMOCEPTION, meaning the perception of temperature [DJ77; HJ06]. In recent years, research in HCI has emerged that applied thermal displays to a broad spectrum of applications, ranging from training environments, catastrophe simulation, gaming experiences, and even rehabilitation. Also, thermal feedback is used to enrich media, present notifications, and convey emotions, and other social aspects, such as well-being and comfort. However, while a huge part of thermal displays is focusing on *actively* touching objects with the hands, other body parts need to be considered as well, such as the head, arms, torso, or even the back. Still, the investigation of thermal feedback, especially in VR situations, is sparse compared to other haptic modalities.

The thermal property is one of the main material characteristics [ONY13; ONH16] as it indicates an object's functionality, affordance, or situation (see also Section 2.3). For example, grabbing a warm mug may be interpreted that the beverage inside having a good drinking temperature. However, if the mug feels hot, it may suggest that it remains precarious to drink or even touch it. Yet, temperature perception is not limited to these mere physical properties as it can also stimulate emotions, e.g., through hugs and caresses. Also, despite such rather direct feedback,

users may have a specific mental model of how thermal properties feel. E.g., what would happen if thermal and visual stimuli do not match expectations? How might a person perceive hot ice cubes? Or a cold burning flame?

In this chapter, THERMOCEPTION will be explored. As a first step, an overview of relevant research from the fields of HCI, physiology, and psychology was used to derive a set of requirements for thermal actuation. Based on those, and in contrast to existing approaches, concepts of a liquid-based system were designed and implemented. Further, this chapter presents the results of an investigation with 25 participants to deepen the understanding of how persons perceive temperature with varying visual and thermal stimuli in VR. Therefore, the study explored how those stimuli do or do not fit, and, thus, may or may not match the expected mental model of temperature.

7.1 CONTRIBUTION STATEMENT AND RELATED PUBLICATION

This chapter is based on the following publication:

Sebastian Günther, Florian Müller, Dominik Schön, Omar Elmoghazy, Max Mühlhäuser, and Martin Schmitz. "Therminator: Understanding the Interdependency of Visual and On-Body Thermal Feedback in Virtual Reality." In: *Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (*CHI* '20). New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2020, pp. 1–14. ISBN: 9781450367080. DOI: 10.1145/3313831.3376195

Contribution Statement: I led the idea creation, concept design, implementation, data analysis, and writing process. The former students *Dominik Schön* and *Omar Elmoghazy* supported building the prototype and implemented the study client application. *Florian Müller* consulted to and reviewed the design process, as well as provided his experience of statistical analysis. *Martin Schmitz* gave feedback on the writing process. *Max Mühlhäuser* supervised and supported the writing of the publication and gave valuable feedback during the design process.

• Some contents of this chapter might contain verbatim parts of the aforementioned publication.

7.2 CHAPTER STRUCTURE

The remainder of this chapter is structured as follows: After this introduction, a structured overview of related work is given in Section 7.3 which highlights relevant work among the fields of thermal feedback in HCI, AR, VR, and how existing work investigated interdependecies with visual sensation. Afterwards, this chapter presents a set of requirements for thermal haptic feedback in VR, followed by introducing the THERMI-NATOR concepts and prototype (Sections 7.4 and 7.5). Sections 7.6 and 7.7 present the controlled experiment and its results that investigate the interdependency between thermal and visual stimuli, concluded by a structured discussion (Section 7.8). To further underline the possibilities of this work, Section 7.9 presents three example applications using the THERMINATOR system. The chapter closes by a discussion of current limitations and future work (Section 7.10), as well as a concluding summary (Section 7.11).

7.3 RELATED WORK

This section presents a structured discussion of relevant work in the field of thermal actuation. First, a summary of general thermal feedback in HCI is addressed. Then, projects that use thermal feedback in the context of AR and VR will be discussed in more detail. The third subsection gives an overview of research investigating relationships between visual and thermal stimuli. More details on the physiological background of THERMOCEPTION within the somatosensory system are found in Chapter 2.2.2.

7.3.1 Thermal Feedback in HCI

Thermal feedback in HCI is leveraged in a variety of different situations to enhance user experiences or to support interaction concepts. Hereby, the spectrum of applications is broad and ranges from applying temperature to tangibles [LTH18; Bal14], over supporting social multimedia experiences [AHB17; Hal+12], up to augmenting public spaces with heat spots to let strangers meet together at determined locations [Nar+09]. Thermal feedback can be divided into contact-based and non-contactbased approaches. While the latter uses peripheral actuation, contactbased approaches often rely on thermoelectric components. Hereby, thermal displays are typically embedded directly into existing and novel devices.

In an early work, Wilson et al. [Wil+11] explored thermal stimuli on the wrist, palm, and arm for augmenting mobile experiences, such as smartphones. Löchtefeld et al. [Löc+14] added thermoelectric Peltier elements to the back of a tablet computer, to enrich the experience while consuming videos and other media. In a later work, the authors also applied thermal feedback to game controllers to increase the atmosphere and render additional information cues for individual UI elements [Löc+17]. Similarly, Kotsev et al. [Kot+17] also used thermal feedback as a direct game element but attached the Peltier elements directly to the users' lower arm. Moreover, using temperature is not restricted to digital artifacts and can also be employed to make physical pieces of art and paintings more accessible for persons with visual impairments, as done by Hribar and Pawluk [HP11]. As such, those works already cover a broad spectrum of application scenarios.

However, thermal feedback is not limited to media augmentation. For example, Peiris et al. [Pei+19] embedded small Peltier elements into a wristband that can be worn as a companion device for smartwatches or may directly be included in future devices. Further, the authors present different possibilities for a thermal display, such as notifications, media augmentation, or even guidance purposes. In a similar work, Zhu et al. [Zhu+19] presented an even smaller approach where the thermoelectric elements were embedded into a ring. Tewell et al. [TBB17] focused on the guidance aspect of thermal cues in 2D maze navigation tasks while using a conventional array of Peltier elements attached to the arm.

In addition, a large body of research in HCI explored the usage of thermal feedback for conveying and perceiving emotions. In numerous works, Wilson et al. [WB17; WDB16; WFB16] and Iwasaki et al. [IMR10] used thermal displays attached to mobile devices, such as smartphones, to support different emotional states on the palm. Akiyama et al. [Aki+13] used thermal feedback to adjust the mood of users while listening to music. More recently, El Ali et al. [El+20] used a chest-worn Peltier element to increase arousal, as well as increase and decrease valence for voice messages. While those approaches provide foundations for thermal feedback, most of them rely on power-consuming and rigid thermoelectric components that are limited for the use in larger systems. Also, those devices mostly focused on presenting thermal stimuli but did not investigate how such actuation can be affected by or can affect other senses.

7.3.2 Thermal Feedback in Augmented- and Virtual Reality

Thermal feedback in AR and VR is becoming more relevant as one of the missing links towards the ultimate displays [Sut65]. However, it is still one of the lesser investigated haptic modalities for virtual experiences. While there exists plenty of existing work, two main methods and concepts of how thermal feedback is applied to users can be found: a CONTACT-BASED and a NON-CONTACT-BASED actuation.

7.3.2.1 Contact-Based Actuation

With contact-based feedback, thermal displays are typically placed directly on the body. Peiris et al. [Pei+17] and Chen et al. [Che+17], for example, used thermoelectric Peltier elements and small fans mounted on the HMD to generate different temperatures on and around the head. In more recent work, the authors further investigated and presented an approach to creating a wetness illusion on the face by solely changing the applied temperatures [PCM18], similar to the non-VR investigations by Shibahara et al. [SS16]. In another work by Ranasinghe et al. [Ran+17], the authors mounted small fans to the HMD to create a cooling effect via wind stimuli and extended it with olfactory stimuli in a follow-up work [Ran+18]. Maeda et al. [MK19] used modular thermoelectric Peltier elements for the body to create a very localized thermal actuation, likewise to commercial VR suits, such as Teslasuit¹ that also utilized this kind of elements. Peng et al. [PPM₁₇] placed thermoelectric elements on the wrist and explored the effect of passing through virtual items or digital avatars.

Again, as mentioned in the previous section, thermoelectric Peltier elements tend to provide only a very spatially localized, rigid, and

¹ https://teslasuit.io/blog/teslasuit-climate-control-system/, last accessed
2020-01-08

power-consuming actuation with the necessity of active or passive cooling elements², where some even use a water-cooling [Rag+20; Sou+21]. To overcome the movement constraints, more recent approaches use more miniature Peltier or Thermoelectric Cooler (TEC) elements with smaller surfaces which are less restricting [Nii+20; Zhu+19; Kim+20a]. Lee et al. [Lee+20] even embedded them into flexible silicone materials to wear directly on the skin. Yet, the issues of requiring heatsinks, small actuation areas, or lower thermal transfer rates remain.

As a possible alternative, a few systems considered fluids as a medium that can be used for heating and cooling. For example, the Haptx glove³ uses very small amounts of liquid to generate thermal stimuli. This allows for less restricted movements, however, it is focusing only on a small body part, namely the hand. Also, as a commercial product, it lacks a systematic investigation of thermal stimuli and their effects on visual stimuli. Likewise, Cai et al. [Cai+20] cycle water through a heating and cooling chamber to provide thermal feedback on the arm. While very similar to the concepts of this chapter, the authors focused only on the arm and did not investigate other body parts and the effects of visual influences. More recently, Liu et al. [Liu+21] designed an arm sleeve that uses a combination of liquids and pressure to create stroking motions. A completely different approach using liquids, but in form of vaporizing oils and solutions, Brooks et al. [BNL20] provided thermal stimuli through a trigeminal illusion. Thereby, users are exposed to an olfactory stimulation that tricks the human perception to feel warmer or colder, e.g., by using capsaicin or menthol fluids.

7.3.2.2 Non-Contact-Based Actuation

Besides a CONTACT-BASED actuation where thermal elements are directly mounted to body parts, there also exist NON-CONTACT-BASED thermal feedback. Most approaches are using infrared heating lamps for heating or fans for cooling. The advantage compared to contact-based solutions is the complete freedom of movement. The main disadvantage, however, is the less precise actuation as they mostly cover larger or complete parts of the body from a distance through a stationary setup. For example, Iwai et al. [IAS19] and Yoshikawa et al. [YIS13] combine projection-

² http://www.heatsink-guide.com/peltier.htm (accessed March 01, 2022)

³ https://haptx.com/what-is-haptics-really-part-3-thermal-feedback/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

Citation	Warm	Cold	Head / Face	Neck	Dorsum (Back)	Thorax / Abdomen	Arm	Wrist	Hand / Finger	Technology	VR / AR / Projection
Brooks et al. [BNL20]	√	\checkmark	√ *							`	VR
Cai et al. [Cai+20]	√	\checkmark							\checkmark	4	VR
Han et al. [Han+18]	√	\checkmark	\checkmark							94	VR 🖍
Hülsmann et al. [Hül+14]	√	\checkmark								94	€.^
Iwai et al. [IAS19]	√						\checkmark		\checkmark	ę	≜ ∠*
Kim et al. [Kim+20a]	√	\checkmark							\checkmark	4	VR
Lee et al. [Lee+20]	√	\checkmark							\checkmark	4	VR
Liu et al. [Liu+21]	√	\checkmark					\checkmark			۲	
Maeda and Kurahashi [MK19]	√	\checkmark					\checkmark	\checkmark		4	VR 📥
Peiris et al. [Pei+17]	√	\checkmark	√ *							4	VR
Peiris et al. [PCM18]		\checkmark	√ *							5	VR
Ragozin et al. [Rag+20]	√	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark			4	VR
Ranasinghe et al. [Ran+17]	√	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark						4	VR
Shaw et al. [Sha+19]	√		√ *			\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	ę	VR
Soucy et al. [Sou+21]	√	\checkmark						\checkmark		5	VR
Weir et al. [Wei+13]	√								\checkmark		AR
Wilson et al. [Wil+11]	√	\checkmark					\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	4	
Xu et al. [Xu+19]		\checkmark	 ✓ 	\checkmark						4	VR 🖌
Yoshikawa et al. [YIS13]	√								\checkmark	ę	VR
Ch. 7: THERMINATOR	√	\checkmark				\checkmark	\checkmark			۲	VR

Table 7.1: Overview of related work that uses thermal feedback in AR, VR, or projection-based environments. Legend: √ featured, b olfactory, 🗣 heatlamp, 💠 fans, 🖡 thermoelectric elements, 🌢 liquids, 🖍 noncontact, ▲ projection, ♥ CUBE system.

based visuals with a heating infrared-lamp for a thermal stimulus. Similarly, Han et al. [Han+18] use a profoundly sophisticated stationary system on the ceiling that also provides warmth through a heating lamp, plus additional coldness by a ventilating fan and evaporated liquids. In 2014, Hülsmann et al. [Hül+14] previously presented an ambient large-scale thermal system for a CAVE environment using arrays of fans and infrared heating lamps. Shaw et al. [Sha+19] used directed highenergy heating units behind mechanical shutters to regulate the thermal intensity and hotness during a simulated fire evacuation scenario in VR. However, as the system is located on a desk, it always actuates the

facing side of the user, typically including the head and upper body. While those all use stationary systems, Xu et al. [Xu+19] designed a hybrid of a contact- and non-contact-based system. Here, the authors provided a cold stimulus to the neck of users through air vortexes in a non-VR environment without considering warm stimuli.

Summarizing, with regards to the presented works in this section, a large group is using contact-based methods relying on thermoelectric elements focusing on the actuation of the head, face, arms, or hands. Table 7.1 gives an overview of AR-, VR-, and projection-based related work and highlights their ability to create warmth or coldness, the actuated body parts, and the underlying technology. Further, the capabilities of the prototypical implementation presented later in this chapter (Section 7.5), called THERMINATOR, were added for comparison.

However, most of the work considering AR or VR, put a strong emphasis on just providing the thermal feedback or how it affects the users' presence. Yet, besides the technical setup, it remains unclear how such an actuation affects the user perception and how it may differ between different parts of the body.

7.3.3 Mutual Interaction between Thermal and Visual Stimuli

Investigating mutual interaction effects between varying haptic and visual stimuli is critical to fully understand how each aspect affects the other. While such effects with visual stimuli are already explored for EMS and vibrotactile-based haptics (e.g., Gehrke et al. [Geh+19]), there was no systematic evaluation of visual and thermal stimuli in VR. However, previous research showed that the thermal perception of visuals is highly related to learned and experienced mental models and vice-versa. For example, the psychological rubber hand illusion, an experiment where stroking a fake rubber hand feels like the own hand by Botvinick and Cohen [BC98; TH05], was modified for thermal stimuli. Kanaya et al. [KMY12] and Trojan et al. [Tro+18] conducted studies to investigate how the illusion of temperature on a rubber hand affects the thermal judgment of participants. In a different work by Takakura et al. [Tak+15], the authors took a look into changes in body temperatures while looking at different images. Thereby the authors observed that once the participants were shown a hot-looking video

(pictures of a desert), their body temperature subtly decreased compared to a neutral control image. On the other side, when showing a video with colder appealing pictures of snow, the body temperature slightly increased. In a different work, Wang et al. [Wan+18] explored the effect of different colored walls inside buildings and how it affects temperature perception and comfort.

However, the perceived temperature also depends on the expectations of users and their mental models of thermal properties. Fenko et al. [FSH10] therefore described two factors that affect the subjective temperature perception: (1) LITERAL MEANING that aligns with the physical warmness, and (2) FIGURATIVE MEANING of an object related to "social activity, intimacy, and friendly atmosphere" (Fenko et al., 2010, [FSH10], p. 1331). For example, if a user should perceive a visual stimulus as a cold expected temperature, an object, entity, or environment is needed that suggests a cold looking property. To examine such mental models, Wilson et al. [WDB15] investigated distinct application areas where thermal properties are subjectively interpreted differently, such as digital contents, doorknobs, and social media. In a similar, but more abstract fashion, Löffler et al. [LTH18] conducted a user study to explore how congruent and incongruent physical properties of tangibles are affecting their participants' intuitiveness for interacting with them, including varying sizes, weights, and temperatures of the tangibles.

On the one side, visuals undoubtedly strongly affect the perception of temperature, even when no actual thermal stimulus is present. For example, Weir et al. [Wei+13] designed an AR application that augments a user's hand with virtual flames and smoke effects. Even though they did not render any thermal feedback, about a fifth of the participants reported an increased warmness on their hands just by seeing the virtual flames. A similar effect was observed by Hoffmann et al. [HPCoo] for rehabilitation processes. Here, the authors distracted burn patients with a VR game without actual thermal feedback to subjectively reduce the patient's pain perception.

On the other side, pure thermal stimuli can also influence how users perceive the physical properties of objects, such as the wetness of clothes. For example, Shibahara and Sato [SS16] changed the temperature of fabric with an underlying Peltier element while participants had the impression that the still dry material turned wet. The same effect of wetness was also observed by Peiris et al. [PCM18] who embedded thermoelectric elements into a VR HMD.

Iwai et al. [IAS19] used projector-based visualizations and provided warm non-contact-based feedback through infrared projections directed to their participants to enhance social interaction and temperature perception. Further, the authors investigated how visual and thermal properties should interact with each other. They observed that the thermal intensity should always be high and the actuated surfaces, both visually and thermally, do not have to be identical, as the thermal resolution of the human perception is rather low. While this already provides useful insights into the psychophysical effects of warmth, the authors did not investigate how visual and temperature mismatches affect perception. Further, projector-based visualizations are mostly limited to 2-dimensional visualization and, in contrast to VR, are not fully immersive around the user.

In other previous experiments, Balcer [Bal14] and Ziat et al. [Zia+16] investigated how the perceived temperature of virtual objects is affected by their visual color appearance and varying thermal stimuli. During their experiments in a VR environment, the authors changed the color hues of their test objects between red and blue, which typically represent a warm and cold temperature respectively [ME26]. Yet, the actual temperature of the proxy objects was also altered between warm and cold and did not necessarily have to match the expected temperature of the participants. As a finding, the authors identified that non-matching stimuli resulted in longer reaction times than matching stimuli. However, while these findings already show possible effects due to the interdependencies of stimuli, the study focused on associated temperatures of colors without considering more sophisticated visual stimuli in the form of 3D visualizations. Further, the authors did not consider the influence on the participant's involvement and comfort.

In summary, mutual effects and the interdependency between visual and thermal stimuli are not new phenomena as they are essential for human temperature perception. However, there is no structured investigation yet that explores how those effects are perceived in VR environments and how they affect the users' involvement and comfort. Further, as one advantage of VR, it is possible to simulate mismatching stimuli and uncanny effects, such as a burning ice cube, which may result in even stronger interaction effects.

7.4 REQUIREMENTS



Figure 7.1: Requirements for a wearable thermal display: ReqT1. Variable Temperature, ReqT2. Fitting Shapes, ReqT3. Size and Length, ReqT4. Degrees of Freedom. The images already depict actuators in form of tubes, as they are used for the THERMINATOR system.

In the previous section, it was shown that localized thermal feedback offers a versatile spectrum of application scenarios, such as immersive interaction, media enrichment, or the transfer of emotions. While the requirements are different for each use case, some general requirements have to be considered if thermal feedback should be applied to wearable systems or VR applications. Besides the physical challenges when working with thermal displays [JHo8], the complex anatomy and physiology of the human body require localized thermal stimuli that are flexible enough to adapt to specific anatomical shapes. For example, the arm has typically a narrow and cylindrical shape whereas the abdomen is a larger flat, or slightly convex surface. In the following, four requirements for the usage of thermal displays are given with an additional overview of how related work fulfills those.

REQT1. PROVIDE VARIABLE TEMPERATURE

The temperature should be variable and adjustable to fit changing situations, environments, or properties depending on the context. Depending on the use case, a thermal display would need the capabilities to render warm and cold temperatures (Figure 7.1 ReqT1)).

REQT2. SHAPES OF ACTUATORS MUST FIT BODY PART

Actuators ideally have to fit the shapes of each part of the body. The physiology of different parts of the body is typically largely varying. For example, body parts might be rather straight like the shin, more convex like the abdomen, or bent like the spine (Figure 7.1 ReqT2).

REQT3. PROVIDE CUSTOM SIZE AND LENGTH

An actuation should occur at an appropriate spot. Therefore, it is necessary that actuators can also be adjusted in size to cover as numerous purposes as possible (Figure 7.1 ReqT₃).

REQT4. PROVIDE A GOOD DEGREE OF FREEDOM

Body parts vary in their dimensions, shapes, and size which also affects the degrees of freedom. Therefore, one requirement is to have movement restrictions coming from actuators by providing a high degree of freedom. For example, in order to let arms or legs bend and stretch freely (Figure 7.1 ReqT4).

	Peltier	Air	Liquids		
ReqT1: Temperature	+	+	+		
ReqT2: Shapes	0	+	+		
ReqT3: Size and Length	0	-	+		
ReqT4: Deg. of Freedom	-	+	0		
Advantages	easy to deploy, based on elec- tric energy, good thermal properties	non-contact based, high- est movement flexibility	network of tubes are easy extend- able, flexible, good thermal properties		
Disadvantages	high power con- sumption, very localized, sur- faces mostly flat, rigid, extensions are expensive	poor thermal properties, low precision	liquids need circulation and separate heat- ing/cooling, water consump- tion		

Table 7.2: Fulfillment of the requirements comparing the advantages and disadvantages of thermoelectric elements, air-based, and liquid-based systems.

7.5 THERMAL CONCEPTS AND SYSTEM IMPLEMENTATION

Based on the requirements (see Section 7.4), this section first introduces concepts for thermal actuation on the body. Then, a prototypical implementation of the concepts using a liquid-based approach, called THERMINATOR, will be presented.

7.5.1 Concepts



Figure 7.2: Concept of the THERMINATOR system which uses heat-conducting tubes that can be flexibly adapted to various shapes of different body parts. It allows fluids with adjustable temperatures to flow through the tubes.

7.5.1.1 Limitations of Thermoelectric Elements and Air as Medium

As shown in the related work section (Section 7.3), traditional approaches mostly use thermoelectric Peltier elements. While those are easy to deploy and inexpensive, they have some major drawbacks for the usage in AR/VR applications. Typically, their actuation is spatially very localized for small surfaces with about 1-5 cm edge length. Though it is possible to use thermally conductive carrier materials to extend the effective range, this can influence the thermal transfer performance and may result in lower actuation rates. Using multiple Peltier elements in an array, however, would yield a continuously decreased flexibility and rigidity with even higher power consumption. In addition, thermoelectric elements require active or passive cooling, e.g., through heatsinks⁴. This often hampers user movements, especially when much freedom is needed. As technology continuously improves, newer approaches use Peltier or TEC elements with smaller surfaces close to the size of a needle-head (e.g., [Nii+20; Zhu+19; Kim+20a]). This makes them less constraining and allows them to be embedded into silicon materials that act as a second skin [Lee+20]. However, this does not negate the issues of requiring heatsinks and providing only a small actuation surface, or the thermal properties are not fast enough. While air as the medium is a viable option, too, it suffers from low thermal conductivity and is mostly limited to non-contact-based systems that are insufficient for ac-

⁴ http://www.heatsink-guide.com/peltier.htm (accessed March 01, 2022)

tuating specific body parts, despite its maximum freedom of movement (e.g., [Hül+14; Han+18]).

7.5.1.2 Liquids as Medium in a Tube System

As an alternative to electrothermic elements and air, the advantages of liquids with different temperatures that flow through a network of deformable and thermally conductive tubes were considered (depicted in Figure 7.2). With regards to the aforementioned requirements, this approach is able to adapt to a variety of shapes and transfer temperatures directly to individual body parts with different anatomical properties. In the following, the liquid-based approach is discussed with regard to the requirements, while Table 7.2 gives an overview of the advantages and disadvantages of the three mentioned technologies.

The skin consists of a large network of thermal receptors that recognize temperature changes. Further, besides thermal characteristics, this network can warn for hot and too cold temperatures [JH08; ONH16], as well as to give a sense of pleasantness in ideal conditions [FSH10]. While the human capability to perceive temperature is very pronounced, for example, in differentiating surfaces through thermal properties [HJ06], the spatial resolution is limited [SM12]. Further, the temporal demand for temperature changes often does not apply to the users' expectations [Kot+17] which means that a thermal display should be able to adapt quickly to rapid temperature changes.

Therefore, liquids were considered a medium for a thermal display. For example, water has excellent thermal properties that can transfer temperature more effectively (water $0.59 \text{ W} \cdot m^{-1} \cdot K^{-1}$ compared to AIR $0.03 \text{ W} \cdot m^{-1} \cdot K^{-1}$). Further, there are several possibilities to modify the temperature of liquids (cf. Requirement REQT1). For example, by blending cold and warm liquid sources with a thermal mixing valve, or by changing the temperature directly via individual heating elements. This enabled to let liquids of any desired temperature to flow through the tubes. However, there are differences in how different individuals of different backgrounds or gender perceive the same temperature [GOH16], and the perception threshold changes over lifetime [SC98]. Research therefore showed [HWG52; HD99] that a lower boundary of 15 °C-17 °C and upper boundary of 45 °C-52 °C are typically avoid pain sensations (cf. NOCICEPTION in Section 2.2.4) associated with the thermoreceptors.

7.5.1.3 Shape, Size, and Arrangement

When using liquids as a medium for heat conduction, the liquids have to be ensured in a closed system that can actuate different regions of the body without leakages. A network of tubes can enable such a high flexible actuation by using deformable interconnected tubes. Hereby, each actuator can be designed to match varying curvatures of the body (cf. Requirements REQT2-4), leading to straight, curved, or even bent shapes. Further to this, the total length of actuators is important. For example, having an actuator for the thigh compared to an actuator for the forearm, the tubes might be longer or larger.

This means that individual actuators must not be implemented as one large tube, but rather as an interconnected network of smaller tubes with fitting shapes for the specific parts of the body. As a consequence, the tubes must also be linked together using particularly elastic, flexible tubes so that liquids can flow from one actuator tube to the next. With this concept, each actuator is composed of a series of tubes that can be arranged in different configurations, e.g., horizontally, vertically, and diagonally.



7.5.2 *Actuators: Tube system*

Figure 7.3: A picture of one actuator with the heat conduction PE-RT tubes in red and super flexible PVC connector tubes, together with a thermal camera view at 43 °C on the right side.

The tubes have to be flexible to adapt to different shapes and need to have a good thermal conductivity in order to transfer the temperature of the inner liquids to the user. Using this network of tubes instead of larger chambers guarantees a homogeneous distribution of the temperature to flow liquids at a constant rate. For example, due to the good thermal properties of mesh-like networks of liquids within tubes, NASA proposed its usage to cool down spacesuits for astronauts during their missions [Ize+15].

For the **THERMINATOR** system, tubes are needed in alignment with the introduced requirements in Section 7.4. In the beginning, different types of tubes and implementations were tested. For example, while *PVC* (*polyvinyl chloride*) tubes were highly flexible, they do not provide good thermal conductivity. Metallic pipes made from copper, however, have a very good thermal conductivity but are too rigid and cool down too fast. Providing both advantages, thermoplastic PE-RT **TUBES** (*polyethylene of raised temperature resistance*) turned out to have exactly such properties as their thermal conductivity is close to the thermal conductivity of water (wATER 0.59 W $\cdot m^{-1} \cdot K^{-1}$, PE-RT 0.43 W $\cdot m^{-1} \cdot K^{-1}$) and they are not too rigid. They are commonly used for professional thermal appliances, such as underfloor heating systems, and the outside temperature of the PE-RT tubes adapts to the internal temperature quickly in between 2-5 seconds, depending on the diameter of the tubes.

Typical PE-RT tubes have a high-pressure resistance of up to 1300 kPa at flow temperatures of up to 70 °C⁵ which is largely sufficient for all imaginable HCI applications such high temperatures are above the tolerable maximum heat for on-body feedback [JHo8; GOH16]. However, this also means that PE-RT tubes are not super flexible, e.g., compared to PVC tubes. However, they can be permanently deformed when applying very high heat, e.g., with a hot air gun, and bringing them into a new form. For THERMINATOR, tubes with a diameter of 12 mm were taken as this size allowed for a good tradeoff between flow and a bending radius of about 10 cm when re-shaped with heat.

To connect single PE-RT segments to a larger "grill"-like network that can be woven into a fabric, a bending radius of 10 cm, however, would still limit the applicability to different body parts. Further, as PE-RT tubes are mostly firm even after re-shaping, an actuator made solely from those elements would be not flexible enough. Therefore, the highly flexible PVC **TUBES** mentioned before that can be bent beyond were identified as practical to provide a connection for PE-RT tubes. Further,

⁵ https://plasticpipe.org/building-construction/bcd-pe-rt.html (accessed March 01, 2022)

PVC tubes have negligible thermal properties which allowed to use them as feeder and drainer for the actuator at body parts that should not be affected by temperature changes.

Therefore for THERMINATOR, the actuators were arranged in a *grill* like arrangement with a spacing of 5 cm spacing between each PE-RT segment. This arrangement represented a good coverage of any body part as the thermal resolution of the body is low [SM12; SC98] and also more energy-saving than having larger chambers for the liquids. Figure 7.3 depicts a detailed view of the actuators and their tube-based layout, as well as a thermal camera view showing the heat radiation at 43 °C.

While the tube-based system allows for a multitude of actuator layouts, two specific layouts were considered to actuate the arm and abdomen. They were selected due to their fit with the intended applications. For the arm actuator, the tubes were put inside a tight arm sleeve which ensured the contact of the heat-exposing tubes with the skin. For the abdomen actuator, the tubes were woven into a fabric shirt in a horizontal layout. Both actuators used 8 PE-RT tubes interconnected with PVC tubes and had a spacing of 5 cm between each PE-RT segment.

7.5.3 Water Cycle and Temperature Mixing



Figure 7.4: Schematic overview of the complete THERMINATOR system with two actuators. From left to right: A cold tap water source is used to supply a heating boiler. Both liquids with different temperatures are then mixed with a thermostatic mixing and regulated with a mechanical pressure regulator. The control unit can toggle electronic solenoid valves to release the mixed liquid to separate actuators. Further, a temperature and flow sensor are measuring the state of the system.

For supplying the actuators with a liquid that can change temperature, two sources of water were necessary. A cold water source to cool the liquid down and a hot water source to increase the temperature which was then mixed to reach a specific temperature. The cold water supply was a conventional household connection providing tap water at a constant rate of 17 °C. However, as there was no hot tap water source available, a boiler that heated 30 L of water to constant 55 °C was used. The water in the boiler had to be refilled before using the system and it took about 5 minutes before everything was ready.

Both water supplies were then connected to a mechanical thermal mixing valve that can be manually regulated between 18 °C and 48 °C to reach a certain temperature. However, as the hot water supply did not provide its own pressure to create a water flow, a pump (*Daypower WP-165*) had to be installed which carried the hot water from the boiler into the system with a throughput of up to 6 L/min. To increase sustainability and reduce the number of refills needed for the boiler, the warm reflux coming from the actuators was partially collected and reused. After both sources were mixed to reach a certain temperature, the flow was limited to a constant rate of 40 mL/s through a mechanical pressure regulating valve. This kept the pressure in the system low, reducing potential leakages, and still provided a high flow rate to power the actuators quickly.



Figure 7.5: Overview of the implemented THERMINATOR system without the actuator tubes showing the thermal mixing valve, the solenoid valves, the pressure regulator, and the flow and temperature sensors.

To start and stop the actuation, and to allow for rapid emergency shutdowns if inevitable, the resulting pressure-reduced flow of the water was digitally controlled with a switchable solenoid valve. Further, to monitor the resulting temperature and internal flow rate at all times, a temperature and flow sensor was installed after the solenoid valve. As the prototypical system should actuate two body parts, namely the arm and abdomen, two actuators were connected to the system with a Y-connector. Further, each actuator was then also enabled and disabled individually by separate solenoid valves. A schematic overview of the THERMINATOR System is depicted in Figure 7.4. Figure 7.5 shows the final implementation of the system.

7.5.4 Controlling the Actuation

The prototypical system was built on top of the ActuBoard platform (as introduced in Chapter 9) for controlling the water pump, the solenoid valves, and reading out the data from the temperature and flow sensors. All data and commands are processed within a VR application built with the Unity engine⁶ and abstracted with the ActuBoard C# API. While various VR systems were supported, Therminator was only tested with the HTC Vive and Valve Index. The experimenter could start and stop the actuation of each actuator individually and had an overview perspective of the whole VR scene and sensor data. The solenoid valves (*U.S. Solid USS2-SV00051*) and pump run (*Daypower WP-165*) on 12 V whereas the sensors and the ActuBoard was running at 5 V.

7.5.4.1 System Performance

The prototype is capable to change the temperature at a rate of $1.75 \,^{\circ}$ C/s on average which fulfills the aforementioned concepts and requirements for a fast actuation. A full cycle to change the actuated temperature from cold(22.5 $^{\circ}$ C) to hot (42.5 $^{\circ}$ C) is possible in 12 s. Those rates were based on an intentional limitation of the flow rate at 40 mL/s for a constant actuation and to avoid a possible overshooting of the temperature which could negatively affect the study results. Similarly, this constant flow rate also helped to avoid any temperature loss and unintentional cooling effects after a short period of time. The rate was also selected to be in alignment with the physical properties of human skin which typically adapts to the temperature of the actuator in between 2 s to 5 s depending on the applied temperature differences.

⁶ https://www.unity.com/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

However, while this reduced flow and temperature change rate were intentionally achieved through the pressure regulation valve, it is possible to accelerate those rates through an overdriving of the valve for future experiments.

7.5.4.2 Safety Measurements

Each component used was checked multiple times to ensure high reliability and maximum safety standards. All electronic and power switching components were operated at most at 12 V and were connected to physical- and software-based emergency switches to turn off the system immediately in case of any malfunction. Both water supplies were secured behind separate mechanical and electronic solenoid valves, whereas the latter automatically stopped any flow when unpowered (NORMALLY-CLOSED VALVES). The temperature reaching a user was always limited as the mechanical bimetallic mixing valve never allowed too high or too cold temperatures. Further, before a user was using THERMINATOR, all actuators, the connecting tubes, and every other component were tested to quickly identify potential flaws or leakages within the system.

7.6 User study and methodology



This section presents the methodology of a controlled experiment assessing the interdependency between visual and thermal stimuli. The THERMINATOR prototype was used to provide the different temperature sensations, while users were *inside* a VR environment to experience different visual stimuli. In particular, the user study investigated the following research questions:

- RQ1. How does the interdependency of thermal and visual stimuli affect the perceived temperature?
- RQ2. How do the thermal and visual stimuli affect the involvement of users?
- RQ₃. How do the thermal and visual stimuli affect the comfort of users?

7.6.1 Design and Task

The study was performed as a within-subjects design. The conditions varied the THERMAL STIMULI, the VISUAL STIMULI in VR, and the actuated BODY PART as the three independent variable (IV) in a repeated-measures design. In total, five thermal stimuli, five visual STIMULI, and two body parts were considered for the experiment, which resulted in $5 \times 5 \times 2 = 50$ conditions. The order of the THERMAL and visual stimuli was counterbalanced using a Balanced Latin Square design, while the order of the body part was always first the arm and then the abdomen or vice-versa. In the following, all IV are described in detail.

7.6.1.1 Thermal Stimuli

The THERMAL STIMULI varied five levels of applied temperature, centered around the mean neutral temperature of the human skin between 30 °C-36 °C [Par14; JH08]. To identify a proper neutral THERMAL STIMU-LUS used as the baseline, the epidermis temperature (*outermost layer of the skin*) of five individuals at a constant room temperature of 23 °C was measured at different times. As the surface skin temperatures of the test individuals always ranged between 31 °C and 33.5 °C, the neutral THER-MAL STIMULUS was defined as its average at 32.5 °C. The pain threshold of the human for temperature was carefully taken into account when defining the upper and lower bounds for the THERMAL STIMULI [JH08; GOH16]. As such, the temperatures were varied in 5 °C steps, resulting in 22.5 °C, 27.5 °C, 32.5 °C, 37.5 °C, and 42.5 °C.

7.6.1.2 Visual Stimuli



Figure 7.6: Five different VISUAL STIMULI based on their expected temperature from cold to hot. The Figure shows from left to right: very cold snow, cold rain cloud, a neutral stimulus with no visualization, warm heating lamp, hot fire.

The VISUAL STIMULI should incorporate different thermal mental models of users and be close to expected temperatures. As mentioned before, Fenko et al. [FSH10] classified the temperature expectations into their LITERAL MEANING that aligns with the physical warmness, and their FIGURATIVE MEANING related to "social activity, intimacy, and friendly atmosphere".

Therefore, to identify fitting visualizations that suggested different temperature expectations of users, informal interviews were conducted with seven individuals. All of them were asked about objects, entities, and situations in which they have different expectations about thermal appearances. Further, commonly used visualizations were observed from related work.

In each interview, the interviewees provided up to 20 different entities that propagate different temperatures. Based on those, they were then asked to describe and sort the expected temperatures of each on a continuous scale ranging from *very cold* to *very hot*. The resulting lists were then annotated with regard to their frequency of mentions and compared with their occurrences in related work. Matching entities, such as fire and flames or ice and snow, were grouped into one item according to similarities.

In a final step, the four most commonly mentioned items clustered into varying temperature expectations were ranked on a temperature scale (*very cold, cool, warm, very hot*). In addition, NO VISUAL STIMULUS was defined as the neutral baseline. As a result, this process led to the following five VISUAL STIMULI: a very cold SNOWFALL, a cold RAIN CLOUD, NO VISUALIZATION as neutral stimulus, a warm HEAT LAMP, and a hot BURNING FIRE. All five VISUAL STIMULI are depicted in Figure 7.6.

During the user study, those five different types of visualization were additionally altering the color temperature of the virtual room to 4500 K for warmer VISUAL STIMULI and 9500 K for colder VISUAL STIMULI. The neutral visual stimulus and between conditions, the color temperature reset to a neutral point of 6800 K. To avoid cross-effects of audio influencing the visual or THERMAL STIMULI, no visualization included any sound effects.





Figure 7.7: A user wearing both, the abdomen and arm actuators. Green lines indicate the location of each thermally conductive PE-RT tube on the abdomen and pink lines on the arm. Gray lines indicate the flexible PVC tubes that connect each PE-RT tube with the main system.

For the experiment, two body parts were considered as IV: 1) the AB-DOMEN and 2) RIGHT ARM. Both body parts cover a large part of the human body surface and, as such, have a large influence on the human thermal sensation [GOH16]. Moreover, while similar in surface size, both represent largely different anatomical properties which made an investigation of them particularly interesting. The abdomen resembles a central part of the human body and has a major influence on thermal comfort [AZH06]. The abdomen is typically covered evenly with a layer of fatty tissue on a larger surface that is very flexible as it lacks skeletal structures. The shape and form are mainly altered caused by the bending of the torso or by the rotation of the pelvis. In contrast, the right arm has a completely different anatomy and consists of an upper and lower part that is cylindrically shaped and predominantly stiff. Also, the temperature is perceived differently compared to other body parts [GOH16]. As both body parts have different anatomical properties, the actuators for them were carefully designed to ensure comparability between the arm and abdomen. Both actuators consisted of exactly 8 PE-RT tubes with a length of 15 cm and a spacing of 5 cm each. This allowed covering a comparable surface contact with a user's body to transmit the same amount of thermal energy. Figure 7.7 depicts a user wearing one actuator on the right arm and one actuator on the abdomen.

7.6.1.4 Task and Dependent Variables (DV)

To assess the influence of the THERMAL and VISUAL STIMULI as well as the actuated body part, the participants were situated in a VR environment. Hereby, the participants were simultaneously exposed to a combination of a visual and THERMAL STIMULUS at one of the given body parts until all possible combinations were presented. Each condition was presented for a total of 25 s once the target temperature was reached.

After each condition, the participants had to answer a questionnaire consisting of four questions using individual scales which represented the dependent variable (DV). The questions were targeted at the temperature rating of the THERMAL STIMULI, the thermal comfort, and the participants' involvement with regards to the thermal and VISUAL STIM-ULI. The first two items were based on previous studies by Arens et al. [AZHo6] and directly investigate the temperature and comfort perception of participants. The latter two are based on the Witmer-Singer questionnaire [WS98] as derived by previous work done by Peiris et al. [Pei+17].

- Q1. HOW DO YOU RATE THE THERMAL SENSATION? A 9-Points scale ranging from *very cold* to *very hot*.
- Q2. HOW DO YOU RATE THE THERMAL COMFORT?

A 6-Points scale ranging from *very comfortable* to *very uncomfortable*. As suggested by related work, there was no *neutral* level and the participants had to answer at least *just comfortable* or *just uncomfortable*.

Q3. HOW MUCH DID THE VISUAL ASPECTS INVOLVE YOU?

A 7-Points scale ranging from *not involved at all* to *completely involved*. Q4. HOW MUCH DID THE THERMAL ASPECTS INVOLVE YOU? A 7-Points scale ranging from *not involved at all* to *completely involved*.

In a final questionnaire, the participants were asked to rate the overall experience of thermal feedback in VR on a 7-Points scale and provide qualitative feedback to the experimenter.

7.6.2 Study Setup and Apparatus



Figure 7.8: Stylized view of a participant in the Virtual Reality environment during the study. The top images depict the visualizations appearing on the arm, the lower images on the abdomen. The visualization are from left to right: Snow, Rain, Neutral, Heatlamp, and Fire.

The setup for the user study used a state-of-the-art VR setup (*Valve Index*) to render a high-quality virtual environment. Participants were asked to sit in a regular armchair wearing the Head-Mounted Display (HMD) and the two actuators for the abdomen and arm. Further, participants also were asked to wear a provided long-sleeve shirt (100% cotton, 140 g/m^2) without other clothing under it to reduce any side effects due to different clothing and fabrics. Therefore, different sizes were provided to ensure the shirts fit tightly but do not constrain the participants in any way. For hygienic reasons, the shirts were washed regularly between two participants, and a separate designated dressing area was set up in another room to ensure full privacy.

Besides the actuators and HMD, participants were also equipped with two hand-held controllers and one additional VR tracker (*HTC Vive Tracker 2.0*) on each foot. This allowed for a more realistic depiction of the user immersed within the VR environment as limb movements were represented virtually. Therefore, inverse-kinematic was used and the VR scene showed the model of a gender-neutral human (designed

with *MakeHuman*⁷) resting on a physical look-a-like armchair from the ego-perspective to provide a high level of detail.

As the experiment was focusing on the predefined thermal and **VISUAL STIMULI**, other stimuli that could interfere with the study were tried to be minimized. Therefore, the participants were situated in a large and neutral room in VR with dimmed lights and no specific details or furniture besides the armchair and a large screen in front of them. As mentioned before, the chair was used to locate the participant, while the large screen was only turned on after each condition to show the items of the questionnaire (see Section 7.6.1.4). The question on the virtual screen could be answered with the handheld controllers. To reduce distracting influences from the outside world, such as environmental noise, the participants wear situated in a lab with restricted access and had to wear the headphones of the HMD. Those were used for noise-cancellation and to provide neutral ambient music during the experiment which is well suited for concentration tasks [HHW14] at relaxing 60 bpm (*beats per minute*).

The participants were asked to stay within the virtual environment for the complete duration of the experiment besides a short break when switching body parts. However, they always could take breaks or stop the experiment at any time if needed. Though, none of the participants made use of optional breaks. Figure 7.8 shows a participant during the experiment while exposed to all five VISUAL STIMULI for the arm and abdomen.

7.6.3 Procedure

BEFORE THE STUDY: The participants were welcomed and introduced to the THERMINATOR system and concepts behind it. All necessary details were disclosed and the goal of the study was described. They were informed that all collected data, including personal information, were anonymized and used only for the experiment. Once the participant agreed and had no further initial questions, they were asked to fill out a demographic questionnaire, a consent form, and a privacy protection form.

⁷ http://www.makehumancommunity.org/ (accessed March 01, 2022)
Then, the participants were provided with long sleeve shirts of a fitting size and guided to the changing room. Afterward, when the participants returned, they were asked to sit down on the provided armchair and the experimenter assisted with putting on both actuators and mounting the additional trackers on their feet. When ready, participants had to put on the HMD and the hand-held controllers were given to them. Once the participants were comfortable, the study started with the first condition in a counterbalanced order.

DURING THE STUDY: The study either started with the abdomen or right arm as the first actuated body part. However, for both conditions, all combinations of the five visual and five THERMAL STIMULI WERE presented in a counterbalanced order. When the participants were ready, the first condition started. For each condition, the thermal mixing valve had to be adjusted to the target temperature. Once the system reached the target temperature, an additional countdown of 5s started to provide enough time for the heat or coldness to be transmitted to the participant's body. After those 5s, the current VISUAL STIMULUS was appearing and was located on the respective body part for another precisely 25 s. Then, the VISUAL STIMULUS was removed and the temperature of the system was reset to the neutral 32.5 °C again. The illumination of the VR room returned to the default state and the questionnaire was displayed on the virtual screen. To answer the questionnaire, the participants were asked to use the hand-held controller for their input. After answering all items, the next condition started.

Once all conditions for one body part were finished, the participants had to take a 5-minute break where they could put off the HMD and relax, until the study continued with the other body part. That being said, all participants were allowed to freely look around or move their arms and legs while remaining seated and being asked to not get up. Further, the participants were also invited to provide verbal feedback at any time.

AFTER THE STUDY: After completing all conditions, the experimenter helped the participants to take off the actuators before they were asked to change their clothes again in the separate clothing room. In a semi-structured interview and a post-questionnaire, the participants were asked for additional qualitative feedback, ideas, and comments. Overall, the whole procedure took about 90 minutes per participant.

7.6.4 Participants

In total, 25 individuals participated in the study (12 female, 13 male). All of them were between 20 and 55 years (M=30.28, SD=8.6). 9 of them had little or no experience with VR while 13 had minor experiences. Three participants stated to be regular or experienced VR users. Besides snacks and drinks, no compensation was provided.

7.7 RESULTS

In the following, the results of the controlled experiment are reported. At the beginning of the section, details of the analysis methods are given, followed by the quantitative analysis and qualitative feedback of the participants.

7.7.1 Analysis

For analyzing the data, a non-parametric analysis using a 3-way repeated-measures ANOVA was used. Since the questionnaires collected non-continuous data, the Aligned Rank Transform (ART) as proposed by Wobbrock et al. [Wob+11] was used to identify interaction effects. If the analysis revealed significant effects, a Tukey corrected pairwise t-test for posthoc analysis was performed. All effect sizes are reported as partial eta-squared η_p^2 using Cohen's classification [Coh88; Ric11]. Further, because of the ordinal nature of the data, the medians \tilde{x} of the results are reported.

7.7.1.1 Q1 Perceived Temperature

The analysis with regards to the perceived temperature showed significant effects for the visual with a large effect size ($F_{4,92} = 13.36, p < .001$, $\eta_p^2 = .37$). Post-hoc tests confirmed significant differences between al-



Figure 7.9: The results of the participants' responses to the perceived temperatures in a heatmap matrix visualization. The X-axis shows the five different THERMAL STIMULI in degrees Celsius, the Y-axis is the five VISUAL STIMULI. The big numbers indicate the median ratings, the numbers in brackets the minimum and maximum. The colors indicate a lower (blue) or higher (red) perceived temperature.

most all VISUAL STIMULI (ice-rain, p <.001; ice-heatlamp, p <.001; ice-fire, p <.001; rain-none, p <.05; heatlamp-none, p <.05; fire-none, p <.001). The analysis also identified significant effects for the THERMAL STIMULI with a large effect size ($F_{4,92} = 347.79$, p <.001, $\eta_p^2 =.94$). Here, the post-hoc tests confirmed significant differences between every THERMAL STIMULUS (all p <.001).

Further, the analysis indicated significant effects for the body part ($F_{1,23} = 5.1, p < .05$, $\eta_p^2 = .18$) which are confirmed by the posthoc tests (*arm-abdomen*, p < .05). Significant interaction effects were also revealed between THERMAL STIMULI and body part ($F_{4,92} = 7.06, p < .001$, $\eta_p^2 = .23$) with a large effect size. Figure 7.9 depicts the medians for each condition, including the minimum and maximum ratings. While the medians for each temperature level are mostly identical, the VISUAL STIMULI affect the distribution of the ratings.

7.7.1.2 Q2 Perceived Comfort

The analysis revealed significant effects of the THERMAL STIMULI on the perceived comfort with a large effect size ($F_{4,92} = 25.57$, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .53$). Post-hoc tests confirmed significant differences between all temperature levels besides 27.5-42.5, 32.5-37.5, and 32.5-42.5 (all p < .001). Further, the given feedback of the participants indicate that extreme temperature



How comfortable did you find the temperature?



tures closer to the cold and hot pain thresholds have a negative impact on the participants' level of comfort (22.5 °C: both body parts $\tilde{x} = 2$ uncomfortable, 27.5 °C: both body parts $\tilde{x} = 3$ -slighty uncomfortable, 32.5 °C: both body parts $\tilde{x} = 4$ -slighty comfortable, 37.5 °C: arm $\tilde{x} = 4.5$ -(very) comfortable and abdomen $\tilde{x} = 4$ -comfortable, 42.5 °C: arm $\tilde{x} = 3$ slightly uncomfortable and abdomen $\tilde{x} = 4$ -comfortable). While there were no significant effects for the body part or the visualization, the analysis revealed significant interaction effects between the **THERMAL STIMULI** and body part with a large effect size ($F_{4,92} = 4.94, p <.01$, $\eta_p^2 =.17$), as depicted in Figure 7.10.

7.7.1.3 Q3 Involvement of Visual Stimuli

The analysis of the visual stimuli involvement on the perceived temperature showed significant differences for the visualization with a large effect size ($F_{4,92} = 85.31, p < .001$, $\eta_p^2 = .79$). Post-hoc tests confirmed significant differences between all levels and the neutral visualization for the visual stimuli (all p < .001).

There were significant effects with a medium effect size for the Thermal STIMULI ($F_{4,92} = 3.22, p < .05, \eta_p^2 = .12$). Post-hoc tests further con-



Figure 7.11: The results of the participants' responses to the visual involvement in a heatmap matrix visualization. The X-axis shows the five different THERMAL STIMULI in degrees Celsius, the Y-axis is the five VISUAL STIMULI. The big numbers indicate the median ratings, the numbers in brackets the minimum and maximum.

firmed significant differences between $(27.5 \degree \text{C}-37.5 \degree \text{C}, p .<05 \text{ and} 27.5 \degree \text{C}-42.5 \degree \text{C}, p .<05)$.

The analysis also revealed significant interaction effects between visual and THERMAL STIMULI with a large effect size ($F_{16,268} = 23.18, p < .001$, $\eta_p^2 = .50$), which are depicted in Figure 7.11. In addition, the minimum and maximum ratings given for each condition were included. No significant effects with regards to the body part could be identified ($F_{1,23} = 11.81, p > .05$).

7.7.1.4 Q4 Involvement of Thermal Stimuli

With regards to the involvement of the THERMAL STIMULI on the perceived temperature, the analysis revealed significant effects with a large effect size ($F_{4,92} = 19.24$, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .46$). The post-hoc tests confirmed significant differences between the majority of the temperature levels (22.5 °C-27.5 °C, 22.5 °C-32.5 °C, 27.5 °C-37.5 °C, 27.5 °C-42.5 °C, 32.5 °C-37.5 °C, and 32.5 °C-42.5 °C; all p < .001).

Interestingly, the analysis revealed significant differences for the visualization ($F_{4,92} = 13.38, p < .001$, $\eta_p^2 = .37$) and could confirm interaction effects between visual and THERMAL STIMULI with a large effect size ($F_{16,368} = 14.41, p < .001$, $\eta_p^2 = .39$). As depicted in Figure 7.12, the median rating as well as the minimum and maximum ratings show



Figure 7.12: The results of the participants' responses to the thermal involvement in a heatmap matrix visualization. The X-axis shows the five different THERMAL STIMULI in degrees Celsius, the Y-axis is the five VISUAL STIMULI. The big numbers indicate the median ratings, the numbers in brackets the minimum and maximum.

differences with regards to the presented visuals. Additionally, the analysis revealed significant differences for the body part with a large effect size ($F_{1,23} = 14.78, p <.001, \eta_p^2 =.39$). Post-hoc tests confirmed significant differences between *arm* and *abdomen* (p <.001).

7.7.2 Post-Questionnaire: Overall Experience

The results of the post-questionnaire showed that the majority of participants generally agreed on a very positive experience ($\tilde{x} = 6, 7$ -Points scale).

7.7.3 Qualitative Feedback

In alignment with the post-questionnaire, the consensus of the participants was very positive and is further underlined by the qualitative feedback. The participants described the THERMINATOR concepts as "*interesting idea*" (P1, P22), "*funny simulation*" (P24), and "*cool idea with great potential*" (P21). One participant reported it was a great experience to dive into a virtual world with thermal feedback (P19). P20 highlighted the "*different and rapidly changing temperature possibilities*", while P10 remarked that the appearance of the VISUAL STIMULI was very well synchronized.

The general consensus was that the THERMAL STIMULI felt "realistic" (P14), "especially at very high or low temperatures" (P9). The provided temperatures were "very well recognizable" (P14). While P10 said that all temperatures were "very pleasant and did not feel disturbing at all", most participants described the warmer stimuli as preferable (P7, P9, P11, P17, P18), and more distinguishable than the colder ones (P10). As the quantitative analysis confirmed, participants perceived cold temperatures generally as more unpleasant (P2, P17, P19, P20). Yet, two participants stated the system could even provide colder temperatures (P4, P10), and one participant also asked for "more heat while burning" (P24).

The 3D models of the **VISUAL STIMULI** were minimalistic, and their appearance was based on the thermal expectations of users. Participants, therefore, described the visualizations as "appropriate and fitting for the experience" (P4). In particular, a larger number emphasized the effects and the "immersive experience when the perceived temperature corresponds to the expectations from the visual and personal experiences" (P3, P5, P12). For example, P24 stated that "it felt more realistic if the thermal feedback matched". One participant (P25) even explained that they "have goosebumps during the snow effect while perceiving a cold temperature". Yet, on the other side during conditions where a **VISUAL STIMULUS** did not match the expected **THERMAL STIMULUS**, participants felt "more uncomfortable or uncanny" (P24, P1, P8), as the "discrepancy between perceived and visually expected temperature was too high" (P23).

Taking a look at VISUAL STIMULI, participants were typically able to interpret them very well to different levels of anticipated temperatures (P4). However, although all visualizations were carefully selected concerning their different temperature expectations, participants showed two different conceptions of the raincloud visualization. While the original intention was a colder rainy day with a rain shower, some participants were more "*reminded of a warm shower*" (P11). Also, two participants mentioned that the overall visualizations could have shown more "*wow effects*" (P14, P16). However, this was intentionally avoided since this could have interferences and might be too distracting from the actual experiment. For future improvements, participants suggested that "the experience may be enhanced by appropriate sound effects" (P15, P20), which were intentionally omitted to avoid cross-effects with aural stimuli. While no questions during the experiment were directly asking for the wearing comfort of the actuators, no participant reported negative impacts that go further than already having the cable of the HMD attached. However, this was also not reported as problematic since the experiment was completely conducted while participants had to sit in the armchair. To summarize, the additional feedback supported the quantitative findings and helped to better understand them.

7.8 DISCUSSION

The results of the questionnaires and the additional feedback could show interdependencies and interaction effects between thermal and visual stimuli. In particular, mismatches between an expected and the actual temperature lead to interesting results which are discussed in the following.

7.8.1 Thermal Stimuli Overwrite Visual Stimuli

The analysis of the data revealed significant effects on the perceived temperature. Taking a closer look at the median results of Q1 (see Figure 7.9), the thermal stimuli still had the highest influence on the perceived temperature. For example, even a fire visualization was perceived as cold when a cold thermal stimulus was provided. Similarly, the snow visualization did not feel cold when a warm thermal stimulus was applied.

While this very dominant result was not expected to this degree, it highlights the importance of thermal stimuli for more realistic experiences. However, the results also showed that visual stimuli are not completely neglected. In particular, two things have to be investigated in more detail: the perceived temperature 1) at non-matching stimuli, and 2) at a neutral thermal stimulus.

Considering non-matching stimuli, such as the *fire* visualization at 22.5 °C or the *snow* visualization at 42.5 °C, only marginal effects com-

pared to matching conditions could be observed. However, taking the distribution of the perceived temperature ratings into account, a trend to more broadened minima and maxima for non-matching stimuli was found. Further, with regards to the neutral thermal stimulus (32.5 °C), the influence of visualizations on the perceived temperatures was more visible. For example, the *fire* visualization has a significantly higher temperature rating than the *snow* visualization which indicates that a purely visual stimulus without thermal stimulus can influence the perceived temperature of participants.

However, supported by the qualitative feedback (see Section 7.7.3), the temperature expectations of visualizations need to be considered as well. Even though the five visualizations with different temperature expectations were carefully selected before conducting the experiment, the *raincloud* visualization was interpreted as *warm shower* rather than *cold raindrops*.

For future VR applications, immersion, presence, and realism might largely benefit from thermal feedback as visualizations alone are not able to stimulate the THERMOCEPTION in the same quality as without, even though the effects of visualizations in combination with thermal stimuli can never be completely neglected.

7.8.2 Congruent Stimuli Increase Involvement

The experiment revealed significant effects concerning the involvement of the visualizations and thermal stimuli. The analysis revealed that the more closely temperature expectations of a visualization and the actual thermal stimulus were, the higher the involvement of each participant was. Interestingly, those involvement ratings of the visual and thermal stimuli were expected to be completely opposing. For example, considering a *snow* visualization with a warm thermal stimulus of 42.5 °C, the initial assumption was that the visual stimuli would be more involving than the thermal ones. However, both leveled on a similarly low rating ($\tilde{x} = 2$) and the opposite effect was observed: More matching stimuli that fitted the expectations of participants increased the median ratings for the involvement of both stimuli. This effect is depicted in the lower left and upper right quadrants of Figure 7.11 and Figure 7.12). Further, participants described during their qualitative feedback that matching

stimuli felt more involving compared to non-matching combinations which sometimes were perceived as uncanny or surreal.

When applying a neutral visual stimulus (*no visualization*), the results confirmed no involvement for the visualization as expected. However, considering the involvement of the thermal stimuli, similar low median ratings for all levels as for visual stimuli that did not match the expectations could be observed. As a consequence, even though thermal stimuli had a major impact on the perceived temperature (see Section 7.8.1), they only slightly affected the involvement if there was no visual stimulus given.

Focusing on the actuated part of the body, the experiment only indicated significant differences for the thermal involvement but not for visualizations. This might result from the fact that temperature expectations of visualizations often apply to the whole body instead of single body parts. However, further investigation would be necessary to give a precise answer to this.

7.8.3 Comfort depends on Thermal Stimuli

Comfort is highly important for the acceptance of a system and the stimuli. The experiment showed significant effects with temperatures that are closer to the neutral skin temperature $(32.5 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$ and slightly warmer temperatures $(37.5 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$ as they felt more comfortable. Contrary, temperatures in the close range to the minimum and maximum were mostly perceived as uncomfortable (see Figure 7.10). However, as the experiment limited the thermal stimuli to a range between 22.5 °C to 42.5 °C to avoid any pain sensations, most participants reported that the warmest stimulus at 42.5 °C still felt comfortable and pleasant, thus, could be even warmer. In contrast, the coldest stimulus (22.5 °C), which was about 10 °C lower than the neutral skin temperature [JH08; Par14] and approximated the pain threshold of 17 °C [HWG52; HD99], was often described as very chill and almost completely was rated as uncomfortable. Although the intervals of temperature changes were always of the same size of \pm 5 °C and \pm 10 °C respectively, the experiment revealed that cold stimuli were typically perceived as more intense than higher temperatures which is also in alignment with existing research [SC98]. In addition, the analysis revealed significant differences in the level of comfort between the body parts. Supporting existing research [SC98], limbs are generally better in their THERMOCEPTION compared to the abdomen which perceives temperature with less sensitivity.

7.9 EXAMPLE APPLICATIONS

Besides investigating the mutual interaction between visual and thermal stimuli where participants were situated in a resting position on a chair, example applications were created to see how users would behave while having the ability to move. Further, the example applications can provide insight for future scenarios. In this section, we highlight three different use cases, where thermal haptic feedback can enhance an immersive and engaging VR experience.



Figure 7.13: Three example applications showcasing situations for the usefulness of thermal feedback: a) a firefighting simulation, b) a hot tropical game environment, and c) a challenging snowball game in a cold landscape.

7.9.1 Firefighting Simulation

Crisis simulation and training environments are emerging scenarios for VR. For example, emergency forces, such as firefighters or firstresponders, can train their abilities and perform rescue operations within realistic but harmless and safe environments (e.g., [Sha+19]). In the application described here, the user also takes the role of a firefighter who is located in a building that is on fire (see Figure 7.13 a). As a task, the user has to extinguish all flames to stop the fire from spreading.

The **THERMINATOR** system is used to simulate the heat coming from the flames to increase the realism towards real-world training. During the

whole simulation, a warm stimulus occurs on the abdomen of the user and the temperature increases the closer the user stands next to a fire source. However, the user can use the game controller as a fire hose and the temperature will decrease the more flames are extinguished. Once all flames are successfully cleared, the temperature will return to a neutral stimulus.

7.9.2 Pirates in the Sun

The second application aimed to provide varying thermal stimuli on the arm and abdomen at the same time. Hereby, the user is supposed to be a pirate at the beach of an isolated tropical island as depicted in Figure 7.13 b. All around the island and in the shallow water are hidden treasures in form of precious gems that the player has to find. To obtain them, the player needs to track sparkling spots in the surroundings and dig for them using the game controller.

While the task is relatively easy, the thermal feedback is used to give a sense of the tropical and humid environment at high temperatures. **THERMINATOR's** abdomen actuator is used to warm up the player's body when walking in the sun, and to cool down a bit when spending some time in the shades of the palm trees. The arm actuator, in contrast, is lowering the temperature on the arm intensively when the player reaches out for a gem in the water. This combines two different stimuli at the same time: a warm overall body temperature and a cold arm resulting from the water. As a side effect, the combination of a cold stimulus and the water visuals, a sense of liquid on the arm can be observed, similar to [PCM18; SS16]. However, further studies are needed to fully understand how much this affects the realism and overall experience.

7.9.3 Angry Snowman

The last example application should demonstrate sudden temperature changes in the body. In contrast to the first two applications, the user is located in an already cold snow-covered landscape which is the home to an enchanted snowman (depicted in Figure 7.13 c). Unfortunately, the snowman does not appreciate guests in his realm and starts to throw snowballs at the player. The player can evade them by freely

moving around the scenery and counteract by throwing snowballs back. However, if the player gets hit, the system cools down the abdomen and recovers slowly until it reaches a more neutral temperature again. When the player is holding a snowball in his hand, the arm experiences a cooling sensation that may recede when a snowball is thrown.

7.10 LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE WORK

THERMINATOR demonstrated how thermal haptic feedback can be realized using liquids and investigated the interdependency between visual and on-body thermal feedback. Alongside the mentioned benefits, limitations remain, offering an opportunity for future work.

7.10.1 Other Body Parts

For the experiment, the focus was on two body parts with different properties, namely the abdomen and arm. However, as discussed earlier, other body parts should be considered as well to identify if similar body parts behave similarly, such as the legs, back, or head, or if system changes are necessary. For example, thermal stimuli on the face could be perceived as more intense than for the rest of the body as the thermal response varies for different regions of the body [GOH16].

Furthermore, to exclude possible cross effects, both body parts were investigated separately. Yet, it is not clarified how users perceive the temperature feedback on different body parts at the same time. For example, actuating individual body parts alongside different thermal stimuli from several actuators could result in similar effects as the thermal grill illusion [CB94].

7.10.2 Other Visual Stimuli and Combinations

The visual stimuli for the experiment were carefully selected resembling five different levels with regard to users' temperature expectations. While those were mostly seen by the participants as intended, the RAINCLOUD visualization was sometimes perceived differently as some participants were reminded of a warmer shower instead of cold raindrops.

As the visualizations represented only a small selection of the imaginable spectrum of temperature-prone images, it would be interesting to also investigate other visual stimuli and combinations of them at the same time. Similar to simultaneously actuating multiple body parts, a mix of visual and thermal stimuli can yield further insightful results.

7.10.3 Wearability and Sustainability

The wearability is currently limited as it was not the main focus of this work. However, it was considered in the discourse about the THERMI-NATOR concept throughout its design process. During the experiment, users did not describe the tubes as restricting any further than the regular HMD cables. However, this was probably less of an issue since the participants were seated for the whole duration. Further, during the three example applications, while not systematically evaluated, users seemed to move around mostly unconstrained, similar to the scenarios investigated in the second study of Chapter 8.

At the moment, the system relies on external sources of water with a high throughput of liquids. For example, this could be reduced in a future version by having a full reusable circle of the liquids in a closed system, similar to Goetz et al. [GOC20] that used smaller chambers with heating and cooling capabilities. Mobility could be further improved by making the system more compact. Further, a pressure-based approach with smaller amounts of liquids in a backpack or hidden in a suit could be promising. Though, this would require more power-demanding heating and cooling units to keep the system fast enough for situations with rapid temperature changes.

As a beneficial side-effect, reducing the required flow would also increase the sustainability of the prototype. While some of the re-flux during the experiments was already reused if the output temperature was at least at 32 °C, the colder outflows could not be recirculated, as this would either cool down the boiler considerably or heat the cold water source temperatures higher than the lowest thermal stimulus. However, excess (cold) water could be re-collected to increase sustainability. For example, it was partly used for watering plants in the institute and the

landscaped areas outside the building during the summer, where the study took place.

7.10.4 User Acceptance and Use-Cases outside the Lab

The main intentions of the experiment were to investigate the feasibility of a liquid-based thermal display and how visual and thermal stimuli mutually interact with each other. While this chapter already presented three demonstration applications of how such a system can be embedded into real-world scenarios, the prototypical system remained less wearable as discussed in the previous section. However, future systems require a strong user acceptance to deploy such concepts for other scenarios, such as supporting training environments, weather simulations, or rehabilitative therapies that would need a life-like representation of temperature. Although those additional developments are highly interesting and this chapter provides a broad but detailed overview of thermal feedback, a future miniaturization process and following studies on the acceptance are beyond the scope of this work.

7.11 CONCLUSION

In this chapter, the importance of thermal feedback in the context of somatosensory interaction was highlighted. The elaborated concepts based on a systematic analysis of related work formed the foundation for the development of a novel prototypical system based on the thermal conduction of fluids. Using this approach, interactive applications can recreate the environment in a more immersive and detailed way, allowing users not only to see and hear virtual worlds but also to perceive the thermal properties.

Additionally, in the presented user study, these concepts were examined in more depth to better understand the influences of thermal stimuli on visual stimuli and vice versa. Participants were presented with combinations of different thermal and visual stimuli, which at times were more and at times less matching. It was found that temperature perception was more influenced by thermal than by visual stimuli. Still, visual stimuli also influenced the temperature perception and were able to slightly shift the sensory response. At the same time, although cold thermal stimuli were more unpleasant, the combination of incongruent thermal and visual stimuli showed a measurable decrease in comfort, whereas a matching sensation could particularly increase the participants' involvement.

In summary, this underlines the importance of considering the full spectrum of somatosensory interaction, including the presented THERMO-CEPTION, for a lifelike simulation and stimulation of physical properties in virtual environments.

Part IV

PROPRIOCEPTION AND KINESTHESIA

8	Proprioception and Kinesthesia							
	8.1	Chapter Structure	185					
	8.2 Requirements and Related Work							
	8.3	Kinesthetic Actuators: Concepts	191					
	8.4	PneumAct System	194					
	8.5	User Study I - Methodology	198					
	8.6	User Study I - Results	203					
	8.7	Example Applications	208					
	8.8	User Study II - Methodology	2 11					
	8.9	User Study II - Results	214					
	8.10 Discussion on Kinesthetic Feedback in syr							
		ergy with Vibrotactile Actuation	218					
	8.11	Limitations and Future Work	218					
	8.12	Conclusion	220					

8

PROPRIOCEPTION: KINESTHETIC ACTUATION OF THE BODY



The previous chapters have examined parts of the somatosensory system that represent direct touch and contacts that were mostly affected by external stimuli. Although these stimuli can be perceived as continuous movements along the body (cf. Chapter 6), another part of the somatosensory system is the sensation to determine the spatial position and motion of individual body parts, the so-called PROPRIOCEPTION. Therefore, the PROPRIOCEPTION, and KINESTHESIA respectively [Tayo9], is responsible for perceiving the own position of the body by static forces, such as gravity, on the muscles, joints, and tendons, but also the motion by dynamic forces [PG12; Tayo9; Dou97]. As such, "PROPRIOCEPTION is critical for maintaining posture and balance" (Dougherty [Dou97], Sec. 2.1).

However, to explicitly trigger PROPRIOCEPTION, especially for perceiving the motion of a body part, it is necessary to elicit *kinesthetic* feedback which will be the focus of this chapter. While the previous Chapter 5 on PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION already introduced concepts for more intense actuations, this chapter uses a similar pneumatic-based approach but to explicitly move body parts through external forces. For example, when users in a virtual environment should be actively moved in response to the environment (*dynamic forces*). This can range from smaller notification-like actuations to guide attention, to stronger forces

that move the user's entire body, such as a "grab and pull" of another (virtual) person or environmental forces such as strong headwinds or explosions. Likewise, it is also essential to reproduce *static forces*, for example, to provide a counterweight when the user wants to pick up a virtual object. Further, it can be also differed between a more rough actuation that is particularly useful for sudden actions (also in form of active warnings in hazardous situations), recoil, resistance, and movements in general and a more precise but subtle actuation that would result in more exact motions. While both concepts are useful, this work focuses on the rougher actuation fitting the demands of VR applications, and as this also reduces safety risks since users can safely counteract an actuation.

"Typically, a haptic interface stimulates cutaneous and kinesthetic sensory channels through force feedback that varies depending on a user's limb movements."

🔘 G. Robles-De-La-Torre, 2006 [Robo6]

This chapter, therefore, investigates how *static* positions and *dynamic* forces for Proprioception can be achieved through a kinesthetic actuation. First, requirements and concepts for the actuators are discussed, which are capable of contracting and stretching different body parts at their joints through external forces. In a second step, these concepts were implemented in a prototypical system, called PNEUMACT, based on pneumatic actuation and investigated in a first study to determine their influence on the angle between the upper and lower arm at the elbow joint under different actuations. In particular, different inflation durations and patterns were examined, and how pronounced the influences on the arm movement of the 24 participants were. Subsequently, three VR sample applications were designed, which could represent the different static and dynamic forces in specific scenarios, i.e., two entertainment applications and an exergame. On this basis, a second user study was conducted in which 12 participants were asked to compare the active kinesthetic feedback concerning immersion, realism, and enjoyment with state-of-the-art controller-based vibrations and a no haptics baseline.

This chapter is based on the following publication:

Sebastian Günther, Mohit Makhija, Florian Müller, Dominik Schön, Max Mühlhäuser, and Markus Funk. "PneumAct: Pneumatic Kinesthetic Actuation of Body Joints in Virtual Reality Environments." In: *Proceedings of the 2019 on Designing Interactive Systems Conference*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, June 2019, pp. 227–240. ISBN: 9781450358507. DOI: 10.1145/3322276.3322302

Contribution Statement: I led the idea creation, concept design, implementation, performed the data analysis, and writing process. The former student *Mohit Makhija* supported building the initial pneumatic-based prototypes and supported the conduction of the user studies. The former student *Dominik Schön* supported the implementation of the Virtual Reality application of the second study. *Florian Müller* and *Markus Funk* consulted to and reviewed the design process, contributing with their experience, and also assisted with the statistical analysis of the data. *Max Mühlhäuser* supervised the project and writing process.

• Some contents of this chapter might contain verbatim parts of the aforementioned publication.

8.1 CHAPTER STRUCTURE

The remainder of this chapter is structured as follows: After the introduction, an overview of related research is given in Section 8.2.2. Based on this, concepts for kinesthetic feedback in order to trigger the **PROPRIOCEPTION** were derived and implemented in a prototypical system using a pneumatic approach (Sections 8.3 and 8.4). In a next step, the applicability of the systems were investigated in a first user study, showing the effects of different inflation durations and patterns (Sections 8.5 and 8.6). As proof-of-concept, three example applications were designed (Section 8.7) and deployed for a second user study that investigated the immersion, realism, and enjoyment when using kinesthetic feedback (Section 8.8). Section 8.11 further discusses the limitations of both studies together with potential future work. Section 8.12 summarizes and concludes the chapter.

8.2 REQUIREMENTS AND RELATED WORK

This section provides an overview of requirements for kinesthetic actuation related to Proprioception and Kinesthesia, followed by a review of relevant related work.

8.2.1 *Requirements*

REQP1. SUPPORT FOR DIFFERENT INTENSITIES

The intensity of a kinesthetic actuation should always adapt to the specific use case and preferably be as accurate as possible, which includes the intensity itself but also the duration of the actuation. Therefore, these properties must be adjustable, so that both, lighter and stronger feedback, becomes feasible.

REQP2. CONSIDER DIRECTION OF ACTUATION

A kinesthetic actuation always requires a direction in which a body part is moved. While some joints have many degrees of directional freedom, such as the shoulder, the elbow joint has only two possible directions, either in extension or contraction direction. Therefore, an actuation must always consider the range of possible directions of motion and degrees of freedom of a joint or body part.

REQP3. ADDRESS STATIC AND DYNAMIC FORCES

The PROPRIOCEPTION involves two sub-areas, namely static and dynamic forces, which are essential for body position and body movement. Therefore, any work must determine precisely which of the two areas should be addressed, or if they both should be covered.

REQP4. SUPPORT DIFFERENT BODY PARTS

As with all types of haptic interaction, the physical location of the body parts that will be actuated is important. Therefore, it should always be considered which body parts are required for a specific use case and how these can be brought into motion in a meaningful sense.

REQP5. SUPPORT DIFFERENT ENVIRONMENTS

Depending on the use case, the environment must also be taken into account. While kinesthetic actuation has been long known, for example, through exoskeletons that help users gain more strength in a work context or support rehabilitation progress, modern AR/VR environments can also benefit, where stimulating **PROPRIOCEPTION** can improve immersion, presence, and realism. Therefore, it is necessary to consider in which environment - real, augmented, or virtual - a kinesthetic actuation will be applied.

REQP6. SUPPORT FOR DIFFERENT DEVICES

Not only the actuation itself is important, but also the devices used to achieve kinesthetic actuation, for example through exoskeletons, EMS, or artificial muscles. For some applications, fixed setups are sufficient, while others have special requirements for wearability, such as in the context of AR/VR. Therefore, the kinesthetic actuation must be provided by compatible devices.

REQP7. BE AWARE OF PAIN THRESHOLDS

Kinesthetic actuations are usually stronger than other types of haptic feedback due to their ability to actively set the body in motion. Consequently, these actuations must be indeed powerful enough for their intended purpose, but neither too intense nor exceeding the natural limits of the human body to avoid causing pain or any harm.

8.2.2 Related Work

Kinesthetic Feedback that stimulates the PROPRIOCEPTION has a distinct role within the somatosensory system. While there exist several approaches that provide tactile stimuli that can be perceived and interpreted by users to achieve guidance or result in the movement of the body, such as done through the vibrotactile stimuli of TACTILEGLOVE in Chapter 4 and other motion guidance approaches related to traditional MECHANORECEPTION (cf. Section 4.3), the following focuses on active kinesthetic actuation through the use of (1) mechanical actuations, such as exoskeletons, (2) pneumatic actuation, such as Pneumatical Artifical Muscle (PAM), and (3) Electrical Muscle Stimulation (EMS). In addition,

	ReqP1. Intensity	ReqP2. Direction	ReqP3. Static / Dynamic	ReqP4. Body Part	ReqP5. Environment	ReqP6. Device Type
Auda et al. [APS19]	\checkmark	۶ ^K	<u>s</u>	LEG	VR	FEMS pads
Bergamasco et al. [Ber+94]		× 2	ż	ARM		🛱 exoskeleton
Chang et al. [Cha+18]		G	ż	HEAD	VR	🗘 HMD
Chen et al. [Che+16]	\checkmark	G	ż	ARM	RW	\$ sleeve
Connelly et al. [Con+10]	\checkmark	<u>ر</u> م	ż	FINGER	VR	હું. ન્ડ glove
Das et al. [Das+18]	\checkmark	*r'C	<i>3</i> ; •	WRIST	VR	ನ್ sleeve
Frisoli et al. [Fri+09]	\checkmark	*r'C	ż	ARM	VR	ち 🗘 exoskeleton
Goto et al. [Got+18]	\checkmark	*r'C	<i>3</i> ; •	WRIST	RW	ನ್ sleeve
Gu et al. [Gu+16]	\checkmark	× 2×	<i>3</i> ; •	HAND	VR	😂 exoskeleton
Kon et al. [KNK17]	\checkmark	G	ż	HEAD	VR	न्हें 🛱 HMD
Lopes et al. [LBB13]		پلا	<i>3</i> ; •	ARM		smartphone
Lopes et al. [LIB15]		۶ ⁴	<i>3</i> ; •	ARM LEG	VR	FEMS pads
Lopes et al. [Lop+18]	\checkmark	*r'C	<i>3</i> ; •	ARM	AR	FEMS pads
Maimani and Roudaut [MR17]	\checkmark	\otimes	ŧ	ARM	VR	式 vacuum pads
Moon et al. [Moo+o6]		۶ ⁴	3	FINGER		ज ्ज glove
Pfeiffer et al. [Pfe+15]	\checkmark	پلا	ż	LEG	RW	FEMS pads
Pohl et al. [PHR17]		\otimes	ŧ	BODY	RW	ನೆ vacuum pads
Polygerinos et al. [Pol+13]		۶ ⁴	<i>3</i> ; •	FINGER	RW	હું. ર્જ્ડ glove
Sakoda et al. [Sak+18]		۶ ⁴	Ĵ,	ARM	RW	र्ज्ञ sleeve
Tsoupikova et al. [Tso+09]		~	ż	FINGER	VR	र्ज्ञ glove
PneumAct	\checkmark	× 2×	ţ\$	ARM	RWVR	ನ್ jacket

the most relevant work is highlighted in Table 8.1 with regard to the aforementioned requirements.

Table 8.1: Overview of selected related work in the field of Proprioception and KINESTHESIA. Legend: √ fulfilled requirement, ★ contraction / 🖌 extension / C rotation / 🛇 restriction, 🛉 static / 🛪 dynamic, 🛛 screen / RW Real World, 🕈 Electrical Muscle Stimulation (EMS) / 🗱 mechanical / robotic, 式 air / pneumatic, 🕏 accessibility. Note: The table excludes ReqP7 since all work provide measurements to avoid pain.

8.2.3 Mechanical Actuation and Exoskeletons

An external actuation for kinesthetic feedback through mechanical devices, such as exoskeletons, is probably the most common method. Hereby, exoskeletons are existing for a long time to assist users and, while such devices typically do not counteract any motion, they still kinesthetically support movements. Already in 1971, Fick et al. [Fic71] patented a full-body exoskeleton to support workers in performing heavy tasks. Although this was still early work and a bulky device, more modern systems have become more lightweight. For example, Frisoli et al. [Fri+09] presented an exoskeleton for upper-limb rehabilitation in a virtual environment, while Bergamasco et al. [Ber+94] already presented one of the first arm-located exoskeleton for telepresence. Thereby, the authors could not only kinesthetically actuate the user but also record the arm movements and replay them through the mechanical forces. Similarly, exoskeletons are typically very powerful and are often used to support walking and lower-limb movements, as surveyed by Dollar et al. [DH08].

One disadvantage, however, is the typically high costs for such devices. Therefore, Gu et al. [Gu+16] created an inexpensive exoskeleton for the hand that provided force feedback in VR. Chen et al. [Che+16] designed a motion guidance sleeve using strings as a form of artificial muscles to create active forearm rotations. However, this work only focused on rotational forces and did not consider any extension or flexion motion. And although those newer approaches consider VR as a use-case, the application of exoskeletons for this specific area was already investigated before as, for example, reviewed by Stone in 2001 [Stoo1].

Other mechanical approaches are not based on exoskeletons but use specialized controller-based devices to provide kinesthetic feedback. Zenner et al. [ZK17], for example, created a tube-like handheld device that could shift a weight inside a plastic tube to alter the weight distribution to increase the immersion and realism in VR when holding objects in the hand. While not providing active movement of body parts, the work showed how weight distribution could affect the proprioceptive sensation. In a follow-up work by Zenner and Krüger [ZK19], the authors designed a controller device that could change its air resistance and provide a similar weight shift to increase realism in VR. Chang et al. [Cha+18] mounted two motors on the sides of an VR HMD to create a torque effect that resulted in active head movements. Similarly, but relying on the hanger effect that subconsciously results in head movements due to skin shear deformations, Kon et al. [KNK17; Kon+18a] used small inflatable cushions on the head to actuate the user in VR.

8.2.4 *Pneumatic Actuation*

While the aforementioned approaches are often using electromechanics, other works are based on pneumatic approaches, for example in form of Pneumatical Artifical Muscle (PAM) [CMG95; Dae+o2]. In this case, the force is coming from strong pneumatic actuations in order to support users' movements, e.g., while walking or doing sports [Oga+17; Sak+18]. Yet, besides these pneumatic-based exoskeletons, other research investigated how pneumatics and compressed air is suitable for kinesthetic actuations and PROPRIOCEPTION, similar to various approaches for pressure-based feedback as discussed in the earlier Section 3.2.0.1 of the MECHANORECEPTION chapter.

Most commonly, research investigated this type of actuation in the form of gloves or wristbands. While Raitor et al. [Rai+17], for example, investigated hand rotations and translation by using pneumatic patterns in a wearable wristband similar to other motion guidance approaches (cf. Section 4.3), other work used active kinesthetic actuations. In earlier work, Moon et al. [Moo+o6] compared a glove using PAM with more conventional hydraulic-based approaches for VR. Similarly, Das et al. [Das+18] and Goto et al. [Got+18] also used PAM-based devices to create wrist movements, particularly flexion, extension, pronation, and supination. Often, these types of gloves are interesting for rehabilitation, particularly from strokes, in order to regain the ability to move single fingers [Con+09; Con+10; Koe+04; Pol+13]. Thereby, some work further combined these ideas with VR environments, such as presented by Laver et al. [Lav+11] or Tsoupikova et al. [Tso+09]. However, while these are undoubtedly useful and show the potential of pneumaticbased actuations, their focus was purely on rehabilitation for hand movements, while immersive and realism aspects or other body parts were not covered.

Although PROPRIOCEPTION research in this topic mostly focuses on the movement of certain body parts or joints, there also exists work that aimed to do the opposite by inheriting movements, e.g., as done by Pohl et al. [PHR17], or even limiting a user's motion completely, e.g., as investigated by Maimani et al. [MR17] who were using vacuumized actuators to give a sense of being frozen in VR. However, the kinesthetic motion of body joints through pneumatic actuations in VR remained underexplored.



Figure 8.1: Actuation concept for body joints: (a) contraction, and (b) extension movements. α indicates the angle change for a concentric contraction, while β indicates an eccentric contraction.

8.2.5 *Electrical Muscle Stimulation (EMS)*

In the last years, more approaches were using EMS for active kinesthetic feedback and stimulation. Therefore, EMS devices use surface electrodes that create muscle tension through electric impulses which then affect body movements. For example, Pfeiffer et al. [PDR16] designed a EMS platform to easily create wearable devices to evaluate kinesthetic concepts, for example by placing electrodes on the legs for pedestrian guidance and obstacle avoidance [Pfe+15]. Similarly, Auda et al. [APS19] used EMS on the legs to also subtly modify the walking direction for an infinite walking redirection experience in VR. Further, Lopes et al. investigated various use-cases for EMS-based actuations. In earlier work, the authors used it for force feedback and to provide physical contact that is able to manipulate the user's motion [LBB13; LIB15]. In follow up works, Lopes et al. [Lop+18; Lop+17] extended these concepts to AR/VR environments, e.g., for gaming purposes. Thereby, the resulting kinesthetic feedback was used to create the impression of weight and counterforces or was capable of actively limiting or enhancing the user's motion.

8.3 **KINESTHETIC ACTUATORS: CONCEPTS**

In order to address the proprioceptive sensation of humans, muscles have to be kinesthetically stimulated. Hereby, proprioception mainly relies on the trigger of two receptors: (1) Golgi tendon organs, and (2) muscle spindles [DBD20; Kaa12]. Both are responsible for detecting stretches and changes in the length of muscles to detect the movement



Figure 8.2: Concept of the Concentric Actuators (CA) based on a Pneumatical Artifical Muscle (PAM). (1) In the deflated state, the magnetic solenoid valve is closed and the air from the compressor cannot flow through. As soon as (2) the solenoid valve is powered, it allows the compressed air to pass and the actuator inflates. Due to the outer mesh around the inner tube, the entire actuator cannot expand indefinitely in width but will reduce its length resulting in a contraction.

and position of individual body parts, however, muscle spindles are usually seen as most responsible for kinesthetic sensation [PG12] (see also background Section 2.2.3). As consequence, to actuate body joints, it is necessary to provide both, contraction and extension of the muscle, to fully support both motion directions. In terms of (sport) medicine, this type of movements are typically referred as a *concentric* (shortening of muscle) and *eccentric* (lengthen of muscle) contraction [New+83]. Therefore, two kinds of actuators have to be considered: (1) a Concentric Actuator (CA) that decreases the angle of a body joint, and (2) Eccentric Actuator (EA) that does the opposite motion.

8.3.1 Concentric Contraction Actuator (CA)

Limbs and body joints, in general, have to be contracted in order to provide one direction of kinesthetic feedback. This can be either done by external forces or through exoskeletons. While both approaches require large setups or may hinder movements, some exoskeletons make use of a PAM [CMG95; Dae+o2]. The concepts of a PAM, also known as *McKibben muscle*, were already invented in the 50s [CH96;



Figure 8.3: Concept of the Eccentric Actuators (EA) based on pneumatic inflation of air cushions. (1) In the deflated state, the magnetic solenoid valve is closed and the air from the compressor cannot flow through, leaving the cushion flexible. As soon as (2) the solenoid valve is powered, it allows the compressed air to pass and the actuator inflates which results in a more stiff cushion, able to push body parts.

KCH99; TLoo] and allow to replicate the behavior of biological muscles through pneumatic actuation [CH96; KCH99].

Therefore, a flexible tube is enclosed in a slightly larger mesh sleeve. If compressed air inflates the inner flexible tube, it expands in width but is limited in the full expansion through the outer mesh sleeve. At the same time, the tube contracts in length resulting in a *pulling* of both ends. While this can be used in exoskeletons, it can also be applied directly to a body joint by mounting it to two different body parts linked by the joint, e.g., the forearm and upper arm. The basic concept of the CA is depicted in Figure 8.2.

8.3.2 *Eccentric Contraction Actuator* (*EA*)

Contrary to the contraction of a body joint, the full kinesthetic feedback also requires the possibility for an extension or stretching motion. While this could be achieved with a PAM as well, it would require sophisticated placements and anchoring on the body which may still constrain other movements. Therefore, inflated cushions similar to the cushions presented in Chapter 5 but placed directly on the inner apex or bending point of a body joint would result in a forced extension of the joint, such



Figure 8.4: The final actuator design of the (a) EA and (d) CA in their inflated and deflated states. Further, (b) depicts the used inner latex rubber tube and (c) the outer mesh as used for the CA.

as the crook of the elbow. If air inflates the actuator cushion, it causes a push to the attached body parts and, thus, results in an increased angle of the body joint. The concept of the EA is depicted in Figure 8.3.

8.4 PNEUMACT SYSTEM

The implementation of the aforementioned concepts will be referred as PNEUMACT and explained in the following.

8.4.1 Actuators

Both types of actuators, the CA and EA, had to be implemented differently as described in the previous section.

CONCENTRIC CONTRACTION ACTUATOR (CA)

The design of the CA was based on a *McKibben* Pneumatical Artifical Muscle (PAM) [CH96]. Therefore, a 50 cm long latex rubber tube with a 0.8 cm diameter was used for the inner inflatable tube as this was identified to be a suitable length for the typical arm length of adults (see Figure 8.4b). For the outer mesh sleeve, a slightly broader diameter of 1.0 cm was chosen to fit the rubber tube (see Figure 8.4c). Once the actuator was inflated, its length decreased by 24 % (12 cm) and almost doubled in diam-



Figure 8.5: The PNEUMACT jacket as (a) concept and (b) the final prototype. The Concentric Actuators were attached to the outside of the jacket and wrapped around the arms (yellow). The Eccentric Actuators were located at the crooks of the elbows (green).

eter (1.5 cm) to create a full contraction. Due to the nature of a PAM, this design creates strong forces with a maximum of 150 N (approximately 15 kg pulling force). An CA in its deflated and inflated state is shown in Figure 8.4d.

ECCENTRIC CONTRACTION ACTUATOR (EA)

Contrary to the other type of actuators, the EA was made of a synthetic fabric that was cut into rectangular shapes. Then, it was folded and stitched on the sides to create an air cushion. Additional glue on the sides reduced air leakage. However, it still was enough permeable to ensure that once the actuation would be stopped, the cushion would deflate. For the inflation, small 3D-printed connectors were located on one side of the cushion, able to connect to 4 mm PVC tubes. The final design of one EA had a total size of 17.5 cm \times 5.5 cm and could inflate to a maximum width of 3.5 cm. An EA in its deflated and inflated state is shown in Figure 8.4a.

8.4.2 Wearable Jacket

For increased wearability and more mobility, the heavy solenoid valves and control unit were located further away from the user and connected to the actuators through 5 m long PVC tubes. In addition, all actuators were attached to a regular cotton jacket for a faster setup. Therefore, both CAs were attached to the shoulder with a strap on one side, and



Figure 8.6: Schematic of the electronic components of the system controller. It shows the 12 V power supply, the ESP32 microcontroller, the voltage transformer, the transistors, and diodes for the solenoid valves, as well as the respective wiring. *This Figure uses breadboard view graphics from fritzing.org, licensed under CC Attribution-ShareALike* (*CC BY-SA* 3.0).

to the wrist or the hand on the other side. The EA were located on the crooks of the elbows with *hook-and-loop* fastener for more precise positioning. Hereby, all actuator placements were suitable for varying arm sizes. However, while the tubes going to the jacket are very flexible and long for a largely free movement, the system is still not completely mobile (this will be further discussed in Section 8.11). Figure 8.5 depicts a concept of the jacket and the final prototype as used in both user studies.

8.4.3 System Controller

In order to control the actuation, a custom system was built that used an ESP32 microcontroller which received commands either via a Bluetooth or USB serial connection to regulate the airflow of the actuators. Therefore, eight normally-closed magnetic solenoid valves (*U.S. Solid JFSV00051*, 12 V) were connected to each actuator with flexible PVC tubes and an air distributor. The distributor was made of metal and was used to distribute the airflow coming from an air compressor (*Einhell TH-AC 200/24 OF*, maximum 8 bar, 800 kPa). A mechanical valve was used to limit the maximum pressure of the air compressor to 5 bar (500 kPa). Further, an additional solenoid valve acted as the main valve to regulate the overall airflow, while another one was used to release excess air from the system.



Figure 8.7: Controllable components of the PNEUMACT system showing the main valve for the air compressor and the custom control unit with connected solenoid valves for the actuators.

To switch all solenoid valves, MOSFET transistors ($IRLZ_{34}NPBF$) were used. Additional safety diodes (1N4007) were also added to protect the hardware from reverse voltage spikes and currents. All actuators could be controlled automatically through dynamic in-application events or manually using a Unity compatible C# interface. A schematic of the system controller is depicted in Figure 8.6. All electronic components of the final prototypical system are depicted in Figure 8.7.

The experience gained from designing and realizing this prototype informed the general prototyping concept presented in Chapter 9, called ActuBoard. Further, the concepts for a pneumatic actuation were also used for the evaluation of Pressure-Based Mechanoreception in Chapter 5.

8.4.4 Safety Measurements

The maximum airflow was mechanically regulated to 5 bar (500 kPa). This allowed for a powerful actuation, but that could always be counteracted by users. Also, forces were only applied in natural movement directions preventing overshooting. Additional hardware- and software-sided emergency switches were included to rapidly release air from the system in case of unexpected behaviors. During the studies, it was also ensured that no obstacles were in close range of the participants. Further, all actuations were strong but not strong enough to overshoot the natural movements of a body joint, e.g., overstretching the elbow.

8.5 USER STUDY I: EFFECTS OF INFLATION DURATION AND PATTERN ON CHANGE OF ANGLE - METHODOLOGY



This section presents the methodology of a first controlled experiment assessing the influence of different inflation DURATIONS and PATTERNS on the angle of body joints. In particular, both types of actuators, the CA and EA were used on the left and right arms of 24 participants to measure changes in the angle of the elbows. The user study investigated the following questions:

- Q1. How does the inflation DURATION affect the angle?
- Q2. How do different inflation PATTERNS affect the angle?
- 8.5.1 Design and Task

A within-subjects design was used for the user study to evaluate the changes in the angle on the users' arms as DV. As IV, the inflation DURA-TION and inflation PATTERN were varied in a repeated-measures design. The DURATION described how long the solenoid valves were open for inflating the actuators, and the PATTERN indicates if the inflation is continuous or in short intervals¹. However, as the two types of actuators, CA and EA, rely on different concepts, they were investigated independently but with similar levels for both IVs. Therefore, participants performed all combinations, but conditions were always grouped by arm side and type of actuator. The IVs were further counterbalanced using a

¹ The intervals are representing inflation bursts that are given in the format XX-YY where XX refers to a single inflation time and YY the pause between the inflations. Each interval's single inflation time was then summed up to match the total inflation duration

Balanced Latin square design and between trials, there was a random pause between one and three seconds to enforce a surprise effect of the actuation. The following sections describe the levels of the individual IVs in-depth with respect to the type of actuator.

8.5.1.1 Levels of Concentric Actuator (CA)

The CA had four levels for the inflation DURATION: (1) 100 MS, (2) 200 MS, (3) 300 MS, and (4) 400 MS. Informal pre-tests indicated only minor inflations that were too weak for a full actuation below 100 ms. Further, 400 ms turned out to be a maximum for a full inflation of the PAM.



Table 8.2: The five levels of the inflation PATTERN while using the CA. ■ represents a single inflation time of 50 ms and — an interval pause of 50 ms.

The inflation PATTERN of the CA had five levels: (1) CONTINUOUS, (2) 50-50, (3) 50-100, (4) 100-50, and (5) 100-100. The first number always indicates a single inflation (burst) time of an interval while the second numbers indicate the pause in between. A PATTERN was always repeated until the sum of all single inflations were equal to the total inflation DURATION of the current condition. The inflation PATTERNS of the CA are depicted in Table 8.2.

Each condition combination was repeated six times with three repetitions on the left arm and three on the right. This resulted in a total of $4 \times 5 \times 6 = 120$ trials for the CA.

8.5.1.2 Levels of Eccentric Actuator (EA)

To compensate for the different behaviors of both types of actuators, the IV levels of the EA had to be slightly altered. As for the inflation DURATION, three levels were defined: (1) 50 MS, (2) 100 MS, and (3) 200 MS. Again, the lower threshold was set to the minimum duration that was required to have any effect on the actuation which lay at 50 mS. For the maximum duration, anything above 200 mS was found to have no additional effect.



Table 8.3: The five levels of the inflation PATTERN while using the EA. ■ represents a single inflation time of 25 ms and — an interval pause of 25 ms.

For the inflation PATTERN, five levels were defined: (1) CONTINUOUS, (2) 25-50, (3) 25-100, (4) 50-50, and (5) 50-100. Likewise, as before, the first number indicates a single inflation duration while the second number indicates the pause until the next inflation interval. Concerning technical limitations of the magnetic solenoid valves that require at least 20 ms to open and 30 ms to close, a minimum single inflation time of 25 ms was chosen, as well as a minimum of 50 ms for the pauses. As before, the repetitions of an interval for each PATTERN were further fitted to match the inflation DURATION. All inflation PATTERNS of the EA are depicted in Table 8.3.

Each condition combination was repeated six times with three repetitions on the left arm and three on the right. This resulted in a total of $3 \times 5 \times 6 = 90$ trials for the EA.

8.5.2 Task and Dependent Variable (DV)

During the study, the participants had to wear the PNEUMACT actuators on both arms. However, only one actuator on one side was active at the same time until all conditions for this combination were completed. During all conditions, the experimenter assured the safety of the participants (cf. Section 8.4.4). Further, in each condition, participants had to bring their arms into relaxed starting positions while standing. This was a downwards position during CA and an angled arm during EA conditions. The participants were further instructed to not counteract at the beginning of an actuation as the actuation occurred suddenly. However, they were allowed to stop the arm movement when they thought the actuation was finished. The inflation was kept for one second and the participants had to remain the angle as good as possible until the air was released again. Thereby, the angle between forearm and upper arm was measured as DV. Afterward, the participants had to return the arm to the starting position.


Figure 8.8: A participant wearing the PNEUMACT jacket with both actuators during the first user study. The pictures show both actuators, the (a) Concentric Actuator (CA) and (b) Eccentric Actuator (EA) before (left) and after an actuation (right).

8.5.3 Setup and Apparatus

The apparatus was based on the PNEUMACT jacket described in Section 8.4. Hereby, the CA were attached tightly but comfortably to the shoulder and wrists of participants, while the EA were located on the crooks of the elbows as shown in Figure 8.5.

To measure the angle between the forearm and upper arm, an optical tracking system with retro-reflected markers was used (array of six OptiTrack Flex 3). For an accurate measurement, markers were attached to the side of the upper arm, elbow, and center of the forearm using custom 3D-printed mounts. In addition to the angle, a timestamp, the current condition, and repetition number were logged. Before starting the study, it was ensured that all actuators and trackers were not restricting any movements and were placed firmly. Figure 8.8 depicts the setup.

8.5.4 *Procedure*

BEFORE THE STUDY: The participants were welcomed and the experimenter gave a short introduction to the concepts and introduced them to the PNEUMACT jacket. Further, they were informed of the safety precautions and data protection policy which had to be signed by everyone before beginning the study. Also, a demographic questionnaire including the age, gender, dominant hand, and arm length (measured by the experimenter) had to be filled out. Once participants had no further questions, the experimenter assisted by putting on the jacket and assuring that all actuators were in place.

DURING THE STUDY: In each condition, a participant had to start by standing on a marked spot that was reliably tracked by the optical cameras. Then, depending on the active actuator, participants either had to leave their arms hanging downwards comfortably with approximately 180° between the forearm and upper arm during CA conditions, or angled during EA conditions. However, they were asked to not apply any counterforce or pressure on the arms.

Once ready, the trials for the respective arm and type of actuator started. For each trial, one arm of the participants was actively bent or stretched by the system and participants should try to let the motion happen naturally. After one second of holding, the air was released from the actuators and participants had to return to the starting position to start the next trial. When all trials for one arm and type of actuation were over, participants had to take a short break and then continued with the next combination.

AFTER THE STUDY: After finishing all conditions and trials, the experimenter helped to remove the jacket and actuators. Participants were also invited to give additional qualitative feedback throughout the study and engaged to do so at the end. Overall, the whole procedure took 40 minutes per participant.

8.5.5 *Participants*

In total, 24 individuals participated in the study (10 female, 14 male). All of them were between 21 and 35 years (M=26.0, SD=3.6). All of them had a right dominant hand with an average arm length of 55 cm (SD=4.6 cm), measured from the top of the shoulder to the wrist. Besides snacks and drinks, no compensation was provided.

8.6 USER STUDY I: RESULTS

In the following, the results of the controlled experiment are reported. At the beginning of the section, details of the analysis are presented, followed by the quantitative analysis and qualitative feedback of the participants.

8.6.1 Analysis

For analyzing the data, a repeated-measures ANOVA was used. First, the data was tested for normality using Shapiro-Wilk's test and checked for violations of the sphericity assumption using Mauchly's test. If the latter was the case, a Greenhouse-Geisser correction was performed to adjust the degrees and freedom and report the ϵ value. For posthoc analysis, Bonferroni corrected pairwise t-tests were performed. The analysis will further report the effect size as small, medium, or large, using Cohen's classification and the eta-square value η^2 [Coh88]. Also, the results will include the Estimated Marginal Mean (EMM) as the estimated influence of individual factors [SSM80].

8.6.1.1 Concentric Actuator Results

The analysis revealed a significant effect of the inflation duration with a large effect size ($F_{1.68,38.76}$ =101.53, p < .001, $\epsilon = 0.562$, $\eta^2 = 0.188$). Posthoc tests showed a significant increase of the angle between durations of 100 Ms, 200 Ms, and 300 Ms (all p < .01). However, no significant effects were found between 300 Ms and 400 Ms (EMM $\mu = 43.4300$, $\sigma_{\overline{x}} = 3.12300^\circ$, EMM $\mu = 44.3400$, $\sigma_{\overline{x}} = 3.12400^\circ$, p > .05).

Significant effects were also identified for the PATTERN with a small effect size ($F_{2.46,56.64}$ =16.05, p < .001, $\epsilon = 0.616$, $\eta^2 = 0.02$). Regarding the difference of angle, post-hoc tests showed that a CONTINUOUS inflation always resulted in a smaller mean angle difference than inflations with a same duration but different PATTERN. Further, it was observed that PATTERNS with short bursts of 50 ms (50-50 and 50-100) resulted in the largest angles differences (p < .001 for both and also the CONTINUOUS PATTERN). All measurements and results for the CA (as depicted in



Figure 8.9: Angle differences after actuation for different inflation durations and patterns of the CA. All conditions were significant (marked with *) except those marked with *n.s.*.

Figure 8.9) highlight which patterns and durations are resulting in which specific angles that can be used for other applications.

8.6.1.2 Eccentric Actuator Results

The analysis revealed significant effects for the duration with a large effect size ($F_{1.19,27.42}$ =74.29, p < .001, $\epsilon = 0.596$, $\eta^2 = 0.235$). Posthoc tests confirmed significant increased angles for longer durations (EMM $\mu = 13.750$, $\sigma_{\overline{x}} = 4.150^{\circ}$, EMM $\mu = 29.6100$, $\sigma_{\overline{x}} = 4.1100^{\circ}$, EMM $\mu = 42.3200$, $\sigma_{\overline{x}} = 4.1200^{\circ}$; all p < .001).

The analysis could also identify significant effects for the inflation PATTERNS with a small effect size ($F_{2.1,48.4}$ =46.79, p < .001, $\epsilon = 0.526$, $\eta^2 = 0.046$). Similar to the CA, post-hoc tests revealed significant larger resulting angles between continuous inflations and PATTERNS using an interval (p < .001). Again, more rapid PATTERNS (25-50 and 25-100) resulted in the significantly largest differences of the angle (all p < .001). All measurements and results for the EA (as depicted in Figure 8.10) highlight which patterns and durations are resulting in which specific angles that can be used for other applications.



Figure 8.10: Angle differences after actuation for different inflation durations and patterns of the EA. All conditions were significant (marked with *) except those marked with *n.s.*.

8.6.2 *Qualitative Feedback*

During the study, participants were asked to give additional qualitative feedback to get further insights on the performance of the kinesthetic actuation. Overall, participants were interested in the system and highlighted the general idea of the kinesthetic actuation (P2, P5, P7, P14) which was easy to follow for them (P1).

Taking a look at the inflation PATTERNS, most participants preferred the CONTINUOUS actuation as it "*felt more natural*" (P₃, P₁₀). However, some participants (P₁₇, P₁₈) stated that interval inflations were more intuitive to reaching a certain position that they thought to be the target of the actuation. P₁₇, for example, said "*it tells me to continue the motion rather than just pushing me in a direction*". Two other participants even described the inflation intervals as a "*robotic feeling*" (P₁, P₇) which was a fun way for them to simulate artificial movements.

As comfort is essential for the acceptability of a system, participants were asked to describe the wearability. Almost every participant stated that it was pleasant or not disruptive. P2 even described that the EA *"feels like a soft bicep massage"*, while P18 stated that the CA feels *"funny and cool"*. Though, more critical voices explained that the CA was not feeling very comfortable and sometimes applied too much pressure on the triceps (P10, P12). On the other side, the EA felt too soft and did not provide enough pressure for some participants who reported also performing a lot of sports, thus, having more defined muscles on

the arm (P1, P19). Also, as the jacket was unisized, larger participants reported that it was too tight (P4, P11).

8.6.3 Discussion on Inflation Duration and Pattern

This first user study was supposed to give insights on the overall performance of the PNEUMACT concepts and how both types of actuators affect the angle between the forearm and upper arm. Thereby, the variation of the inflation DURATION and PATTERN resulted in different angles but also in different interpretations of how the actuation was perceived by users. This section discusses those findings concerning the aforementioned results.

8.6.3.1 Longer inflation durations result in larger angles

While it seems rather obvious at first sight, longer inflation DURATIONS resulted in larger changes in the angle. However, taking a closer look, the user study helped to identify which DURATION leads to which angle. Also, the analysis revealed that while there are significant differences between the shorter actuation DURATIONS, there is not much difference between the longer ones (i.e., 300 MS and 400 MS with the CA).

This allows for designing future applications that can directly provide kinesthetic feedback which enforces certain motions of the users' arms. For example, longer and stronger (i.e., longer inflation durations or more intense patterns) actuations could be used for error feedback or as active prevention from reaching hazardous objects in critical situations. Shorter actuations, in contrast, could be used to *nudge* a person for guidance.

8.6.3.2 *Continuous Patterns are preferable*

While differences in the angle were often similar for the same inflation **DURATIONS**, the **PATTERNS** influenced the characteristics and perception of the motion. Typically, **CONTINUOUS** inflations were perceived as more natural and preferred by participants. However, while there were some significant differences, intervals with different pause lengths had only

a minor effect on the resulting angle if the inflation duration is the same (e.g., 50-50 and 50-100 of the CA). Nevertheless, non-continuous PATTERNS still can be useful for specific applications. For example, if the actuation should replicate a shaking for notifications or coming from (virtual) avatars in VR, or as described by participants when trying to create artificial sensations such as feeling to be a robot. Also, non-continuous PATTERNS were seen to be more precise by some participants. However, as none of them knew a specific target angle, this statement could not be validated through the analysis.

8.6.3.3 Interval Patterns affect Perception

Taking a look at intervals, the angle difference did not differ much from the CONTINUOUS inflations. However, intervals made participants believe the actuation was more precise, even though they did not know if there was a target angle. Further, it was described to be more unnatural and artificial which made them think to have almost robotic arms, similar to work done by Kurihara et al. [Kur+14]. As such, the attention users paid to the artificial motion could be leveraged to influence the perception in a way that they also pay more attention to a certain event linked to the kinesthetic feedback. For example, it could represent notifications similar to strong vibration patterns known from mobile phones, or even used for VR applications where participants have to play a certain role, such as a robot.

8.6.3.4 Concentric Actuation is perceived stronger

While the design of both types of actuators is different, the CA was perceived as a stronger actuation. Indeed it was observed that it was harder to counteract the strength of a CA than the EA, which could also come from the typical strength differences of the primary muscles involved (biceps and triceps). However, the EA still resulted in similar angle changes for longer DURATIONS as the CA.



Figure 8.11: Screenshots of the first two example applications: (a) Robots in Space and (b) Wire Cutting.

8.7 EXAMPLE APPLICATIONS

Based on the findings of the previous user study, three example applications for VR were designed to further investigate the possibilities of the rougher kinesthetic feedback: (1) Robots in Space, (2) Wire Cutting, and (3) a Weight Lifting Exergame. All three applications used the lessons learned about inflation durations and patterns fitted to different scenarios, such as sudden motions, force feedback, artificial movements, recoil, and the simulation of varying weights. All of the following applications were implemented using the *Unity* game engine and the *SteamVR* platform. The *HTC Vive* system was used for the HMD and tracking. All three applications were evaluated in a second user study that is described in Section 8.8.

8.7.1 *Robots in Space*

The first application was a game situated in an abandoned space station. The player had to take the role of a rusty robot whose sole purpose was to *pop* balloons floating around the station. Therefore, the player had two virtual lasers that were controlled by the VR controllers to shoot balloons. While real lasers would have of course no actual recoil, the game was designed to provide kinesthetic feedback through the CA to push the arms slightly back after each shot. Hereby, the player could charge a laser by holding the trigger for a longer period, resulting in a stronger actuation. Further, as the player was supposed to act like a robot, the game used the EA to have short intervals of inflations that should represent the rusty artificial movements of the robot's joints, similar to Kurihara et al. [Kur+14]. In addition, vibrotactile feedback

coming from the VR game controllers could be enabled to provide the same effects but through a different modality.

That being said, the goal of the game was to *pop* as many balloons as possible in a given period of time. If all balloons were *popped* in time, the player won, otherwise, the game was lost. A screenshot of the application is shown in Figure 8.11a.

8.7.2 Wire Cutting Game

A second application should highlight the usage of PNEUMACT during dangerous situations and sudden unexpected events. Hereby, the user was located in a small unpleasant room and had to avoid a timed explosion of a device. To do so, the user was provided with pliers to cut different colored wires on a console in front. If the correct wires were cut, the explosion was avoided. However, if a single wrong wire was cut or the time ran out, the explosion was triggered, resulting in a sudden impact force on the user. This force was implemented by inflating the EA fast and long, pushing the arms back.

To increase the difficulty and tension, the user did not know the correct wires beforehand. However, wrong wires were indicated by small visual sparks once the user reached out for them with the pliers. In addition, the CA gave subtle flinches through short inflations which were intended to simulate small electric shocks. Optional vibrotactile feedback was used similarly and started to heavily vibrate during an explosion or provided subtle cues when being close to a wrong wire.

As a small extra, once all correct wires were cut, a firework animation was presented to the user that also triggered the EA to provide short subtle intervals of explosions in the distance. A screenshot of the application is shown in Figure 8.11b.

8.7.3 Weight Lifting Exergame

Besides pure entertaining games, kinesthetic feedback and affecting the **PROPRIOCEPTION** of persons can be used for training situations or motion



Figure 8.12: Screenshots of the exergame example application, showing the weight (a) lifting and (b) pulling exercises.

guidance. Therefore, a third application was designed as an exergame in VR where users could perform two sports exercises in a virtual gym.

For the first exercise, users should train their biceps by lifting a weight in form of barbell curls. Hereby, the EAs were inflated to simulate a counterforce once the user wanted to lift the barbell. To simulate different weights, the inflation duration and pattern were modified which provided in total three different intensities.

Similarly, for the second exercise, users should train their triceps by pulling down the handle of a cable pull. During this exercise, the CA were used to simulate the counterforce that was applied when pulling the handle, again, with three different intensity levels by varying the inflation duration and pattern.

As such exercises typically require proper training equipment, the barbell's and cable pull handle's physical shape was recreated by using a one-meter long pipe. To track the pipe realistically, one VR controller was mounted to the left side, while the second controller was mounted to the right to provide an even balance of the handle. In addition, the vibrotactile feedback of the controllers could be enabled to provide haptic feedback for downward arm movements during the pulling exercise, and upward arm movements during the lifting exercise. Two screenshots of the exergame showing both exercises are depicted in Figure 8.12.



8.8 USER STUDY II: PNEUMACT IN VIRTUAL REALITY APPLICATIONS -METHODOLOGY

After designing the three example applications as introduced in the previous section, a second user study was conducted to identify how the kinesthetic feedback affected the immersion, level of realism, and enjoyment of users in VR. As a baseline, controller-based vibrotactile feedback and no-haptics were compared. Summarizing, the following research questions were investigated:

- RQ1. How can a KINESTHETIC actuation positively affect the level of immersion, realism, and enjoyment?
- RQ2. How does a KINESTHETIC actuation compare to VIBROTACTILE stimuli and NO-HAPTICS?
- RQ3. How does a kinesthetic actuation affect the experience when combined with vibrotactile stimuli?

8.8.1 Study Design and Task

The study was performed using a within-subject design, measuring the levels of IMMERSION, REALISM, and ENJOYMENT, as well as the SUPPORT of the different types of haptic feedback as the DV. Therefore, participants were invited to play all three aforementioned applications with four different TYPES OF ACTUATION as IV: (1) KINESTHETIC feedback, (1) VIBROTACTILE feedback, (3) COMBINED feedback, and (4) NO-HAPTICS baseline.

In order to assess the aforementioned items, the following questions were asked after each condition on 5-Point scales ranging from *not at all* to *very much*. Thereby, the second and third questions are based on related work done by Lopes et al. [Lop+18].

- 1. How immersed have you been in the VR experience?
- 2. How would you define the level of realism?
- 3. How much did you enjoy the experience?
- 4. How much did the additional feedback support you during the task?

8.8.1.1 Task

Participants had to test all three applications successively four times with one of the active TYPE OF ACTUATION for each repetition. Therefore, a total of 3 applications × 4 types of actuation = 12 repetitions had to be conducted. To avoid learning effects, the order of the four conditions was counterbalanced using a Balanced Latin Square. During each condition, the participants could freely explore the VR environment of the current application and try to fulfill the individual tasks. Further, participants could repeat an application as often and for as long as they preferred to try out all aspects before continuing with the next condition.

8.8.2 Setup and Apparatus

Again, the apparatus was based on the PNEUMACT system for the KINES-THETIC feedback as described in Section 8.4. Both CA were attached tightly but comfortably to the shoulder and wrists of participants, and the two EA were located on the crooks of the elbows as before.

The VR applications were exactly those that were described in Section 8.7. All participants used a state-of-the-art HMD (HTC Vive) with the respective game controllers. The controllers were used for interacting with the VR environments, as well as for VIBROTACTILE feedback. During the exergame (cf. Section 8.7.3), an additional pipe was used for resembling the handles of the weights.

8.8.3 Procedure

- BEFORE THE STUDY: Participants were welcomed and introduced to the study. Therefore, they were briefed about the applications but without much detail to keep them exploring during the study. The participants afterward received explanations on the VR hardware and the PNEUMACT system including safety instructions. If they had no further questions, they had to sign a consent form and fill out a demographic questionnaire including information about their age, gender, and VR experience. Once ready, the experimenter assisted with putting on the hardware with regards to the current TYPE OF ACTUATION and also asked the participants to wear provided headphones to reduce background noises.
- DURING THE STUDY: All participants had to play all three applications in random sequences for each TYPE OF ACTUATION together. As soon as all three applications for one feedback method were finished, participants were asked to answer the provided questionnaire. During all conditions, participants could freely explore the VR applications and try out all aspects without constraints. However, while they could repeat any task as often as they wanted, they were always asked to succeed in each task at least once.
- AFTER THE STUDY: As soon as participants tried all four TYPES OF ACTU-ATION for all three applications, they could put off the hardware. During unstructured interviews and a final questionnaire afterward, participants were invited to give further feedback on the experiences, as well as to rank the TYPES OF ACTUATION. Overall, one session took about 60 minutes for each participant.

8.8.4 Participants

In total, 12 participants (4 female, 8 male) between 21 and 32 years were recruited (M=29, SD=3.5). Three of them never tried VR before while eight had used it at least a few times. One user expressed to be a regular VR enthusiast. Besides snacks and drinks, no compensation was provided.



Figure 8.13: Participants' responses to the levels of (a) immersion and (b) realism during the second user study.

8.9 USER STUDY II: RESULTS

In the following, the results of this second controlled experiment are reported. At the beginning of the section, details of the analysis methods are given, followed by the quantitative results and qualitative feedback of the participants.

8.9.1 Analysis

A non-parametric analysis of the questionnaires' results was performed, using Friedman's test to reveal significant effects. If tests indicated significance, Bonferroni-corrected Wilcoxon rank-sum tests for the pairwise posthoc analysis were performed. Because of the ordinal nature of the data, the median values \tilde{x} will be reported.

8.9.2 Level of Immersion

The analysis indicated significant effects ($\chi^2(3) = 21.84$, p < .001) of the participants' immersion rating. Hereby, the best immersion ratings were observed for conditions using KINESTHETIC feedback. Post-hoc tests revealed significant different immersion ratings between the NO-HAPTICS baseline ($\tilde{x} = 2$) and a KINESTHETIC actuation ($\tilde{x} = 4$, p < .001), as well as with combined feedback ($\tilde{x} = 4$, p < .001). There were no significant effects between KINESTHETIC and COMBINED feedback (p > .05), as well as for all VIBROTACTILE conditions ($\tilde{x} = 3$, all p > .05). The responses are visualized in Figure 8.13a.



Figure 8.14: Participants' responses to the levels of (a) enjoyment and (b) support during the second user study. The support question did not include the NO-HAPTICS baseline.

8.9.3 Level of Realism

The analysis indicated significant effects for the level of realism ($\chi^2(3) = 22.45$, p < 0.001). Post-hoc tests revealed that there is a significant higher rating for realism between KINESTHETIC ($\tilde{x} = 4$) and NO-HAPTIC feedback ($\tilde{x} = 2$, p < .05), as well as between COMBINED ($\tilde{x} = 4$) and NO-HAPTIC feedback (p < .01). While VIBROTACTILE was rated similar compared to the NO-HAPTIC baseline (both $\tilde{x} = 2$), there were only significant effects compared to COMBINED feedback (p < .05). The responses are visualized in Figure 8.13b.

8.9.4 Level of Enjoyment

The analysis revealed significant effects for the participants' enjoyment rating ($\chi^2(3) = 9.80$, p < .05). Pairwise comparisons further showed significant higher enjoyment ratings while having KINESTHETIC feedback enabled (KINESTHETIC: $\tilde{x} = 4$) compared to NO-HAPTICS ($\tilde{x} = 2$, p < .05). This was also the case between NO-HAPTICS and COMBINED feedback ($\tilde{x} = 4$, p < .05). However, no significant interaction effects were identified between VIBROTACTILE ($\tilde{x} = 4$) and NO-HAPTIC nor KINESTHETIC feedback (both p > .05). The responses are visualized in Figure 8.13c.

8.9.5 Support of the Actuation during the Task

For the analysis of the support of the additional feedback modalities, the NO-HAPTICS conditions were excluded. The analysis indicated significant effects ($\chi^2(3) = 23.26, p < .001$). However, the post-hoc analysis did not

reveal any interaction effects. All three feedback methods had similar median ratings (kinesthetic and combined: $\tilde{x} = 4$, vibrotactile: $\tilde{x} = 3$). The responses are visualized in Figure 8.13d.

8.9.6 *Ranking of Actuation Types*



Figure 8.15: The distribution of the ranking of all four actuation types, sorted from best to worst.

In a final questionnaire, the participants were asked to rank the types of feedback from best to worst. As expected, the NO-HAPTIC baseline performed the worst ($\tilde{x} = 4$). Although the vibrotactile feedback was generally rated as good, it only ranked third place compared to the others ($\tilde{x} = 3$). However, while conditions with KINESTHETIC feedback performed better ($\tilde{x} = 2$), the combined feedback was ranked as the best type of actuation ($\tilde{x} = 1$). The complete distribution of all rankings is shown in Figure 8.15.

8.9.7 Qualitative Feedback

To better frame the quantitative measurements and for additional feedback, participants were asked to provide verbal feedback throughout the study, noted down by the experimenter, as well as through unstructured interviews afterward. Generally, participants were enthusiastic about the **KINESTHETIC** actuation. They enjoyed the active forces (P10, P12) and described it as an *"interesting concept"* (P6). Especially the CA was positively highlighted (P10, P11, P12) and participants described them as a practical addition with a stronger force than imagined before (P5, P6). During the *wire cutting* game, participants appreciated the idea of "getting actively warned before cutting a wrong wire" (P7), and that it "almost felt realistic as if the wires are powered" (P8) while having KINESTHETIC feedback. Further, such direct feedback made the game easier for some participants (P6, P9, P12), in particular, compared to the NO-HAPTIC baseline (P2, P12). Two participants also mentioned the "effect of surprise at the moment of explosion" as the KINESTHETIC actuation confronted them with directed force (P2, P3). However, one participant criticized that it now "does all the work [for me]" (P11).

The *robots in space* game was perceived as fun and shooting lasers with both, KINESTHETIC and VIBROTACTILE feedback, was well received (P5, P9). Though, one participant found the stuttering inflations that were supposed to provide a robotic feeling while moving as "*annoying*" (P11).

While the first two applications were mostly positively received, the exergame had mixed receptions. Although some participants appreciated that a KINESTHETIC actuation gave a "good impression of counterforce" (P1, P2, P5, P11), some others felt that the weights were "too artificial" (P4, P6) or just "not heavy enough while doing the exercises" (P7).

When asking for comparisons between the KINESTHETIC and VIBROTACTILE feedback, most participants preferred either the KINESTHETIC OR COMBINED actuation (P7, P9, P11). For example, P3 missed on-body feedback during the vibrotactile condition, and P12 missed the additional challenge without KINESTHETIC counterforces. However, one participant reported that although "the pneumatic (KINESTHETIC) actuation was very intense and useful (during the exergame), for playing the other games, vibration seemed sufficient" (P6).

With regards to technical aspects of the PNEUMACT system, one participant appreciated the "synchronous interaction between games and jacket" (P4), whereas two others criticized that the KINESTHETIC actuation should apply faster (P2, P7). In summary, most participants appraised the positive effects of a KINESTHETIC actuation, and, supported by the aforementioned analysis, the concepts worked even better COMBINED with VIBROTACTILE feedback of the game controllers.

8.10 DISCUSSION ON KINESTHETIC FEEDBACK IN SYNERGY WITH VI-BROTACTILE ACTUATION

While the findings from the first study with regards to the effects of inflation durations and patterns were already discussed in Section 8.6.3, the second study was focused on the actual performance of such kinesthetic feedback during different VR applications.

As supported by the analysis, the additional kinesthetic actuation could result in higher realism, enjoyment, and immersion ratings compared to controller-based vibrotactile stimuli and the no-haptics baseline. Yet, this was somewhat expected beforehand, since the sample applications were specifically designed for scenarios that benefit from a kinesthetic actuation. However, the vibrotactile stimuli were already found to be adequate for some of the scenarios, resulting in relatively high ratings during the evaluation. Although kinesthetic actuation creates a more immersive experience in many areas, vibrotactile stimuli will not be replaced in the intermediate-term given their low implementation cost and ease of placement on different parts of the body. Moreover, it is important to understand that one technique does not entirely exclude the other and it is important to find synergies in how different haptic components can interact with each other. Hereby it seemed to be sufficient to just have any vibration during the combined condition, while for vibrotactile-only, the feedback appeared to be requiring a more sophisticated actuation that would be able to completely replicate a realistic sensation. In this manner, the results for conditions with combined kinesthetic actuation and vibrotactile stimuli were reported to be in fact higher than the isolated stimuli.

8.11 LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE WORK

The concepts, system, and studies come with some limitations that can be addressed for future iterations and discussed in the following.

8.11.1 *Other Body Parts*

In both studies, the elbow joint between the upper arm and forearm was considered. While this proved the overall idea and concept of such an actuation, other body parts need to be considered as well for the future. For example, the legs with their knee joints respectively might behave similarly to the arms. As such, it could be interesting to investigate how participants would react when they are forced to sit or get up, or even to be guided on a certain path, similar to EMS based approaches [PDR16; Pfe+15]. However, those encompass the *quadriceps* which is typically larger and stronger than the arms' *biceps* and *triceps* [Ric97]. This means that the actuators might need stronger forces or even different designs to avoid motion constraints. In particular, body parts with different anatomical properties, such as the back or shoulder, would require such adjustments. Yet, the back would be interesting to investigate as kinesthetic feedback might help for posture correction and rehabilitation. Another example would be an actuation of the hands or even each finger. This would require much smaller actuators, however, could be probably implemented with a weaker air supply, e.g., through small membrane pumps.

8.11.2 Wearability

The design for the actuators was kept flexible to fit the different sizes of the participants. However, this increased the setup as each actuator had to be carefully placed in the correct position and to provide the same actuation for each participant. Individualized actuators could increase wearability and reduce initial preparation steps. Similar to the PNEUMOVOLLEY prototype (see Chapter 5), the prototype relied on a large peripheral air compressor that provided the actuators with air through long tubes going to the participants. This allowed for mostly unconstraint movements during the VR sessions, however, might reduce the freedom of the participants during more *active* scenarios.

To overcome this limitation, future prototypes could use small gas-filled cartridges or mechanical pumps that distribute the air from a separate air-filled container to an actuator, as also described in the limitations section of the MECHANORECEPTION chapter 5.8.3. However, while the

pressure-based actuation only required to fill small cushions that can be inflated rapidly, the presented actuators in this chapter require much stronger forces and used actuators with a larger volume. As another option, fixed ports leading to compressed air - to which a pneumaticbased system can be easily coupled - could be installed in stationary setups, such as 4D cinemas or VR arcades.

8.11.3 Motion Guidance

The field of motion guidance is a particularly interesting application area for kinesthetic feedback. Motion guidance can guide users to perform a specific action or to assist in learning new movements (e.g., [Che+16; Sch+12; Els+21]). The presented kinesthetic feedback within the scope of this chapter could provide another level for such guidance, however, further studies are necessary to see how it affects the training or learning effects of users.

8.11.4 From Kinesthetic Actuation to Proprioception

This chapter presented novel methods for kinesthetic and motion actuation. Such actuation allows to actively engage users to perform specific motions or movements. Further, while this stimulates proprioceptive receptors and afferents through KINESTHESIA, it needs more investigations on how such kinesthetic actuation affects the proprioceptive sensation of body position. For example, how such actuations can be used to make a user aware or unaware of the own motion while at the same time overriding the own PROPRIOCEPTION, similarly to *redirected walking* research [Ste+08; Ste+10; APS19].

8.12 CONCLUSION

In this chapter, interaction concepts that activate the PROPRIOCEPTION by using kinesthetic feedback were investigated. Considering human physiology, technologies, such as Pneumatical Artifical Muscle (PAM) for concentric and the pressure-based actuators as described in Chapter 5 for eccentric actuation, were leveraged to create kinesthetic actuators that can actively elicit body movements. Further, to get a comprehensive picture of the parameters required for the actuators, taking the arm as an example, an initial user study was conducted to assess how different actuation patterns and durations affect the deflection around the arm joint. Based on the findings, these insights were adapted in three VR example applications that employed both types of actuators. In a second user study, the effects of the kinesthetic feedback on immersion, realism, and enjoyment in the three VR applications were assessed and compared with vibrotactile feedback and a no-haptics baseline.

As part of the results, it was shown that vibrotactile actuation was typically insufficient for realistic sensation, while the kinesthetic actuators could improve immersion, realism, and overall experience. Further, with consideration of the somatosensory interaction, the findings of this chapter also illustrated the importance of combined stimuli, as a pairing of kinesthetic and vibrotactile feedback resulted in even more promising effects, even though vibrotactile actuation alone would primarily affect only the FINE MECHANORECEPTION.

Part V

PROTOTYPING

9	ActuBoard: An Open Prototyping Platform for Ac-					
	tuat	ors 225				
	9.1	Contribution Statement and Publication 227				
	9.2	Chapter Structure				
	9.3	Requirements and Related Work				
	9.4	ActuBoard Concepts				
	9.5	ActuBoard Platform: Implementation Details 237				
	9.6	Illustrative Sample of Applications using Ac-				
		tuBoard				
	9.7	Limitations and Future Work243				
	9.8	Conclusion				

ACTUBOARD: AN OPEN PROTOTYPING PLATFORM FOR ACTUATORS

Chapter Overview: Platform Contribution										
Related Publications: ActuBoard: An Open Rapid Prototyping Platform to integrate Hardware Actuators in Remote Applications										
Rapid Prototyping	Open Source	Off-the ShelfActuators	Hardware Platform							

In the previous chapters, a variety of prototypes were designed and developed to evaluate novel interaction concepts. Each prototype was unique since each one had to serve the evaluation of a specific type of somatosensory stimuli, in particular for vibrotactile, thermal, kinesthetic, or pressure-based actuations. Although these prototypes addressed different stimuli, their purpose always remained the same: a haptic actuation on the body. Thereby, the initial steps to achieve this common goal, despite different setups, were mostly similar or even identical from an electronic perspective, and providing stimuli for the somatosensory system requires the control of suitable actuators. Yet, also outside of the scope of this thesis, the design, and communication with hardware devices plays a crucial role in the whole field of prototyping in HCI, for example for mobile devices, wearables, and smart home appliances that have to drive actuators. In this chapter, a novel prototyping platform is presented that was designed and developed to support the implementation of haptic devices to easily control actuators, called ACTUBOARD.

While through the emergence of accessible tinker platforms, such as Arduino ¹ or Teensy², and tool-assisted circuitry designers [Lo+19; AGF17; Wu+19], prototyping has already become a lot easier and faster, but it typically still requires basic knowledge of electrical engineering [Boo+16; Mel+16]. Also, repetitive steps at the beginning of each process have to be performed over and over again before researchers can focus on the investigation of interaction concepts and techniques.

¹ https://www.arduino.cc/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

² https://www.pjrc.com/teensy/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

Thus, ACTUBOARD was designed as a rapid prototyping platform to minimize those initial and repetitive steps for controlling actuators. Drawing from the experiences gained during the development of TACTILEGLOVE and PNEUMACT, the requirements for a unified toolkit were derived and resulted in the ACTUBOARD platform that provides (1) quick assembly, (2) less preparation work, and (3) better catering to the needs of nontech-savvy users compared to traditional approaches. Therefore, this platform is not intended to replace existing prototyping platforms, such as Arduino or Gadgeteer, or deny their usefulness. Its purpose is to provide a specific alternative allowing for rapid prototyping of actuatorbased devices with special attention paid to the needs of somatosensory stimuli, including additional software interfaces for applications in AR/VR or other environments. Throughout this dissertation, the versatility of ACTUBOARD could be shown as it was used as the basis for the development of the THERMINATOR, PNEUMOVOLLEY, and SMOOTH AS STEELWOOL prototypes, and actively supported each step in their design processes. Further, ACTUBOARD was published as an open source to support other researchers who already built upon in creating novel systems for haptic actuation. Summarizing, ACTUBOARD has the following core features:

- **Flexible and Versatile**: A high versatility of off-the-shelf components with no constraints to pre-defined or proxy modules.
- **Plug-And-Play Connection**: The support of actuators with up to 24 V. No necessity to write a single line of firmware on the microcontroller. All hardware-related addressing is handled by the underlying framework.
- **Application Support and Communication Interface**: Ready-to-use C# and serial communication interfaces for fast integration into own applications.
- **Inclusion of non-tech-savvy users**: Less preparation work and electrical engineering knowledge are necessary as breadboarding and soldering of circuitry is not required.
- **Open Source**: All hardware details and software implementations were published as Open Source³.

³ https://git.tk.informatik.tu-darmstadt.de/sebastian.guenther/actuboard-p ublic (accessed March 01, 2022)

9.1 CONTRIBUTION STATEMENT AND PUBLICATION

This chapter is based on the following publication:

Sebastian Günther, Florian Müller, Felix Hübner, Max Mühlhäuser, and Andrii Matviienko. "ActuBoard: An Open Rapid Prototyping Platform to integrate Hardware Actuators in Remote Applications." In: *Companion Proceedings of the 13th ACM SIGCHI Symposium on Engineering Interactive Computing Systems*. EICS '21 Companion. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2021. DOI: 10.1145/3459 926.3464757

Contribution Statement: I led the idea creation, conceptual design, requirements definition, implementation supervision, and writing. The former student *Felix Hübner* shared his experiences of electrical engineering and carried out the Printed Circuit Board (PCB) design process under my supervision. *Florian Müller* and *Andrii Matviienko* assisted with the writing process. *Max Mühlhäuser* supervised the design and writing process.

• Some contents of this chapter might contain verbatim parts of the aforementioned publication.

9.2 CHAPTER STRUCTURE

The remainder of this chapter is structured as follows: Based on a review of existing platforms and relevant research, requirements for an actuation platform are defined in Section 9.3. The design and implementation of the platform is then presented in Section 9.5, followed by an example workflow comparing ActuBoard with traditional prototyping methods. In Section 9.6, existing projects relying on the platform are presented. Afterward, Sections 9.7 and 9.8 discuss the limitations and potential future work, as well concluding the chapter.

9.3 REQUIREMENTS AND RELATED WORK

Working with prototypes and hardware tinkering is essential for many projects. While there is a huge community that released a large body of open source platforms, toolkits, and systems to make the development of prototypes easier, all of them have individual requirements or focus on certain aspects that were more or less suitable for the prototypes presented in this work. Therefore, as a first step, experiences of past projects and related work were gathered (e.g., [Boo+16; Mel+16; VSH10; Mar+14; BH10; BH22; Min+12; Vil+15; SK10]) which resulted in the following seven requirements that were essential for future prototypes in the field.

REQA1. EMPHASIZE OFF-THE-SHELF COMPONENTS

Haptic prototypes often need to support off-the-shelf components as custom actuators would tend to be time-consuming and costinefficient to produce. Further, tinkers should not be restricted by pre-defined components that only work with certain platforms, meaning the range of supported actuators should be broad as possible, also including differing electronic specifications, such as a power supply beyond the typical 3.3 or 5 V.

REQA2. PROVIDE PLUG-AND-PLAY

To effectively reduce repetitive hardware steps, simplicity of the configuration is desirable and minimal knowledge about hardware or electrical engineering should be required. Therefore, a plug-and-play approach has to allow for a direct connection of actuators in a way that developers do not have to take care of circuitry protection and handling during unexpected failures.

REQA3. REQUIRE NO FIRMWARE CODING

Likewise to the plug-and-play requirement, a developer should not spend additional time writing repetitive boilerplate code or need to be concerned about low-level firmware programming. Therefore, an actuator platform should already provide firmware that can handle any off-the-shelf actuator component.

REQA4. PROVIDE AN COMMUNICATION INTERFACE

Besides repetitive firmware code, prototypes typically need to have additional communication interfaces if they are driven by external applications, such as VR environments running on faster hardware. Therefore, providing an easy communication interface that can be included in existing or new applications with minimal effort, reduces the overall demand for boilerplate code. At best, such an interface is abstracted, platform-independent, and flexible to changing requirements.

REQA5. BE SMALL, MOBILE, WIRELESS

A beneficial requirement for a prototyping platform is to be as compact, lightweight, and mobile as possible. Hence, prototypes should stay sufficiently small while making them amenable to mobile and wearable applications due to their form factor. As more and more AR and VR applications are focusing on mobile and wearable aspects, a wireless connection should be available to reduce the amount of wiring and increase flexibility.

REQA6. BE AFFORDABLE

Prototypes typically are going through many iterations and often can not provide the same robustness as commercially available products. Further, high costs would result in a high burden to reproduce a platform due to a low cost-efficiency. Therefore, one requirement for a platform within the scope of this work is to be low-cost and affordable.

REQA7. PROVIDE DEBUGGING INTERFACES

Although using the platform is supposed to be less error-prone, there will be always steps that require the debugging of components. Either because an actuator could be broken or the whole system is malfunctioning. Therefore, proper debugging interfaces should be available to allow developers to quickly identify issues or to even faster try out certain aspects by just controlling an actuator through a debug tool.

Reqa8. Embrace somatosensory interaction

An additional requirement, particularly in relation to this thesis, is the consideration of somatosensory interaction. Therefore, all stimuli that are related to the somatosensory system, including FINE MECHANORECEPTION, PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION, THERMOCEPTION, and PROPRIOCEPTION, should be supported by the platform or at least offer suitable control for this group of actuators.

9.3.1 Prototyping Platforms

Over the last two decades, a multitude of tinker and prototyping platforms have been established, which were especially accelerated due to the advent of the Arduino ecosystem in 2005 [Kus11] and groundbreaking research work [Lee+04]. Thereby, two main types of platforms have emerged: (1) low-level, and (2) component-based platforms.

Low-level platforms typically provide high flexibility that allows developers to fully control an almost infinite amount of actuators and sensors. Apart from the popular Arduino platform and its forks and derivates, other accessible microcontroller systems were established and offer accessible hardware interfaces, such as the ESP family⁴, Teensy, or Photon⁵, all up to more specialized educational-focused platforms, such as Micro:bit⁶ [Sen+17; Aus+20] or TinkerForge⁷. However, with high flexibility and freedom, complexity increases and may constrain inexperienced users. Similarly, the components often require at least breadboarding of electric parts or even soldering.

As one solution, component-based or module-based systems tried to fill those gaps by finding a trade-off between flexibility and simplicity through pre-defined plug-and-play components. Popular ecosystems hereby are the Seeed Grove⁸ and Microsoft Gadgeteer platforms [VSH10]. Their advantage lies in their easy-accessible modules that can be linked to the main controller and, for example in the case of Gadgeteer, easily integrated into high-level applications. However, such modules also typically are higher priced than regular counterparts, and often not all desired functionalities, i.e., when requiring more uncommon types of actuators, may be available. While those platforms can also address standard off-the-shelf actuators through breakout modules, it again requires the same effort as low-level platforms.

Another requirement that is often not met, is that existing platforms typically focus on prototypes that are solely based on the microcontroller itself. This means that external applications that could control a prototype would still require some kind of communication interface

⁴ https://www.espressif.com/en/products/devkits (accessed March 01, 2022)

⁵ https://docs.particle.io/photon/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

⁶ https://microbit.org/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

⁷ https://www.tinkerforge.com/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

⁸ https://www.seeedstudio.com/category/Grove-c-1003.html (accessed March 01, 2022)

to be written. Single-board computers, in contrast, provide direct interfaces for input and output, such as Raspberry Pi⁹, Banana Pi¹⁰, or BeagleBoard¹¹. Though very powerful, they are to date still not able to run demanding graphic intensive VR applications.

The presented systems are of course just a subset of a large number of existing prototyping platforms. However, as summarized in Table 9.1, all existing platforms introduce specific advantages but none of them provided all the features that were completely satisfying for designing the prototypes required within the scope of this thesis. More flexible platforms, such as Arduino, inevitably introduce more complexity for users. Less complex platforms, such as Gadgeteer, sacrifice flexibility for simpler usage. And yet, both require the coding of firmware or communication interfaces. In particular, these compromises often impose a constraint on the rapid development of systems that involve the exploration of interaction concepts rather than hardware tinkering, or that have a limited scope that cannot be equipped with off-the-shelf components without a great deal of effort (e.g., using breakout boards). Table 9.1 highlights the features of common prototyping platforms compared to the presented requirements that were defined for ActuBoARD.

9.3.2 Prototyping in Research

In addition to commercial and open-source prototyping platforms, research, tinker, and the industry introduced several toolkits and systems that allow for specialized prototyping. Some of them are allowing the planning and creation of virtual prototypes [Garo3; ALV14], providing tool-based circuit designers [Lo+19; AGF17; Wan+16], or even AR and VR supported tools [Kel+18; Kim+2ob]. However, for a haptic actuation or tangibles, physical hardware prototypes are necessary. Therefore, some related work used custom tangibles for the exploration of interaction concepts (e.g., [Led+12; Gal+16; Lec+16]) or use proxy modules to create low-fidelity prototypes [Wu+19]. While fast in their domain, those are limited to the features provided by each device. Similar to the Grove and Gadgeteer platforms [VSH10], research proposed hardware toolkits with pre-defined sets of actuators (e.g., [Lee+04; SK10; Vil+15; Min+12; BH10]). However, this also leads to the same drawbacks of

⁹ https://www.raspberrypi.org/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

¹⁰ http://www.banana-pi.org/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

¹¹ https://beagleboard.org/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

Requirement	ActuBoard	Arduino	ESP32	Grove	Gadgeteer	Raspberry PI
ReqA1: Off-the-Shelf components	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	1	1	\checkmark
ReqA2: Plug-And-Play	\checkmark	-	-	\checkmark	\checkmark	-
ReqA3: No Firmware Coding	\checkmark	-	-	-	\checkmark	-
ReqA4: Communication Interface	\checkmark	-	-	-	\checkmark	\checkmark
ReqA5: Small, Mobile, Wireless	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
ReqA6: Low Cost and Affordable	2	\checkmark	\checkmark	3	-	\checkmark
ReqA7: Debugging	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
ReqA8: Somatosensory Interaction	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark

Table 9.1: Requirements comparison of ActuBoard to commonly used tinkering and hardware platforms.

 Possible with breakout modules but then in conflict with Req2. 2 Currently no mass production, thus, higher initial costs. 3 Available pre-configured components are more expensive than the same regular off-the-shelf electronics.

having a limited amount of pre-defined modules and no support for plug-and-play off-the-shelf actuators. Others use custom platforms for (capacitive) sensing of user input but can not control actuators, i.e. they are restricted to sensing input [Gro+13; Sch+21].

Further, from a software perspective (e.g., [Lin+19]), there are some published tools to support the actuation of vibrotactile feedback [Mar+14; PAB13; Nor16], or other haptic feedback [Del+18; SPV14; PRR10]. Thus, the focus of this work is on creating interaction behaviors and mapping actuator responses during specific events, but not on creating prototypes themselves.

To summarize, existing tinkering platforms and related work presented interesting and powerful tools that made prototyping easier than ever before. However, they are mostly aiming for high versatility with a focus on creating hardware devices, thus, lacking special attention to the easy usage of actuators for somatosensory interactions. As a consequence, the respective chapters of this thesis could provide a larger picture of what aspects are essential when working with hardware actuators and none of the aforementioned platforms could completely fulfill the introduced requirements. Further, while they all share low entry barriers by abstracting the direct work with just a microcontroller, most of them still require longer learning phases and basic knowledge of electrical engineering that can draw important time from the actual investigation of interaction concepts.

9.4 ACTUBOARD CONCEPTS

Based on the aforementioned requirements, concepts were elaborated for designing an effective and user-friendly platform that is also accessible to non-tech-savvy users. As a foundation for this, a powerful controller must be available, which takes care of the addressing of individual actuators. This controller needs to have sophisticated firmware so that a tinker does not need to write any additional hardware code (ReqA₃). Furthermore, in order to be user-friendly, the hardware platform should be capable of communicating directly with a remote application (ReqA4), either wired or wirelessly, e.g. via the most common interfaces, USB and Bluetooth (ReqA5). Again, to be as convenient as possible for the user, a communication interface or API should be provided which is easy to integrate and understand, e.g. through a serial interface or libraries for high-level programming languages, such as C# that is common for AR/VR applications. Further, additional debugging can be provided by using flexible serial interfaces or separate utilities (ReqA₇).

Similarly, to reduce the effort in electronics, off-the-shelf components should be supported (ReqA1; more details on types of actuators in the next Section 9.4.1), by already providing all electronic circuitry, such as resistors or safety diodes, to drive the actuators, allowing all actuators to be easily connected via plug-and-play (ReqA2). To be as versatile as possible, a further separation of the controller and the plug-and-play ports is advisable. Here, single or multiple hubs may be connected to a single controller and host a certain number of actuators as desired (ReqA2). On top of that, this will also allow a smaller size of the entire system for just a few actuators (ReqA5), but modular extensibility for larger quantities.

All these concepts of course also assist in providing a quick and uncomplicated integration for modern AR/VR applications and thus also offer



Figure 9.1: Concept and architecture of the ActuBoard platform: (a) An application is running on a regular computer using the provided software interface and connected to the (b) ActuBoard controller, responsible for handling the addressing of actuators. Therefore, (c) coupled and stackable Hubs with individual power supplies provide plug-and-play support for a large number of (d) different types of hardware actuators. These can work stand-alone or directly (e) actuate a user, for example, while (f) in a VR environment. Further, (g) a possibility for debugging is provided.

haptic interaction for such environments. For an architectural image illustrating the concepts, see Figure 9.1.

9.4.1 Supported Types of Actuators

Considering off-the-shelf components, the following two complementary types of actuators are supported by ActuBoard: (1) discretely controlled, and (2) continuously controlled actuators.

DISCRETELY CONTROLLED ACTUATORS

This type of actuator is the most basic as they mostly have only one or a few distinct states. This ranges from an active or disabled state of an actuator, such as a basic on/off property of a lamp, to setting discrete states, such as different levels of an electric lift.

CONTINUOUSLY CONTROLLED ACTUATORS

A large number of actuators are not limited to binary states (e.g., on and off) but have a continuous range of different states. Those can be vibrotactile actuators which are controlled by their frequency, the speed of DC motors, or the intensity of electrothermal Peltier elements.

Additionally, in the context of this thesis, the support for actuators that are suitable for use in the field of somatosensory interaction has to be emphasized (ReqA8). Since off-the-shelf components are already considered, a large part of this type of actuator is already included. For example, controlling valves for air supply for pressure-based feedback is possible (cf. Chapter 5 and 8), controlling of pumps (cf. Chapter 7) or modulating the intensity of vibration motors (cf. Chapter 4 and 6). Likewise, other components that were not employed in this work but apply to somatosensory interaction can be actuated, such as thermoelectric Peltier elements, EMS units, or ultrasound modules.

9.4.2 Pipeline and Workflow

As a result of considering the aforementioned requirements and based on the concepts, the workflow necessary to use hardware actuators reduces compared to traditional approaches. As visualized in Figure 9.2, with both approaches it is first necessary to identify the specifications of the actuators. However, while the traditional approach would require a deeper understanding of all technical requirements, only the voltage would be necessary for ACTUBOARD. More critical and time-consuming, however, are the following steps of traditional approaches where the electronic setup has to be performed, including the selection of correct electronic components, such as fitting resistors, the wiring (and soldering) of the circuitry, coding microcontroller firmware to handle the actuators, and coding of a communication interface on the microcontroller and a remote application. With ACTUBOARD, these repetitive hardware steps and coding of boilerplate code are minimized as only the actuators have to be connected using a plug-and-play approach and the communication interface has to be imported to the application. In conclusion, the ACTUBOARD concepts reduce initial setup steps and, further, decrease the required knowledge of electrical engineering.



Figure 9.2: Comparison of the typical pipeline on how to connect and control actuators with a traditional approach and with ActuBoard. (a) The traditional process requires more manual wiring, soldering, and setup, as well as writing a communication interface to control actuators. (b) ActuBoard reduces those efforts by a plug-and-play approach directly addressing the usage of actuators. The colors of each step represent the preparation (blue), hardware (orange), and application (green) phases.

9.4.2.1 *Example Workflow*

Before discussing the implementation details, this simplified example should illustrate how prototyping with ACTUBOARD differs from traditional approaches. Therefore, this conceptual example was intentionally selected to show a use-case outside of somatosensory interaction to be easy to follow, while more specific sample applications that were built on top of the ACTUBOARD will be presented later in this chapter (Section 9.6).

In this example situation, Alice wants to automatically water her plants. Therefore, she already designed a web application that receives and processes weather information. However, she still needs an actuator that releases water to the plant pot when the application identifies a very hot day. For this, she found a magnetic solenoid valve as most suitable and attaches it to a water source.

With a traditional approach, she now has to check all specifications of the valve, needs a proper microcontroller, an additional power supply for the valve, and a transistor and resistor to switch the valve. Also, a safety diode is recommended to ensure that individual components are protected from currents. Though, this requires a lot of wiring, soldering, and most importantly: time. And still, the communication interface between the microcontroller and her application is missing.

In contrast, when using ACTUBOARD, Alice only needs to find the appropriate solenoid valve and plug the valve together with a fitting power


Figure 9.3: Example workflow to connect and actuate a solenoid valve when using (a) a traditional method with an Arduino and required electronic components, and (b) ACTUBOARD where the solenoid valve can be directly plugged-in. *This Figure uses breadboard view* graphics from fritzing.org, licensed under CC Attribution-ShareALike (CC BY-SA 3.0).

supply into an ActuBoard Hub. Further, for communication only importing the provided interface is necessary. There is no need to delve into technical details, yet she has full control over a large part of commercially available actuators she wants to use. Even if she plans to water more than one plant or use different valves, she just has to get them and plug each directly into the ActuBoard instead of repeating the time-consuming steps and writing boilerplate code. Both methods for this example are depicted in Figure 9.3.

9.5 ACTUBOARD PLATFORM: IMPLEMENTATION DETAILS

In the following, the implementation details of ActuBoard are presented, based on the previously introduced concepts. Thereby, the most important design decision was the separation of two main components: (1) the CONTROLLER, and (2) HUBS.

The Controller is managing the addressing of actuators, as well as the communication through a serial interface. The Hubs are stackable, interconnected extension boards that allow to host up to ten actuators each. Every Hub further provides a separate power plug to supply the connected actuators. The Controller delegates commands to each Hub via an I^2C interface with a maximum of 12 Hubs connected. Figure 9.4 a depicts a 3D rendering of the platform, while Figures 9.4 b and c shows the final device with the ActuBoard Controller and connected Hubs. As ActuBoard was planned as open-source from the beginning, the



Figure 9.4: The ActuBoard platform shown as (a) 3D rendering, (b) final prototype with one Controller and one connected Hub, and (c) with a total of five attached Hubs. For a convenient method to connect actuators, (d) small connector plugs were used.

source code, hardware schematics, and every other necessary information to build and use the platform are available in a public GIT repository¹².

9.5.1 ActuBoard Controller

The Controller manages the addressing of the actuators and is responsible for the serial communication with an external application. For compatibility reasons, an ESP32 microcontroller with full Arduino library support¹³ was embedded on the PCB, as it provides powerful processing capabilities and already supports USB, Bluetooth, and WiFi interfaces (Figure 9.4 b). Further, the ESP32 comes with an I^2C interface bus which is used for the communication with the HUBS (see Section 9.5.2). In addition, the I^2C bus is used for supply pins, shared clock data, and an additional output enable/disable channel to toggle all actuators simultaneously by demand. As the main actuation of Ac-TUBOARD happens through the HUBS via the I^2C interface, the default I/O pins of the underlying ESP32 controller remain unassigned and can be used for different purposes if needed, such as the controlling of more complex actuators, sensors, and other input electronics.

¹² https://git.tk.informatik.tu-darmstadt.de/sebastian.guenther/actuboard-p
 ublic (accessed March 01, 2022)

¹³ https://github.com/espressif/arduino-esp32 (accessed March 01, 2022)

9.5.2 ActuBoard Hubs

The HUBS are custom PCB that host up to ten actuators each. All of the actuators are connected via a plug-and-play approach as shown in Figure 9.4 d. The HUBS are communicating with a CONTROLLER using an I^2C bus with the lower 4 bits of the address pins as base ID. The base ID for each HUB has to be within the range of 0 to 11, settable through jumper pins. Further, the bus is used for addressing each actuator on a HUB ranging from port IDs between 0 and 9. In total, this results in up to 12 addressable HUBS and a maximum of 120 actuators for one ActuBOARD device. An example with five connected HUBS on one CONTROLLER is depicted in Figure 9.4 c.

To drive the actuators, each HuB uses 16-channel LED drivers (*PCA9635PW*) with a fixed PWM frequency of 97 kHz and a 8-bit resolution. An additional group PWM is used for setting a blinking pattern for actuators at a frequency of 190 Hz. This allows for an on/off pattern with intervals between 24 Hz and 1/10.73 s. Further, each channel uses high-side MOSFETs (*CSD17579Q3A*) with a current of up to 11 A and a RS_{ON} of less than $30m\Omega$. Additional safety diodes are used to protect the components from potential inductive loads. This also makes it possible to have one power input for each HuB to cope with different power requirements of up to 24 V.

9.5.3 Communication Interface

As one of the main requirements, ACTUBOARD has to communicate with external applications that may run power-demanding applications, such as VR. Therefore, a communication interface had to be implemented which is simple to integrate and directly controls actuators (cf. Figure 9.2). Therefore, ACTUBOARD provides an easy-to-use serial communication that comes with all necessary commands and instructions, such as setting a single or multiple actuators to certain PWM values or enabling and disabling all ports. Also, commands to enable a *blinking* of actuators (automatically toggle actuators on and off periodically), list all IDs of connected Hubs, and toggling additional debug messages are implemented.

Command Description	Command	Length	Channel	MMd	Interval	Boolean	Example
Set single Channel PWM	s		0-119	0-255			S01FF\r
Read single Channel PWM	R		0-119				Ro1\r
Set n Channels to 1 PWM	m	0-119	$\operatorname{len}\times\operatorname{ch}$	0-255			m03010203FF\r
Set n Channels to n PWM	n	0-119	$\operatorname{len}\times\operatorname{ch}$	array			no20102CoDo\r
Set blinking Interval	Ι				0-255 × 41.6 ms		I10\r
Set blinking Duty Cycle	i				int/256		i40\r
Set blinking to single Channel	G		0-119			0/1	G0101\r
Set blinking to n Channels	g	0-119	$\operatorname{len}\times\operatorname{ch}$			$\text{len} \times \text{o}/\text{1}$	g0201020101\r
Enable / Disable Output	0					0/1	O01\r
List connected Hubs	L						L\r
Toggle Debug Mode	D						D\r

Table 9.2: Available serial commands for controlling actuators. Each begins with a unique identifier, followed by instruction and payload in 2-Byte Hex notation. The example column shows how each command should be formated to be correctly interpreted. The response to each command is $'\r' = 0x0D$ on success or 'BEL' = 0x07 on error. Abbreviations: ch = channel, len = length, int = interval.

As the communication between application and actuators has to be fast to mitigate any delay, the serial communication BAUD rate is set to 115200 and instructions are as short as possible. Therefore, each command consists of 1 Byte for the command type (e.g., S for setting a single actuator), 2 Bytes for the actuator ID (including the address of the HuB and actuator port), and 2 Bytes for the PWM value. Some more complex commands, such as setting multiple channels with different PWM values at once, are similar but use 4 Bytes more for each addressed actuator and additional 2 Bytes for the number (length) of the actuators. A complete list of all commands and instructions including examples are shown in Table 9.2.

Besides the serial interface that works with any platform and can be controlled through a terminal (command-line interface), an additional C# library is available. This library allows for using the serial commands in the same way as through a terminal but also with easy-to-read wrapper methods. Further, it is completely .NET 3.5 compatible to be used in applications using the Unity engine as it is one of the most used engines for VR¹⁴.

¹⁴ based on an official Unity statement https://twitter.com/unity3d/status/1256256
504098947080

9.5.3.1 Debugging

For uncomplicated debugging, two interfaces are available. The first method to connect directly to an ActuBoard is a serial connection where users can monitor the state of individual ports and the current status of the **CONTROLLER**. The second method is a standalone software tool that is based on the provided C# library. It comes with a clean user interface that allows sending custom commands, as well as all pre-defined commands to the ActuBoard. Through an included terminal-like output panel, additional debug information from the microcontroller can be displayed.

9.6 ILLUSTRATIVE SAMPLE OF APPLICATIONS USING ACTUBOARD

The ActuBoard platform was based on the demand for a rapid prototyping solution that can control a variety of actuators without much learning effort. In particular, a special focus was on the somatosensory interaction that evolves around THERMOCEPTION, FINE MECHANORECEP-TION, PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION, and PROPRIOCEPTION. Often, more technically inexperienced users, such as undergraduate students or designers, first had to get familiar with engineering before being able to work on interaction concepts. For example, during the development of PNEUMACT, the involved individuals had to learn which MOSFETs and resistors are necessary and how to communicate with an Arduino or ESP32 microcontroller. This took a long time until the prototype was ready to use and always delayed the important user studies. Based on this experience, the ActuBoard was created and already used in the following projects:

PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION: PNEUMOVOLLEY

For PNEUMOVOLLEY, the airflow coming from a strong air compressor had to be controlled to provide a pressure-based actuation on the head. Therefore, a total of six magnetic solenoid valves could be automatically inflated to provide realistic feedback of head contact with a volleyball in a VR game. More detailed implementation details can be found in Section 5.4.

STROKE SENSATIONS: SMOOTH AS STEEL WOOL

In Smooth as Steelwool, small solenoid valves had to be actuated

in order to control the pressure intensity of the silicone cushions hosting the textures with different roughness. Further, it was used to control the vibrotactile array that was used for one of the baseline comparisons. More detailed implementation information can be found in Section 6.5.2.

THERMOCEPTION: THERMINATOR

In this project, ACTUBOARD was used to support the thermal actuation that used liquids with different temperatures in a system of tubes on the body of the participants. Therefore, solenoid valves were controlled to regulate the liquid's flow and to control the connected water pump to provide warm and cold stimuli. More detailed implementation information can be found in Section 7.5.

FINE MECHANORECEPTION: VIBROMAP

This was the first project that was using ActuBoard outside the scope of this thesis, named VibroMap by Elsayed et al. [Els+2ob]. While there exist multiple research papers that investigated phantom sensations and their effectiveness with regard to the minimum and maximum distance between two vibrotactile actuators, there was no systematic comparison for phantom sensations on different body parts and orientations. Elsayed et al. [Els+2ob], therefore, conducted two user studies to investigate the FINE MECHANORECEPTION with vibrotactile stimuli on the wrist, lower arm, upper arm, back, torso, thigh, and leg in a transverse and longitudinal orientation. Hereby, ActuBoard was used to control ten vibration motors that created the illusion of continuous motion on each body part.

PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION: HAPTIC GLOVE

Again outside the work of this thesis, ACTUBOARD was also used during a lecture at the *Telecooperation Lab*, *Darmstadt*, highlighting its accessibility for novice users. In these projects, students designed a glove that provided haptic pressure-based feedback through small silicone bladders on the fingertip. ACTUBOARD helped to create a quick prototype and to perform a user study comparing its effects with vibrotactile feedback. This work was not published.

PROPRIOCEPTION AND KINESTHESIA: PNEUMACT

While ActuBoard was not used in this project, it was the predecessor for it. This means the PneumAct prototype could be easily replaced with the ACTUBOARD platform, for example, to control the Pneumatical Artifical Muscle (PAM).

Further Application Scenarios

While the above examples show actual implementations, the potential use-cases are not limited to them. The modular design provides the opportunity to use different types of off-the-shelf actuators with varying electronics and to address them in a variety of scenarios. While the previous projects mostly used ActuBoARD for haptic feedback in VR, similar situations in AR are possible. Further, EMS-based force feedback or tangible interaction are promising domains. Thanks to a small form factor, the platform could also directly be embedded in Internet of Things (IoT) devices. Moreover, as the platform is easy to learn and can help to rapidly implement prototypes, it shows potential for educational purposes to learn tinkering or the use of actuators, before having to understand much technical detail in a top-down approach, similar to existing educational platforms from different areas [Wal+20; BH10; Lec+16].

9.7 LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE WORK

ActuBoard is a novel prototyping platform with a special focus on hardware actuators and somatosensory interaction. However, some limitations are addressable for future improvements.

9.7.1 Support for Input Components and Sensors

As actuators are typically output (from a device perspective), Ac-TUBOARD currently only provides plug-and-play support for these types of components, i.e., controlling actuators and similar electronic parts. However, the support for input components, such as buttons or sensors, remains limited. While it is possible to connect such components directly to the free I/O pins of the underlying ESP32 embedded on the CONTROLLER (see 9.5.1), it requires similar efforts as using a traditional tinkering approach.

9.7.2 Support for Actuators with internal Logic

Another current limitation is the type of actuators that can be handled. ACTUBOARD only runs actuators that do not have internal logic, e.g., stepper motors requiring separate motor drivers. Yet, similar to input components, those can still be linked with the Controller's ESP32 as all I/O pins remain unreserved.

9.7.3 Direct Communication between multiple ActuBoards

As an additional extension for ACTUBOARD, a wireless intercommunication between multiple devices could leverage its potential for distributed IoT capabilities, or to support multilayered haptic devices that can automatically actuate based on the state of others.

To summarize, as highlighted by the projects that were already based on the ActuBoard platform, it was shown how it already enables fast prototyping that covers most of the application areas needed, including the design of haptic devices interacting with the somatosensory system. Moreover, all information is published as open-source to allow others to improve the current design for more individual purposes.

9.8 CONCLUSION

The initial aim of the ActuBoard was to enable the design of sophisticated prototypes for user studies that operate a variety of actuators in order to present and evaluate haptic stimuli. However, the applicability of ActuBoard is more extensive as it can be also used as a foundation for a large number of other application areas, such as controlling haptic entertainment systems in 4D cinemas, improving home automation, educating students, or driving actuators for virtual training or gym environments (see also Section 10.2). As the previous chapters on somatosensory interaction have underlined, reliable prototypes were essential for the investigation of interaction concepts of any kind. However, despite similar experimental setups, the initial steps in designing prototypes like this were often repetitive and, thus, cost time and effort needed for the actual experiments. Therefore, in this chapter, a rapid prototyping platform called Ac-TUBOARD was introduced that contributes to (1) quick assembly, (2) less preparation work, and (3) better catering to the needs of nontech-savvy users for prototyping. Thanks to a simple plug-and-play approach, which can accommodate up to 120 actuators of various designs and electronic requirements through stackable Hubs, as well as provided software interfaces for communication, the development process for the prototypes built in this work and were based on ActuBoard could be drastically reduced. Further, to share the benefits of this actuation platform with the community, all materials have been released as open-source and are freely available for replication.

9.8.1 Public Repository

All materials, sources, examples, renderings, libraries, and interfaces of ActuBoard can be found online in a public repository at https: //git.tk.informatik.tu-darmstadt.de/sebastian.guenther/act uboard-public.

Part VI

OUTLOOK AND CONCLUSION

10 Conclusions	249
10.1 Summary of Contributions	250
10.2 Integration and Future Work	252
10.3 Concluding Remarks	258

10

CONCLUSIONS

This thesis proposes novel interaction approaches for a haptic actuation of the somatosensory system in HCI. Therefore, this work contributes interaction concepts and techniques, based on the individual challenges and requirements of Fine Mechanoreception, Pressure-Based Mechanoreception, Thermoception, Proprioception, and Kinesthesia for applications in HCI and their contributions to the user experience as described with attributes like immersion, presence, realism, pleasantness, or their mutual interaction with other stimuli. Further, a rapidprototyping platform called ActuBoard was designed to address the special challenges when working with actuators for haptic feedback.

Therefore, a total of eight systematic user studies and controlled experiments have been conducted with individual prototypes that were designed to create a variety of haptic stimuli, such as vibrations, pressurebased feedback, hot and cold temperatures, and kinesthetic motion, in order to actuate the participants. In these studies, the perception of these haptic stimuli, their use for guidance purposes and remote assistance tasks, their effects on immersion, presence, and realism in VR, their pleasantness, and even their potential to alter the sensory perception, depending on the parameters of the actuation or their interaction with other stimuli, were investigated. For example, how thermal stimuli can influence the expected temperature perception of visualizations, or how combining kinesthetic actuation with subtle vibrotactile feedback can further enhance the user experience.

This final chapter summarizes the main contributions in Section 10.1, followed by sharing visions for potential concepts of future systems leveraging the findings of the presented interaction concepts in Section 10.2 and concluding remarks in Section 10.3.

10.1 SUMMARY OF CONTRIBUTIONS

The contributions of this thesis addressed the interaction with the so-MATOSENSORY SYSTEM from an HCI perspective as follows:

10.1.1 *Mechanoreception*

This was investigated in three chapters, each contributing to a specific aspect: (1) Fine Mechanoreception, (2) Pressure-based Mechanore-CEPTION, and (3) the combination of both for stroking stimuli.

10.1.1.1 Fine Mechanoreception

(1) First, the FINE MECHANORECEPTION was examined and interaction concepts were presented for using vibrotactile stimuli for guidance and remote assistance tasks. Therefore, a glove with multiple vibrotactile actuators named TACTILEGLOVE was designed. In a first user study, the ability of users to interpret and recognize different vibrotactile cues on the hand, based on the guidance metaphor and resolution of actuators, was systematically investigated. In a second exploratory user study, the guidance concepts were further explored for remote assistance tasks, showing the potential for future applications.

10.1.1.2 Pressure-based Mechanoreception

(2) The second chapter then contributed by investigating interaction concepts for PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION. Hereby, the focus was on stronger actuations based on pneumatic inflation of air cushions that are able to create force feedback beyond a vibrotactile actuation. Therefore, a prototype was designed that used compressed air for inflating flexible air cushions located on the body and could rapidly inflate to simulate impacts, called PNEUMOVOLLEY. In a conducted user study, this novel form of pressure-based feedback was then applied to the head and demonstrated the potential for creating a more enjoyable and realistic experience in a VR environment.

10.1.1.3 Stroke Stimuli

(3) In a third chapter, this thesis contributed a combination of the two previous chapters for stroke stimuli. Hereby, concepts for creating a moving touch stimulation with different rough textures were presented. In particular, this chapter investigated how the perception of roughness in VR is affected by the interaction of haptic stimuli and the roughness expectations of different visualizations. Therefore, a first study was conducted to identify a broad range of suitable items, followed by a second user study that assessed how participants perceive haptic stroking stimuli in a VR environment, and how the perception is affected when the shown visualizations do not necessarily match. As an important result, it was shown that a large selection of haptic stimuli is not always needed if the roughness comes close to the visual expectation of users.

10.1.2 THERMOCEPTION

The second part contributed novel interaction concepts and techniques addressing the THERMOCEPTION. The proposed ideas were based on a thermal actuation using liquids in a cycle that could provide warmth and coldness to the body, called THERMINATOR. As a proof-of-concept, a prototypical system was designed and a user study was conducted to investigate the perception of temperature in a VR environment. Besides the involvement within VR of users, the study particularly assessed how the THERMOCEPTION is affected by combining thermal and visual stimuli while the presented stimuli might not match. As part of the results, this chapter could show how the experience of the thermal stimuli has the capability to override visual expectations.

10.1.3 Proprioception and Kinesthesia

The third part contributed to the understanding of PROPRIOCEPTION and KINESTHESIA by introducing concepts for actuation of body parts around their joints, called PNEUMACT. Using two types of actuators, a body movement could suddenly be initiated. The first type of actuator is similar to the previously described pressure-based actuators and caused an extension at a joint by inflating an air cushion. The second type of actuator is based on the idea of a Pneumatical Artifical Muscle (PAM), in which the inflating of a latex tube enclosed in mesh fabric reduced its length and caused a contraction comparable to a real muscle. In two user studies, the concepts were evaluated to determine their effects on the angle of the motion and their potential to enhance immersion, realism, and enjoyment in VR environments. While the results could show that a kinesthetic actuation already increases all of those effectively, the combination of a kinesthetic actuation was found to be even more effective when combined with a vibrotactile stimulation.

10.1.4 ActuBoard

Another contribution of this work is the design of a rapid prototyping platform, called ActuBoard. This platform was created as a result of the required prototypes of this thesis and is, therefore, based on their requirements and those from haptic devices of related work. It was designed for experienced and non-tech-savvy makers to support the creation process of haptic devices and to easily operate hardware actuators without repetitive and cumbersome setup and the need for extensive knowledge in electrical engineering. Further, to underline its capabilities, ActuBoard was used as a basis for several projects within and outside of the scope of this thesis and released as an open-source to support the tinkering and HCI community.

10.2 INTEGRATION AND FUTURE WORK

This thesis investigated a wide spectrum of haptic stimuli linked to the somatosensory system and how they affect human perception. These included the different aspects of Fine Mechanoreception, Pressure-Based Mechanoreception, Thermoception, Proprioception, and Kinesthesia. In summary, each of the chapters presented prototypical setups to achieve these novel experiences and proposed varieties of example applications. While some of these were conceptual, others, such as the PNEUMACT or PNEUMOVOLLEY concepts, were also evaluated in user studies with respect to their presence and user experience in immersive VR environments.

While further research is necessary to fully understand every aspect of haptic research in HCI and how haptic stimuli can be created for realistic experiences, this section illustrates and discusses how the findings of this thesis contribute to the overall picture of haptic feedback and how future systems and applications can benefit from the concepts and results. Therefore, potential application areas will be outlined in the following, which integrate the aforementioned contributions in (1) entertainment, (2) training, (3) exercising and rehabilitation, and (4) telecooperation environments. On top, the design and realization of all of these potential application areas can be supported by the presented ActuBOARD platform.

10.2.1 Entertainment and Gaming

The entertainment and gaming industry continues to be a driving force for innovative technologies. Here, leisure activities like these are appealing to all age generations, ethnicities, and social backgrounds, given that their primary objective is to entertain, as well as to convey knowledge through edutainment. While conventional games usually relied purely on visual and auditory output, recent years [Oro+12] and also this thesis have shown how haptic elements can make the experience of various domains more immersive and more enjoyable.

For many years, people could mostly try out such immersive experience ences by visiting 4D cinemas ¹ that provides a collective experience among the visitors. Here, people are able to experience movies or even interactive stories with special effects, such as temperature, vibrating seats, or fog. Similarly, some public arcades have game machines that feature vibrating plates or other haptic capabilities, such as replicates of motorbikes or plane cockpits that mimic the motion of their real-world counterparts. Yet, most often this experience is limited to dedicated theaters and in the case of the 4D cinemas, lesser interactive features. However, besides these collective or public locations that entertain larger groups, there exist also more individual home entertainment systems. While traditional gaming consoles or mobile gaming platforms mostly provide only vibrotactile feedback within controllers, the advent of consumer-level VR helped to create more interactive worlds that

¹ https://www.hollywoodreporter.com/news/general-news/will-4d-ever-catch-8
02627/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

are already increasing the immersion and presence just by their visual quality.

Today, most VR systems display virtual worlds with a high degree of realism, thanks to incredible improvements in display quality, graphics performance, and powerful software engines. Similarly, sound effects, spatial audio, and voice quality have been brought to near perfection by integrating multiple small high-quality speakers directly into the HMD around the user's ears. But again, haptic feedback is mostly limited to vibrotactile feedback coming from handheld controllers while other stimuli affecting the whole body - that are known from the aforementioned 4D cinemas - are still almost non-existent for the consumer market.

While haptic components are of course not entirely new, for example, there already even exist commercial vests, such as Tactsuit, KOR-FX, or the neosensory vest, that offer tactile feedback, the introduced concepts and results of this thesis provide the basis to improve future devices in terms of their efficiency and effects on enjoyment, immersion, and realism in particular. For example, the findings of THERMINATOR (Chapter 7) or Smooth as Steelwool (Chapter 6) highlight how haptic perception affects the visual perception and vice versa. So it was shown as part of this thesis that a convincing actuation of roughness requires only a few or even just two gradations rather than a large number of different textures, or that temperature gradations need to be less complex to achieve a wide range of perceptible differences. In the Proprioception and KINESTHESIA chapter (8), it could also be demonstrated how multimodal feedback in the form of kinesthetic actuation in combination with vibrotactile feedback significantly increases the enjoyment, by making the virtual environment feel much more realistic.

In this work, significant discoveries have been made about novel methods to affect the entire somatosensory system for further enhancements of immersion and realism beyond state-of-the-art vibrotactile actuations. Moreover, the experiments have revealed that a very precise and accurate actuation, which attempts to reproduce reality one-to-one, is often not necessary. Instead, a subset can be adequate as long as the perceptual differences are strong enough. In the end, it will be feasible to reduce the size of complex haptic devices in order to make them more wearable and mobile.

10.2.2 Training and Professional Instruction

In the context of professional instructions, there are complex combined sequences of actions and operations in which both, trainees and experienced personnel, are trained. The primary objective is to internalize safety risks in controlled and safe environments to proactively minimize them during real emergency operations. In addition, repeating common procedures to be better prepared in case of emergency can be optimized through specific training in lifelike, but safe training environments. This also includes simulations of unusual events and the risk-free practice of alternative strategies. For example, firefighters must always be well prepared for severe fires or a disaster that endangers not only the lives of individuals but also the lives of rescuers.

To prevent being surprised by unexpected events in these situations, constant professional training sessions are essential. This means that if the actual incident cannot be controlled, then it is vital to learn how to respond to it. Supervised training sessions and seminars in which real fires or hazards are practiced in difficult terrain are, of course, very effective, realistic, and generally safe. But such real-world training is very costly, requires a great effort in preparation, is usually tailored to specific situations, and is time-consuming to conduct. As an alternative, virtual training, for example in VR or AR environments, can be a more cost-efficient but still effective method of training. Therefore, the contributions of this thesis help to render these environments and simulations more lifelike, as VR-based training with realistic haptic feedback support initial training or the familiarization of concrete applications and intermediate steps.

More precisely, virtual training can be started or repeated at any given point, while strictly physical training often requires beginning from the beginning or does not allow for complete repetitions. Taking the firefighting example, the outcomes from the THERMOCEPTION chapter can help to provide localized heat according to the situation. Similarly, the insights from the PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION chapter as well as PROPRIOCEPTION and KINESTHESIA chapter are useful to simulate leaking pressure from gas pipes or entire pressure waves impacting the body. Findings from the MECHANORECEPTION section might be used to realistically depict contact with individuals in distress.

10.2.3 Fitness and Rehabilitation

While the two previous sections focused on the rendering of haptic stimuli to provide a realistic representation of environments, the findings of this thesis apply to other domains as well. One of these is rehabilitation and fitness applications, where the emphasis is on performing repeatable movements that require precise feedback. From physiotherapy, where specific exercises and movement sequences are used to improve health, to personal fitness training in a gym or at home, where exact exercises provide a more effective training success.

In particular, the findings from the FINE MECHANORECEPTION chapter add to motion guidance research. By using expressive vibrotactile stimuli on the hand, this research demonstrated how to instruct movements in order to reach specific targets. Transferring the concepts to other body parts, in the same way, might result in a complete actuation of the body, which could subtly support posture correction. Furthermore, as demonstrated in the chapter on PROPRIOCEPTION and KINESTHESIA, external force can be used to generate simulated weights of training equipment, such as barbells. In other words, an entire training environment can be virtually recreated and, thanks to haptic actuation, also physically challenge the athlete's body. According to the particular configuration, different training intensities are feasible and individually adjusted to personal needs.

In the field of THERMOCEPTION, it is also conceivable for conventional fitness training that a system like THERMINATOR can actively improve the performance of a person by reducing the level of fatigue in the body through cooling down the body (e.g., like [Weg+12]). Combined with TACTILEGLOVE and PNEUMACT it is therefore in fact possible that an entire gym together with a virtual coach (guide) and a set of training equipment can be modeled in a space-saving, cost-effective, and highly personalized way in AR or VR under close-to-reality conditions. Moreover, additional training performance could be achieved, for example through an enforced handicap using strong kinesthetic counterforces while performing exercises.

10.2.4 Telepresence and Telecooperation

Remote communication, telepresence, and telecooperation have been a hot topic in HCI for decades. Thereby, research and industry are exploring new concepts to bridge physical distances digitally and virtually, ranging from basic audio transmissions over video conferencing to fully immersive VR environments where attendees communicate and interact as lifelike as possible. While the research for this is not new, especially the last two years have shown through the Corona pandemic that firstly, there is a great need for interactive tools and secondly, despite great advances in everyday life, we are largely not going beyond established video conferencing technology. Even though interesting applications for interaction have become available to the general public thanks to modern VR technologies, such as Mozilla Hubs², VRChat³ or Meta's Horizon Workrooms⁴, the acceptance remains rather low.

One reason for this is very likely the scarcity of VR devices among the masses, as well as the extra effort required to put on a HMD that also blocks out the physical world. Perhaps another reason is that existing commercially available VR telepresence applications generally lack the haptic aspects. This will certainly change in the future as haptic devices will become more available and usable, however, until then, research must continue to explore methods of using them effectively and conveniently for end-users.

The findings of this thesis also support the advancement of telepresence and telecooperative applications in terms of haptics. Future systems can benefit from this in several ways. For example, with the findings from SMOOTH AS STEELWOOL (Chapter 6, it was demonstrated how haptic strokes can generate appropriate stimuli that may be used for interpersonal interaction such as caressing. With the findings on PRESSURE-BASED MECHANORECEPTION (Chapter 5), physical touching or hugging is also conceivable, as well as the findings in the area of FINE MECHANORE-CEPTION (Chapter 4). Furthermore, this chapter additionally showed how vibrotactile cues for use in remote collaboration tasks can support collaborative teamwork over a distance (Section 4.9). Together with the insights gained from the THERMOCEPTION chapter (Chapter 7), also body

² https://hubs.mozilla.com/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

³ https://hello.vrchat.com/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

⁴ https://about.fb.com/news/2021/08/introducing-horizon-workrooms-remote-c
ollaboration-reimagined/ (accessed March 01, 2022)

and ambient temperatures might be actively communicated, which for instance would also arise during non-remote interaction. Moreover, the studies presented in the chapter on PROPRIOCEPTION and KINESTHESIA (Chapter 8) can be useful for the use in telepresence, too, since external forces can be generated, such as active interventions from a remote side by guiding the other person's hand.

Summarizing, the presented haptic concepts are of course just a fraction of what might be feasible for telepresence in the future. Yet, this thesis contributes to how these concepts affect the haptic perception with respect to the somatosensory system and demonstrated how future applications might address them.

10.3 CONCLUDING REMARKS

In conclusion, this work demonstrated the importance of a deep understanding of haptic perception for HCI from different perspectives that go beyond the purely neurological, physiological, and psychological views on the somatosensory system, particularly the Fine Mechanoreception, Pressure-Based Mechanoreception, Thermoception, as well as Proprioception and Kinesthesia. Although great progress has been made in the last years, there is still research necessary before a holistic actuation will arrive in everyday life to fulfill Sutherland's vision of an ultimate display [Sut65]. And yet, while this vision might still seem distant, this thesis could contribute to getting a step closer by providing novel concepts and findings on SOMATOSENSORY INTERACTION. The main contributions of this thesis have been peer-reviewed and published at international renown conferences. Some contents of this thesis might contain verbatim parts of the respective publications, highlighted at the beginning of each corresponding chapter. An additional overview of them, can be found in Section 1.5.

In the following, all relevant publications done by me as first-author are listed, followed by a list of other publications where I have contributed to as co-author.

PUBLICATIONS DIRECTLY RELATED TO THIS THESIS

- [Gün+18a] Sebastian Günther, Sven Kratz, Daniel Avrahami, and Max Mühlhäuser. "Exploring Audio, Visual, and Tactile Cues for Synchronous Remote Assistance." In: Proceedings of the 11th PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments Conference. New York, NY, USA: ACM, June 2018, pp. 339–344. ISBN: 9781450363907. DOI: 10.1145/31 97768.3201568.
- [Gün+19] Sebastian Günther, Mohit Makhija, Florian Müller, Dominik Schön, Max Mühlhäuser, and Markus Funk. "PneumAct: Pneumatic Kinesthetic Actuation of Body Joints in Virtual Reality Environments." In: *Proceedings of the 2019 on Designing Interactive Systems Conference*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, June 2019, pp. 227–240. ISBN: 9781450358507. DOI: 10.1145/3322276.3322302.
- [Gün+18b] Sebastian Günther, Florian Müller, Markus Funk, Jan Kirchner, Niloofar Dezfuli, and Max Mühlhäuser. "TactileGlove: Assistive Spatial Guidance in 3D Space through Vibrotactile Navigation." In: *Proceedings of the 11th PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments Conference*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, June 2018, pp. 273–280.
 ISBN: 9781450363907. DOI: 10.1145/3197768.3197785.

- [Gün+21] Sebastian Günther, Florian Müller, Felix Hübner, Max Mühlhäuser, and Andrii Matviienko. "ActuBoard: An Open Rapid Prototyping Platform to integrate Hardware Actuators in Remote Applications." In: *Companion Proceedings of the 13th ACM SIGCHI Symposium on Engineering Interactive Computing Systems*. EICS '21 Companion. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2021. DOI: 10.1145/3459926.3464757.
- [Gün+20a] Sebastian Günther, Florian Müller, Dominik Schön, Omar Elmoghazy, Max Mühlhäuser, and Martin Schmitz. "Therminator: Understanding the Interdependency of Visual and On-Body Thermal Feedback in Virtual Reality." In: *Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '20)*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2020, pp. 1–14. ISBN: 9781450367080. DOI: 10.1145/3 313831.3376195.
- [Gün+22] Sebastian Günther, Julian Rasch, Dominik Schön, Florian Müller, Martin Schmitz, Jan Riemann, Andrii Matviienko, and Max Mühlhäuser. "Smooth as Steel Wool: Effects of Visual Stimuli on the Haptic Perception of Roughness in Virtual Reality." In: Proceedings of the 2022 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '22). New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2022. ISBN: 978-1-4503-9157-3/22/04. DOI: 10.1145/3491102.3517454.
- [Gün+20b] Sebastian Günther, Dominik Schön, Florian Müller, Max Mühlhäuser, and Martin Schmitz. "PneumoVolley: Pressure-based Haptic Feedback on the Head through Pneumatic Actuation." In: *Extended Abstracts of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (*CHI EA '20*). New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2020, pp. 1– 10. ISBN: 9781450368193. DOI: 10.1145/3334480.3382916.

In addition to the aforementioned publications that are the foundation of this thesis, I have been contributing to several other publications as first- and co-author.

- [Dez+13] Niloofar Dezfuli, Sebastian Günther, Mohammadreza Khalilbeigi, Max Mühlhäuser, and Jochen Huber. "CoStream@Home: Connected live event experiences." In: SAM 2013 - Proceedings of the 2nd International Workshop on Socially-Aware Multimedia, Co-located with ACM Multimedia 2013. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2013, pp. 33–36. ISBN: 9781450323949. DOI: 10.1145/2509 916.2509927.
- [Dhi+20] Naina Dhingra, Reinhard Koutny, Sebastian Günther, Klaus Miesenberger, Max Mühlhäuser, and Andreas Kunz. "Pointing gesture based user interaction of tool supported brainstorming meetings." In: *Lecture Notes in Computer Science (including subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics*). Vol. 12377 LNCS. Springer Science and Business Media Deutschland GmbH, Sept. 2020, pp. 21–29. ISBN: 9783030588045. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-58805-2_3.
- [Els+20] Hesham Elsayed, Martin Weigel, Florian Müller, Martin Schmitz, Karola Marky, Sebastian Günther, Jan Riemann, and Max Mühlhäuser. "VibroMap: Understanding the spacing of vibrotactile actuators across the body." In: *Proceedings of the ACM on Interactive, Mobile, Wearable and Ubiquitous Technologies* 4.4 (Dec. 2020), pp. 1–16. ISSN: 2474-9567. DOI: 10.1145/3432189.
- [Fun+19] Markus Funk, Florian Müller, Marco Fendrich, Megan Shene, Moritz Kolvenbach, Niclas Dobbertin, Sebastian Günther, and Max Mühlhäuser. "Assessing the Accuracy of Point & Teleport Locomotion with Orientation Indication for Virtual Reality using Curved Trajectories." In: *Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, May 2019, pp. 1–12. ISBN: 9781450359702. DOI: 10.1145/3290605.3300377.

- [Gün+19] Sebastian Günther, Reinhard Koutny, Naina Dhingra, Markus Funk, Christian Hirt, Klaus Miesenberger, Max Mühlhäuser, and Andreas Kunz. "MAPVI: Meeting accessibility for persons with visual impairments." In: *ACM International Conference Proceeding Series*. 2019. ISBN: 9781450362320. DOI: 10.1145/3316782.3322747.
- [Gün+18] Sebastian Günther, Florian Müller, Martin Schmitz, Jan Riemann, Niloofar Dezfuli, Markus Funk, Dominik Schön, and Max Mühlhäuser. "CheckMate: Exploring a tangible augmented reality interface for remote interaction." In: *Extended Abstracts of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. Vol. 2018-April. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2018, pp. 1–6. ISBN: 9781450356213. DOI: 10.1145/3170427.3188647.
- [Gün+17] Sebastian Günther, Martin Schmitz, Florian Müller, Jan Riemann, and Max Mühlhäuser. "BYO*: Utilizing 3D printed tangible tools for interaction on interactive surfaces." In: *Proceedings of the 2017 ACM Workshop on Interacting with Smart Objects*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Mar. 2017, pp. 21–26. ISBN: 9781450349024. DOI: 10.1145/3038 450.3038456.
- [Kau+13] Michaela Kauer, Sebastian Günther, Daniel Storck, and Melanie Volkamer. A comparison of american and german folk models of home computer security. Vol. 8030 LNCS. 2013.
 ISBN: 9783642393440. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-39345-7-11.
- [Kou+20] Reinhard Koutny, Sebastian Günther, Naina Dhingra, Andreas Kunz, Klaus Miesenberger, and Max Mühlhäuser.
 "Accessible multimodal tool support for brainstorming meetings." In: *Lecture Notes in Computer Science (including subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics*). Vol. 12377 LNCS. Springer Science and Business Media Deutschland GmbH, Sept. 2020, pp. 11–20. ISBN: 9783030588045. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-58805-2_2.
- [Mar+19] Karola Marky, Florian Müller, Markus Funk, Alexander Geiß, Sebastian Günther, Martin Schmitz, Jan Riemann, and Max Mühlhäuser. "Teachyverse: Collaborative e-learning in virtual reality lecture halls." In:

ACM International Conference Proceeding Series. 2019. ISBN: 9781450371988. DOI: 10.1145/3340764.3344917.

- [Mar+20] Karola Marky, Andreas Weiß, Julien Gedeon, and Sebastian Günther. "Mastering Music Instruments through Technology in Solo Learning Sessions." In: (Dec. 2020). arXiv: 2012.13961.
- [Meu+17] Christian Meurisch, U. Naeem, P.M. Scholl, M.A. Azam, Sebastian Günther, P. Baumann, S.U. Réhman, and Max Mühlhäuser. "Smartguidance'17:2nd workshop on intelligent personal support of human behavior." In: UbiComp/ISWC 2017 - Adjunct Proceedings of the 2017 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing and Proceedings of the 2017 ACM International Symposium on Wearable Computers. 2017. ISBN: 9781450351904. DOI: 10.1145/3123024.3124457.
- [Mül+17] Florian Müller, Niloofar Dezfuli, Sebastian Günther, Mohammadreza Khalilbeigi, A.H. Azita Hosseini Nejad, Max Mühlhäuser, Niloofar Dezfuli, Mohammadreza Khalilbeigi, and Max Mühlhäuser. "CloudBits: Supporting Conversations Through Augmented Zero-query Search Visualization." In: *Proceedings of the 5th Symposium on Spatial User Interaction*. Vol. 17. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Oct. 2017, pp. 30–38. ISBN: 9781450354868. DOI: 10.1145/3131277.3132173.
- [Mül+16] Florian Müller, Niloofar Dezfuli, Max Mühlhäuser, Sebastian Günther, and Mohammadreza Khalilbeigi.
 "ProxiWatch: Enhancing smartwatch interaction through proximity-based hand input." In: *Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings*. Vol. 07-12-May-. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, May 2016, pp. 2617–2624. ISBN: 9781450340823. DOI: 10.1145/2851581.2892450.
- [Mül+18a] Florian Müller, Tobias Grosse-Puppendahl, Markus Funk, Oliver Brdiczka, Dirk Schnelle-Walka, Sebastian Günther, Kris Luyten, Niloofar Dezfuli, and Max Mühlhäuser. "Smart objects: Sixth workshop on interacting with smart objects." In: Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings. Vol. 2018-April. New York, NY, USA:

Association for Computing Machinery, Apr. 2018, pp. 1–6. ISBN: 9781450356206. doi: 10.1145/3170427.3170606.

- [Mül+20a] Florian Müller, Sebastian Günther, Max Mühlhäuser, Oliver Amft, and Kristof Van Laerhoven. "Around-Body Interaction: Interacting While on the Go." In: *IEEE Pervasive Computing* 19.2 (Apr. 2020), pp. 74–78. ISSN: 1536-1268. DOI: 10.1109/MPRV.2020.2977850.
- [Mül+15] Florian Müller, Mohammadreza Khalilbeigi, Niloofar Dezfuli, Alireza Sahami A.S. Shirazi, Sebastian Günther, and Max Mühlhäuser. "A study on proximity-based hand input for one-handed mobile interaction." In: *SUI 2015 Proceedings of the 3rd ACM Symposium on Spatial User Interaction*. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, Inc, Aug. 2015, pp. 53–56. ISBN: 9781450337038. DOI: 10.1145/2788940.2788955.
- [Mül+19a] Florian Müller, Joshua McManus, Sebastian Günther, Martin Schmitz, Max Mühlhäuser, and Markus Funk.
 "Mind the tap: Assessing foot-taps for interacting with head-mounted displays." In: *Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2019, pp. 1–13. ISBN: 9781450359702. DOI: 10.1145/3290605.3300707.
- [Mül+18b] Florian Müller, Martin Schmitz, Markus Funk, Sebastian Günther, Niloofar Dezfuli, and Max Mühlhäuser.
 "Personalized user-carried single button interfaces as shortcuts for interacting with smart devices." In: *Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems Proceedings*. Vol. 2018-April. 2018. ISBN: 9781450356206. DOI: 10.1145/3170427.3188661.
- [Mül+2ob] Florian Müller, Martin Schmitz, Daniel Schmitt, Sebastian Günther, Markus Funk, and Max Mühlhäuser. "Walk The Line: Leveraging Lateral Shifts of the Walking Path as an Input Modality for Head-Mounted Displays." In: *Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2020, pp. 1–15. ISBN: 9781450367080. DOI: 10.1145/3313831.33 76852.
- [Mül+18c] Florian Müller, Dirk Schnelle-Walka, Sebastian Günther, and Markus Funk. *Proceedings of the 6th Workshop on Inter-*

acting with Smart Objects (SmartObjects). CEUR Workshop Proceedings 2082. Montreal, Canada, 2018.

- [Mül+19b] Florian Müller, Dirk Schnelle-Walka, Sebastian Günther, Marky Karola, Markus Funk, and Max Mühlhäuser. "Proceedings of the 7th Workshop on Interacting with Smart Objects." In: Workshop Co-located with the 11th ACM SIGCHI Symposium on Engineering Interactive Computing Systems (EICS '19). TUprints, 2019.
- [Mur+18] Nela Murauer, Florian Müller, Sebastian Günther, Dominik Schön, Nerina Pflanz, and Markus Funk. "An Analysis of Language Impact on Augmented Reality Order Picking Training." In: *Proceedings of the 11th PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments Conference*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, June 2018, pp. 351–357. ISBN: 9781450363907. DOI: 10.1145/3197768.3201570.
- [Rie+17] Jan Riemann, Florian Müller, Sebastian Günther, and Max Mühlhäuser. "An Evaluation of Hybrid Stacking on Interactive Tabletops." In: *Proceedings of the 2017 ACM Workshop on Interacting with Smart Objects*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Mar. 2017, pp. 13–20. ISBN: 9781450349024. DOI: 10.1145/3038450.3038451.
- [Sch+18] Martin Schmitz, Martin Herbers, Niloofar Dezfuli, Sebastian Günther, and Max Mühlhäuser. "Off-line sensing: Memorizing interactions in passive 3D-printed objects."
 In: Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems Proceedings. Vol. 2018-April. 2018. ISBN: 9781450356206. DOI: 10.1145/3173574.3173756.
- [Wil+19] Julius von Willich, Dominik Schön, Sebastian Günther, Florian Müller, Max Mühlhäuser, and Markus Funk. "VR-Chairracer: Using an office chair backrest as a locomotion technique for VR racing games." In: *Extended Abstracts of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2019, pp. 1–4. ISBN: 9781450359719. DOI: 10.1145/3290607.3313254.

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	Uncolored summary example for user studies	
	that will be shown at the beginning of each	
	methodology section	14
Figure 1.2	Uncolored example of the overview figure for	
	each chapter	16
Figure 2.1	The four tactile receptors of MECHANORECEPTION	
	as they are located within the different skin layers	21
Figure 4.1	Concepts of different arrangements and number	
	of vibration actuators	53
Figure 4.2	Two different actuation methods based on a (a)	
	PUSH and PULL model. The closer the hand gets	
	towards a target, the stronger the vibration in-	
	tensity will be. Further, (b) phantom sensations	
	allow for the illusion of a continuous vibration	
	independent of the hand orientation	55
Figure 4.3	The TACTILEGLOVE prototype showing the (a)	
	microcontroller and custom connector board.	
	Further, the location of all vibrotactile actuators	
	are shown from a (a) top-down and (b) palm-	
	side perspective	57
Figure 4.4	Setup of the $\ensuremath{TactILe}\xspace{Glovestudy}$ with a participant	63
Figure 4.5	Results of the user study showing the means of	
	the (a) Target Selection Time (TST), (b) Number	
	of Errors (NoE), and (c) Raw TLX (RTLX) score	
	grouped according to the NUMBER OF ACTUATORS	
	and guidance method	64
Figure 4.6	Views during the study showing (a) the vibro-	
	tactile glove, (b) view through the HMD with	
	recognized object and additional AR label, and	
	(c) top-down view of the same scene as seen by	
	the operator.	70
Figure 4.7	Setup of the study showing the fieldworker and	
	operator spaces	72
Figure 4.8	Sequence of the task solving process	74

Figure 5.1	Proof-of-concept implementation of pressure-	
	based actuators in form of air cushions	87
Figure 5.2	The location of the air cushions conceptualized	
	around a model of the head, the inflated and	
	deflated air cushions, and the air cushions in a	
	fabric cap	89
Figure 5.3	A participant (a) preparing to get a ball, and (b)	
	reaching the ball with the head. (c) A partici-	
	pant within the VR environment playing against	
	the AI opponent.	90
Figure 5.4	Plots of the responses with regards to the (a)	
-	involvement and (b) real-world consistency	94
Figure 5.5	Plots of the responses with regards to the (a)	
	natural interaction and (b) responsiveness	95
Figure 6.1	The ten VISUALIZATIONS of the study (bottom)	
	and their physical real-world counterparts (top),	
	categorized into five increasing levels of rough-	
	ness: silk, spoon, cotton, finger, sponge, toothbrush,	
	<i>branch, rock, steel wool, and sandpaper.</i>	105
Figure 6.2	Results of the pre-study showing the five best	
	rated items per roughness category and the se-	
	lected items that were used in the follow up user	
	study	107
Figure 6.3	The Haptic Stimuli showing (a) the five physi-	
	cal textures with increasing roughness (desatu-	
	rated macro shots for a better contrast and com-	
	parison), and (b) the four haptic baselines that	
	are the untextured silicone cushion, the $\ensuremath{V}\xspace{ISUAL-}$	
	IZATIONS' real-world counterparts, the Vibration	
	Mount for vibrotactile phantom sensations, and	
	the no-haptics baseline.	110
Figure 6.4	The actuator design from the fabrication process	
	to the final actuator showing (1) the casting of	
	the <i>Silicone Cushion</i> , (2) the uninflated and (3)	
	inflated <i>Silicone Cushion</i> without texture and (4)	
	with a texture. Also shown is (5) the motion rail	
	for the actuator sledges	111

Figure 6.5	The actuators in $(1a)$ an uninflated and $(1b)$ in- flated state without texture, and $(2a)$ an unin-	
	flated and (2b) inflated actuator with a physical	
	texture	112
Figure 6.6	The design of the Vibration Mount that could be	
	inserted into the <i>Guiding Rail</i> in a plug-and-play	
	approach. It consisted of five vibration motors	
	that were controlled by the application.	113
Figure 6.7	A participant during the experiment showing	
0	(1) the real-world setup and apparatus, (2) a	
	simulated mixed reality view indicating a blend	
	between real and virtual worlds, and (3) the	
	virtual scene in VR.	116
Figure 6.8	Heatmap representation of the results on the	
0	perceived haptic roughness	119
Figure 6.9	Heatmap representation of the results on the	
0 2	perceived visual roughness	1 2 0
Figure 6.10	Heatmap representation of the results on the	
0	matching of each combination of a HAPTIC STIM-	
	ulus and a Visualization	121
Figure 6.11	Heatmap representation of the results on the	
0	realism rating of each combination of a HAPTIC	
	STIMULUS and a VISUALIZATION	123
Figure 6.12	Heatmap representation of the results on the	
0	pleasantness	124
Figure 6.13	Likert responses of the post-questionnaire ask-	÷.
0	ing for (a) the enjoyment, and (b) the realism	
	comparing vibrotactile, no-haptic, and haptic	
	stroke feedback.	125
Figure 7.1	Requirements for a wearable thermal display:	
0	ReqT1. Variable Temperature, ReqT2. Fitting	
	Shapes, ReqT ₃ . Size and Length, ReqT ₄ . De-	
	grees of Freedom. The images already depict	
	actuators in form of tubes, as they are used for	
	the THERMINATOR SYSTEM.	149
Figure 7.2	Concept of the THERMINATOR system which	
	uses heat-conducting tubes that can be flexibly	
	adapted to various shapes of different body parts	5 151

Figure 7.3	A picture of one actuator with the heat conduc-	
	tion PE-RT tubes in red and super flexible PVC	
	connector tubes, together with a thermal camera	
	view at 43 °C on the right side	153
Figure 7.4	Schematic overview of the complete THERMINA-	
	TOR system with two actuators	155
Figure 7.5	Overview of the implemented THERMINATOR SYS-	
0 70	tem without the actuator tubes showing the ther-	
	mal mixing valve, the solenoid valves, the pres-	
	sure regulator, and the flow and temperature	
	sensors.	156
Figure 7.6	Five different visual stimuli based on their ex-	
0 /	pected temperature from cold to hot. The Figure	
	shows from left to right: very cold snow, cold	
	rain cloud, a neutral stimulus with no visualiza-	
	tion, warm heating lamp, hot fire	160
Figure 7.7	A user wearing both, the abdomen and arm	
0 //	actuators. Green lines indicate the location of	
	each thermally conductive PE-RT tube on the	
	abdomen and pink lines on the arm. Gray lines	
	indicate the flexible PVC tubes that connect each	
	PE-RT tube with the main system	161
Figure 7.8	Stylized view of a participant in the Virtual Re-	
0 1	ality environment during the study. The top	
	images depict the visualizations appearing on	
	the arm, the lower images on the abdomen. The	
	visualization are from left to right: Snow, Rain,	
	Neutral, Heatlamp, and Fire.	163
Figure 7.9	The results of the participants' responses to the	5
0 1	perceived temperatures in a heatmap matrix vi-	
	sualization	167
Figure 7.10	Comfort rating of the participants with regards	/
	to the THERMAL STIMULT	168
Figure 7.11	The results of the participants' responses to the	100
	visual involvement in a heatmap matrix visual-	
	ization	169
Figure 7.12	The results of the participants' responses to the	
0	thermal involvement in a heatmap matrix visu-	
	alization	170
		1 -

Figure 7.13	Three example applications showcasing situa-	
	tions for the usefulness of thermal feedback:	
	a) a firefighting simulation, b) a hot tropical	
	game environment, and c) a challenging snow-	
	ball game in a cold landscape	5
Figure 8.1	Actuation concept for body joints: (a) contrac-	
	tion, and (b) extension movements. α indicates	
	the angle change for a concentric contraction,	
	while β indicates an eccentric contraction 193	1
Figure 8.2	Concept of the Concentric Actuators (CA) based	
	on a Pneumatical Artifical Muscle (PAM) 192	2
Figure 8.3	Concept of the Eccentric Actuators (EA) 193	3
Figure 8.4	The final actuator design of the $(a) EA$ and (d)	
	CA in their inflated and deflated states. Further,	
	(b) depicts the used inner latex rubber tube and	
	(c) the outer mesh as used for the CA. \ldots 192	4
Figure 8.5	The PNEUMACT jacket as (a) concept and (b) the	
0	final prototype	5
Figure 8.6	Schematic of the electronic components of the	
0	system controller	5
Figure 8.7	Controllable components of the PNEUMACT sys-	
0 ,	tem showing the main valve for the air compres-	
	sor and the custom control unit with connected	
	solenoid valves for the actuators	7
Figure 8.8	A participant wearing the PNEUMACT jacket with	
	both actuators during the first user study. The	
	pictures show both actuators, the (a) Concentric	
	Actuator (CA) and (b) Eccentric Actuator (FA)	
	before (left) and after an actuation (right)	1
Figure 8 o	Angle differences after actuation for different	1
riguie 0.9	inflation DUPATIONS and PATTERNS of the CA	1
Figure 8 10	Angle differences after actuation for different	+
rigure 0.10	inflation DURATIONS and DATTERNS of the EA	_
Figuro 8 11	Scroonshots of the first two oxample applica-	2
rigure 0.11	tions: (a) Polats in Space and (b) Wire Cutting	2
Figure 8 12	Scroonshots of the overgame example applies)
11guie 0.12	tion showing the weight (a) lifting and (b)	
	non, showing the weight (a) inting and (b)	_
	pulling exercises)

Figure 8.13	Participants' responses to the levels of (a) im-	
	mersion and (b) realism during the second user	
	study	2 14
Figure 8.14	Participants' responses to the levels of (a) enjoy-	
	ment and (b) support during the second user	
	study	215
Figure 8.15	The distribution of the ranking of all four actua-	
	tion types, sorted from best to worst	216
Figure 9.1	Concept and architecture of the ACTUBOARD plat-	
	form	234
Figure 9.2	Comparison of the typical pipeline on how to	
	connect and control actuators with a traditional	
	approach and with ActuBoard	236
Figure 9.3	Example workflow to connect and actuate a	
	solenoid valve when using (a) a traditional	
	method with an Arduino and required elec-	
	tronic components, and (b) ACTUBOARD where	
	the solenoid valve can be directly plugged-in .	237
Figure 9.4	The ActuBoard platform shown as 3D rendering	
	and final prototype	238

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1	Overview of the chapters that are investigating	
	different aspects of the somatosensory system	
	and introducing different sets of haptic concepts	
	and technologies (excluding ActuBoard)	8
Table 3.1	Overview of a set of related work in the field of	
	Fine Mechanoreception	39
Table 3.2	Overview of a set of related work in the field of	
	Pressure-based Mechanoreception	42
Table 3.3	Overview of a set of related work in the field of	
	Mechanoreception with regards to active and	
	passive touch	44
Table 4.1	Overview of a set of related work in the field	
	of Mechanoreception with regards to guidance	
	and navigation tasks	51
Table 7.1	Overview of related work for thermal feedback	145
Table 7.2	Fulfillment of requirements for thermal actuation	150
Table 8.1	Overview of related work in the field of Propri-	
	OCEPTION and KINESTHESIA	188
Table 8.2	The five levels of the inflation PATTERN while us-	
	ing the CA	199
Table 8.3	The five levels of the inflation PATTERN while us-	
	ing the EA \ldots	2 00
Table 9.1	Requirements comparison of ActuBoard to	
	commonly used tinkering and hardware plat-	
	forms	232
Table 9.2	Available serial commands for controlling actu-	
	ators	2 40
ACRONYMS

- IV independent variable
- DV dependent variable
- HMD Head-Mounted Display
- AR Augmented Reality
- VR Virtual Reality
- AR/VR Augmented- and Virtual Reality
- IoT Internet of Things
- HCI Human-Computer Interaction
- TCT Task Completion Time
- RTLX Raw NASA-TLX
- EMS Electrical Muscle Stimulation
- PAM Pneumatical Artifical Muscle
- EMM Estimated Marginal Mean
- ART Aligned Rank Transform
- EMM Estimated Marginal Mean
- IQR interquartile range
- PWM Pulse-Width Modulation
- CA Concentric Actuator
- EA Eccentric Actuator
- AI Artificial Intelligence
- TEC Thermoelectric Cooler
- PCB Printed Circuit Board
- RHI Rubber Hand Illusion
- SMA Shape Memory Alloy
- PWM Pulse-Width Modulation
- CAMI Coated Abrasive Manufacturers Institute

This thesis document and the majority of the figures are licensed under CC BY-NC-ND 4.0 International (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/) with the exceptions of some graphics and icons that have been created by third parties. These exceptions and third-party materials are listed in the following:

✓ 目 ● !!!: → I ← III 〇 O ノ メ ご C i ふ ○ 伝 点 ○ 二 4 ② 示 6 6 歩 9 中 ▲ ② ご 6 6 目 ● are taken from the FONTAWESOME LATEXpackage (https://www.ctan.o rg/pkg/fontawesome, The LATEXProject Public License, version 1.3c) based on the FONT AWESOME font (https://fontawesome.com, SIL Open Font License, version 1.1).

Figure 2.1 is taken from the medical gallery of Blausen Medical 2014 [Bla14], licensed under CC BY 3.0 (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/).

Figure 6.1 contains a cleaning sponge model (https://sketchfab.com/3d-model s/sponge-97aee64edf0c4521b82416f3b30c61ce) and a wooden branch model (https://sketchfab.com/3d-models/lowpoly-stick-01-9a8ffae22f0846ba895f0 9d08ff97d82) from sketchFAB, both licensed under CC BY 4.0 (https://creativeco mmons.org/licenses/by-sa/4.0/). The toothbrush, small rock, and spoon models are licensed under the *TurboSquid 3D Model License* (https://blog.turbosquid.com/turbosquid-3d-model-license/). The silk cloth model is licensed under the *cgtrader Royalty Free License* (https://www.cgtrader.com/pages/terms-and-conditions). The hand model is from the MakeHuman project, licensed under CCo (https://crea tivecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0).

Figure 6.7 contains a screenshot of a body model and two depictions of a hand, all from the MAKEHUMAN project, licensed under CCo (https://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0). The hand model is also included in the chapter overview image of Chapter 6 (CCo).

Figures 5.1c, 5.3c, 7.6, 7.8, 7.13, 8.11, and 8.12 contain screenshots of different models from the Unity Asset Store (https://unity3d.com/legal/as_terms).

Figures 8.6 and 9.3 are containing breadboard view graphics from https://fritzing .org, licensed under CC BY-SA 3.0 (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-s a/3.0/).

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [Ack+14] Rochelle Ackerley, Ida Carlsson, Henric Wester, Håkan Olausson, and Helena Backlund Wasling. "Touch perceptions across skin sites: differences between sensitivity, direction discrimination and pleasantness." In: *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience* 8.FEB (2014), pp. 1–10. ISSN: 1662-5153. DOI: 10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00054.
- [AHB17] Moses Akazue, Martin Halvey, and Lynne Baillie. "Using Thermal Stimuli to Enhance Photo-Sharing in Social Media." In: Proceedings of the ACM on Interactive, Mobile, Wearable and Ubiquitous Technologies 1.2 (June 2017), pp. 1– 21. ISSN: 2474-9567. DOI: 10.1145/3090050.
- [Aki+13] Shimon Akiyama, Katsunari Sato, Yasutoshi Makino, and Takashi Maeno. "ThermOn: Thermo-Musical Interface for an Enhanced Emotional Experience." In: *Proceedings of the 17th annual international symposium on International symposium on wearable computers - ISWC '13*. ISWC '13. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2013, p. 45. ISBN: 9781450321273. DOI: 10.1145/2493988.2494326.
- [All70] David Alles. "Information Transmission by Phantom Sensations." In: *IEEE Transactions on Man Machine Systems* 11.1 (Mar. 1970), pp. 85–91. ISSN: 0536-1540. DOI: 10.1109 /TMMS.1970.299967.
- [AGF17] Fraser Anderson, Tovi Grossman, and George Fitzmaurice. "Trigger-Action-Circuits: Leveraging Generative Design to Enable Novices to Design and Build Circuitry." In: Proceedings of the 30th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology. UIST '17. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2017, pp. 331–342. ISBN: 9781450349819. DOI: 10.1145/3126594.3126637.
- [Ara+16] Bruno Araujo, Ricardo Jota, Varun Perumal, Jia Xian Yao, Karan Singh, and Daniel Wigdor. "Snake charmer: Physically enabling virtual objects." In: TEI 2016 - Proceedings of the 10th Anniversary Conference on Tangible Embedded and

Embodied Interaction (2016), pp. 218–226. DOI: 10.1145/2 839462.2839484.

- [AZHo6] Edward Arens, Hui Zhang, and Charlie Huizenga.
 "Partial- and whole-body thermal sensation and comfort— Part I: Uniform environmental conditions."
 In: *Journal of Thermal Biology* 31.1-2 (Jan. 2006). Ed. by Stephen E. Petty, pp. 53–59. ISSN: 03064565. DOI: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2005.11.028.
- [Ari+17] Oscar J. Ariza N., Markus Lange, Frank Steinicke, and Gerd Bruder. "Vibrotactile assistance for user guidance towards selection targets in VR and the cognitive resources involved." In: 2017 IEEE Symposium on 3D User Interfaces (3DUI). IEEE, 2017, pp. 95–98. ISBN: 978-1-5090-6716-9. DOI: 10.1109/3DUI.2017.7893323.
- [ALV14] Susanna Aromaa, Simo-Pekka Leino, and Juhani Viitaniemi. *Virtual prototyping in human-machine interaction design.* VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland, 2014. ISBN: 978-951-38-8155-9.
- [APS19] Jonas Auda, Max Pascher, and Stefan Schneegass.
 "Around the (Virtual) World: Infinite Walking in Virtual Reality Using Electrical Muscle Stimulation." In: Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2019, pp. 1–8.
 ISBN: 9781450359702. DOI: 10.1145/3290605.3300661.
- [Aus+20] Jonny Austin, Howard Baker, Thomas Ball, James Devine, Joe Finney, Peli De Halleux, Steve Hodges, and Gareth Moskal Micha\land Stockdale. "The BBC Micro:Bit: From the U.K. to the World." In: *Commun. ACM* 63.3 (2020), pp. 62–69. ISSN: 0001-0782. DOI: 10.1145/3368856.
- [Bal14] Carrie Anne Balcer. "Visual Cues effects on temperature perception." In: (2014).
- [Bar+09] Ahmad Barghout, Jongeun Cha, Abdulmotaleb El Saddik, Julius Kammerl, and Eckehard Steinbach. "Spatial resolution of vibrotactile perception on the human forearm when exploiting funneling illusion." In: 2009 IEEE International Workshop on Haptic Audio visual Environments and Games. IEEE, Nov. 2009, pp. 19–23. ISBN: 978-1-4244-4217-1. DOI: 10.1109/HAVE.2009.5356122.

- [Bau+10] Olivier Bau, Ivan Poupyrev, Ali Israr, and Chris Harrison. "TeslaTouch: electrovibration for touch surfaces." In: *Proceedings of the 23nd Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2010, pp. 283–292.
 ISBN: 9781450302715. DOI: 10.1145/1866029.1866074.
- [BP81] Jacob Beck and Slava Prazdny. "Highlights and the perception of glossiness." In: *Perception & Psychophysics* 30.4 (July 1981), pp. 407–410. ISSN: 0031-5117. DOI: 10.3758 /BF03206160.
- [BBH94] Jonathan Bell, Stanley Bolanowski, and Mark H. Holmes.
 "The structure and function of pacinian corpuscles: A review." In: *Progress in Neurobiology* 42.1 (1994), pp. 79–128. ISSN: 03010082. DOI: 10.1016/0301-0082(94)90022-1.
- [Ben+16] Hrvoje Benko, Christian Holz, Mike Sinclair, and Eyal Ofek. "NormalTouch and TextureTouch: High-fidelity 3D Haptic Shape Rendering on Handheld Virtual Reality Controllers." In: *Proceedings of the 29th Annual Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Oct. 2016, pp. 717–728. ISBN: 9781450341899. DOI: 10.1145/2984511.2984526.
- [Ber+94] M. Bergamasco, B. Allotta, L. Bosio, L. Ferretti, G. Parrini, G. M. Prisco, F. Salsedo, and G. Sartini. "Arm exoskeleton system for teleoperation and virtual environments applications." In: *Proceedings IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation* pt 2 (1994), pp. 1449–1454. ISSN: 10504729. DOI: 10.1109/robot.1994.351286.
- [BK07] Wouter M. Bergmann Tiest and Astrid M.L. Kappers.
 "Haptic and visual perception of roughness." In: *Acta Psychologica* 124.2 (2007), pp. 177–189. ISSN: 00016918.
 DOI: 10.1016/j.actpsy.2006.03.002.
- [BH22] Carlos Bermejo and Pan Hui. "A Survey on Haptic Technologies for Mobile Augmented Reality." In: ACM Computing Surveys 54.9 (Dec. 2022), pp. 1–35. ISSN: 0360-0300. DOI: 10.1145/3465396. arXiv: 1709.00698 [cs.HC].
- [Bio+o6] Frank Biocca, Arthur Tang, Charles Owen, and Fan Xiao."Attention funnel: omnidirectional 3D cursor for mobile augmented reality platforms." In: *Proceedings of the*

SIGCHI conference on Human Factors in computing systems -CHI '06. Vol. 06. May 2014. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2006, p. 1115. ISBN: 1595933727. DOI: 10.1145 /1124772.1124939.

- [Bla14] Blausen.com_staff. "Medical gallery of Blausen Medical 2014." In: *WikiJournal of Medicine* 1.2 (2014). ISSN: 20024436. DOI: 10.15347/wjm/2014.010.
- [BB03] Aaron Bloomfield and Norman I Badler. "A Low Cost Tactor Suit for Vibrotactile Feedback A Low Cost Tactor Suit for Vibrotactile Feedback." In: *Technical Reports (CIS)* January (2003), p. 7.
- [Bol+88] S. J. Bolanowski, G. A. Gescheider, R. T. Verrillo, and C. M. Checkosky. "Four channels mediate the mechanical aspects of touch." In: *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 84.5 (Nov. 1988), pp. 1680–1694. ISSN: 0001-4966. DOI: 10.1121/1.397184.
- [BGV94] Stanley J. Bolanowski, George A. Gescheider, and Ronald T. Verrillo. "Hairy Skin: Psychophysical Channels and Their Physiological Substrates." In: *Somatosensory & Motor Research* 11.3 (Jan. 1994), pp. 279–290. ISSN: 0899-0220. DOI: 10.3109/08990229409051395.
- [Bol+19a] Roger Boldu, Sambhav Jain, Juan Pablo Forero Cortes, Haimo Zhang, and Suranga Nanayakkara. "M-Hair: Extended Reality by Stimulating the Body Hair." In: *SIG-GRAPH Asia 2019 XR*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Nov. 2019, pp. 27–28. ISBN: 9781450369473. DOI: 10.1145/3355 355.3361881.
- [Bol+19b] Roger Boldu, Sambhav Jain, Juan Pablo Forero Cortes, Haimo Zhang, and Suranga Nanayakkara. "M-Hair: Creating Novel Tactile Feedback by Augmenting the Body Hair to Respond to Magnetic Field." In: *Proceedings of the 32nd Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Oct. 2019, pp. 323–328. ISBN: 9781450368162. DOI: 10.1145/3332165 .3347955.
- [Boo+16]Tracey Booth, Simone Stumpf, Jon Bird, and Sara Jones."Crossed Wires: Investigating the Problems of End-UserDevelopers in a Physical Computing Task." In: Proceedingsof the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing

Systems. CHI '16. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2016, pp. 3485–3497. ISBN: 9781450333627. DOI: 10.1145/2858 036.2858533.

- [BC98] Matthew Botvinick and Jonathan Cohen. "Rubber hands 'feel' touch that eyes see." In: *Nature* 391.6669 (Feb. 1998), pp. 756–756. ISSN: 0028-0836. DOI: 10.1038/35784.
- [BM07] Doug A Bowman and Ryan P McMahan. "Virtual Reality: How Much Immersion Is Enough?" In: *Computer* 40.7 (July 2007), pp. 36–43. ISSN: 0018-9162. DOI: 10.1109/MC.2 007.257.
- [Bra58] James V Bradley. "Complete Counterbalancing of Immediate Sequential Effects in a Latin Square Design." In: *Journal of the American Statistical Association* 53.282 (June 1958), pp. 525–528. ISSN: 0162-1459. DOI: 10.1080/016214 59.1958.10501456.

[Bri21] The Editors of Encyclopaedia Britannica. "friction". 2021.

- [BNL20] Jas Brooks, Steven Nagels, and Pedro Lopes. "Trigeminalbased Temperature Illusions." In: *Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2020, pp. 1–12. ISBN: 9781450367080. DOI: 10.1145/3313831.3376806.
- [BH10] Leah Buechley and Benjamin Mako Hill. "LilyPad in the Wild: How Hardware's Long Tail is Supporting New Engineering and Design Communities." In: *Proceedings of the 8th ACM Conference on Designing Interactive Systems*. DIS '10. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2010, pp. 199–207. ISBN: 9781450301039. DOI: 10.1145/1858171.1858206.
- [Bux86] William Buxton. "There's More to Interaction Than Meets the Eye: Some Issues in Manual Input." In: User Centered System Design. CRC Press, Jan. 1986, pp. 319–338. DOI: 10.1201/b15703-15.
- [Cai+20] Shaoyu Cai, Pingchuan Ke, Takuji Narumi, and Kening Zhu. "ThermAirGlove: A Pneumatic Glove for Thermal Perception and Material Identification in Virtual Reality."
 In: 2020 IEEE Conference on Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces (VR). IEEE, Mar. 2020, pp. 248–257. ISBN: 978-1-7281-5608-8. DOI: 10.1109/VR46266.2020.00044.

- [CMG95] Darwin G. Caldwell, Gustavo A. Medrano-Cerda, and Mike Goodwin. "Control of pneumatic muscle actuators." In: *IEEE Control Systems Magazine* 15.1 (1995), pp. 40–48. ISSN: 02721708. DOI: 10.1109/37.341863.
- [CTW97] Darwin G. Caldwell, N. Tsagarakis, and A. Wardle.
 "Mechano thermo and proprioceptor feedback for integrated haptic feedback." In: *Proceedings IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation* 3.April (1997), pp. 2491–2496. ISSN: 10504729. DOI: 10.1109/robot.1997.619335.
- [Car19] Bruce M Carlson. "Chapter 3 Skin." In: ed. by Bruce M B T - The Human Body Carlson. Academic Press, 2019, pp. 65–85. ISBN: 978-0-12-804254-0. DOI: https://doi.or g/10.1016/B978-0-12-804254-0.00003-X.
- [Car+13] Tom Carter, Sue Ann Seah, Benjamin Long, Bruce Drinkwater, and Sriram Subramanian. "UltraHaptics: Multi-point mid-air haptic feedback for touch surfaces." In: *Proceedings of the 26th annual ACM symposium on User interface software and technology*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Oct. 2013, pp. 505–514. ISBN: 9781450322683. DOI: 10.114 5/2501988.2502018.
- [Cas+15] Simona Casini, Matteo Morvidoni, Matteo Bianchi, Manuel Catalano, Giorgio Grioli, and Antonio Bicchi.
 "Design and realization of the CUFF - clenching upperlimb force feedback wearable device for distributed mechano-tactile stimulation of normal and tangential skin forces." In: 2015 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS). Hamburg, Germany: IEEE, Sept. 2015, pp. 1186–1193. ISBN: 978-1-4799-9994-1. DOI: 10.1109/IROS.2015.7353520.
- [Cha+09] Jongeun Cha, Mohamad Eid, Ahmad Barghout, ASM Mahfujur Rahman, and Abdulmotaleb El Saddik.
 "HugMe: synchronous haptic teleconferencing." In: *Proceedings of the seventeen ACM international conference on Multimedia MM '09.* New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2009, p. 1135. ISBN: 9781605586083. DOI: 10.1145/1 631272.1631535.
- [Cha+18] Hong-Yu Chang, Wen-Jie Tseng, Chia-En Tsai, Hsin-Yu Chen, Roshan Lalintha Peiris, and Liwei Chan. "FacePush:

Introducing Normal Force on Face with Head-Mounted Displays." In: *The 31st Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology - UIST '18*. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2018, pp. 927–935. ISBN: 9781450359481. DOI: 10.1145/3242587.3242588.

- [Cha94] C. Elaine Chapman. "Active versus passive touch: factors influencing the transmission of somatosensory signals to primary somatosensory cortex." In: *Canadian Journal* of Physiology and Pharmacology 72.5 (May 1994), pp. 558– 570. ISSN: 0008-4212. DOI: 10.1139/y94-080.
- [Che+16] Chia-Yu Chen, Yen-Yu Chen, Yi-Ju Chung, and Neng-Hao Yu. "Motion Guidance Sleeve: Guiding the Forearm Rotation through External Artificial Muscles." In: *Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems CHI '16*. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2016, pp. 3272–3276. ISBN: 9781450333627. DOI: 10.1145/2858036.2858275.
- [Che+17] Zikun Chen, Wei Peng, Roshan Peiris, and Kouta Minamizawa. "ThermoReality: Thermally Enriched Head Mounted Displays for Virtual Reality." In: ACM SIG-GRAPH 2017 Posters. SIGGRAPH '17. New York, NY, USA: ACM, July 2017, pp. 1–2. ISBN: 9781450350150. DOI: 10.1145/3102163.3102222.
- [Cho+18] Inrak Choi, Eyal Ofek, Hrvoje Benko, Mike Sinclair, and Christian Holz. "CLAW: A Multifunctional Handheld Haptic Controller for Grasping, Touching, and Triggering in Virtual Reality." In: *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2018, pp. 1–13. ISBN: 9781450356206. DOI: 10.1145/3173574.3174228.
- [CH96] Ching-Ping Chou and Blake Hannaford. *Measurement and Modeling og McKibben Pneumatic Artificial Muscles.* 1996.
- [Chu+21] Seung A Chung, Kyungyeon Lee, Sohyeon Park, and Uran Oh. "Three-dimensional Nonvisual Directional Guidance for People with Visual Impairments." In: 2021 IEEE International Conference on Pervasive Computing and Communications Workshops and other Affiliated Events (PerCom Workshops). Kassel, Germany: IEEE, Mar. 2021, pp. 81–86. ISBN:

978-1-6654-0424-2. DOI: 10.1109/PerComWorkshops5140 9.2021.9431084.

- [CLO20] SeungA Chung, Kyungyeon Lee, and Uran Oh. "Investigating Three-dimensional Directional Guidance with Nonvisual Feedback for Target Pointing Task." In: 2020 IEEE International Symposium on Mixed and Augmented Reality Adjunct (ISMAR-Adjunct). Recife, Brazil: IEEE, Nov. 2020, pp. 206–210. ISBN: 978-1-7281-7675-8. DOI: 10.1109 /ISMAR-Adjunct51615.2020.00061.
- [Coh88] Jacob Cohen. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. 2nd Editio. New York, New York, USA: Routledge, 1988. ISBN: 9780203771587. DOI: 10.4324/9780203771587.
- [Con+10] Lauri Connelly, Yicheng Jia, Maria L. Toro, Mary Ellen Stoykov, Robert V. Kenyon, and Derek G. Kamper. "A Pneumatic Glove and Imersive Virtual Reality Environment for Hand Rehabilitative Training After Stroke." In: *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering* 18.5 (2010), pp. 551–559. ISSN: 15344320. DOI: 10.1109/TNSRE.2010.2047588.
- [Con+o9] Lauri Connelly, Mary Ellen Stoykov, Yicheng Jia, Maria L. Toro, Robert V. Kenyon, and Derek G. Kamper. "Use of a pneumatic glove for hand rehabilitation following stroke." In: *Proceedings of the 31st Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society: Engineering the Future of Biomedicine, EMBC 2009* (2009), pp. 2434–2437. ISSN: 1557-170X. DOI: 10.1109 /IEMBS.2009.5335400.
- [CS08] Juliet Corbin and Anselm Strauss. Basics of Qualitative Research (3rd ed.): Techniques and Procedures for Developing Grounded Theory. 2455 Teller Road, Thousand Oaks California 91320 United States: SAGE Publications, Inc., 2008.
 ISBN: 9781412906449. DOI: 10.4135/9781452230153.
- [CB94] A. Craig and M. Bushnell. "The thermal grill illusion: unmasking the burn of cold pain." In: *Science* 265.5169 (July 1994), pp. 252–255. ISSN: 0036-8075. DOI: 10.1126/s
 cience.8023144.
- [CK17]Heather Culbertson and Katherine J. Kuchenbecker. "Un-
grounded Haptic Augmented Reality System for Display-
ing Roughness and Friction." In: IEEE/ASME Transactions

on Mechatronics 22.4 (Aug. 2017), pp. 1839–1849. ISSN: 1083-4435. DOI: 10.1109/TMECH.2017.2700467.

- [CUK14] Heather Culbertson, Juliette Unwin, and Katherine J. Kuchenbecker. "Modeling and Rendering Realistic Textures from Unconstrained Tool-Surface Interactions." In: *IEEE Transactions on Haptics* 7.3 (July 2014), pp. 381–393.
 ISSN: 1939-1412. DOI: 10.1109/T0H.2014.2316797.
- [Dae+o2] Frank Daerden, Dirk Lefeber, Frank Daerden, and Dirk Lefeber. "Pneumatic artificial muscles: actuators for robotics and automation." In: *European Journal of Mechanical and Environmental Engineering* 47.1 (2002), pp. 11–21.
 ISSN: 00353612. DOI: 10.1.1.89.6717.
- [DW17] M.M. Danzl and M.R. Wiegand. "Chapter 19 Orthopedic Neurology." In: Orthopaedic Physical Therapy Secrets. 3rd ed. Vol. 5. Elsevier, 2017. Chap. 19, pp. 140–149. ISBN: 9780323286855. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-323-28683-1.000 19-9.
- [Dar84] Ian Darian-Smith. "The Sense of Touch: Performance and Peripheral Neural Processes." In: *Handbook of Physiology, Section 1: The Nervous System Vol. III.* Washington, DC: American Physiological Society, 1984. Chap. 17, pp. 739– 788. ISBN: 9780470650714. DOI: https://doi.org/10.100 2/cphy.cp010317.
- [DJ77] Ian. Darian-Smith and Kenneth O. Johnson. "Thermal Sensibility and Thermoreceptors." In: *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 69.1 (July 1977), pp. 146–153. ISSN: 0022202X. DOI: 10.1111/1523-1747.ep12497936.
- [Das+18] Swagata Das, Yusuke Kishishita, Toshio Tsuji, Cassie Lowell, Kazunori Ogawa, and Yuichi Kurita. "ForceHand Glove: A Wearable Force-Feedback Glove with Pneumatic Artificial Muscles (PAMs)." In: *IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters* 3.3 (2018), pp. 2416–2423. ISSN: 23773766. DOI: 10.1109/LRA.2018.2813403.
- [de +17] Victor Adriel de Jesus Oliveira, Luca Brayda, Luciana Nedel, and Anderson Maciel. "Designing a Vibrotactile Head-Mounted Display for Spatial Awareness in 3D Spaces." In: *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics* 23.4 (Apr. 2017), pp. 1409–1417. ISSN: 1077-2626. DOI: 10.1109/TVCG.2017.2657238.

- [DZK19] Donald Degraen, André Zenner, and Antonio Krüger.
 "Enhancing Texture Perception in Virtual Reality Using 3D-Printed Hair Structures." In: Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2019, pp. 1–12. ISBN: 9781450359702. DOI: 10.1145/3290605.3300479.
- [Del+18] Alexandra Delazio, Ken Nakagaki, Roberta L. Klatzky, Scott E Hudson, Jill Fain Lehman, and Alanson P Sample. "Force Jacket: Pneumatically-Actuated Jacket for Embodied Haptic Experiences." In: *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2018, pp. 1–12. ISBN: 9781450356206. DOI: 10.1145/3173574.3173894.
- [Des92] Max Dessoir. *Über den Hautsinn*. Berlin: Archiv für Anatomie und Physiologie, Physiologische Abtheilung, 1892.
- [DH08] Aaron M. Dollar and Hugh Herr. "Lower Extremity Exoskeletons and Active Orthoses: Challenges and State-of-the-Art." In: *IEEE Transactions on Robotics* 24.1 (2008), pp. 144–158. ISSN: 1552-3098. DOI: 10.1109/TR0.2008.91 5453.
- [DBD20] Hans J. ten Donkelaar, Jonas Broman, and Peter van Domburg. "The Somatosensory System." In: *Clinical Neuroanatomy*. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2020. Chap. 4, pp. 171–255. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-41 878-6_4.
- [Dou97] Patrick Dougherty. *Neuroscience Online: Chapter 2 Somatosensory Systems*. 1997.
- [DD87] Peter D. Drummond and Peter D. Drummond. "Scalp Tenderness and Sensitivity to Pain in Migraine and Tension Headache." In: *Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain* 27.1 (Jan. 1987), pp. 45–50. ISSN: 0017-8748. DOI: 10 .1111/j.1526-4610.1987.hed2701045.x.
- [Dur18] N Jeremi Duru. "In Search of the Final Head Ball: The Case for Eliminating Heading from Soccer." In: *Mo. L. Rev.* 83 (2018), p. 559.

- [EA16] Mohamad A. Eid and Hussein Al Osman. "Affective Haptics: Current Research and Future Directions." In: IEEE Access 4 (2016), pp. 26–40. ISSN: 2169-3536. DOI: 10.1109 /ACCESS.2015.2497316.
- [El +20] Abdallah El Ali, Xingyu Yang, Swamy Ananthanarayan, Thomas Röggla, Jack Jansen, Jess Hartcher-O'Brien, Kaspar Jansen, and Pablo Cesar. "ThermalWear: Exploring Wearable On-chest Thermal Displays to Augment Voice Messages with Affect." In: *Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2020, pp. 1–14. ISBN: 9781450367080. DOI: 10.1145/3313831.3376682.
- [El 07] Abdulmotaleb El Saddik. "The Potential of Haptics Technologies." In: *IEEE Instrumentation & Measurement Magazine* 10.1 (Feb. 2007), pp. 10–17. ISSN: 1094-6969. DOI: 10.1109/MIM.2007.339540.
- [El +11] Abdulmotaleb El Saddik, Mauricio Orozco, Mohamad Eid, and Jongeun Cha. *Haptics Technologies: Bringing Touch* to Multimedia. Springer Series on Touch and Haptic Systems. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2011. ISBN: 978-3-642-22658-8. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-6 42-22658-8.
- [Elk+21] Lisa A. Elkin, Matthew Kay, James J. Higgins, and Jacob O. Wobbrock. An Aligned Rank Transform Procedure for Multifactor Contrast Tests. Vol. 1. 1. Association for Computing Machinery, 2021. ISBN: 9781450386357. DOI: 10.11 45/3472749.3474784. arXiv: 2102.11824.
- [Els+20a] Hesham Elsayed, Mayra Donaji Barrera Machuca, Christian Schaarschmidt, Karola Marky, Florian Müller, Jan Riemann, Andrii Matviienko, Martin Schmitz, Martin Weigel, and Max Mühlhäuser. "VRSketchPen: Unconstrained Haptic Assistance for Sketching in Virtual 3D Environments." In: *Proceedings of the ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology, VRST* (2020). DOI: 10.1145/3385956.3418953.
- [Els+21] Hesham Elsayed, Philipp Hoffmann, Sebastian Günther, Martin Schmitz, Martin Weigel, Max Mühlhäuser, and Florian Müller. "CameraReady: Assessing the Influence of Display Types and Visualizations on Posture Guid-

ance." In: *Designing Interactive Systems Conference* 2021. New York, NY, USA: ACM, June 2021, pp. 1046–1055. ISBN: 9781450384766. DOI: 10.1145/3461778.3462026.

- [Els+20b] Hesham Elsayed, Martin Weigel, Florian Müller, Martin Schmitz, Karola Marky, Sebastian Günther, Jan Riemann, and Max Mühlhäuser. "VibroMap: Understanding the spacing of vibrotactile actuators across the body." In: *Proceedings of the ACM on Interactive, Mobile, Wearable and Ubiquitous Technologies* 4.4 (Dec. 2020), pp. 1–16. ISSN: 2474-9567. DOI: 10.1145/3432189.
- [Elv+19] Don Samitha Elvitigala, Denys J. C. Matthies, Vipula Dissanayaka, Chamod Weerasinghe, and Suranga Nanayakkara. "2bit-TactileHand: Evaluating Tactons for On-Body Vibrotactile Displays on the Hand and Wrist." In: *Proceedings of the 10th Augmented Human International Conference 2019.* New York, NY, USA: ACM, Mar. 2019, pp. 1–8. ISBN: 9781450365475. DOI: 10.1145/3311823.331 1832.
- [EB02] Marc O Ernst and Martin S Banks. "Humans integrate visual and haptic information in a statistically optimal fashion." In: *Nature* 415.6870 (Jan. 2002), pp. 429–433.
 ISSN: 0028-0836. DOI: 10.1038/415429a.
- [Ess+10] Greg K. Essick, Francis McGlone, Chris Dancer, David Fabricant, Yancy Ragin, Nicola Phillips, Therese Jones, and Steve Guest. "Quantitative assessment of pleasant touch." In: *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews* 34.2 (Feb. 2010), pp. 192–203. ISSN: 01497634. DOI: 10.1016/j.neub iorev.2009.02.003.
- [FSH10] Anna Fenko, Hendrik N.J. Schifferstein, and Paul Hekkert.
 "Looking hot or feeling hot: What determines the product experience of warmth?" In: *Materials & Design* 31.3 (Mar. 2010), pp. 1325–1331. ISSN: 02613069. DOI: 10.1016/j.ma tdes.2009.09.008.
- [Fic71] John B Fick, Bruce R and Makinson. "Machine Augmentation of Human Strength and Endurance Hardiman i Prototype Project." In: *Google Patents* 196 (1971), p. 110.
- [FFK08] Maiken Hillerup Fogtmann, Jonas Fritsch, and Karen Johanne Kortbek. "Kinesthetic Interaction Revealing the bodily potential in interaction design." In: *Proceedings of*

the 20th Australasian Conference on Computer-Human Interaction Designing for Habitus and Habitat - OZCHI '08. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2008, p. 89. ISBN: 0980306345. DOI: 10.1145/1517744.1517770.

- [Fri+09] Antonio Frisoli, Fabio Salsedo, Massimo Bergamasco, Bruno Rossi, and Maria C. Carboncini. "A force-feedback exoskeleton for upper-limb rehabilitation in virtual reality." In: *Applied Bionics and Biomechanics* 6.2 (July 2009), pp. 115–126. ISSN: 1176-2322. DOI: 10.1080/117623209029 59250.
- [FNK21] Juri Fujii, Satoshi Nakamaru, and Yasuaki Kakehi. "Layer-Pump: Rapid Prototyping of Functional 3D Objects with Built-in Electrohydrodynamics Pumps Based on Layered Plates." In: *Proceedings of the Fifteenth International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction*. TEI '21. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2021. ISBN: 9781450382137. DOI: 10.1145/343052 4.3442453.
- [Fun+16] Markus Funk, Juana Heusler, Elif Akcay, Klaus Weiland, and Albrecht Schmidt. "Haptic, Auditory, or Visual? Towards Optimal Error Feedback at Manual Assembly Workplaces." In: *Proceedings of the 9th ACM International Conference on PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, June 2016, pp. 1–6. ISBN: 9781450343374. DOI: 10.1145/2910674.2910683.
- [FK89] Susan R. Fussell and Robert M. Krauss. "The effects of intended audience on message production and comprehension: Reference in a common ground framework." In: *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology* 25.3 (May 1989), pp. 203–219. ISSN: 0022-1031. DOI: 10.1016/0022-1031(8 9)90019-X.
- [Gal+16] C Gallacher, A Mohtat, S Ding, and J Kövecses. "Toward open-source portable haptic displays with visual-force-tactile feedback colocation." In: 2016 IEEE Haptics Symposium (HAPTICS). 2016, pp. 65–71. DOI: 10.1109/HAPTICS. 2016.7463157.
- [Garo3] Wang G Gary. "Definition and Review of Virtual Prototyping." In: *Journal of Computing and Information Science*

in Engineering 2.3 (2003), pp. 232–236. ISSN: 1530-9827. DOI: 10.1115/1.1526508.

- [GS13] Gerald F. Gebhart and Robert F. Schmidt. "Primary Afferents/Neurons." In: *Encyclopedia of Pain*. Ed. by Gerald F Gebhart and Robert F Schmidt. Second Edi. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2013, pp. 3173–3174.
 ISBN: 978-3-642-28753-4. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-28753-4_201762.
- [Geh+19] Lukas Gehrke, Sezen Akman, Pedro Lopes, Albert Chen, Avinash Kumar Singh, Hsiang-ting Chen, Chin-Teng Lin, and Klaus Gramann. "Detecting Visuo-Haptic Mismatches in Virtual Reality using the Prediction Error Negativity of Event-Related Brain Potentials." In: *Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2019, pp. 1–11.
 ISBN: 9781450359702. DOI: 10.1145/3290605.3300657.
- [GOH16] Nicola Gerrett, Yacine Ouzzahra, and George Havenith. Measuring the Skin: Distribution of Skin Thermal Sensitivity.
 Ed. by Philippe Humbert, Howard Maibach, Ferial Fanian, and Pierre Agache. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2016. ISBN: 978-3-319-26594-0. DOI: 10.1007 /978-3-319-26594-0.
- [Gib62] James J. Gibson. "Observations on active touch." In: *Psychological Review* 69.6 (1962), pp. 477–491. ISSN: 0033-295X. DOI: 10.1037/h0046962.
- [GOC20] Dustin T. Goetz, David K. Owusu-Antwi, and Heather Culbertson. "PATCH: Pump-Actuated Thermal Compression Haptics." In: 2020 IEEE Haptics Symposium (HAP-TICS). IEEE, Mar. 2020, pp. 643–649. ISBN: 978-1-7281-0234-4. DOI: 10.1109/HAPTICS45997.2020.ras.HAP20.3 2.c4048ec3.
- [Got+18] Takashi Goto, Swagata Das, Yuichi Kurita, and Kai Kunze.
 "Artificial motion guidance: An Intuitive Device based on Pneumatic Gel Muscle (PGM)." In: *The 31st Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology Adjunct Proceedings*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Oct. 2018, pp. 182–184. ISBN: 9781450359498. DOI: 10.1145/3266037 .3271644.

- [Greo7] Pavel Gregoric. *Aristotle on the Common Sense*. Oxford University Press, May 2007, pp. 1–272. ISBN: 9780199277377. DOI: 10.1093/acprof:0s0/9780199277377.001.0001.
- [Gro+13] Tobias Grosse-Puppendahl, Yannick Berghoefer, Andreas Braun, Raphael Wimmer, and Arjan Kuijper. "Open-CapSense: A rapid prototyping toolkit for pervasive interaction using capacitive sensing." In: 2013 IEEE International Conference on Pervasive Computing and Communications (PerCom). March. IEEE, Mar. 2013, pp. 152–159. ISBN: 978-1-4673-4573-6. DOI: 10.1109/PerCom.2013.6526726.
- [Gu+16] Xiaochi Gu, Yifei Zhang, Weize Sun, Yuanzhe Bian, Dao Zhou, and Per Ola Kristensson. "Dexmo: An Inexpensive and Lightweight Mechanical Exoskeleton for Motion Capture and Force Feedback in VR." In: *Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems CHI '16* (2016), pp. 1991–1995. DOI: 10.1145/28 58036.2858487.
- [GS03] Steve Guest and Charles Spence. "What role does multisensory integration play in the visuotactile perception of texture?" In: *International Journal of Psychophysiology* 50.1-2 (Oct. 2003), pp. 63–80. ISSN: 01678760. DOI: 10.101 6/S0167-8760(03)00125-9.
- [Gün+18a] Sebastian Günther, Sven Kratz, Daniel Avrahami, and Max Mühlhäuser. "Exploring Audio, Visual, and Tactile Cues for Synchronous Remote Assistance." In: Proceedings of the 11th PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments Conference. New York, NY, USA: ACM, June 2018, pp. 339–344. ISBN: 9781450363907. DOI: 10.1145/31 97768.3201568.
- [Gün+19] Sebastian Günther, Mohit Makhija, Florian Müller, Dominik Schön, Max Mühlhäuser, and Markus Funk. "PneumAct: Pneumatic Kinesthetic Actuation of Body Joints in Virtual Reality Environments." In: *Proceedings of the 2019 on Designing Interactive Systems Conference*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, June 2019, pp. 227–240. ISBN: 9781450358507. DOI: 10.1145/3322276.3322302.
- [Gün+18b] Sebastian Günther, Florian Müller, Markus Funk, Jan Kirchner, Niloofar Dezfuli, and Max Mühlhäuser. "TactileGlove: Assistive Spatial Guidance in 3D Space through

Vibrotactile Navigation." In: *Proceedings of the 11th PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments Conference*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, June 2018, pp. 273–280. ISBN: 9781450363907. DOI: 10.1145/3197768.3197785.

- [Gün+21] Sebastian Günther, Florian Müller, Felix Hübner, Max Mühlhäuser, and Andrii Matviienko. "ActuBoard: An Open Rapid Prototyping Platform to integrate Hardware Actuators in Remote Applications." In: *Companion Proceedings of the 13th ACM SIGCHI Symposium on Engineering Interactive Computing Systems*. EICS '21 Companion. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2021. DOI: 10.1145/3459926.3464757.
- [Gün+20a] Sebastian Günther, Florian Müller, Dominik Schön, Omar Elmoghazy, Max Mühlhäuser, and Martin Schmitz. "Therminator: Understanding the Interdependency of Visual and On-Body Thermal Feedback in Virtual Reality." In: *Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '20)*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2020, pp. 1–14. ISBN: 9781450367080. DOI: 10.1145/3 313831.3376195.
- [Gün+22] Sebastian Günther, Julian Rasch, Dominik Schön, Florian Müller, Martin Schmitz, Jan Riemann, Andrii Matviienko, and Max Mühlhäuser. "Smooth as Steel Wool: Effects of Visual Stimuli on the Haptic Perception of Roughness in Virtual Reality." In: Proceedings of the 2022 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '22). New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2022. ISBN: 978-1-4503-9157-3/22/04. DOI: 10.1145/3491102.3517454.
- [Gün+20b] Sebastian Günther, Dominik Schön, Florian Müller, Max Mühlhäuser, and Martin Schmitz. "PneumoVolley: Pressure-based Haptic Feedback on the Head through Pneumatic Actuation." In: *Extended Abstracts of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (*CHI EA '20*). New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2020, pp. 1– 10. ISBN: 9781450368193. DOI: 10.1145/3334480.3382916.
- [GIB17]Aakar Gupta, Antony Albert Raj Irudayaraj, and Ravin
Balakrishnan. "HapticClench: Investigating Squeeze Sen-
sations using Memory Alloys." In: Proceedings of the 30th
Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Tech-

nology. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Oct. 2017, pp. 109–117. ISBN: 9781450349819. DOI: 10.1145/3126594.3126598.

- [Gup+13] Sidhant Gupta, Dan Morris, Shwetak N. Patel, and Desney Tan. "AirWave: Non-Contact Haptic Feedback Using Air Vortex Rings." In: *Proceedings of the 2013 ACM international joint conference on Pervasive and ubiquitous computing*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Sept. 2013, pp. 419–428.
 ISBN: 9781450317702. DOI: 10.1145/2493432.2493463.
- [HIK08] Antal Haans, Wijnand A. IJsselsteijn, and Yvonne A.W. de Kort. "The effect of similarities in skin texture and hand shape on perceived ownership of a fake limb." In: *Body Image* 5.4 (Dec. 2008), pp. 389–394. ISSN: 17401445. DOI: 10.1016/j.bodyim.2008.04.003.
- [HHW14] Katrina W. Hall, Wanda B. Hedrick, and Lunetta M. Williams. "Every Day We're Shufflin': Empowering Students During In-School Independent Reading." In: *Childhood Education* 90.2 (Mar. 2014), pp. 91–98. ISSN: 0009-4056. DOI: 10.1080/00094056.2014.894789.
- [Hal+12] Martin Halvey, Michael Henderson, Stephen A. Brewster, Graham Wilson, and Stephen A. Hughes. "Augmenting Media with Thermal Stimulation." In: Lecture Notes in Computer Science (including subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics) 7468 LNCS (2012), pp. 91–100. ISSN: 16113349. DOI: 10.1007/9 78-3-642-32796-4_10.
- [HWG85] Heikki A. Hamalainen, Susan Warren, and Esther P. Gardner. "Differential Sensitivity to Airpuffs on Human Hairy and Glabrous Skin." In: *Somatosensory Research* 2.4 (Jan. 1985), pp. 281–302. ISSN: 0736-7244. DOI: 10.3109/07367 228509144569.
- [HEE13] Abdelwahab Hamam, Mohamad Eid, and Abdulmotaleb El Saddik. "Effect of kinesthetic and tactile haptic feedback on the quality of experience of edutainment applications." In: *Multimedia Tools and Applications* 67.2 (2013), pp. 455–472. ISSN: 13807501. DOI: 10.1007/s11042-012-0 990-7.
- [Han+18] Ping-Hsuan Han, Yang-Sheng Chen, Kong-Chang Lee, Hao-Cheng Wang, Chiao-En Hsieh, Jui-Chun Hsiao, Chien-Hsing Chou, and Yi-Ping Hung. "Haptic around:

Multiple Tactile Sensations for Immersive Environment and Interaction in Virtual Reality." In: *Proceedings of the 24th ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Nov. 2018, pp. 1–10. ISBN: 9781450360869. DOI: 10.1145/3281505.3281507.

- [HWG52] James D. Hardy, Harold G. Wolff, and Helen Goodell.
 "Pricking Pain Threshold in Different Body Areas." In: *Experimental Biology and Medicine* 80.3 (July 1952), pp. 425–427. ISSN: 1535-3702. DOI: 10.3181/00379727-80-19644.
- [HD99] Joel L.K Harrison and Karen D Davis. "Cold-evoked pain varies with skin type and cooling rate: a psychophysical study in humans." In: *Pain* 83.2 (Nov. 1999), pp. 123–135.
 ISSN: 0304-3959. DOI: 10.1016/S0304-3959(99)00099-8.
- [Haro6] Sandra G. Hart. "Nasa-Task Load Index (NASA-TLX);
 20 Years Later." In: *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting* 50.9 (2006), pp. 904– 908. ISSN: 1541-9312. DOI: 10.1177/154193120605000909. arXiv: 9605103 [cs].
- [HS88] Sandra G. Hart and Lowell E. Staveland. "Development of NASA-TLX (Task Load Index): Results of Empirical and Theoretical Research." In: *Power Technology and Engineering*. Vol. 43. 5. Sept. 1988, pp. 139–183. DOI: 10.1016 /S0166-4115(08)62386-9.
- [Has+13] M H A Hassan, Z Taha, Z Anuar, and M A Aris. "Brain Acceleration during Ball-To-Head Impact in Soccer." In: *International Conference on Mechanical Engineering Research* (*ICMER2013*). Vol. 1. 2013, p. 3.
- [He+15] Liang He, Cheng Xu, Ding Xu, and Ryan Brill. "PneuHaptic: Delivering Haptic Cues with a Pneumatic Armband." In: Proceedings of the 2015 ACM International Symposium on Wearable Computers - ISWC '15 (2015), pp. 47–48. DOI: 10.1145/2802083.2802091.
- [Hei62] Morton Heilig. *Sensorama Simulator*. Aug. 1962.
- [Hel82] Morton A. Heller. "Visual and tactual texture perception: Intersensory cooperation." In: *Perception & Psychophysics* 31.4 (July 1982), pp. 339–344. ISSN: 0031-5117. DOI: 10.37 58/BF03202657.

- [Heo+18] Seongkook Heo, Christina Chung, Geehyuk Lee, and Daniel Wigdor. "Thor's Hammer: An Ungrounded Force Feedback Device Utilizing Propeller-Induced Propulsive Force." In: *Extended Abstracts of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2018, pp. 1–4. ISBN: 9781450356213. DOI: 10.1145/3170427.3186544.
- [Her+o6] Matthew J. Hertenstein, Dacher Keltner, Betsy App, Brittany A. Bulleit, and Ariane R. Jaskolka. "Touch communicates distinct emotions." In: *Emotion* 6.3 (2006), pp. 528– 533. ISSN: 1931-1516. DOI: 10.1037/1528-3542.6.3.528.
- [Heu+o8] Wilko Heuten, Niels Henze, Susanne Boll, and Martin Pielot. "Tactile Wayfinder: A Non-Visual Support System for Wayfindin." In: *Proceedings of the 5th Nordic conference on Human-computer interaction building bridges - NordiCHI* '*o8*. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2008, p. 172. ISBN: 9781595937049. DOI: 10.1145/1463160.1463179.
- [HJ06] Hsin-Ni Ho and Lynette A. Jones. "Contribution of thermal cues to material discrimination and localization." In: *Perception & Psychophysics* 68.1 (Jan. 2006), pp. 118–128.
 ISSN: 0031-5117. DOI: 10.3758/BF03193662.
- [HPCoo] Hunter G Hoffman, David R Patterson, and Gretchen J Carrougher. "Use of Virtual Reality for Adjunctive Treatment of Adult Burn Pain During Physical Therapy: A Controlled Study." In: *The Clinical Journal of Pain* 16.3 (Sept. 2000), pp. 244–250. ISSN: 0749-8047. DOI: 10.1097 /00002508-200009000-00010.
- [Hol+93] Mark Holliins, Richard Faldowski, Suman Rao, and Forrest Young. "Perceptual dimensions of tactile surface texture: A multidimensional scaling analysis." In: *Perception & Psychophysics* 54.6 (1993), pp. 697–705. ISSN: 00315117.
 DOI: 10.3758/BF03211795.
- [HRoo] Mark Hollins and S. Ryan Risner. "Evidence for the duplex theory of tactile texture perception." In: *Perception and Psychophysics* 62.4 (2000), pp. 695–705. ISSN: 00315117.
 DOI: 10.3758/BF03206916.
- [Hop+18] Matthias Hoppe, Pascal Knierim, Thomas Kosch, Markus
 Funk, Lauren Futami, Stefan Schneegass, Niels Henze, Albrecht Schmidt, and Tonja Machulla. "VRHapticDrones:

Providing Haptics in Virtual Reality through Quadcopters." In: *Proceedings of the 17th International Conference on Mobile and Ubiquitous Multimedia*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Nov. 2018, pp. 7–18. ISBN: 9781450365949. DOI: 10.1145/3282894.3282898.

- [HP11] Victoria E Hribar and Dianne T.V. Pawluk. "A tactilethermal display for haptic exploration of virtual paintings." In: *The proceedings of the 13th international ACM SIGACCESS conference on Computers and accessibility - AS-SETS '11*. ASSETS '11. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2011, p. 221. ISBN: 9781450309202. DOI: 10.1145/20 49536.2049577.
- [Hui+13] G. Huisman, Aduen Darriba Frederiks, B. Van Dijk, D. Hevlen, and B. Krose. "The TaSSt: Tactile sleeve for social touch." In: 2013 World Haptics Conference (WHC). Daejeon, Korea (South): IEEE, Apr. 2013, pp. 211–216. ISBN: 978-1-4799-0088-6. DOI: 10.1109/WHC.2013.6548410.
- [Hui17] Gijs Huisman. "Social Touch Technology: A Survey of Haptic Technology for Social Touch." In: *IEEE Transactions on Haptics* 10.3 (July 2017), pp. 391–408. ISSN: 1939-1412.
 DOI: 10.1109/TOH.2017.2650221.
- [Hül+14] Felix Hülsmann, Julia Fröhlich, Nikita Mattar, and Ipke Wachsmuth. "Wind and Warmth in Virtual Reality: Implementation and Evaluation." In: *Proceedings of the 2014 Virtual Reality International Conference*. Vol. 2014-April. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2014, pp. 1–8. ISBN: 9781450326261. DOI: 10.1145/2617841.2620712.
- [IKH06] Wijnand A IJsselsteijn, Yvonne A. W de Kort, and Antal Haans. "Is This My Hand I See Before Me? The Rubber Hand Illusion in Reality, Virtual Reality, and Mixed Reality." In: *Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments* 15.4 (Aug. 2006), pp. 455–464. ISSN: 1054-7460. DOI: 10.1 162/pres.15.4.455.
- [IHI19] Sima Ipakchian Askari, Antal Haans, and Wijnand A. IJsselsteijn. "Is Seeing Believing?: The Effect of Morphological Congruent Visual Feedback on Mediated Touch Experience." In: Extended Abstracts of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. New York,

NY, USA: ACM, May 2019, pp. 1–6. ISBN: 9781450359719. DOI: 10.1145/3290607.3312976.

- [Ipa+21] Sima Ipakchian Askari, Ville Harjunen, Michiel Spape, Antal Haans, Niklas Ravaja, and Wijnand Ijsselsteijn. "Receiving a mediated touch from your partner vs. a male stranger: How visual feedback of touch and its sender influence touch experience." In: *IEEE Transactions on Affective Computing* (2021), pp. 1–1. ISSN: 1949-3045. DOI: 10.1109/TAFFC.2021.3085185.
- [IA18] Ali Israr and Freddy Abnousi. "Towards Pleasant Touch: Vibrotactile Grids for Social Touch Interactions." In: *Extended Abstracts of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2018, pp. 1–6. ISBN: 9781450356213. DOI: 10.1145/317042
 7.3188546.
- [Isr+12] Ali Israr, Seung-Chan Kim, Jan Stec, and Ivan Poupyrev.
 "Surround Haptics: Tactile Feedback for Immersive Gaming Experiences." In: *Proceedings of the 2012 ACM annual conference extended abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems Extended Abstracts CHI EA '12*. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2012, p. 1087. ISBN: 9781450310161.
 DOI: 10.1145/2212776.2212392.
- [IP11] Ali Israr and Ivan Poupyrev. "Tactile brush: drawing on skin with a tactile grid display." In: *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2011, pp. 2019–2028. ISBN: 9781450302289. DOI: 10.1145/1978942.1979235.
- [Isr+14] Ali Israr, Siyan Zhao, Kaitlyn Schwalje, Roberta Klatzky, and Jill Lehman. "Feel Effects: Enriching Storytelling with Haptic Feedback." In: ACM Transactions on Applied Perception 11.3 (Oct. 2014), pp. 1–17. ISSN: 1544-3558. DOI: 10.1145/2641570. arXiv: 1712.05441.
- [IAS19] Daisuke Iwai, Mei Aoki, and Kosuke Sato. "Non-Contact Thermo-Visual Augmentation by IR-RGB Projection." In: *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics* 25.4 (Apr. 2019), pp. 1707–1716. ISSN: 1077-2626. DOI: 10 .1109/TVCG.2018.2820121.

- [IMR10] Ken Iwasaki, Takashi Miyaki, and Jun Rekimoto. "AffectPhone: A Handset Device to Present User's Emotional State with Warmth/Coolness." In: *B-Interface*. 2010, pp. 83–88.
- [Ize+15] Michael Izenson, Weibo Chen, Scott Phillips, Ariane Chepko, Grant Bue, Janet Ferl, and Daniel Cencer. "Multifunctional Cooling Garment for Space Suit Environmental Control." In: 2015.
- [JM71] Jacob Jacoby and Michael S. Matell. "Three-Point Likert Scales Are Good Enough." In: *Journal of Marketing Research* 8.4 (Nov. 1971), pp. 495–500. ISSN: 0022-2437. DOI: 10.11 77/002224377100800414.
- [Jan83] Gunnar Jansson. "Tactile guidance of movement." In: *International Journal of Neuroscience* 19.1-4 (1983), pp. 37–46. ISSN: 00207454. DOI: 10.3109/00207458309148644.
- [JV79] R S Johansson and A B Vallbo. "Tactile sensibility in the human hand: relative and absolute densities of four types of mechanoreceptive units in glabrous skin." In: *The Journal of Physiology* 286.1 (1979), pp. 283–300. DOI: https: //doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1979.sp012619.
- [JV83] Roland S. Johansson and Åke B. Vallbo. "Tactile sensory coding in the glabrous skin of the human hand." In: *Trends in Neurosciences* 6.C (Jan. 1983), pp. 27–32. ISSN: 01662236.
 DOI: 10.1016/0166-2236(83)90011-5.
- [JL81] K O Johnson and G D Lamb. "Neural mechanisms of spatial tactile discrimination: neural patterns evoked by braille-like dot patterns in the monkey." In: *The Journal of Physiology* 310.1 (1981), pp. 117–144. DOI: https://doi.o rg/10.1113/jphysiol.1981.sp013540.
- [Joho1] Kenneth O Johnson. "The roles and functions of cutaneous mechanoreceptors." In: *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 11.4 (2001), pp. 455–461. ISSN: 0959-4388. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4388(00)00234-8.
- [JYVoo] Kenneth O Johnson, Takashi Yoshioka, and Francisco Vega–Bermudez. "Tactile Functions of Mechanoreceptive Afferents Innervating the Hand." In: *Journal of Clinical Neurophysiology* 17.6 (2000). ISSN: 0736-0258.

- [JH08] L.A. Jones and H.-N. Ho. "Warm or Cool, Large or Small? The Challenge of Thermal Displays." In: *IEEE Transactions on Haptics* 1.1 (Jan. 2008), pp. 53–70. ISSN: 1939-1412. DOI: 10.1109/T0H.2008.2.
- [Jul+18] Arthur Juliani, Vincent-Pierre Berges, Ervin Teng, Andrew Cohen, Jonathan Harper, Chris Elion, Chris Goy, Yuan Gao, Hunter Henry, Marwan Mattar, and Danny Lange. "Unity: A General Platform for Intelligent Agents." In: (Sept. 2018). arXiv: 1809.02627.
- [Kaa12] Jon H. Kaas. "Somatosensory System." In: *The Human Nervous System*. Ed. by Jürgen K. Mai and George Paxinos. Third Edit. San Diego: Elsevier, 2012. Chap. 30, pp. 1074– 1109. ISBN: 9780123742360. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-374 236-0.10030-6.
- [KMY12] Shoko Kanaya, Yuka Matsushima, and Kazuhiko Yokosawa. "Does Seeing Ice Really Feel Cold? Visual-Thermal Interaction under an Illusory Body-Ownership." In: *PLoS ONE* 7.11 (Nov. 2012). Ed. by Mel Slater, e47293. ISSN: 1932-6203. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0047293.
- [Kan+19] Smita Kanjanapas, Cara M. Nunez, Sophia R. Williams, Allison M. Okamura, and Ming Luo. "Design and Analysis of Pneumatic 2-DoF Soft Haptic Devices for Shear Display." In: *IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters* 4.2 (Apr. 2019), pp. 1365–1371. ISSN: 2377-3766. DOI: 10.1109/LRA. 2019.2895890.
- [KR16] Oliver Beren Kaul and Michael Rohs. "HapticHead: 3D Guidance and Target Acquisition through a Vibrotactile Grid." In: Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems CHI EA '16 (2016), pp. 2533–2539. DOI: 10.1145/2851581.289235 5.
- [KR17] Oliver Beren Kaul and Michael Rohs. "HapticHead: A Spherical Vibrotactile Grid around the Head for 3D Guidance in Virtual and Augmented Reality." In: *Proceedings* of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '17 (2017), pp. 3729–3740. DOI: 10.1145/3 025453.3025684.

[Kel+18] Annie Kelly, R Benjamin Shapiro, Jonathan de Halleux, and Thomas Ball. "ARcadia: A Rapid Prototyping Platform for Real-Time Tangible Interfaces." In: *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. CHI '18. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2018, pp. 1–8. ISBN: 9781450356206. DOI: 10.1145/3173574.317 3983.

- [KKP16] Hamideh Kerdegari, Yeongmi Kim, and Tony J. Prescott.
 "Head-Mounted Sensory Augmentation Device: Comparing Haptic and Audio Modality." In: *Biomimetic and Biohybrid Systems*. Ed. by Nathan F. Lepora, Anna Mura, Michael Mangan, Paul F.M.J. Verschure, Marc Desmulliez, and Tony J. Prescott. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2016, pp. 107–118. ISBN: 978-3-319-42417-0. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-42417-0_11.
- [Ket+17] Romina Kettner, Patrick Bader, Thomas Kosch, Stefan Schneegass, and Albrecht Schmidt. "Towards pressure-based feedback for non-stressful tactile notifications." In: *Proceedings of the 19th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services MobileHCI* '17 (2017), pp. 1–8. DOI: 10.1145/3098279.31221
 32.
- [KF19] Lawrence H. Kim and Sean Follmer. "SwarmHaptics: Haptic Display with Swarm Robots." In: *Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2019, pp. 1–13.
 ISBN: 9781450359702. DOI: 10.1145/3290605.3300918.
- [Kim+09] Seung-Chan Kim, Chong-Hui Kim, Gi-Hun Yang, Tae-Heon Yang, Byung-Kil Han, Sung-Chul Kang, and Dong-Soo Kwon. "Small and lightweight tactile display(SaLT) and its application." In: World Haptics 2009 - Third Joint EuroHaptics conference and Symposium on Haptic Interfaces for Virtual Environment and Teleoperator Systems. Salt Lake City, UT, USA: IEEE, Mar. 2009, pp. 69–74. ISBN: 978-1-4244-3858-7. DOI: 10.1109/WHC.2009.4810820.
- [Kim+20a] Seung-Won Kim, Sung Hee Kim, Choong Sun Kim, Kyoungsoo Yi, Jun-Sik Kim, Byung Jin Cho, and Youngsu Cha. "Thermal display glove for interacting with virtual

reality." In: *Scientific Reports* 10.1 (Dec. 2020), p. 11403. ISSN: 2045-2322. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-020-68362-y.

- [Kim+20b] Yoonji Kim, Hyein Lee, Ramkrishna Prasad, Seungwoo Je, Youngkyung Choi, Daniel Ashbrook, Ian Oakley, and Andrea Bianchi. "SchemaBoard: Supporting Correct Assembly of Schematic Circuits Using Dynamic In-Situ Visualization." In: Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology. UIST '20. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2020, pp. 987–998. ISBN: 9781450375146. DOI: 10.114 5/3379337.3415887.
- [KCH99] G.K. Klute, J.M. Czerniecki, and B. Hannaford. "McKibben artificial muscles: pneumatic actuators with biomechanical intelligence." In: 1999 IEEE/ASME International Conference on Advanced Intelligent Mechatronics (Cat. No.99TH8399) (1999), pp. 221–226. ISSN: 01677799. DOI: 10.1109/AIM.1999.803170.
- [Kni+17] Pascal Knierim, Thomas Kosch, Valentin Schwind, Markus Funk, Francisco Kiss, Stefan Schneegass, and Niels Henze. "Tactile Drones - Providing Immersive Tactile Feedback in Virtual Reality through Quadcopters." In: *Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2017, pp. 433–436. ISBN: 9781450346566. DOI: 10.1145/3027063.3050426.
- [KR15] Espen Knoop and Jonathan Rossiter. "The Tickler: A Compliant Wearable Tactile Display for Stroking and Tickling." In: *Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2015, pp. 1133–1138. ISBN: 9781450331463. DOI: 10.1145/2702613.2732749.
- [Koe+o4] E.J. Koeneman, R.S. Schultz, S.L. Wolf, D.E. Herring, and J.B. Koeneman. "A pneumatic muscle hand therapy device." In: *The 26th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society* 3 (2004), pp. 2711–2713. ISSN: 1557-170X. DOI: 10.1109/IEMBS.200 4.1403777.
- [KNK17] Yuki Kon, Takuto Nakamura, and Hiroyuki Kajimoto. "HangerOVER: HMD-Embedded Haptics Display With

Hanger Reflex." In: *ACM SIGGRAPH 2017 Emerging Technologies*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, July 2017, pp. 1–2. ISBN: 9781450350129. DOI: 10.1145/3084822.3084842.

- [Kon+18a] Yuki Kon, Takuto Nakamura, Vibol Yem, and Hiroyuki Kajimoto. "HangerOVER: Mechanism of Controlling the Hanger Reflex Using Air Balloon for HMD Embedded Haptic Display." In: 2018 IEEE Conference on Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces (VR). IEEE, Mar. 2018, pp. 609–610. ISBN: 978-1-5386-3365-6. DOI: 10.1109/VR.2018.8446582.
- [Kon+18b] Yukari Konishi, Nobuhisa Hanamitsu, Benjamin Outram, Youichi Kamiyama, Kouta Minamizawa, Ayahiko Sato, and Tetsuya Mizuguchi. "Synesthesia Suit: the full body immersive experience." In: Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering. Vol. 432. 2018, pp. 499–503. ISBN: 9789811041563. DOI: 10.1007/978-981-10-4157-0_84.
- [Kos+16] Thomas Kosch, Romina Kettner, Markus Funk, and Albrecht Schmidt. "Comparing Tactile, Auditory, and Visual Assembly Error-Feedback for Workers with Cognitive Impairments." In: *Proceedings of the 18th International ACM SIGACCESS Conference on Computers and Accessibility*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Oct. 2016, pp. 53–60. ISBN: 9781450341240. DOI: 10.1145/2982142.2982157.
- [Kot+17] Vasil Kotsev, Atanas Nikolev, Kasper Pawlak, and Markus Löchtefeld. "Investigating the usage of Thermal Feedback as an Active Game Element." In: *Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on Mobile and Ubiquitous Multime-dia*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Nov. 2017, pp. 91–95. ISBN: 9781450353786. DOI: 10.1145/3152832.3152853.
- [KFS03] Robert E. Kraut, Susan R. Fussell, and Jane Siegel. "Visual Information as a Conversational Resource in Collaborative Physical Tasks." In: *Human–Computer Interaction* 18.1-2 (June 2003), pp. 13–49. ISSN: 0737-0024. DOI: 10.12
 07/S15327051HCI1812_2.
- [KG18] Julian Kreimeier and Timo Götzelmann. "FeelVR: Haptic Exploration of Virtual Objects." In: *Proceedings of the 11th PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments Conference*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, June 2018, pp. 122– 125. ISBN: 9781450363907. DOI: 10.1145/3197768.320152
 6.

- [Kur+14] Yosuke Kurihara, Seiya Takei, Yuriko Nakai, Taku Hachisu, Katherine J. Kuchenbecker, and Hiroyuki Kajimoto. "Haptic robotization of the human body by datadriven vibrotactile feedback." In: *Entertainment Computing* 5.4 (Dec. 2014), pp. 485–494. ISSN: 18759521. DOI: 10 .1016/j.entcom.2014.08.010.
- [Kus11] David Kushner. "The making of Arduino." In: *IEEE spectrum* 26 (2011).
- [Lav+11] Kate E Laver, Stacey George, Susie Thomas, Judith E Deutsch, and Maria Crotty. "Virtual reality for stroke rehabilitation." In: *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. Ed. by Kate E Laver. 2. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, Sept. 2011. ISBN: 1469-493X. DOI: 10.1002/14651858. CD008349.pub2.
- [LFH17] Jonathan Lazar, Jinjuan Heidi Feng, and Harry Hochheiser. Research Methods in Human-Computer Interaction. 2nd. Morgan Kaufmann, 2017, p. 560. ISBN: 978-0-12-805390-4.
- [Lec+16] Zuzanna Lechelt, Yvonne Rogers, Nicolai Marquardt, and Venus Shum. "ConnectUs: A New Toolkit for Teaching about the Internet of Things." In: *Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. CHI EA '16. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2016, pp. 3711–3714. ISBN: 9781450340823. DOI: 10.1145/2851581.2890241.
- [LK04] Susan J Lederman and Roberta L Klatzky. "Multisensory texture perception." In: *The handbook of multisensory processes*. Cambridge, MA, US: MIT Press, 2004, pp. 107–122.
 ISBN: 0-262-03321-6 (Hardcover).
- [LA81] Susan J. Lederman and Susan G. Abbott. "Texture perception: Studies of intersensory organization using a discrepancy paradigm, and visual versus tactual psychophysics." In: *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance* 7.4 (1981), pp. 902–915. ISSN: 1939-1277. DOI: 10.1037/0096-1523.7.4.902.
- [LTJ86] Susan J. Lederman, Georgie Thorne, and Bill Jones. "Perception of texture by vision and touch: Multidimensionality and intersensory integration." In: *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance* 12.2

(1986), pp. 169–180. ISSN: 0096-1523. DOI: 10.1037//0096 -1523.12.2.169.

- [Led+12] David Ledo, Miguel A Nacenta, Nicolai Marquardt, Sebastian Boring, and Saul Greenberg. "The HapticTouch Toolkit: Enabling Exploration of Haptic Interactions." In: *Proceedings of the Sixth International Conference on Tangible, Embedded and Embodied Interaction*. TEI '12. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2012, pp. 115–122. ISBN: 9781450311748. DOI: 10.1145/2148131.2148157.
- [LTC21] Chi-Jung Lee, Hsin-Ruey Tsai, and Bing-Yu Chen. "Hair-Touch: Providing Stiffness, Roughness and Surface Height Differences Using Reconfigurable Brush Hairs on a VR Controller." In: *Proceedings of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2021, pp. 1–13. ISBN: 9781450380966. DOI: 10.1145/3411764.3445285.
- [Lee+20] Jinwoo Lee, Heayoun Sul, Wonha Lee, Kyung Rok Pyun, Inho Ha, Dongkwan Kim, Hyojoon Park, Hyeonjin Eom, Yeosang Yoon, Jinwook Jung, Dongjun Lee, and Seung Hwan Ko. "Stretchable Skin-Like Cooling/Heating Device for Reconstruction of Artificial Thermal Sensation in Virtual Reality." In: *Advanced Functional Materials* 30.29 (July 2020), p. 1909171. ISSN: 1616-301X. DOI: 10.1002/ad fm.201909171.
- [Lee+04] Johnny C Lee, Daniel Avrahami, Scott E Hudson, Jodi Forlizzi, Paul H Dietz, and Darren Leigh. "The Calder Toolkit: Wired and Wireless Components for Rapidly Prototyping Interactive Devices." In: Proceedings of the 5th Conference on Designing Interactive Systems: Processes, Practices, Methods, and Techniques. DIS '04. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2004, pp. 167–175. ISBN: 1581137877. DOI: 10.1145/1013115.1013139.
- [LS10] Seungyon "Claire" Lee and Thad Starner. "BuzzWear: Alert Perception in Wearable Tactile Displays on the Wrist." In: *Proceedings of the 28th international conference* on Human factors in computing systems - CHI '10 (2010), pp. 433–442. DOI: 10.1145/1753326.1753392.

- [Leh+12] Ville Lehtinen, Antti Oulasvirta, Antti Salovaara, and Petteri Nurmi. "Dynamic tactile guidance for visual search tasks." In: Proceedings of the 25th annual ACM symposium on User interface software and technology - UIST '12 (2012), p. 445. DOI: 10.1145/2380116.2380173.
- [Lik32] Rensis Likert. "A technique for the measurement of attitudes." In: *Archives of Psychology* 22 140 (1932), p. 55.
- [Lin+19] Y Lin, Y Lin, M Yang, and J Lin. "ArduTalk: An Arduino Network Application Development Platform Based on IoTtalk." In: *IEEE Systems Journal* 13.1 (2019), pp. 468–476.
 DOI: 10.1109/JSYST.2017.2773077.
- [Lin+06] Robert W. Lindeman, Yasuyuki Yanagida, Haruo Noma, and Kenichi Hosaka. "Wearable vibrotactile systems for virtual contact and information display." In: *Virtual Reality* 9.2-3 (2006), pp. 203–213. ISSN: 13594338. DOI: 10.100 7/s10055-005-0010-6.
- [Liu+21] Yuhu Liu, Satoshi Nishikawa, Young ah Seong, Ryuma Niiyama, and Yasuo Kuniyoshi. "ThermoCaress: A Wearable Haptic Device with Illusory Moving Thermal Stimulation." In: *Proceedings of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2021, pp. 1–12. ISBN: 9781450380966. DOI: 10.1145/3 411764.3445777.
- [Lo+19] Jo-Yu Lo, Da-Yuan Huang, Tzu-Sheng Kuo, Chen-Kuo Sun, Jun Gong, Teddy Seyed, Xing-Dong Yang, and Bing-Yu Chen. "AutoFritz: Autocomplete for Prototyping Virtual Breadboard Circuits." In: *Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. CHI '19. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2019, pp. 1–13. ISBN: 9781450359702. DOI: 10.114 5/3290605.3300633.
- [Löc+17] Markus Löchtefeld, Tuomas Lappalainen, Jani Väyrynen, Ashley Colley, and Jonna Häkkilä. "Comparing Thermal and Haptic Feedback Mechanisms for Game Controllers." In: Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2017, pp. 1829–1836. ISBN: 9781450346566. DOI: 10.1145/3027063.3053172.

- [Löc+14] Markus Löchtefeld, Nadine Lautemann, Sven Gehring, and Antonio Krüger. "AmbiPad: Enriching Mobile Digital Media with Ambient Feedback." In: Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices & Services. MobileHCI '14. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2014, pp. 295–298. ISBN: 9781450330046. DOI: 10.1145/26 28363.2628395.
- [LTH18] Diana Löffler, Robert Tscharn, and Jörn Hurtienne. "Multimodal effects of color and haptics on intuitive interaction with tangible user interfaces." In: *Proceedings of the Twelfth International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction*. Vol. 2018-Janua. March. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Mar. 2018, pp. 647–655. ISBN: 9781450355681. DOI: 10.1145/3173225.3173257.
- [LS96] Nikos K. Logothetis and David L. Sheinberg. "Visual Object Recognition." In: Annual Review of Neuroscience 19.1 (Mar. 1996), pp. 577–621. ISSN: 0147-006X. DOI: 10.1 146/annurev.ne.19.030196.003045.
- [LBB13] Pedro Lopes, Lars Butzmann, and Patrick Baudisch.
 "Muscle-Propelled Force Feedback: bringing force feedback to mobile devices." In: *Proceedings of the 4th Augmented Human International Conference on AH '13*. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2013, pp. 231–232. ISBN: 9781450319041. DOI: 10.1145/2459236.2459276.
- [LIB15] Pedro Lopes, Alexandra Ion, and Patrick Baudisch. "Impacto: Simulating Physical Impact by Combining Tactile Stimulation with Electrical Muscle Stimulation." In: *Proceedings of the 28th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software & Technology UIST '15*. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2015, pp. 11–19. ISBN: 9781450337793. DOI: 10.1145/2807442.2807443.
- [Lop+17] Pedro Lopes, Sijing You, Lung-Pan Cheng, Sebastian Marwecki, and Patrick Baudisch. "Providing Haptics to Walls & Heavy Objects in Virtual Reality by Means of Electrical Muscle Stimulation." In: *Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems CHI '17* (2017), pp. 1471–1482. DOI: 10.1145/3025453.3025600.

- [Lop+18] Pedro Lopes, Sijing You, Alexandra Ion, and Patrick Baudisch. "Adding Force Feedback to Mixed Reality Experiences and Games using Electrical Muscle Stimulation." In: *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. c. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2018, pp. 1–13. ISBN: 9781450356206. DOI: 10.1145/31735 74.3174020.
- [Luk17] Steven G. Luke. "Evaluating significance in linear mixedeffects models in R." In: *Behavior Research Methods* 49.4 (Aug. 2017), pp. 1494–1502. ISSN: 1554-3528. DOI: 10.375 8/s13428-016-0809-y.
- [MHJ96] Vaughan G. Macefield, Charlotte Häger-Ross, and Roland
 S. Johansson. "Control of grip force during restraint of an object held between finger and thumb: Responses of cutaneous afferents from the digits." In: *Experimental Brain Research* 108.1 (1996), pp. 155–171. ISSN: 00144819. DOI: 10.1007/BF00242913.
- [MK19] Tomosuke Maeda and Tetsuo Kurahashi. "TherModule: Wearable and Modular Thermal Feedback System based on a Wireless Platform." In: *Proceedings of the 10th Augmented Human International Conference 2019.* New York, NY, USA: ACM, Mar. 2019, pp. 1–8. ISBN: 9781450365475. DOI: 10.1145/3311823.3311826.
- [MR17] Ahmed Al Maimani and Anne Roudaut. "Frozen Suit: Toward a Changeable Stiffness Suit and its Application for Haptic Games." In: *CHI* '17 Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (2017), pp. 2440–2448. DOI: 10.1145/3025453.3025835.
- [Mar+09] Stephen M Maricich, Scott A Wellnitz, Aislyn M Nelson, Daine R Lesniak, Gregory J Gerling, Ellen A Lumpkin, and Huda Y Zoghbi. "Merkel Cells Are Essential for Light-Touch Responses." In: *Science* 324.5934 (June 2009), 1580 LP –1582. DOI: 10.1126/science.1172890.
- [Mar+18] Jonatan Martinez, Daniel Griffiths, Valerio Biscione, Orestis Georgiou, and Tom Carter. "Touchless Haptic Feedback for Supernatural VR Experiences." In: 2018 IEEE Conference on Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces (VR). May 2020. IEEE, Mar. 2018, pp. 629–630. ISBN: 978-1-5386-3365-6. DOI: 10.1109/VR.2018.8446522.

- [Mar+14] Jonatan Martínez, Arturo S García, Miguel Oliver, José P Molina, and Pascual González. "VITAKI: A Vibrotactile Prototyping Toolkit for Virtual Reality and Video Games." In: International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction 30.11 (Nov. 2014), pp. 855–871. ISSN: 1044-7318. DOI: 10.1080/10447318.2014.941272.
- [MS94] Thomas H Massie and J K Salisbury. "The PHANToM haptic interface: A device for probing virtual objects."
 In: Proceedings of the ASME Dynamic Systems and Control Division. 1994, pp. 295–301.
- [MOY14] Kenya Matsui, Shogo Okamoto, and Yoji Yamada. "Relative Contribution Ratios of Skin and Proprioceptive Sensations in Perception of Force Applied to Fingertip." In: *IEEE Transactions on Haptics* 7.1 (Jan. 2014), pp. 78–85. ISSN: 1939-1412. DOI: 10.1109/TOH.2013.71.
- [McG+12] F. McGlone, H. Olausson, J. A. Boyle, M. Jones-Gotman, C. Dancer, S. Guest, and G. Essick. "Touching and feeling: Differences in pleasant touch processing between glabrous and hairy skin in humans." In: *European Journal* of Neuroscience 35.11 (2012), pp. 1782–1788. ISSN: 0953816X. DOI: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2012.08092.x.
- [MR10] Francis McGlone and David Reilly. "The cutaneous sensory system." In: *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews* 34.2 (Feb. 2010), pp. 148–159. ISSN: 0149-7634. DOI: 10.1016 /J.NEUBIOREV.2009.08.004.
- [MWO14] Francis McGlone, Johan Wessberg, and Håkan Olausson. "Discriminative and Affective Touch: Sensing and Feeling." In: *Neuron* 82.4 (May 2014), pp. 737–755. ISSN: 08966273. DOI: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.05.001.
- [Mel+16] David A Mellis, Leah Buechley, Mitchel Resnick, and Björn Hartmann. "Engaging Amateurs in the Design, Fabrication, and Assembly of Electronic Devices." In: *Proceedings of the 2016 ACM Conference on Designing Interactive Systems*. DIS '16. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2016, pp. 1270–1281. ISBN: 9781450340311. DOI: 10.1145/2901790.2901833.
- [Mer75] Friedrich Merkel. "Tastzellen und Tastkörperchen bei den Hausthieren und beim Menschen." In: *Archiv für*
Mikroskopische Anatomie 11.S1 (Dec. 1875), pp. 636–652. ISSN: 0176-7364. DOI: 10.1007/BF02933819.

- [Min+12] Kouta Minamizawa, Yasuaki Kakehi, Masashi Nakatani, Soichiro Mihara, and Susumu Tachi. "TECHTILE toolkit: a prototyping tool for design and education of haptic media." In: *Proceedings of the 2012 Virtual Reality International Conference*. VRIC '12. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Mar. 2012, pp. 1–2. ISBN: 9781450312431. DOI: 10.1145/233171 4.2331745.
- [ME26] M F Mogensen and H B English. "The apparent warmth of colors." In: *The American Journal of Psychology* 37 (1926), pp. 427–428. ISSN: 1939-8298(Electronic),0002-9556(Print). DOI: 10.2307/1413633.
- [Moo+o6] Kyung Won Moon, Dongseok Ryu, Changmook Chun, Yongkwon Lee, Sungchul Kang, and Mignon Park. "Development of a slim haptic glove using McKibben artificial muscles." In: 2006 SICE-ICASE International Joint Conference 3 (2006), pp. 204–208. DOI: 10.1109/SICE.20 06.315608.
- [Mut+20] Sachith Muthukumarana, Don Samitha Elvitigala, Juan Pablo Forero Cortes, Denys J.C. Matthies, and Suranga Nanayakkara. "Touch me Gently: Recreating the Perception of Touch using a Shape-Memory Alloy Matrix." In: *Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2020, pp. 1–12. ISBN: 9781450367080. DOI: 10.1145/3313831.33 76491.
- [NOY14] Hikaru Nagano, Shogo Okamoto, and Yoji Yamada. "Haptic invitation of textures: Perceptually prominent properties of materials determine human touch motions." In: *IEEE Transactions on Haptics* 7.3 (2014), pp. 345–355. ISSN: 19391412. DOI: 10.1109/TOH.2014.2321575.
- [Nar+09] Takuji Narumi, Akagawa Tomohiro, Young Ah Seong, and Michitaka Hirose. "Characterizing the Space by Thermal Feedback through a Wearable Device." In: Lecture Notes in Computer Science (including subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics).
 Vol. 5622 LNCS. 2009, pp. 355–364. ISBN: 3642027709. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-02771-0_40.

- [New+83] D.J. Newham, G. McPhail, K.R. Mills, and R.H.T. Edwards. "Ultrastructural changes after concentric and eccentric contractions of human muscle." In: *Journal of the Neurological Sciences* 61.1 (Sept. 1983), pp. 109–122. ISSN: 0022510X. DOI: 10.1016/0022-510X(83)90058-8.
- [Nii+20] Arinobu Niijima, Toki Takeda, Takafumi Mukouchi, and Takashi Satou. "ThermalBitDisplay: Haptic Display Providing Thermal Feedback Perceived Differently Depending on Body Parts." In: *Extended Abstracts of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2020, pp. 1–8. ISBN: 9781450368193. DOI: 10.1145/3334480.3382849.
- [Nit+19] Aditya Shekhar Nittala, Klaus Kruttwig, Jaeyeon Lee, Roland Bennewitz, Eduard Arzt, and Jürgen Steimle.
 "Like A Second Skin: Understanding How Epidermal Devices Affect Human Tactile Perception." In: *Proceedings* of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2019, pp. 1–16.
 ISBN: 9781450359702. DOI: 10.1145/3290605.3300610.
- [Nor16] Mathias Nordvall. "VibEd: A Prototyping Tool for Haptic Game Interfaces." In: *iConference 2016 Proceedings*.
 iSchools. iSchools, 2016. ISBN: 978-0-9884900-2-4. DOI: 10
 .9776/16138.
- [Nun+20] Cara M. Nunez, Bryce N. Huerta, Allison M. Okamura, and Heather Culbertson. "Investigating Social Haptic Illusions for Tactile Stroking (SHIFTS)." In: 2020 IEEE Haptics Symposium (HAPTICS). Crystal City, VA, USA: IEEE, 2020, pp. 629–636. ISBN: 978-1-7281-0234-4. DOI: 10.1109/HAPTICS45997.2020.ras.HAP20.35.f631355d.
- [Oga+17] Kazunori Ogawa, Chetan Thakur, Tomohiro Ikeda, Toshio Tsuji, and Yuichi Kurita. "Development of a pneumatic artificial muscle driven by low pressure and its application to the unplugged powered suit." In: Advanced Robotics 31.21 (Nov. 2017), pp. 1135–1143. ISSN: 0169-1864. DOI: 10.1080/01691864.2017.1392345.
- [ONH16] Shogo Okamoto, Hikaru Nagano, and Hsin-Ni Ho. "Psychophysical Dimensions of Material Perception and Methods to Specify Textural Space." In: *Pervasive Haptics*.

Tokyo: Springer Japan, 2016, pp. 3–20. doi: 10.1007/978-4-431-55772-2_1.

- [ONY13] Shogo Okamoto, Hikaru Nagano, and Yoji Yamada. "Psychophysical Dimensions of Tactile Perception of Textures." In: *IEEE Transactions on Haptics* 6.1 (2013), pp. 81– 93. ISSN: 1939-1412. DOI: 10.1109/T0H.2012.32.
- [Ola+10] Håkan Olausson, Johan Wessberg, India Morrison, Francis McGlone, and Åke Vallbo. "The neurophysiology of unmyelinated tactile afferents." In: *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews* 34.2 (2010), pp. 185–191. ISSN: 01497634. DOI: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2008.09.011.
- [Oro+o7] Tal Oron-Gilad, Joshua L. Downs, Richard D. Gilson, and Peter A. Hancock. "Vibrotactile guidance cues for target acquisition." In: *IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man and Cybernetics Part C: Applications and Reviews* 37.5 (2007), pp. 993–1004. ISSN: 10946977. DOI: 10.1109/TSMCC.2007 .900646.
- [Oro+12] Mauricio Orozco, Juan Silva, Abdulmotaleb El, and Emil Petriu. "The Role of Haptics in Games." In: *Haptics Rendering and Applications*. May 2014. InTech, Jan. 2012, pp. 217– 234. DOI: 10.5772/32809.
- [Pac+17] Claudio Pacchierotti, Stephen Sinclair, Massimiliano Solazzi, Antonio Frisoli, Vincent Hayward, and Domenico Prattichizzo. "Wearable haptic systems for the fingertip and the hand: Taxonomy, review, and perspectives." In: *IEEE Transactions on Haptics* 10.4 (2017), pp. 580–600. ISSN: 23294051. DOI: 10.1109/T0H.2017.2689006.
- [Pan+13] Sabrina Paneels, Margarita Anastassova, Steven Strachan, Sophie Pham Van, Saranya Sivacoumarane, and Christian Bolzmacher. "What's around me Multi-actuator haptic feedback on the wrist." In: 2013 World Haptics Conference, WHC 2013 (2013), pp. 407–412. DOI: 10.1109/WHC.2013 .6548443.
- [PRR10] S A Panëels, J C Roberts, and P J Rodgers. "HITPROTO: a tool for the rapid prototyping of haptic interactions for haptic data visualization." In: 2010 IEEE Haptics Symposium. 2010, pp. 261–268. DOI: 10.1109/HAPTIC.2010.544 4647.

- [PAB13] Sabrina Panëels, Margarita Anastassova, and Lucie Brunet. "TactiPEd: Easy Prototyping of Tactile Patterns." In: *Human-Computer Interaction – INTERACT 2013*. Ed. by Paula Kotzé, Gary Marsden, Gitte Lindgaard, Janet Wesson, and Marco Winckler. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2013, pp. 228–245. ISBN: 978-3-642-40480-1.
- [Par+18] Mathias Parger, Dieter Schmalstieg, Joerg H. Mueller, and Markus Steinberger. "Human upper-body inverse kinematics for increased embodiment in consumer-grade virtual reality." In: Proceedings of the ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology, VRST (2018). DOI: 10.1145/3281505.3281529.
- [PC18] Gunhyuk Park and Seungmoon Choi. "Tactile Information Transmission by 2D Stationary Phantom Sensations." In: *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2018, pp. 1–12. ISBN: 9781450356206. DOI: 10.1145/31735 74.3173832.
- [PLN10] Young-Woo Park, Chang-Young Lim, and Tek-Jin Nam.
 "CheekTouch: an affective interaction technique while speaking on the mobile phone." In: CHI '10 Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2010, pp. 3241–3246. ISBN: 9781605589305. DOI: 10.1145/1753846.1753965.
- [Par14] Ken Parsons. Human Thermal Environments: The Effects of Hot, Moderate, and Cold Environments on Human Health, Comfort, and Performance, Third Edition. CRC Press, Apr. 2014. ISBN: 9780429169656. DOI: 10.1201/b16750.
- [PCM18] Roshan Lalintha Peiris, Liwei Chan, and Kouta Minamizawa. "LiquidReality: Wetness Sensations on the Face for Virtual Reality." In: *EuroHaptics 2018: Haptics: Science, Technology, and Applications*. Ed. by Domenico Prattichizzo, Hiroyuki Shinoda, Hong Z Tan, Emanuele Ruffaldi, and Antonio Frisoli. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2018, pp. 366–378. ISBN: 978-3-319-93399-3. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-93399-3_32.
- [Pei+17] Roshan Lalintha Peiris, Wei Peng, Zikun Chen, Liwei Chan, and Kouta Minamizawa. "ThermoVR: Explor-

ing Integrated Thermal Haptic Feedback with Head Mounted Displays." In: *Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2017, pp. 5452–5456. ISBN: 9781450346559. DOI: 10.1145/3025453.3025824.

- [Pei+19] Roshan Lalitha Peiris, Yuan-Ling Feng, Liwei Chan, and Kouta Minamizawa. "ThermalBracelet: Exploring Thermal Haptic Feedback Around the Wrist." In: *Proceedings* of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2019, pp. 1–11.
 ISBN: 9781450359702. DOI: 10.1145/3290605.3300400.
- [PPM17] Wei Peng, Roshan Lalintha Peiris, and Kouta Minamizawa. "Exploring of Simulating Passing through Feeling on the Wrist: Using Thermal Feedback." In: Adjunct Publication of the 30th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Oct. 2017, pp. 187–188. ISBN: 9781450354196. DOI: 10.1145/3131785.3131819.
- [PSS12] Daniel Perez-Marcos, Maria V. Sanchez-Vives, and Mel Slater. "Is my hand connected to my body? The impact of body continuity and arm alignment on the virtual hand illusion." In: *Cognitive Neurodynamics* 6.4 (Aug. 2012), pp. 295–305. ISSN: 1871-4080. DOI: 10.1007/s11571-011-9178-5.
- [Pez+19] Evan Pezent, Ali Israr, Majed Samad, Shea Robinson, Priyanshu Agarwal, Hrvoje Benko, and Nick Colonnese.
 "Tasbi: Multisensory Squeeze and Vibrotactile Wrist Haptics for Augmented and Virtual Reality." In: 2019 IEEE World Haptics Conference (WHC). Tokyo, Japan: IEEE, July 2019, pp. 1–6. ISBN: 978-1-5386-9461-9. DOI: 10.1109/WHC. 2019.8816098.
- [PDR16] Max Pfeiffer, Tim Duente, and Michael Rohs. "Let your body move: a prototyping toolkit for wearable force feedback with electrical muscle stimulation." In: Proceedings of the 18th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services - MobileHCI '16 (2016), pp. 418–427. DOI: 10.1145/2935334.2935348.
- [Pfe+15] Max Pfeiffer, Tim Dünte, Stefan Schneegass, Florian Alt, and Michael Rohs. "Cruise Control for Pedestrians: Con-

trolling Walking Direction using Electrical Muscle Stimulation." In: *Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '15.* New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2015, pp. 2505–2514. ISBN: 9781450331456. DOI: 10.1145/2702123.2702190.

- [Poh+17] Henning Pohl, Peter Brandes, Hung Ngo Quang, and Michael Rohs. "Squeezeback: Pneumatic Compression for Notification." In: Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '17 (2017), pp. 5318–5330. DOI: 10.1145/3025453.3025526.
- [PHR17] Henning Pohl, Franziska Hoheisel, and Michael Rohs. "Inhibiting Freedom of Movement with Compression Feedback." In: *Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI EA* '17 (2017), pp. 1962–1969. DOI: 10.1145/3027063.305308
 1.
- [Pol+13] Panagiotis Polygerinos, Stacey Lyne, Zheng Wang, Luis Fernando Nicolini, Bobak Mosadegh, George M. Whitesides, and Conor J. Walsh. "Towards a soft pneumatic glove for hand rehabilitation." In: *IEEE International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems* (2013), pp. 1512– 1517. ISSN: 21530858. DOI: 10.1109/IROS.2013.6696549.
- [PG12] Uwe Proske and Simon C. Gandevia. "The Proprioceptive Senses: Their Roles in Signaling Body Shape, Body Position and Movement, and Muscle Force." In: *Physiological Reviews* 92.4 (Oct. 2012), pp. 1651–1697. ISSN: 0031-9333. DOI: 10.1152/physrev.00048.2011.
- [Rag+20] Kirill Ragozin, Dingding Zheng, George Chernyshov, and Danny Hynds. "Sophroneo: Fear not. A VR Horror Game with Thermal Feedback and Physiological Signal Loop." In: Extended Abstracts of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2020, pp. 1–6. ISBN: 9781450368193. DOI: 10.1145/33 34480.3381659.
- [Rah+11] Abu Saleh Md Mahfujur Rahman, Niloufar Azmi, Shervin Shirmohammadi, and Abdulmotaleb El Saddik.
 "A novel haptic jacket based alerting scheme in a driver fatigue monitoring system." In: HAVE 2011 - IEEE International Symposium on Haptic Audio-Visual Environments

and Games, Proceedings (2011), pp. 112–117. DOI: 10.1109 /HAVE.2011.6088406.

- [RE11] Abu Saleh Md Mahfujur Rahman and Abdulmotaleb El Saddik. "HKiss: Real world based haptic interaction with virtual 3D avatars." In: 2011 IEEE International Conference on Multimedia and Expo. Barcelona, Spain: IEEE, July 2011, pp. 1–6. ISBN: 978-1-61284-348-3. DOI: 10.1109/ICME.201 1.6012223.
- [Rai+17] Michael Raitor, Julie M. Walker, Allison M. Okamura, and Heather Culbertson. "WRAP: Wearable, restricted-aperture pneumatics for haptic guidance." In: *Proceedings IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation* (2017), pp. 427–432. ISSN: 10504729. DOI: 10.1109/ICRA.2 017.7989055.
- [Ran+17] Nimesha Ranasinghe, Pravar Jain, Shienny Karwita, David Tolley, and Ellen Yi-Luen Do. "Ambiotherm: Enhancing sense of presence in virtual reality by simulating real-world environmental conditions." In: *Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. Vol. 2017-May. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2017, pp. 1731–1742. ISBN: 9781450346559. DOI: 10.1145 /3025453.3025723.
- [Ran+18] Nimesha Ranasinghe, Pravar Jain, Nguyen Thi Ngoc Tram, Koon Chuan Raymond Koh, David Tolley, Shienny Karwita, Lin Lien-Ya, Yan Liangkun, Kala Shamaiah, Chow Easonwai Tung, Ching Chiuan Yen, and Ellen Yi Luen Do. "Season traveller: Multisensory narration for enhancing the virtual reality experience." In: *Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings* 2018-April (2018), pp. 1–13. DOI: 10.1145/3173574.3174151.
- [Ric11] John T.E. Richardson. "Eta squared and partial eta squared as measures of effect size in educational research." In: *Educational Research Review* 6.2 (Jan. 2011), pp. 135–147. ISSN: 1747938X. DOI: 10.1016/j.edurev.2010.12.001.
- [Ric97] Michael Richardson. *Muscle Atlas*. Seattle, Washington: University of Washington, 1997.

- [RK16] Judy Robertson and Maurits Kaptein. Modern Statistical Methods for HCI. Ed. by Judy Robertson and Maurits Kaptein. Human–Computer Interaction Series. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2016. ISBN: 978-3-319-26631-2. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-26633-6.
- [Robo6] G. Robles-De-La-Torre. "The Importance of the Sense of Touch in Virtual and Real Environments." In: *IEEE Multimedia* 13.3 (July 2006), pp. 24–30. ISSN: 1070-986X. DOI: 10.1109/MMUL.2006.69.
- [Sak+18] Watura Sakoda, Antonio Vega Ramirez, Kazunori Ogawa, Toshio Tsuji, and Yuichi Kurita. "Reinforced Suit Using Low Pressure Driven Artificial Muscles For Baseball Bat Swing." In: *Proceedings of the 9th Augmented Human International Conference*. AH '18. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2018, 30:1–30:2. ISBN: 978-1-4503-5415-8. DOI: 10.1145/31 74910.3174932.
- [SOH18] Jose Salazar, Keisuke Okabe, and Yasuhisa Hirata. "Path-Following Guidance Using Phantom Sensation Based Vibrotactile CuAround the Wrist." In: *IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters* 3.3 (2018), pp. 2485–2492. ISSN: 23773766.
 DOI: 10.1109/LRA.2018.2810939.
- [Sal+18] Jose V. Salazar Luces, Keisuke Okabe, Yoshiki Murao, and Yasuhisa Hirata. "A Phantom-Sensation Based Paradigm for Continuous Vibrotactile Wrist Guidance in Two-Dimensional Space." In: *IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters* 3.1 (Jan. 2018), pp. 163–170. ISSN: 2377-3766. DOI: 10.1109/LRA.2017.2737480.
- [SOR10] Yael Salzer, Tal Oron-Gilad, and Adi Ronen. "Vibrotactor-Belt on the Thigh Directions in the Vertical Plane." In: *Haptics: Generating and Perceiving Tangible Sensations*. Ed. by Astrid M L Kappers, Jan B F van Erp, Wouter M Bergmann Tiest, and Frans C T van der Helm. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2010, pp. 359–364. ISBN: 978-3-642-14075-4.
- [SK10] John Sarik and Ioannis Kymissis. "Lab kits using the Arduino prototyping platform." In: 2010 IEEE Frontiers in Education Conference (FIE). IEEE, Oct. 2010, T₃C-1-T₃C-5. ISBN: 978-1-4244-6261-2. DOI: 10.1109/FIE.2010.5673417.

- [SM12] Katsunari Sato and Takashi Maeno. "Presentation of Sudden Temperature Change Using Spatially Divided Warm and Cool Stimuli." In: *EuroHaptics 2012: Haptics: Perception, Devices, Mobility, and Communication*. Ed. by Poika Isokoski and Jukka Springare. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2012, pp. 457–468. ISBN: 978-3-642-31401-8.
- [Sch+15] Maximilian Schirmer, Johannes Hartmann, Sven Bertel, and Florian Echtler. "Shoe me the Way : A Shoe-Based Tactile Interface for Eyes-Free Urban Navigation." In: *MobileHCI* (2015), pp. 327–336. ISSN: 1534-4320. DOI: 10.114 5/2785830.2785832.
- [Sch+21] Martin Schmitz, Jan Riemann, Florian Müller, Steffen Kreis, and Max Mühlhäuser. "Oh, Snap! A Fabrication Pipeline to Magnetically Connect Conventional and 3D-Printed Electronics." In: Proceedings of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2021, pp. 1–11. ISBN: 9781450380966. DOI: 10.1145/3411764.3445641.
- [Sch+12] Christian Schönauer, Kenichiro Fukushi, Alex Olwal, Hannes Kaufmann, and Ramesh Raskar. "Multimodal motion guidance: Techniques for Adaptive and Dynamic Feedback." In: Proceedings of the 14th ACM international conference on Multimodal interaction - ICMI '12. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2012, p. 133. ISBN: 9781450314671. DOI: 10.1145/2388676.2388706.
- [STW09] Simone Schütz-Bosbach, Peggy Tausche, and Carmen Weiss. *Roughness perception during the rubber hand illusion*. 2009. DOI: 10.1016/j.bandc.2009.01.006.
- [SSM80] S. R. Searle, F. M. Speed, and G. A. Milliken. "Population Marginal Means in the Linear Model: An Alternative to Least Squares Means." In: *The American Statistician* 34.4 (Nov. 1980), pp. 216–221. ISSN: 0003-1305. DOI: 10.1080/0 0031305.1980.10483031.
- [Sen+17] Sue Sentance, Jane Waite, Steve Hodges, Emily MacLeod, and Lucy Yeomans. ""Creating Cool Stuff": Pupils' Experience of the BBC Micro:Bit." In: Proceedings of the 2017 ACM SIGCSE Technical Symposium on Computer Science Education. SIGCSE '17. New York, NY, USA: Associa-

tion for Computing Machinery, 2017, pp. 531–536. ISBN: 9781450346986. doi: 10.1145/3017680.3017749.

- [Sha+19] Emily Shaw, Tessa Roper, Tommy Nilsson, Glyn Lawson, Sue V.G. Cobb, and Daniel Miller. "The Heat is On: Exploring User Behaviour in a Multisensory Virtual Environment for Fire Evacuation." In: *Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2019, pp. 1–13. ISBN: 9781450359702. DOI: 10.1145/3290605.3300856.
- [SS16] Mai Shibahara and Katsunari Sato. "Illusion of Wet Sensation by Controlling Temperature and Softness of Dry Cloth." In: ed. by Fernando Bello, Hiroyuki Kajimoto, and Yon Visell. Vol. 9774. Lecture Notes in Computer Science. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2016, pp. 371–379. ISBN: 978-3-319-42320-3. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-42321-0_34.
- [Sim+21] Melanie F. Simons, Krishna Manaswi Digumarti, Nguyen Hao Le, Hsing-Yu Chen, Sara Correia Carreira, Nouf S. S. Zaghloul, Richard Suphapol Diteesawat, Martin Garrad, Andrew T. Conn, Christopher Kent, and Jonathan Rossiter. "B:Ionic Glove: A Soft Smart Wearable Sensory Feedback Device for Upper Limb Robotic Prostheses." In: *IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters* 6.2 (Apr. 2021), pp. 3311–3316. ISSN: 2377-3766. DOI: 10.1109/LRA.2021 .3064269.
- [Sim+20] Melanie F. Simons, Alice C. Haynes, Yan Gao, Yihua Zhu, and Jonathan Rossiter. "In Contact: Pinching, Squeezing and Twisting for Mediated Social Touch." In: *Extended Abstracts of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2020, pp. 1–9. ISBN: 9781450368193. DOI: 10.1145/3334480.338 2798.
- [Slao3] Mel Slater. "A Note on Presence Terminology." In: *Pres*ence Connect 3 (2003).
- [Slao8] Mel Slater. "Towards a digital body: The virtual arm illusion." In: *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience* 2 (2008). ISSN: 16625161. DOI: 10.3389/neuro.09.006.2008.

- [Smi+o2] Allan M. Smith, C. Elaine Chapman, Mélanie Deslandes, Jean-Sébastien Langlais, and Marie-Pierre Thibodeau.
 "Role of friction and tangential force variation in the subjective scaling of tactile roughness." In: *Experimental Brain Research* 144.2 (May 2002), pp. 211–223. ISSN: 0014-4819. DOI: 10.1007/s00221-002-1015-y.
- [Sne18] Lynne U. Sneddon. "Comparative physiology of nociception and pain." In: *Physiology* 33.1 (2018), pp. 63–73. ISSN: 15489221. DOI: 10.1152/physiol.00022.2017.
- [Sod+13] Rajinder Sodhi, Ivan Poupyrev, Matthew Glisson, and Ali
 Israr. "AIREAL: interactive tactile experiences in free air."
 In: ACM Transactions on Graphics 32.4 (July 2013), pp. 1–
 10. ISSN: 0730-0301. DOI: 10.1145/2461912.2462007.
- [Sou+21] Nicholas Soucy, Nimesha Ranasinghe, Avery Rossow, Meetha Nesam James, and Roshan Peiris. "THED: A Wrist-Worn Thermal Display to Perceive Spatial Thermal Sensations in Virtual Reality." In: *Proceedings of the Future Technologies Conference (FTC) 2020, Volume 2*. Ed. by Kohei Arai, Supriya Kapoor, and Rahul Bhatia. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2021, pp. 809–829. ISBN: 978-3-030-63089-8. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-63089-8_53.
- [SHB09] Daniel Spelmezan, Anke Hilgers, and Jan Borchers. "A language of tactile motion instructions." In: Proceedings of the 11th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services - MobileHCI '09 (2009), p. 1. DOI: 10.1145/1613858.1613896.
- [Ste+10] F. Steinicke, G. Bruder, J. Jerald, H. Frenz, and M. Lappe. "Estimation of Detection Thresholds for Redirected Walking Techniques." In: *IEEE Transactions on Visualization* and Computer Graphics 16.1 (Jan. 2010), pp. 17–27. ISSN: 1077-2626. DOI: 10.1109/TVCG.2009.62.
- [Ste+08] Frank Steinicke, Gerd Bruder, Jason Jerald, Harald Frenz, and Markus Lappe. "Analyses of human sensitivity to redirected walking." In: *Proceedings of the 2008 ACM symposium on Virtual reality software and technology - VRST '08.* New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2008, p. 149. ISBN: 9781595939517. DOI: 10.1145/1450579.1450611.

- [SC98] Joseph C. Stevens and Kenneth K. Choo. "Temperature sensitivity of the body surface over the life span." In: *Somatosensory & Motor Research* 15.1 (Jan. 1998), pp. 13–28.
 ISSN: 0899-0220. DOI: 10.1080/08990229870925.
- [Sto19] Bob Stone. *Haptics for VR and AR Where Are We ... Really?* 2019.
- [Stoo1] Robert J. Stone. "Haptic feedback: a brief history from telepresence to virtual reality." In: *Haptic HCI 2000. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol 2058.* Ed. by Stephen Brewster and R. Murray-Smith. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2001, pp. 1–16. ISBN: 3540423567. DOI: 10.1007/3-540-44589-7_1.
- [Sun+16] Hua Chun Sun, Andrew E. Welchman, Dorita H.F. Chang, and Massimiliano Di Luca. "Look but don't touch: Visual cues to surface structure drive somatosensory cortex." In: *NeuroImage* 128 (2016), pp. 353–361. ISSN: 10959572. DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.12.054.
- [Sut65] Ivan Sutherland. "The Ultimate Display." In: *Proceedings* of the IFIP Congress. 1965, pp. 506–508.
- [Sut96] Ivan Sutherland. *In an Essay Series Published by SunLabs*. 1996. DOI: 10.1.1.137.8273.
- [SK05] Y. Suzuki and M. Kobayashi. "Air jet driven force feedback in virtual reality." In: *IEEE Computer Graphics and Applications* 25.1 (Jan. 2005), pp. 44–47. ISSN: 0272-1716. DOI: 10.1109/MCG.2005.1.
- [SKI02] Yuriko Suzuki, Minoru Kobayashi, and Satoshi Ishibashi.
 "Design of force feedback utilizing air pressure toward untethered human interface." In: CHI '02 extended abstracts on Human factors in computing systems CHI '02. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2002, p. 808. ISBN: 1581134541. DOI: 10.1145/506443.506608.
- [SPV14] C Swindells, S Pietarinen, and A Viitanen. "Medium fidelity rapid prototyping of vibrotactile haptic, audio and video effects." In: 2014 IEEE Haptics Symposium (HAP-TICS). 2014, pp. 515–521. DOI: 10.1109/HAPTICS.2014.6 775509.

- [Tak+15] Jun'ya Takakura, Takayuki Nishimura, Damee Choi, Yuka Egashira, and Shigeki Watanuki. "Nonthermal sensory input and altered human thermoregulation: effects of visual information depicting hot or cold environments." In: *International Journal of Biometeorology* 59.10 (Oct. 2015), pp. 1453–1460. ISSN: 0020-7128. DOI: 10.1007/s00484-01 5-0956-3.
- [Tay09] J.L. Taylor. "Encyclopedia of Neuroscience: Proprioception." In: *Encyclopedia of Neuroscience*. Ed. by Larry R. Squire. Elsevier, 2009, pp. 1143–1149. ISBN: 9780080450469. DOI: 10.1016/B978-008045046-9.01 907-0.
- [Ten+21] Shan-Yuan Teng, Pengyu Li, Romain Nith, Joshua Fonseca, and Pedro Lopes. "Touch & Fold: A Foldable Haptic Actuator for Rendering Touch in Mixed Reality." In: Proceedings of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2021, pp. 1–14. ISBN: 9781450380966. DOI: 10.1145/3411764.34 45099.
- [TBB17] Jordan Tewell, Jon Bird, and George R. Buchanan. "Heat-Nav: Using Temperature Changes as Navigational Cues." In: *Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2017, pp. 1131–1135. ISBN: 9781450346559. DOI: 10.1145/3 025453.3025965.
- [TLoo] Bertrand Tondu and Pierre Lopez. "Modeling and Control of McKibben Artificial Muscle Robot Actuators."
 In: *IEEE Control Systems* 20.2 (2000), pp. 15–38. ISSN: 1066033X. DOI: 10.1109/37.833638.
- [TMG13] Jonathan Tong, Oliver Mao, and Daniel Goldreich. "Twopoint orientation discrimination versus the traditional two-point test for tactile spatial acuity assessment." In: *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience* 7.SEP (2013), pp. 1–11. ISSN: 16625161. DOI: 10.3389/fnhum.2013.00579.
- [TAS14] Chantal Triscoli, Rochelle Ackerley, and Uta Sailer. "Touch satiety: Differential effects of stroking velocity on liking and wanting touch over repetitions." In: *PLoS ONE* 9.11 (2014), pp. 1–8. ISSN: 19326203. DOI: 10.1371/j ournal.pone.0113425.

- [Tro+18] Jörg Trojan, Xaver Fuchs, Sophie-Louise Speth, and Martin Diers. "The rubber hand illusion induced by visual-thermal stimulation." In: *Scientific Reports* 8.1 (Dec. 2018), p. 12417. ISSN: 2045-2322. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-018-298 60-2.
- [Tsa+21] Hsin-Ruey Tsai, Yuan-Chia Chang, Tzu-Yun Wei, Chih-An Tsao, Xander Chin-yuan Koo, Hao-Chuan Wang, and Bing-Yu Chen. "GuideBand: Intuitive 3D Multilevel Force Guidance on a Wristband in Virtual Reality." In: Proceedings of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2021, pp. 1– 13. ISBN: 9781450380966. DOI: 10.1145/3411764.3445262.
- [TH05] Manos Tsakiris and Patrick Haggard. *The Rubber Hand Illusion Revisited: Visuotactile Integration and Self-Attribution.* Tsakiris, Manos: Institute of Cognitive Neuroscience, Alexandra House, 17 Queen Square, London, United Kingdom, WC1N 3AR, e.tsakiris@ucl.ac.uk, 2005. DOI: 10.1037/0096-1523.31.1.80.
- [Tse10] Dzmitry Tsetserukou. "HaptiHug: A novel haptic display for communication of hug over a distance." In: Lecture Notes in Computer Science (including subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics)
 6191 LNCS.PART 1 (2010), pp. 340–347. ISSN: 03029743. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-14064-8_49.
- [Tse+10] Dzmitry Tsetserukou, Alena Neviarouskaya, Helmut Prendinger, Mitsuru Ishizuka, and Susumu Tachi. "iFeel_IM: innovative real-time communication system with rich emotional and haptic channels." In: *CHI '10 Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. Vol. 6191 LNCS. PART 1. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2010, pp. 3031–3036. ISBN: 9781605589305. DOI: 10.1145 /1753846.1753911.
- [Tso+09] Daria Tsoupikova, Yu Li, Nikolay Stoykov, Derek Kamper, and Randy Vick. "Virtual reality environment assisting recovery from stroke." In: *ACM SIGGRAPH ASIA 2009 Sketches on - SIGGRAPH ASIA '09*. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2009, p. 1. DOI: 10.1145/1667146.1667 195.

- [TY04] Koji Tsukada and Michiaki Yasumura. "ActiveBelt: Belt-Type Wearable Tactile Display for Directional Navigation." In: UbiComp 2004: Ubiquitous Computing. Ed. by Nigel Davies, Elizabeth D Mynatt, and Itiro Siio. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2004, pp. 384– 399. ISBN: 978-3-540-30119-6.
- [TA18] John C. Tuthill and Eiman Azim. "Proprioception."
 In: *Current Biology* 28.5 (Mar. 2018), R194–R203. ISSN: 09609822. DOI: 10.1016/j.cub.2018.01.064.
- [TZG18] Chelsea Tymms, Denis Zorin, and Esther P. Gardner. "Tactile perception of the roughness of 3D-printed textures." In: *Journal of Neurophysiology* 119.3 (Mar. 2018), pp. 862–876. ISSN: 0022-3077. DOI: 10.1152/jn.00564.2017.
- [UCP08] H. Uchiyama, M. A. Covington, and W. D. Potter. "Vibrotactile Glove guidance for semi-autonomous wheelchair operations." In: *Proceedings of the 46th Annual Southeast Regional Conference on XX - ACM-SE 46* (2008), p. 336. DOI: 10.1145/1593105.1593195.
- [Vil+15] Xavier Vilajosana, Pere Tuset, Thomas Watteyne, and Kris Pister. "OpenMote: Open-Source Prototyping Platform for the Industrial IoT." In: *Ad Hoc Networks*. Ed. by Nathalie Mitton, Melike Erol Kantarci, Antoine Gallais, and Symeon Papavassiliou. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2015, pp. 211–222. ISBN: 978-3-319-25067-0. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-25067-0_17.
- [VSH10] Nicolas Villar, James Scott, and Steve Hodges. "Prototyping with Microsoft .Net Gadgeteer." In: *Proceedings of the Fifth International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction*. TEI '11. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2010, pp. 377–380. ISBN: 9781450304788. DOI: 10.1145/1935701.1935790.
- [VSB21] Dong-Bach Vo, Julia Saari, and Stephen Brewster. "Tacti-Helm: Tactile Feedback in a Cycling Helmet for Collision Avoidance." In: *Extended Abstracts of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2021, pp. 1–5. ISBN: 9781450380959. DOI: 10.1145/3411763.3451580.

- [WUN12] Takafumi Wakita, Natsumi Ueshima, and Hiroyuki Noguchi. "Psychological Distance Between Categories in the Likert Scale." In: *Educational and Psychological Measurement* 72.4 (Aug. 2012), pp. 533–546. ISSN: 0013-1644. DOI: 10.1177/0013164411431162.
- [Wal+20] Torben Wallbaum, Swamy Ananthanarayan, Andrii Matviienko, and Susanne Boll. "A Real-Time Distributed Toolkit to Ease Children's Exploration of IoT." In: *Proceedings of the 11th Nordic Conference on Human-Computer Interaction: Shaping Experiences, Shaping Society.* NordiCHI '20. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2020. ISBN: 9781450375795. DOI: 10.1145/341924 9.3420179.
- [Wan+16] Chiuan Wang, Hsuan-Ming Yeh, Bryan Wang, Te-Yen Wu, Hsin-Ruey Tsai, Rong-Hao Liang, Yi-Ping Hung, and Mike Y Chen. "CircuitStack: Supporting Rapid Prototyping and Evolution of Electronic Circuits." In: *Proceedings of the 29th Annual Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*. UIST '16. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2016, pp. 687–695. ISBN: 9781450341899. DOI: 10.1145/2984511.2984527.
- [WOX20] Dangxiao Wang, Kouhei Ohnishi, and Weiliang Xu. "Multimodal haptic display for virtual reality: A survey." In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 67.1 (2020), pp. 610–623. ISSN: 15579948. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2019.292 0602.
- [Wan+18] Haiying Wang, Guodan Liu, Songtao Hu, and Chao Liu.
 "Experimental investigation about thermal effect of colour on thermal sensation and comfort." In: *Energy and Buildings* 173 (Aug. 2018), pp. 710–718. ISSN: 03787788. DOI: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2018.06.008.
- [WMJ15] Jamie Ward, Ajua Mensah, and Kristin Jünemann. "The rubber hand illusion depends on the tactile congruency of the observed and felt touch." In: *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance* 41.5 (2015), pp. 1203–1208. ISSN: 19391277. DOI: 10.1037/xhp0000088.
- [WF95] Toshio Watanabe and Shigehisa Fukui. "A method for controlling tactile sensation of surface roughness using ultrasonic vibration." In: *Proceedings of 1995 IEEE Interna*-

tional Conference on Robotics and Automation. Vol. 1. IEEE, 1995, pp. 1134–1139. ISBN: 0-7803-1965-6. DOI: 10.1109 /ROBOT.1995.525433.

- [Web+11] Bernhard Weber, Simon Schätzle, Thomas Hulin, Carsten Preusche, and Barbara Deml. "Evaluation of a vibrotactile feedback device for spatial guidance." In: 2011 IEEE World Haptics Conference, WHC 2011 (2011), pp. 349–354. DOI: 10.1109/WHC.2011.5945511.
- [WYL21] Chyanna Wee, Kian Meng Yap, and Woan Ning Lim.
 "Haptic Interfaces for Virtual Reality: Challenges and Research Directions." In: *IEEE Access* 9 (2021), pp. 112145–112162. ISSN: 2169-3536. DOI: 10.1109/ACCESS.2021.3103
 598.
- [Weg+12] Melissa Wegmann, Oliver Faude, Wigand Poppendieck, Anne Hecksteden, Michael Fröhlich, and Tim Meyer.
 "Pre-Cooling and Sports Performance." In: Sports Medicine 42.7 (July 2012), pp. 545–564. ISSN: 0112-1642.
 DOI: 10.2165/11630550-00000000-00000.
- [Wei+13] Peter Weir, Christian Sandor, Matt Swoboda, Thanh Nguyen, Ulrich Eck, Gerhard Reitmayr, and Arindam Day. "Burnar: Involuntary heat sensations in augmented reality." In: 2013 IEEE Virtual Reality (VR). IEEE, Mar. 2013, pp. 43–46. ISBN: 978-1-4673-4796-9. DOI: 10.1109 /VR.2013.6549357.
- [Whi+18] Eric Whitmire, Hrvoje Benko, Christian Holz, Eyal Ofek, and Mike Sinclair. "Haptic Revolver: Touch, Shear, Texture, and Shape Rendering on a Reconfigurable Virtual Reality Controller." In: *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2018, pp. 1–12. ISBN: 9781450356206. DOI: 10.1145/3173574.3173660.
- [Wil49] EJ Williams. "Experimental Designs Balanced for the Estimation of Residual Effects of Treatments." In: *Australian Journal of Chemistry* 2.2 (1949), p. 149. ISSN: 0004-9425.
 DOI: 10.1071/CH9490149.
- [WB17] Graham Wilson and Stephen A. Brewster. "Multi-moji: Combining Thermal, Vibrotactile & Visual Stimuli to Expand the Affective Range of Feedback." In: Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Sys-

tems. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2017, pp. 1743–1755. ISBN: 9781450346559. DOI: 10.1145/3025453.3025614.

- [Wil+14] Graham Wilson, Thomas Carter, Sriram Subramanian, and Stephen A. Brewster. "Perception of ultrasonic haptic feedback on the hand." In: *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2014, pp. 1133–1142. ISBN: 9781450324731. DOI: 10.1145/2556288.2557033.
- [WDB15] Graham Wilson, Gavin Davidson, and Stephen A. Brewster. "In the Heat of the Moment: Subjective Interpretations of Thermal Feedback During Interaction." In: *Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. Vol. 38. 1. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Apr. 2015, pp. 2063–2072. ISBN: 9781450331456. DOI: 10.1145/2702123.2702219.
- [WDB16] Graham Wilson, Dobromir Dobrev, and Stephen A. Brewster. "Hot Under the Collar: Mapping Thermal Feedback to Dimensional Models of Emotion." In: *Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2016, pp. 4838–4849. ISBN: 9781450333627. DOI: 10.1145/2858036.28582
 05.
- [WFB16] Graham Wilson, Euan Freeman, and Stephen A. Brewster. "Multimodal affective feedback: Combining thermal, vibrotactile, audio and visual signals." In: ICMI 2016 Proceedings of the 18th ACM International Conference on Multimodal Interaction 9781450345. January (2016), pp. 400–401. DOI: 10.1145/2993148.2998522.
- [Wil+11] Graham Wilson, Martin Halvey, Stephen A. Brewster, and Stephen A. Hughes. "Some like it hot: thermal feedback for mobile devices." In: *Proceedings of the 2011 annual conference on Human factors in computing systems - CHI '11.* New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2011, p. 2555.
 ISBN: 9781450302289. DOI: 10.1145/1978942.1979316.
- [WGS18] Anusha Withana, Daniel Groeger, and Jürgen Steimle. "Tacttoo: A Thin and Feel-Through Tattoo for On-Skin Tactile Output." In: *Proceedings of the 31st Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*. New

York, NY, USA: ACM, Oct. 2018, pp. 365–378. ISBN: 9781450359481. DOI: 10.1145/3242587.3242645.

- [WS98] Bob G. Witmer and Michael J. Singer. "Measuring Presence in Virtual Environments: A Presence Question-naire." In: *Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments* 7.3 (June 1998), pp. 225–240. ISSN: 1054-7460. DOI: 10.11 62/105474698565686.
- [WG18] Christoph Witzel and Karl R. Gegenfurtner. "Color Perception: Objects, Constancy, and Categories." In: Annual Review of Vision Science 4.1 (Sept. 2018), pp. 475–499. ISSN: 2374-4642. DOI: 10.1146/annurev-vision-091517-0342 31.
- [WK16] Jacob O Wobbrock and Matthew Kay. "Nonparametric Statistics in Human–Computer Interaction." In: *Modern Statistical Methods for HCI*. Ed. by Judy Robertson and Maurits Kaptein. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2016, pp. 135–170. ISBN: 978-3-319-26633-6. DOI: 10.1 007/978-3-319-26633-6_7.
- [Wob+11] Jacob O. Wobbrock, Leah Findlater, Darren Gergle, and James J. Higgins. "The aligned rank transform for nonparametric factorial analyses using only anova procedures." In: *Proceedings of the 2011 annual conference on Human factors in computing systems - CHI '11*. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2011, p. 143. ISBN: 9781450302289. DOI: 10.1145/1978942.1978963.
- [Wu+19] Te-Yen Wu, Jun Gong, Teddy Seyed, and Xing-Dong Yang.
 "Proxino: Enabling Prototyping of Virtual Circuits with Physical Proxies." In: *Proceedings of the 32nd Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*. UIST '19. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2019, pp. 121–132. ISBN: 9781450368162. DOI: 10 .1145/3332165.3347938.
- [Xu+19] Jiayi Xu, Yoshihiro Kuroda, Shunsuke Yoshimoto, and Osamu Oshiro. "Non-contact Cold Thermal Display by Controlling Low-temperature Air Flow Generated with Vortex Tube." In: 2019 IEEE World Haptics Conference (WHC). IEEE, July 2019, pp. 133–138. ISBN: 978-1-5386-9461-9. DOI: 10.1109/WHC.2019.8816089.

- [YT15] Hideyoshi Yanagisawa and Kenji Takatsuji. "Effects of visual expectation on perceived tactile perception: An evaluation method of surface texture with expectation effect." In: *International Journal of Design* 9.1 (2015), pp. 39–51. ISSN: 1994036X.
- [Yao+13] Lining Yao, Ryuma Niiyama, Jifei Ou, Sean Follmer, Clark Della Silva, and Hiroshi Ishii. "PneUI: Pneumatically Actuated Soft Composite Materials for Shape Changing Interfaces." In: *Proceedings of the 26th annual ACM symposium on User interface software and technology - UIST '13* (2013), pp. 13–22. DOI: 10.1145/2501988.2502037.
- [Yar+17] Svetlana Yarosh, Kenya Mejia, Baris Unver, Xizi Wang, Yuan Yao, Akin Campbell, and Brad Holschuh. "Squeeze-Bands: Mediated Social Touch Using Shape Memory Alloy Actuation." In: *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction* 1.CSCW (Dec. 2017), pp. 1–18. ISSN: 2573-0142. DOI: 10.1145/3134751.
- [YIS13] Yuki Yoshikawa, Daisuke Iwai, and Kosuke Sato. "A study of thermal sensation with visuo-thermal projection interfaces." In: 2013 IEEE 2nd Global Conference on Consumer Electronics (GCCE). IEEE, Oct. 2013, pp. 118–119. ISBN: 978-1-4799-0892-9. DOI: 10.1109/GCCE.2013.6 664767.
- [Yos+08] Yoshimi Sato, Keiji Sato, Michi Sato, Shogo Fukushima, Yu Okano, Kanako Matsuo, Sayaka Ooshima, Yuichiro Kojima, Rika Matsue, Satsuki Nakata, Yuki Hashimoto, and Hiroyuki Kajimoto. "Ants in the Pants -ticklish tactile display using rotating brushes-." In: 2008 SICE Annual Conference. 10.1109/SICE.2008.4654699: IEEE, Aug. 2008, pp. 461–466. ISBN: 978-4-907764-30-2. DOI: 10.1109/SICE .2008.4654699.
- [YS10] Ye Yuan and Anthony Steed. "Is the rubber hand illusion induced by immersive virtual reality?" In: *Proceedings IEEE Virtual Reality* (2010), pp. 95–102. DOI: 10.1109
 /VR.2010.5444807.
- [Zelo5] John S. Zelek. "Seeing by touch (haptics) for wayfinding." In: *International Congress Series* 1282 (2005), pp. 1108–1112. ISSN: 05315131. DOI: 10.1016/j.ics.2005.06.002.

- [ZK17] Andre Zenner and Antonio Kruger. "Shifty: A Weight-Shifting Dynamic Passive Haptic Proxy to Enhance Object Perception in Virtual Reality." In: *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics* 23.4 (Apr. 2017), pp. 1285–1294. ISSN: 1077-2626. DOI: 10.1109/TVCG.2017.2656978.
- [ZK19] André Zenner and Antonio Krüger. "Drag:on: A Virtual Reality Controller Providing Haptic Feedback Based on Drag and Weight Shift." In: *Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, May 2019, pp. 1–12. ISBN: 9781450359702. DOI: 10.1145/3290605.3300441.
- [Zha+19] Zhuoming Zhang, Robin Héron, Eric Lecolinet, Françoise Detienne, and Stéphane Safin. "VisualTouch: Enhancing Affective Touch Communication with Multi-modality Stimulation." In: 2019 International Conference on Multimodal Interaction. New York, NY, USA: ACM, Oct. 2019, pp. 114–123. ISBN: 9781450368605. DOI: 10.1145/3340555 .3353733.
- [Zhu+19] Kening Zhu, Simon Perrault, Taizhou Chen, Shaoyu Cai, and Roshan Lalintha Peiris. "A sense of ice and fire: Exploring thermal feedback with multiple thermoelectriccooling elements on a smart ring." In: *International Journal* of Human-Computer Studies 130 (Oct. 2019), pp. 234–247. ISSN: 10715819. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijhcs.2019.07.003.
- [Zia+16] Mounia Ziat, Carrie Anne Balcer, Andrew Shirtz, and Taylor Rolison. A Century Later , The Hue-Heat Hypothesis : Does Color Truly Affect Temperature Perception ? A Century Later , the Hue-Heat Hypothesis : Does Color Truly Affect Temperature Perception ? Ed. by Fernando Bello, Hiroyuki Kajimoto, and Yon Visell. Vol. 9774. Lecture Notes in Computer Science July. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2016. ISBN: 978-3-319-42320-3. DOI: 10.1007 /978-3-319-42321-0.

ERKLÄRUNG

Hiermit erkläre ich, die vorgelegte Arbeit zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades Doktor rerum naturalium (Dr. rer. nat.) mit dem Titel

Somatosensory Interaction: Investigating Mechanoreception, Thermoception, and Proprioception for On-Body Haptic Feedback

selbständig und ausschließlich unter Verwendung der angegebenen Hilfsmittel erstellt zu haben. Ich habe bisher noch keinen Promotionsversuch unternommen.

Darmstadt, 18. März 2022

Sebastian Günther, M.Sc.